
 
Regular Meeting of Council 

Agenda 
June 15, 2015 

A Regular Meeting of Council will be held in the Council Chambers 
of the Municipal Hall at 8645 Stave Lake Street, Mission, B.C. 

Commencing at 1:00 p.m. for Committee of the Whole 

Immediately followed by a Closed Council meeting 

Reconvening at 7:00 p.m. for Regular Council proceedings 

 
1.  CALL TO ORDER (1:00 P.M.) 

2.  ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

3.  RESOLUTION TO RESOLVE INTO COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

4.  DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

 (a)  Downtown Planning 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  Council consider and resolve: 

1. That staff be given direction with respect to preparing a 
contract in an amount no greater than $15,000 to secure the 
services of a consultant to prepare new streetscape designs 
for 1st Avenue and Railway Avenue; and,    

2. That funding in the amount of $15,000 be directed from the 
Gaming Reserve Fund to pay for the new streetscape 
designs and that the financial plan be amended accordingly. 
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 (b)  Development Permit Application DP15-006 to replace the current 
form and character restrictions on four (4) compact lots located in 
the intensive residential development permit area in Cedar Valley 

This report details the Intensive Residential Development 
Permit application (DP15-006) for the properties located at 
32620 and 32624 Cherry Avenue and 32623 and 32631 
Lissimore Avenue. 

As approval of Intensive Residential Development Permits is 
delegated to the Director of Development Services (or 
designate), this report is provided for informational purposes 
only. No staff recommendation accompanies this report and 
Council action is not required. 
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 (c)  Development Variance Permit to Waive Road Work Requirements 
for an Extension of Barr Street no Longer needed by the District 

This report details the development variance permit to waive 
road work requirements for an extension of Barr Street that is 
no longer needed by the District and identifies the necessary 
variance to the Subdivision Control Bylaw. 

Staff supports the application moving forward and as such has 
listed the Development Variance Permit for approval under the 
“Development Permits for Consideration” section of the 
agenda. 
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 (d)  Overnight Parking Restrictions at 31956 Lougheed Highway 
(Walmart) 

This report is provided for information purposes only. However, 
Council may wish to direct staff to identify various options for 
further consideration that would permit overnight parking of 
recreational vehicles on properties accommodating large format 
retailers, and specifically the Walmart property. 
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 (e)  Non-Farm Use Application to Allow a Nursery and Retail Garden 
Centre in the Agricultural Land Reserve on the Property at 30286 
Silverdale Avenue 

This report details a non-farm use application to the Agricultural 
Land Commission to allow for a plant nursery and retail garden 
centre on the property located at 30286 Silverdale Avenue. 

Staff support the application being forwarded the Agricultural 
Land Commission for their consideration. 
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 (f)  Adjustment of Engineering Fees in the Land Use Application 
Procedures and Fees Bylaw 3612-2003 

This report presents rationale to amend the Land Use 
Application Procedures and Fees Bylaw 3612-2003 to exclude 
engineering fees when engineering services are not provided 
by District staff as part of a subdivision. Staff support the 
amendment and as such have listed the amending bylaw under 
the “Bylaws for Consideration” section of the agenda. 
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 (g)  Prohibition of Shipping Containers within District of Mission 

This report is for information only and summarizes the 
regulations regarding the use of shipping containers within the 
District and discusses several requests from the public to allow 
the containers in certain instances. Staff will be bringing a 
subsequent zoning amending bylaw that specifies how shipping 
containers could be permitted on a limited and controlled basis 
within Mission. 
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5.  CORPORATE SERVICES 

 (a)  2014 Annual Report 

RECOMMENDATION: Council consider and resolve: 

That Council approve the 2014 District of Mission Annual 
Report including financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2014, as attached as Appendix A to the 
Manager of Finance and Manager of Civic Engagement and 
Community Initiative’s report dated June 15, 2015 and entitled 
“2014 Annual Report.” 
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 (b)  2014 Statement of Financial Information 

RECOMMENDATIONS: Council consider and resolve: 

1. That the District of Mission 2014 Statement of Financial 
Information be approved for submission to the Ministry of 
Community, Sport and Cultural Development; and  

2. That the Mayor and Manager of Finance be authorized to 
sign the Statement of Financial Information Approval form. 
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 (c)  2014 Traffic Fine Revenue Reporting 

This report is provided to satisfy the reporting requirements of 
the Strategic Community Investment Funds Agreement. This 
report is provided for information purposes only. No staff 
recommendation accompanies this report and Council action is 
not required. 
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 (d)  Abbotsford Mission Recycling Depot 2015 Financial Update 

This report will bring Council and the public up-to-date on the 
Abbotsford Mission Recycling Depot 2015 First Quarter Costs 
and 2015 Year End Forecast Projection. This report is provided 
for information purposes only. No staff recommendation 
accompanies this report and Council action is not required. 
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 (e)  Council Goals and Objectives 

This report provides the Council Goals and Objectives 
Document dated June 1, 2015 for the public and is provided for 
information purposes only. No staff recommendation 
accompanies this report and Council action is not required. 
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 (f)  Proposed 2016 Budget Schedule 

RECOMMENDATION: Council consider and resolve: 

That the proposed 2016 budget schedule be approved, as 
attached as Appendix “A” to the report dated June 15, 2015 
from the Deputy Treasurer/Collector, in order to adopt the 
District’s 2016-2020 Financial Plan/Budget by the end of 2015. 

Page 193 
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 (g)  Letter of Approval in Principle – RCMP 2016/2017 Budget 
Estimates 

RECOMMENDATION: Council consider and resolve: 

That the "Letter of Approval in Principle" for the RCMP 2016-
2017 budget estimates as attached as Appendix "A" to the 
report dated June 15, 2015 from the Deputy 
Treasurer/Collector be approved for forwarding to the Ministry 
of Justice and the RCMP. 

Page 199 

6.  ENGINEERING AND PUBLIC WORKS 

 (a)  Invasive Plant Management 

The control of invasive plants is a provincial requirement that 
applies to all property owners, including local governments. 
Hogweed poses a public safety hazard and potential liability for 
the District. Knotweed poses a potential threat to infrastructure, 
watercourses and buildings. In 2015, $20,000 will be allocated 
from the Environmental Charter budget to address Hogweed 
and Knotweed on public property. In the longer term, an 
invasive plant or species strategy should be developed, in order 
to devise a consistent approach and funding for addressing 
infestations on public, as well as private property. 
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 (b)  Transportation Master Plan Update 

This report provides an update on the District’s Transportation 
Master Plan, including work completed to date and tasks 
planned for the next few months. 

Page 234 

7.  PARKS, RECREATION AND CULTURE 

 (a)  Canada 150 Community Infrastructure Program 

To be circulated under separate cover 

 

8.  RESOLUTION TO RISE FROM COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

  RECOMMENDATION:  Council consider and resolve to rise from 
Committee of the Whole 

 

9.  RESOLUTION TO EXCLUDE PUBLIC, RECESS THE PUBLIC MEETING UNTIL 7:00 
P.M. AND IMMEDIATELY CONVENE INTO CLOSED SESSION 

  RECOMMENDATIONS:  Council consider and resolve:  

  1. That pursuant to Section 90 of the Community Charter, the public 
be excluded from this portion of the meeting as the subject matter 
being considered relates to the following:  

• Section 90(1)(a) of the Community Charter – personal 
information about an identifiable individual who holds or is 
being considered for a position as an officer, employee or 
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agent of the municipality or another position appointed by 
the municipality; 

• Section 90(1)(b) of the Community Charter – personal 
information about an identifiable individual who is being 
considered for a municipal award or honour, or who has 
offered to provide a gift to the municipality on condition of 
anonymity; 

• Section 90(1)(c) of the Community Charter – labour 
relations or other employee relations; 

• Section 90(1)(e) of the Community Charter – the 
acquisition, disposition or expropriation of land or 
improvements, if the council considers that disclosure 
could reasonably be expected to harm the interests of the 
municipality; 

• Section 90(1)(k) of the Community Charter – negotiations 
and related discussions respecting the proposed provision 
of a municipal service that are at their preliminary stages 
and that, in the view of the council, could reasonably be 
expected to harm the interests of the municipality if they 
were held in public; 

2. That the public portion of the meeting be recessed until 7:00 p.m.; 
and 

3. That Council immediately resolve into the closed portion of their 
meeting. 

10.  RECONVENE (7:00 P.M.) 

11.  RESOLUTION TO ADOPT RECOMMENDATIONS OF COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

 (a)  Committee of the Whole report dated June 15, 2015 

Report of recommendations to be circulated at the 7:00 p.m. 
reconvened public meeting 

 

12.  DELEGATIONS  

  None    

13.  PRESENTATIONS 

 (a)  Mission Downtown Business Association Volunteer Awards 

Jamie Hayes, Executive Director of the Mission Downtown Business 
Association, will present awards to District staff Mike Younie and Matt 
Dunham for their exemplary volunteer service for Mission’s downtown 
businesses 
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14.  PROCLAMATIONS 

  None  

15.  PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 (a)  Public Hearing Notice for June 15, 2015 

For reference 

Page 242   

 (b)  Zoning Amending Bylaw 5510-2015-5050(175) 

R15-010 (Toor & McPherson) – a bylaw to insert a new Comprehensive 
Development Zone (CD37) and to rezone property at 8474 Grassick 
Street and 33973 McPhee Place from Urban Residential 465 Zone 
(R465) to Comprehensive Development 37 Zone (CD37) 

Copy of Notice to Owner/Occupant and previous staff report included as 
background information 

Page 243  

16.  ADOPTION OF INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

  None  

17.  COUNCIL COMMITTEE REPORTS AND MINUTES 

 (a)  Cultural Resources Commission Meeting – April 21, 2015 Page 261 

 (b)  Draft Mission Traffic and Transit Committee Meeting – May 20, 2015 Page 264 

18.  CORRESPONDENCE 

  None  

19.  BYLAWS FOR CONSIDERATION 

 (a)  Zoning Amending Bylaw 5220-2011-5050(42) 

R11-004 (Mikes) – a bylaw to rezone property at 29585 Hudson 
Avenue from Rural 16 Zone (RU16) to Rural Residential Zone 
(RR7) 

Previous staff report and excerpt from Public Hearing minutes 
included as background information 

Adoption 

Page 270 

 (b)  Zoning Amending Bylaw 5410-2014-5050(128) 

R13-020 (OTG Development Concepts) – a bylaw to rezone 
property at 32448 Dewdney Trunk Road from Rural 36 Zone 
(RU36) and Commercial Highway One Zone (CH1) to Rural 16 
Secondary Dwelling Zone (RU16s) and Commercial Highway 
One Zone (CH1) 

Previous staff report and excerpt from Public Hearing minutes 
included as background information 

Adoption 

Page 280 

6



Regular Council Agenda   
June 15, 2015 
 

 (c)  Zoning Amending Bylaw 5505-2015-5050(173)  

R15-008 (Swash) – a bylaw to rezone property at 12638 Cathy 
Crescent from Rural Residential 7 Zone (RR7) to Rural 
Residential Secondary Dwelling Zone (RR7s) 

Adoption 

Page 294 

 (d)  Taxi Regulation Amending Bylaw 5509-2015-5346(2) 

A bylaw to remove the requirement for drivers to complete the 
TaxiHost Pro training course offered by the Justice Institute of BC 

Adoption 

Page 295   

 (e)  Zoning Amending Bylaw 5510-2015-5050(175) 

R15-010 (Toor & McPherson) – a bylaw to insert a new 
Comprehensive Development Zone (CD37) and to rezone 
property at 8474 Grassick Street and 33973 McPhee Place from 
Urban Residential 465 Zone (R465) to Comprehensive 
Development 37 Zone (CD37) 

See "Public Hearings” in Section 15(b) 

Third Reading 

Page 296 

 (f)  Street Naming Bylaw (McPhee Place Extension) 5511-2015 

A bylaw to name an extension of road in a subdivision 

Third Reading 

Page 301 

 (g)  Land Use Application Procedures and Fees Amending Bylaw 
5512-2015-3612(15) 

A bylaw to exclude engineering administration fees when 
engineering services are not provided by District staff as part of a 
subdivision 

See "Development Services” in C.O.W. Section 4(f) 

First, Second 
and Third 
Readings 

Page 303 

20.  DEVELOPMENT PERMITS FOR CONSIDERATION 

 (a)  Development Variance Permit Application  DV15-006 (33731 
Richards Avenue) – Recommended for approval 

Development Variance Permit to vary Section 21, Works on Adjacent 
Highways of the Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009 by waiving the requirement of 
constructing a road (extension of Barr Street) on the unconstructed 
portion or road dedication. 

See "Development Services” in C.O.W. Section 4(c) 

Page 304     

21.  COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES FOR APPROVAL 

 (a)  Special Council Meeting (Fraser Health Authority Discussion) – 
May 12, 2015 

Page 305   

 (b)  Special Council Meeting (Stone Soup Initiatives) – May 22, 2015 Page 308 

 (c)  Special Joint Meeting (City of Maple Ridge & District of Mission) – 
May 25, 2015 

Page 312 

 (d)  Regular Council Meeting – June 1, 2015 Page 315 
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22.  RESOLUTIONS RELEASED FROM CLOSED 

 (a)  Resolution Released from Closed – Clark Theatre Funding Assistance Page 329 

23.  NEW/OTHER BUSINESS 

  None  

24.  NOTICES OF MOTION 

25.  QUESTION PERIOD 

26.  ADJOURNMENT 
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File Category: LGMA Administration 
File Folder: 0340-01 

DATE:   June 15, 2015 

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM: Gina MacKay, Manager of Long Range Planning 

SUBJECT:  Downtown Planning  

RECOMMENDATIONS:  Council consider and resolve: 

1. That staff be given direction with respect to preparing a contract in an amount no greater than 
$15,000 to secure the services of a consultant to prepare new streetscape designs for 1st 
Avenue and Railway Avenue; and,    

2. That funding in the amount of $15,000 be directed from the Gaming Reserve Fund to pay for 
the new streetscape designs and that the financial plan be amended accordingly.  

PURPOSE: 

The purpose of this report is to provide background information to Council on the development of the 

MissionCity Downtown Action Plan and the MissionCity Downtown Public Realm Master Plan in order 

to aide Council in making future decisions on the implementation of these plans. 

BACKGROUND: 

The District of Mission adopted the MissionCity Downtown Action Plan (Plan) in July of 2013.  This 

Plan was developed through an integrated, community based planning and design process and 
resulted in the identification of 5 Fundamentals for a Successful Downtown.  One of the identified 
fundamentals is to develop a high quality public realm consisting of streetscapes, parks and open 
spaces that provide the type of pedestrian environment that attracts and encourages people to spend 
time downtown. 

The adoption of the Plan did not commit Council to all or any of the actions listed in the 
implementation section of the Plan; however, the planning process was structured with the 
expectation that the Plan would be implemented.  For this reason, the Plan document was designed 
as an action plan with the capital investment actions identified as discrete manageable projects that 
can be scheduled over a period of time.  

DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:  

The background: 

The downtown planning process was organized into 3 phases.  Phase 1 included review and 
assessment of key background and technical information along with identification of preliminary 
issues, opportunities and ideas.  Phase 2 involved the co-creation and refinement of a shared vision, 
principles and concept plan for the downtown through a series of public and stakeholder workshops.  
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The illustrative vision and principles developed in phase 2 formed the basis for the development of a 
detailed plan including policies, guidelines, priorities and actions for implementation in phase 3.   

Phase 3 of the downtown planning process included the development of the MissionCity Downtown 

Action Plan.  The Plan identified a number of projects to be implemented to achieve the desired goal 

of a vibrant, family friendly, economically viable downtown complete with opportunities for public 
social and cultural events.  The Plan outlines 5 key fundamentals for a successful downtown as 
follows: 

1. Multi-modal transportation; 

2. A mix of high density land uses;  

3. High quality public realm, parks & open space; 

4. Social needs and community issues; and, 

5. Economic conditions for success. 

The Action Plan goes on to identify specific projects that could be implemented while working toward 
an overall common goal of a successful downtown.  Collectively these projects and actions have been 
identified as the 10 Big Moves.  

One of the projects identified in the Action Plan is the Welton Street Pedestrian Spine – a series of 
public realm improvements connecting Mission City Station to the Library and the bus exchange on 
2nd Avenue.  These include streetscape enhancements to Welton Street between Railway and 2nd 
Avenue, the library and the two stair/trail corridors which connect to residential neighbourhoods to the 
north.  Note that Welton Plaza was identified as only one component of the Welton Street pedestrian 
spine. 

The design: 

The MissionCity Downtown Public Realm Master Plan (PRMP) was the final component of the overall 
downtown planning process.  It is a planning / urban design document that establishes a vision, a 
framework, specific projects, standards and guidelines for future redevelopment within the public 
realm. 

The intent is to provide the District with a unified design standard for creating a cohesive and 
understandable public realm that can be implemented incrementally over time.  This ensures a 
coherent, consistent and complementary pallet of materials, furnishings and plantings throughout the 
downtown area specific area and further integrating this look adjacent private development space.  
Public realm improvements identified in the PRMP are presented as discrete projects.  The intent was 
for the District to undertake strategic public realm projects to support private investment in the 
downtown and to time the physical streetscape enhancements with infrastructure upgrades, road 
network reconfigurations and funding opportunities. 

The challenge: 

Development Services and Economic Development staff are finding it difficult to communicate and 
promote our initiatives beyond the incentive package as we don’t know what changes will be made to 
the original plans and what the overall objective is for downtown. Similarly, potential investors in the 
Downtown are asking what sort of improvements and commitment Mission will make in the Downtown 
prior to making private investments in the area. 

Through recent discussions with Council during our visioning session and recent Committee of the 
Whole meetings it is clear that Council does have an interest in moving forward with some physical 
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improvements in the downtown area. District staff want to make sure that Council’s interests and 
decisions are aligned with a strategic vision for the Downtown such as a revised Downtown Action 
Plan or Public Realm Master Plan. 

As an example, recent reports to the Committee of the Whole from the District’s Director of 
Engineering and Public Works identified that there is an opportunity to work with the Ministry of 
Transportation and Infrastructure (MoTI) in consideration of cost sharing for street improvements to 
the downtown core.  However, the design drawings provided in the PRMP were predicated on 
removing the highway function from 1st Avenue.  Without removing the highway function these 
designs cannot be utilized and revised streetscape drawings would be required should Council want 
to proceed with new street improvements. 

The proposal: 

Improvements to the pedestrian experience are a good first step toward increasing public traffic in the 
downtown area.  With increased numbers of visitors to the downtown area there are increased 
economic opportunities for new and existing businesses.  A commitment from the District to move 
forward with new sidewalks and lighting sends a clear message to developers that the District is 
serious about improving our downtown. 

The MoTI has indicated that they would consider a minor widening of the sidewalks which would 
amount to a one metre decrease in the travelled portion of 1st Avenue (0.5 metre or 1.6 feet of each 
travelling lane).  The addition of this 0.5 metre to the sidewalk on each side of the road would allow for 
a wider sidewalk with more opportunity to design an aesthetically pleasing surface such as decorative 
pavers/stamped concrete.  Consideration may also be the given to introducing bump outs or bulbs at 
select intersections to allow for additional trees or planters. 

Another benefit of this minor decrease in travelled portion of the road includes improving pedestrian 
safety as the decreased road width serves as a passive traffic calming measure. 

In order to determine what will work from a functional perspective and what will be approved by the 
MoTI District staff are proposing that we hire the same consulting firm that developed the original 
PRMP.  By using the same consulting firm we have saved considerable dollars in that they have a 
firsthand knowledge of the opportunities and challenges in implementing improvements in the 
downtown core.  This firm has an established relationship with MoTI and has proposed that the new 
design works could be undertaken with a maximum budget of $15,000. This fee includes two to four 
meetings with MoTI and District staff to ensure we have a plan that the Ministry will agree to both 
implementing and cost sharing on.  Should Council want, a session with the Council and the 
consultant could be arranged. 

The benefits: 

With a new design drawing for 1st Avenue and Railway Avenue District staff can provide a clear 
message to developers, investors and business owners/operators that the District is committed to 
investing in the downtown.   

Additional elements of the PRMP and MissionCity Downtown Action Plan can continue to be 

implemented as specific independent projects as Council sees appropriate. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

If Council chooses to move forward with the new design drawings for 1st Avenue and Railway Avenue 
a commitment of $15,000, to be allocated from the Gaming Reserve Fund, is required at this time.   
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COMMUNICATION: 

No additional communication is scheduled at this time.   

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:  

The District of Mission adopted the MissionCity Downtown Action Plan in July of 2013. This plan was 

developed through an integrated, community based planning and design process.  The Downtown 
Public Realm Master Plan builds on the Action Plan by providing direction to the development of 
public spaces in the downtown core.  Implementation of distinct elements of the Public Realm Master 
Plan such as streetscape improvements would be a great first step in improving the overall aesthetics 
of the downtown core.  New design drawings are necessary in order to move forward with this project 
and can be obtained at a maximum cost of $15,000. 

SIGN-OFFS:  

 

 
 
Gina MacKay, Manager of Long Range Planning 
 

  
Reviewed by: 
Mike Younie, Director of Development Services 
 

 
Comment from Chief Administrative Officer 
Reviewed. 
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File Category:  3310-15  
P2015-025 DP15-006 

DATE:   June 15, 2015 

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM: Donna-Lee Lakes, Planner  

SUBJECT: Development Permit Application DP15-006 to replace the current form and 
character restrictions on four (4) compact lots located in the intensive 
residential development permit area in Cedar Valley 

ATTACHMENT(S):  Appendix 1 – Information for Corporate Officer 

Appendix 2 – Location Map  

Appendix 3 – Front Elevation of House Plans for Lots 1, 2, 3 and 4 

CIVIC ADDRESS: 32620 and 32624 Cherry Avenue & 32623 and 32631 Lissimore Avenue 

APPLICANT: Raj Cheema, property owner and developer 

OCP: This application is in conformance with the current Urban Residential - 
Compact OCP designation. 

DATE APPLICATION 
COMPLETE: 

 

May 28, 2015 
LOCATION:  
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OVERVIEW AND STAFF COMMENTS 

This report details the Intensive Residential Development Permit application (DP15-006) for the 
properties located at 32620 and 32624 Cherry Avenue and 32623 and 32631 Lissimore Avenue.  

As approval of Intensive Residential Development Permits is delegated to the Director of 
Development Services (or designate), this report is provided for informational purposes only. No staff 
recommendation accompanies this report and Council action is not required. 

BACKGROUND 

In February 2011, Council and the general public were introduced to a development proposal to 
rezone and subdivide a property located in Phase 1 of the Cedar Valley Comprehensive Development 
Plan. The parent property located at 32620 Cherry Avenue (Appendix 2) was rezoned from 
Suburban 36 (S36) Zone to Residential Compact 465 Secondary Dwelling (RC465s) Zone to allow 
the creation of six (6) compact residential lots (Lots 1 through 6) with a single-family home and either 
a coach house or secondary suite permitted on each of the lots.   

As the parent property was designated Urban Residential – Compact, the development required the 
issuance of an intensive residential development permit (DP10-009) to ensure that the designs of all 
structures on the six (6) lots met the form and character of the Intensive Residential Development 
Permit Area Official Community Plan (OCP) guidelines.  

As part of this initial six (6) lot development application, the developer proposed coach homes on 
three of the six newly created lots (Lots 1, 2 and 3) and secondary suites on the other three lots (Lots 
4, 5 and 6). At the time, development permits for intensive residential developments were considered 
by District Council and site-specific house plans for each lot were presented in the staff report 
reviewed by Council and the general public.  

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT DP15-006 

The developer has now submitted a new development permit application that would remove the 
restriction limiting the secondary dwelling use to coach homes on Lots 1, 2 and 3 and allow secondary 
suites on all of the six (6) initial lots created. The new permit would also allow for significant changes 
to the overall design of one of the dwellings that had permitted a secondary suite. As a result, this 
recent development permit application involves design changes to four lots (Lots 1 through 4) located 
at 32620 and 32624 Cherry Avenue and 32623 and 32631 Lissimore Avenue (Appendix 3).   

As the current RC465s zoning allows for a secondary dwelling unit in the form of a secondary suite, 
coach house or garden cottage, no further rezoning is required to allow changes to the type of 
secondary dwelling and subsequent issuance of the development permit.  

While approval of Intensive Residential Development Permits is now delegated to the Director of 
Development Services (or designate), staff have decided to bring this permit forward as an 
informational item to inform Council and the public of the significant changes to the design that was 
initially presented in 2011.  
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RATIONALE FOR NEW PERMIT 

The OCP establishes guidelines for the form and character of intensive residential development by 
facilitating a higher standard of building design, housing alternative, site compatibility and site 
aesthetics that promote the important quality of a vibrant residential neighbourhood. 

As stated, the developer is now proposing a new form and character permit that would replace the 
existing permit on four of the lots by removing the coach home restriction and allowing secondary 
suites on all the lots created. The permit would also allow for significant design changes to one of the 
dwellings. The previously approved development permit and associated house plans for the other two 
lots (Lots 5 and 6) created as part of the initial six-lot development will remain registered on title of 
those two lots and do not form part of this application.  

Staff has reviewed the new house plans proposed for Lots 1 through 4 and have determined that they 
meet or exceed the intensive residential development permit guidelines outlined in the OCP 
(Appendix 4). In addition, secondary suites, instead of coach homes are deemed to be a better fit in 
the existing neighbourhood where the secondary suites with attached garages will provide for an 
increased backyard amenity space. All secondary dwelling uses regardless of type (i.e., suites or 
coach homes) will need to meet the Zoning Bylaw with respect to the provision for off-street parking.     

SUMMATION 

Development Permit DP10-009 will be removed from the titles of Lots 1 through 4 where the existing 
permit will be maintained as a charge on lots 5 and 6. A new Development Permit DP15-006 will be 
registered on title of Lots 1 to 4 to ensure that the designs of all structures on these four lots meet the 
form and character guidelines of the OCP.  

COMMUNICATION 

No communication action is required. 

SIGN-OFFS:  

 

 

Donna-Lee Lakes, Planner 

 

 
 
Reviewed by: 
Dan Sommer, Manager of Planning 

 
Comment from Chief Administrative Officer 
REVIEWED. 
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Appendix 1 
 

Information for Corporate Officer 

Civic Address: 
 

32620 Cherry Avenue 
 

PID: 029-527-597  
 

Legal: Lot 1 Section 29 Township 17 New Westminster District Plan 
EPP36272 

 

Civic Address: 
 

32624 Cherry Avenue 
 

PID: 029-527-601  
 

Legal: Lot 2 Section 29 Township 17 New Westminster District Plan 
EPP36272 

 

Civic Address: 
 

32623 Lissimore Avenue 

PID: 029-527-619  
 

Legal: Lot 3 Section 29 Township 17 New Westminster District Plan 
EPP36272 

 

 

Civic Address: 
 

32631 Lissimore Avenue 
 

PID: 029-527-627  
 

Legal: Lot 4 Section 29 Township 17 New Westminster District Plan 
EPP36272 
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Appendix 2 
 

Initial Development at 32620 Cherry Avenue (parent property)   
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Appendix 3 

 
Location Map 
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Appendix 3 

Front Elevation of House Plans for Lots 1, 2, 3 and 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Lot 1 
Lot 1 

Lot 2 
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Appendix 3 continued 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lot 3 

Lot 4 

Lot 4 
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File Category:  3310-15 3090-20 
P2015-013 DV15-006 

DATE:   June 15, 2015 

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM: Donna-Lee Lakes, Planner  

SUBJECT: Development Variance Permit to Waive Road Work Requirements for an 
Extension of Barr Street no Longer needed by the District 

ATTACHMENTS:  Appendix 1 – Information for Corporate Officer 

Appendix 2 – Location Map  

Appendix 3 – Unconstructed Road Dedication of Barr Street 

CIVIC ADDRESS: 33731 Richards Avenue 

APPLICANT: 
Krista Struthers & James Johnson  
Jordan & Lenka Struthers 

OCP: This application is in conformance with the current Rural 
Residential OCP designation.  

DATE APPLICATION COMPLETE:  
June 8, 2015 

LOCATION:  
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APPROVAL OF THE DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT 

 
SUMMARY 

A requirement of the Subdivision Control Bylaw is to ensure that roads flanking a property that is 
under subdivision development are brought up to or constructed to a municipal standard prior to 
subdivision approval. Accordingly, a development application to subdivide the property located at 
33731 Richards Avenue into two (2) rural lots has triggered the requirement for road works that would 
require upgrades to an unconstructed portion of Barr Street (Appendix 2). It is noted that no 
additional road works are required on Richards Avenue as part of this development application.   
 
There are situations however where the District has no interest in upgrading or extending roads 
although road dedication has been acquired historically. In those instances, these unconstructed 
roads are left as is or sometimes offered for sale to contiguous property owners if they are interested.  
 
In this case, while subdivision of the subject property at 33731 Richards Avenue (Appendix 3) would 
require a portion of Barr Street to be upgraded, the District has no plans or need to continue Barr 
Street north of Richards Avenue.  As such, the development variance is supported. 
 
DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE  

While the subdivision application has yet to receive preliminary layout (PLA) acceptance by the 
District’s Approving Officer, acceptance of the proposed subdivision is subject to the developer 
satisfying all District regulatory bylaws including road works unless Council’s approval to waive this 
particular requirement of the Subdivision Control Bylaw is granted.     
 
As such, this Development Variance Permit application is seeking a variance to waive Section 21 of 
the District’s Subdivision Control Bylaw that would have the property owner construct a road (i.e., the 
extension of Barr Street) on the unconstructed portion of road dedication as part of their development 
application to subdivide the property into two (2) rural lots (Appendix 2).  
 
Specifically, the purpose of the application is to waive Section 21. Works on Adjacent Highways which 
requires that: as “a condition of subdivision approval, the owner of any lands being subdivided shall 
be required to provide on a highway adjacent to the land being subdivided: vehicular and pedestrian 
access systems.”  

SUPPORT FOR VARIANCE 

Engineering and planning staff have reviewed the need for this road extension and have determined 
that construction of this portion of Barr Street is not required. This decision is based on that the 
adjacent properties to the west exhibit no further subdivision potential that would require this 

 
This report details the development variance permit to waive road work requirements for an 
extension of Barr Street that is no longer needed by the District and identifies the necessary 
variance to the Subdivision Control Bylaw.  
 
Staff supports the application moving forward and as such has listed the Development Variance 
Permit for approval under the “Development Permits for Consideration” section of the agenda. 
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additional road access and that the lands directly north are part of the tree farm license and do not 
require a municipal road for access to these lands. In addition, staff noted that constructing this 
portion of Barr Street to a municipal standard may not be feasible.  

Council’s approval and issuance of this development variance permit would allow the 2-lot subdivision 
to proceed without the construction of a municipal road within the current road dedication of Barr 
Street.  

COMMUNICATION 

A notice of the Development Variance Permit application was mailed or otherwise delivered in 
accordance with Bylaw 3612-2003 Land Use Application Procedures and Fees Bylaw and the Local 
Government Act. No comments were received in response to this notification. 

INFORMATIONAL NOTE 

Approval of Development Variance Permit DV15-006 can be considered at the June 15, 2015 Regular 
Council meeting. 

SIGN-OFFS:  

 

 

Donna-Lee Lakes, Planner 

 

 
Reviewed by: 
Dan Sommer, Manager of Planning  

 
Comment from Director of Development Services: 
Reviewed  
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Appendix 1 
 

Information for Corporate Officer 

Civic Address: 
 

33731 Richards Avenue 

PID: 000-443-409 
 

Legal: Lot H South West Quarter Section 3 Township 18 New Westminster 
District Plan 1762 
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Appendix 2 
 

Unconstructed Road Dedication for Barr Street 
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Appendix 3 

Location Map 
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File Category: LGMA 3220-20 
File Folder: 31956 Lougheed Highway   

DATE:   June 15, 2015 

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM: Katelyn Hipwell, Planning Technician 

SUBJECT:  Overnight Parking Restrictions at 31956 Lougheed Highway (Walmart) 
ATTACHMENT(S): None 
 

 

This report is provided for information purposes only.  However, Council may wish to direct staff to 
identify various options for further consideration that would permit overnight parking of recreational 
vehicles on properties accommodating large format retailers, and specifically the Walmart property.    

PURPOSE: 
This report provides information on overnight parking of recreational vehicles in the privately owned 
parking lots of large format retailers with particular regard to the Fraser Valley Shopping Centre and 
its current anchor tenant located at 31956 Lougheed Highway, i.e., Walmart.   

While this report is provided for information purposes only, Council may wish to direct staff to identify 
various options for further consideration that would permit overnight parking of recreational vehicles 
on properties accommodating large format retailers.   

BACKGROUND:  
Currently, overnight parking of recreational vehicles is not permitted on the subject property or any 
other large format retailers due to zoning restrictions.  The Fraser Valley Shopping Centre is zoned 
Commercial Highway Two (CH2) Zone under the District of Mission Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009 and 
does not permit overnight parking of recreational vehicles which would be considered a camping use.  

While this zone, along with other similar retail commercial zones, does not permit the use of 
recreation vehicles for camping activities, the registration of Restrictive Covenant CA2062107 on the 
Walmart property has further reinforced this restriction by stipulating the following: 

a. Motorhomes, vehicles towing recreational trailers, and other vehicles are prohibited from 
parking on the Parking Lot from 1:00 a.m. to 6:00 a.m.; and 

b. The Grantor shall install signs approved by the District as to content, size and location 
prohibiting overnight parking as described in [the above section] on the Parking Lot prior to 
occupancy of the Development. 

In this regard, the public hearing for the zoning amending bylaw application that established the 
Fraser Valley Shopping Centre (specifically, Walmart) was held on August 30, 2010. As part of the 
then Council’s consideration of the bylaw, staff were directed to come back with a third reading report 
that provided, but was not limited to, the following information: 

 “Staff and RCMP comments on any concerns, safety related or otherwise, that may be 
associated with Walmart’s policy of allowing people to camp overnight in their parking lots, 
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in the event the anchor tenant is in fact a Walmart.”   

Subsequently, on September 20, 2010, staff provided Council with a report specifically recommending 
the following: 

“That parking lot signs which prohibit all overnight vehicles be installed by the developer 
and register a restrictive covenant that prohibits overnight parking (besides on duty staff) 
prior to adoption of the zone amending bylaw.”  

This recommendation was based on the determination that the use of overt restrictions, such as 
signage placed on the site and a covenant registered on title, would provide both the retailer and the 
RCMP the necessary regulatory tools to manage overnight parking should the situation warrant it.  
The primary concern identified in the report related to overnight parking that may become problematic 
as a result of “free overflow parking” during major events at the Mission Raceway as well as the 
proximity of this parking to a local public house and other retail amenities.          

Consequently on June 17, 2011, a restrictive covenant was registered against the title of the Walmart 
property prohibiting overnight parking. The covenant was as a condition of the enactment of the 
zoning amending bylaw for the development of the shopping centre.   

DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:  
In order to permit overnight parking of recreational vehicles on the subject property (or any other large 
retail format retailers), a number of options may be considered. 

Apart from discharging the restrictive covenant and the corresponding removal of the parking lot signs 
prohibiting overnight parking on the Walmart property, allowing overnight recreational vehicle parking 
of recreational vehicles on properties accommodating large format retailers would require specific text 
amendments to the Zoning Bylaw. As “overnight parking” is not defined nor regulated in the Zoning 
Bylaw and camping is not a permitted use on retail commercial zoned properties, amendments to the 
Bylaw would be needed.     

The amendments would likely include a new definition for “overnight parking” that would differentiate 
between overnight parking and outright camping.  For example, a new definition may be added to the 
Bylaw which pertains to the sole use of Recreation Vehicles for camping activities or overnight 
parking that does not include, or specifically excludes the option for tent accommodation or 
associated amenities such as power or water hook-up as well as sanidump stations. The 
amendments to allow this limited type of “camping” or “overnight parking” use could warrant the 
preparation of supporting policy and or business license language to assist in the effective regulation 
of this activity.   

NEXT STEPS: 

Council may receive this information and resolve to maintain the current status-quo on prohibiting 
overnight parking of recreational vehicles on large format retailer properties, or Council could resolve 
to further explore this opportunity by directing staff to bring back specific recommendations for 
consideration that would allow overnight parking on large format retail properties on a limited and 
controlled basis.    

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

COMMUNICATION: 
No communication action is required. 

28



STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL Page 3 of 3  

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:  
Overnight parking of recreational vehicles is prohibited on commercial retail properties through zoning 
and is further restricted on the Walmart property by way of restrictive covenant registered against the 
title of the Fraser Valley Shopping Centre.  

Should Council wish to explore the option to allow “overnight parking” on the subject property 
including all other large format retail properties, a text amending bylaw along with the preparation of 
accompanying policy and or business license language would be required in addition to the discharge 
of the  covenant from the Walmart property title.  

SIGN-OFFS: 

 

Katelyn Hipwell, Planning Technician 

 

 
Reviewed by: 
Dan Sommer, Manager of Planning 

 
Comment from Chief Administrative Officer 
Reviewed. 
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File Category: 3310-15 
File Folder: P2015-020 ALR15-001 

DATE:   June 15, 2015 

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM: Marcy Bond, Senior Planner  

SUBJECT: Non-Farm Use Application to Allow a Nursery and Retail Garden Centre in 
the Agricultural Land Reserve on the Property at 30286 Silverdale Avenue  

ATTACHMENT(S):  Appendix 1 – Information for Corporate Officer 

Appendix 2 – Location Map  

Appendix 3 – Air Photo  

Appendix 4 – Site Plan (prepared by applicant) 

CIVIC ADDRESS: 30286 Silverdale Avenue 

APPLICANT: Chinh Doan 

OCP: This application is not in conformance with the current OCP designation of 
Agriculture Land Reserve 
 

DATE APPLICATION 
COMPLETE: 

April 14, 2015 
 

LOCATION:  
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OVERVIEW AND STAFF COMMENTS 

This report details a non-farm use application to the Agricultural Land Commission to allow for a 
plant nursery and retail garden centre on the property located at 30286 Silverdale Avenue.  

Staff support the application being forwarded the Agricultural Land Commission for their 
consideration.   

SUMMARY 

An application has been received for a “non-farm use” to allow a plant nursery and retail garden 
centre at 30286 Silverdale Avenue (Appendix 2).  The property is located within the Agricultural Land 
Reserve (ALR) and although retail sales of accessory products are permitted by the Agricultural Land 
Commission (ALC), the scale of such operations is limited.  Non-farm use applications are first made 
to the District and, if supported, subsequently forwarded to the Commission with a resolution from 
Council. 

The applicant wishes to develop the site as a nursery and retail garden centre that includes soil and 
bark mulch sales that are not permitted under ALC regulations.  Approval from the ALC for this scale 
of the operation (which is considered a non-farm use) is required.  As stated, prior to the ALC 
receiving the application for their consideration, the application must first be considered by Council 
and subsequently forwarded to the ALC.  Should the ALC support the non-farm use, the applicant will 
then return to the District with an application seeking approval to allow the commercial use on the 
property and in buildings by way of either a temporary use permit or through specific bylaw 
amendments.     

As such, the purpose of this report is primarily to determine Council’s preliminary support for a non-
farm use application involving a nursery and retail garden centre (commercial use) on lands 
designated Agricultural Land Reserve ahead of the applicant submitting formal applications to the 
District, which can be costly for an applicant to prepare. Therefore, the decision before Council is an 
initial ‘question of land use’ and specifically whether an application for a non-farm use (a nursery and 
retail garden centre) should be forward to the ALC for further consideration? 

BACKGROUND 

The property is designated Agricultural Land Reserve in the Official Community Plan (OCP) and 
zoned Rural 80 (RU80) in the District of Mission Zoning Bylaw.  Much like the restrictions placed on 
commercial uses in the ALR, the OCP designation and the zoning only allow for a limited sales 
related to a plant nursery, where the retail garden centre is considered a commercial use that is not 
permitted within the Zone.  In other words, the retail sale of nursery plants would be permitted under 
the definition of “produce sales” in the RU80 Zone while the sale of landscaping products such as 
bark mulch, soil, gardening accessories and implements would be a commercial use not permitted 
under the Zone.  The applicant has the option to apply for a TUP or to seek specific zoning approval.  
Therefore, once the ALC has made a determination on whether or not to allow the nursery and retail 
garden centre on the property, and if the outcome of the ALC consideration is favourable, the 
applicant will then decide if they wish to pursue final approval from the District.   

PROPOSAL  

The applicant proposes to develop a plant nursery and retail garden centre that will include growing 
and rearing of nursery plants, selling plants and retail garden products including landscaping 
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materials.  The proposal involves the use of existing barns, construction of new greenhouses and the 
placement of soil.    

Specifically, the applicant proposes to use the two existing barns and to construct three greenhouses 
on the property as part of the development proposal.  The larger unfinished barn, which is 
approximately 200 square metres (2,185 sq. ft.), will be used for storage.  The smaller barn is 
approximately 92 square metres (1000 sq. ft.) and will be renovated to serve as the display area and 
retail selling space.  Three greenhouses will be constructed with one greenhouse allowing customers 
walk through and select plants to purchase, where the other two smaller greenhouses will be used for 
nursing plants.  As the size of the proposed greenhouses exceed what is currently permitted under 
the RU80 Zone this will need to be addressed through subsequent applications.  

The development proposal for the site also includes placing topsoil on the eastern 2.02 hectares (5 
acres) to allow for the growing of plants.  Depending on the amount of soil to be deposited on the site, 
the placing of top soil may also require an application to the ALC.  

SITE CHARACTERISTICS 

The subject property is 1.64 hectares (4.05 acres) in size.  The property is flanked by Lougheed 
Highway to the south, Chester Avenue to the east, and Silverdale Avenue to the north where 
Silverdale Avenue provides access to the property.  No new access is proposed from Lougheed 
Highway.  There is also a single family dwelling on the property that will remain on the property as 
part of the development (Appendix 3).    

The property slopes from the northern property line south towards the Lougheed Highway.  There are 
watercourses on the property that will be identified and evaluated as part of subsequent development 
applications. 

As shown on the site plan (Appendix 4) prepared by the applicant, access to the site will be from 
Silverdale Avenue.  There are currently no municipal services, such as water, storm sewer or sewer 
available to the site.  Servicing will be considered as part of subsequent applications. 

Although the property is located within the Fraser River Floodplain and is subject to the District of 
Mission Floodplain Management Bylaw 4027-2007, the amount of fill previously deposited on the 
property likely meets the required flood construction level for the Fraser River.  The actual elevation of 
the property will need to be determined at the time of building permit application review to ensure any 
new buildings meet the requirements of the Floodplain Management Bylaw. 

PLANNING ANALYSIS 

The development proposal provides a new commercial opportunity along the Lougheed Highway that 
is currently not available in Mission.  The nursery and retail garden centre would complement the 
existing agricultural area while providing additional commercial economic benefit to the District.  For 
this reason, the application has merit to move forward to the ALC for further consideration. If the 
outcome of the ALC consideration is favourable, the applicant will then need to decide if they wish to 
pursue final approval from the District.        

COMMUNICATION 

No communication is required as part of the non-farm use application. 
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SIGN-OFFS:  

 

Marcy Bond, Senior Planner 

 

 

Reviewed by: 
Dan Sommer, Manager of Planning 

 
Comment from Chief Administrative Officer 
Reviewed. 

G:\COMDEV\MARCY\APPLICATIONS\Agricultural Land Reserve Applications\ALR15-001 30286 Silverdale Avenue\CoW June 15, 2015 docx.docx 
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Appendix 1 
 

Information for Corporate Officer 

Civic Address: 
 

30286 Silverdale Avenue 
 

PID: 003-577-783 
 

Legal: Lot 3 Except: Part Dedicated Road on Plan LMP263; Section 26, 
Township 14, New Westminster District Plan 65364 
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File Category: LGMA 3900-02 
File Folder: Land Use Applications and Fees Bylaw 

DATE:   June 15, 2015   

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM:   Mike Younie, Director of Development Services 

SUBJECT: Adjustment of Engineering Fees in the Land Use Application Procedures 
and Fees Bylaw 3612-2003 

 

This report presents rationale to amend the Land Use Application Procedures and Fees Bylaw 3612-
2003 to exclude engineering fees when engineering services are not provided by District staff as part 
of a subdivision. Staff support the amendment and as such have listed the amending bylaw under 
the “Bylaws for Consideration” section of the agenda. 

PURPOSE: 

The purpose of this report is to recommend amendments to the District’s Land Use Application 
Procedures and Fees Bylaw 3612-2003 (Bylaw) that would see the engineering fee not charged to 
applicants when their subdivision does not involve engineering works and review by the District’s 
engineering staff. 

BACKGROUND: 

A typical subdivision plan includes design elements for roads, sewers and water supply services.  
These detailed engineering drawings are reviewed by District staff for compliance with the Subdivision 
Control Bylaw 1500-1985 and other applicable regulations.  The drawings are marked-up, discussions 
with the applicant’s engineer occur and the final drawings are eventually accepted by the District at 
which point construction can occur. 

The Community Charter clearly sets out that local governments can impose fees where specific 
services are provided by the local government. Any fee that is applied must be reflective of the work 
that is provided by the local government. Schedule A of the Land Use Application Procedures and 
Fees Bylaw 3612-2003 stipulates that a fee of 5% of the cost of the works or a minimum of $2,506.25 
whichever is greater is payable to cover the costs of the District to supply engineering administration 
services. This fee is deposited within the Engineering and Public Works Department’s revenue 
account and a portion of the fee is transferred back to the Development Services Department’s 
operational budget to cover the time put in by the Development Services Department’s Engineering 
Technologist. 

DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:  

On extremely rare occasions, a subdivision application will not require a review by the District’s 
Engineering Technologist. A recent example would be the need of the Mission Association for Seniors 
Housing Society to adjust the lot lines at their Cedar Valley Manor location. The adjustment is 
required to properly reflect the interests of the Mission Association for Seniors Housing and the Cedar 
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Valley Mennonite Church. In this case, it is strictly a map exercise to which no engineering services 
are required and as such is not considered appropriate for the District to charge a fee for those 
services under the direction of the Community Charter. 

Staff recommends that a minor amendment (shown in bold in the table below) to Schedule A of the 
Land Use Application Procedures and Fees Bylaw 3612-2003 be made as follows:  

Engineering Administration Fee 
 
5% of the total cost of the works, but not less than the 
minimum fee charged + GST (When the whole of the 
installation of the service connection is carried out by 
the Municipality to connect to an existing Municipal 
sanitary sewer, storm sewer or watermain and the 
service connection fee is paid, the preparation of the 
service record card or cards and the Engineering 
Administration Fee shall be considered to be included 
in the service connection fee) 

 
 
5% of total cost of works 
or $2,506.25 minimum (whichever is greater) 
No fee is applicable when: 

 no engineering review is required; and 

 no engineering related works are required  
 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

Given that the situation of a subdivision not requiring engineering services is an extremely rare one, 
the amendment will have a negligible impact on operational budgets. In addition, the change is 
required to ensure that fees are charged only where services are delivered and to ensure consistency 
with provincial regulation. 

COMMUNICATION: 

No communication action is required. 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:  

District staff spend time reviewing subdivision plans to ensure the Subdivision Control Bylaw’s 
engineering requirements are complied with. A fee is charged as per the Land Use Application 
Procedures and Fees Bylaw 3612-2003 to cover the cost of the staff review. On rare occasions, a 
subdivision may not include engineering works and does not require the involvement of engineering 
staff. In these cases, the fee to cover the costs of the engineering review should not be charged to the 
applicant. Staff support the change and have listed the amending bylaw to the Land Use Application 
Procedures and Fees Bylaw 3612-2003 in the “Bylaws for Consideration” section of the agenda. 

SIGN-OFFS: 

 

Mike Younie, Director of Development Services 

 

Reviewed by: 
Sterling Chan, Engineering Technologist 

 
Comment from Chief Administrative Officer 
Reviewed. 
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File Category: LGMA 3900-02 
File Folder: Zoning Bylaw 

DATE:   June 15, 2015   

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM:   Mike Younie, Director of Development Services 

SUBJECT: Prohibition of Shipping Containers within District of Mission 

 

This report is for information only and summarizes the regulations regarding the use of shipping 
containers within the District and discusses several requests from the public to allow the containers 
in certain instances. Staff will be bringing a subsequent zoning amending bylaw that specifies how 
shipping containers could be permitted on a limited and controlled basis within Mission. 

PURPOSE: 

The purpose of this report is to summarize the current regulations concerning the use of shipping 
containers within Mission and discusses several requests from the public to allow the use of shipping 
containers. 

BACKGROUND: 

Metal shipping containers have grown in use in recent years due to their increased availability.  
Decommissioned freight containers can be acquired at low cost and have proven to be an effective 
alternative for the storage of goods. Beyond inexpensive storage solutions, their well-publicized use 
as housing in certain cities around the world has also increased their profile. By themselves though, 
they are not considered buildings. 

The District of Mission Zoning Bylaw prohibits the use of shipping containers and railcars for any use 
or storage. Despite this prohibition, shipping containers are currently found on school sites, numerous 
industrial properties as well as some public facilities including the Public Works yard and the landfill.  

Staff are also aware that shipping containers are being used on residential properties for storage and 
as outbuilding purposes.  In some cases, the containers are cladded with siding materials to reduce 
their industrial look where some are placed entirely within buildings. The latter is not considered 
inconsistent with the Zoning Bylaw as the building containing the shipping container is the land use 
structure that is regulated and not the container in this case.  

Shipping containers are sold in an “as is condition” and are not certified by any organization as being 
suitable for buildings as defined under the BC Building Code.  They are typically not vented and are 
not appropriate for storing hazardous or flammable materials.  Many shipping containers have been 
painted to look new and any structural defects are not obvious to most people.  Also, not all shipping 
containers are built the same. For these reasons, the alternative use of a shipping container beyond 
its designed intent could be problematic.    
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DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:  

Recently, staff have received a request to consider permitting a storage facility consisting of individual 
storage containers on a waterfront property on Harbour Avenue. With the prohibition of shipping 
containers in all zones, this proposal cannot be considered even under a temporary use permit. Staff 
have received at least three other requests from the public and businesses interested in using the 
containers as storage and as a form of alternative housing. 

Staff recognize that shipping containers are useful for storage of non-hazardous materials particularly 
in areas where vandalism and theft are prevalent. In the case of the proposal mentioned above, a 
storage facility consisting of shipping containers would provide an interim business opportunity in the 
waterfront area until such time the lands are planned and developed for a higher and better use. If 
Council desires, staff will draft a report outlining various option for allowing shipping container uses in 
certain circumstances.  The report would include a recommended zoning amendment bylaw and 
accompanying policy and business licence language for consideration including, but not limited, to the 
following elements: 

 Restrict the use of shipping containers to Industrial and Institutional zoned properties; 

 Restrict their use to storage of materials only and not a building where people spend any time 
inside them; 

 Consider shipping containers as temporary buildings to exempt them from floodplain elevation 
requirements; 

 Restrict the number and size of containers within certain zones; 

 Restrict where they can be used on a property (front vs rear), screening and how far from the 
principal building do they need to be; 

 Continue the prohibition in certain zones such as suburban and urban residential, industrial 
business park, and commercial; 

 Prohibit the stacking of containers to mitigate potential visual impacts and safety concerns; 

 Prohibit the storage of hazardous and flammable materials; and 

 Prohibit the hookup of electrical power, water and sewer to shipping containers. 

Should Council wish to direct staff to explore he various option that would allow the limited use of 
shipping containers, recommended options including a zoning amending bylaw will be prepared for 
Council’s consideration.  Any report prepared for Council consideration will include comments from 
the building and fire departments. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

COMMUNICATION: 

No communication action is required. 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:  

The District’s Zoning Bylaw currently prohibits the use of shipping containers in all zones yet the 
containers are being used throughout the municipality including District of Mission owned properties. 
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Recently, there has been increased interest in the use of shipping containers for storage purposes, 
including a commercial proposal on the waterfront for a self-storage facility made from shipping 
containers. There are benefits to using containers for storage in certain zones and staff will prepare a 
subsequent zoning amending bylaw that specifies how shipping containers could be permitted on a 
limited and controlled basis within Mission. 

SIGN-OFFS: 

 

 

Mike Younie, Director of Development Services 

 

 

Reviewed by: 
Dan Sommer, Manager of Current Planning 

 
Comment from Chief Administrative Officer 
Reviewed. 
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File Category: 05 Finance 
File Folder: 0880-25 

DATE:   June 15, 2015 

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM: Kris Boland, Manager of Finance & Michael Boronowski, Manager of Civic 
Engagement and Corporate Initiatives 

SUBJECT:  2014 Annual Report 
ATTACHMENT(S): Appendix A - 2014 Annual Report 

RECOMMENDATION(S):   Council consider and resolve: 

That Council approve the 2014 District of Mission Annual Report including financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2014, as attached as Appendix A to the Manager of Finance and 
Manager of Civic Engagement and Community Initiative’s report dated June 15, 2015 and entitled 
“2014 Annual Report.” 

PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this report is to have Council consider the District’s 2014 Annual Report at a public 
meeting prior to June 30, 2015.  

BACKGROUND: 
In accordance with the Community Charter, Council is required to consider the Annual Report at a 
public meeting, prior to June 30th each year.  
The District’s 2014 Annual Report includes the following information: 

1. Audited 2014 consolidated financial statements; 
2. Details of permissive tax exemptions provided by the previous Council; 
3. Details regarding municipal services and operations for the 2014 calendar year; 
4. A statement of the previous Council’s municipal objectives, the measures used to determine 

progress, and the status of each; 
5. Other information of interest, such as departmental overviews, community awards and 

achievements.  
Additionally, this year the Manager, Civic Engagement & Corporate Initiatives initiated a project to 
celebrate local amateur and professional photographers by including them in this report. Photos were 
requested though an online contest and were selected by the Manager, Civic Engagement & 
Corporate Initiatives and the Administrative Assistant – Corporate Services. 
The highlights of the District’s financial position and results are noted in the “Message from the 
Manager of Finance” within the Annual Report (page 24). The District’s auditor, BDO Canada LLP, 
presented their audit findings at the May 4, 2015 Council meeting, where the 2014 consolidated 
financial statements were approved by Council. 
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Staff will once again be submitting the Annual Report to the Government Finance Officers Association 
(GFOA) for consideration for an award in financial reporting.  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

COMMUNICATION:  

The final approved Annual Report will be made available on the District’s website, as well as 
published copies are distributed to a variety of community organizations, government 
agencies/offices, other municipal governments, along with Council and Department Heads.  

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:  
The District’s 2014 Annual Report is attached. In accordance with the Community Charter, Council is 
required to consider the Annual Report at a public meeting, prior to June 30th each year. 

SIGN-OFFS:  
 

 

Kris Boland, Manager of Finance 

 

 

Michael Boronowski, Manager of Civic 
Engagement and Corporate Initiatives 

 
Comment from the Interim Chief Administrative Officer: 
Reviewed 
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2014 Annual Report 

 

 

District of Mission 

British Columbia, Canada 

Recipient of GFOA Award for Excellence in Financial Reporting since 2006 

The Government Finance Officers Association of the 

United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Canadian 

Award for Financial Reporting to the District of Mission for 

its annual financial report for the fiscal year ended 

December 31, 2013.  The Canadian Award for Financial 

Reporting program was established to encourage 

municipal governments throughout Canada to publish 

high quality financial reports and to provide peer 

recognition and technical guidance for officials preparing 

these reports. 

In order to be awarded a Canadian Award for Financial 

Reporting, a government unit must publish an easily 

readable and efficiently organized annual financial report, 

whose contents conform to program standards.  Such 

reports go beyond the minimum requirements of generally 

accepted accounting principles and demonstrate an effort 

to clearly   communicate the municipal government’s 

financial picture, enhance an understanding of financial 

reporting by municipal governments, and address user 

needs. 

A Canadian Award for Financial Reporting is valid for a 

period of one year only.  We believe our current report 

continues to conform to the Canadian Award for Financial 

Reporting program requirements, and we are submitting it 

to the GFOA for consideration. 

GCC Communique Climate Action Recognition Program 

The District of Mission was awarded Level 2 recognition - Measurement, 

for completing a corporate carbon inventory for 2013 reporting year and 

for demonstrating familiarity with the Community Energy and Emissions 

Inventory.  
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Produced by the Finance and Civic Engagement & Corporate Initiatives Departments of the District of Mission in 
cooperation with all municipal  departments and agencies. Cover photo by Samantha Robertson. 
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Message from Council 
The current Council of the District of Mission supports and 
approves this annual report, which includes the District’s 
audited 2014 consolidated financial statements, as well as 
the many accomplishments over the past year, such as the 
2014 BC Winter Games. 

 

This report details the completion of the objectives of the 
previous Council. While our vision for the community and 
priorities are significantly different from those of the 
previous Council, we respect and appreciate staff for their 
dedication to delivering on the priorities and objectives of 
their elected officials.  

 

As your newly elected Council, we have been extremely 
busy since taking office in December, and will be working 
with senior staff to complete a strategic plan. We are proud 
to note that improvements to our parts and enhanced 
recreation and lifestyle opportunities form the bedrock of 
our vision on how we will move Mission forward. 

 

With this in mind, a parks and Recreation Advisory Committee will be implemented to work with our Parks, Recreation 
and Culture department to oversee improvements across al our parks. Continuing to move forward will be the Stave 
West Master Plan, an ambitious and important vision to transform the Stave West area into a destination for family-
friendly outdoor recreation tourism, and learning.  We are proud that we will be able to be working closely with the 
Province and local First Nations on this important project.   

 

Council remains committed to a vibrant and successful downtown, and will be working with the Mission downtown 
Business Association on practical and achievable enhancements to Mission’s downtown core.  

 

Council looks forward to developing and implementing strategies to address the challenges of homelessness in our 
community, and are confident that the new Stone Soup initiative will enhance the work of all social services agencies 
and that it will become an important step towards finding better tools for improving qualify of life for all our citizens. 

 

Council are committee to continuing to address public safety by working with the RCMP to ensure it has the resources 
necessary to keep our citizens safe, and are anticipating that three new RCMP members will be hired. To help improve 
our ability to respond to the challenges of mental illness and addiction, a new specialized team from Fraser Health will 
be working with Mission RCMP to help address these challenging issues. 

 

Finally, Council has committed that tax increases be maintained in-line with the Vancouver Consumer Price Index, and 
are confident we can deliver on our commitment to both enhance quality of life and carefully manage the finances of the 
District. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

2014-2018 Council 

Mayor Randy Hawes, Councillors Carol Hamilton, Rhett 
Nicholson, Pam Alexis, Jim Hinds, Jenny Stevens, Danny Plecas 
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Back row L-R: Councillors Rhett Nicholson, Jenny Stevens; Jim Hinds, Danny Plecas 
 Front row L-R: Councillor Pam Alexis, Mayor Randy Hawes, Councillor Carol Hamilton 

Mission’s Mayor and Councillors were elected for a four-year term in the November municipal election of 2014. 
The next municipal election will take place in the fall of 2018.  

The Mayor chairs the Regular Meetings of Council (two meetings per month), and all decisions are expressed 
either by a Council Resolution or a Bylaw.  Many of the matters which Council considers are forwarded through 
the recommendations of the various Standing Committees.  

Each Council member is appointed or sits on certain boards and external committees, select and standing   
committees, commissions and task forces including the following: 

 

 Cultural Resources Commission 

 Downtown Mission Business Association 

 Emergency Planning Committee 

 Fraser Valley Regional District Board of Directors 
and Hospital Board of Directors  

 Fraser Valley Regional and Corporate Services 
Committee 

 Fraser Valley Regional District/Fraser Health 
Authority-Mission Community Health Project-
Project Building Committee  

 Fraser Valley Regional Library Board 

 Fraser Valley Aboriginal Relations Committee 

 LMLGA Flood Control and River Management 

Committee 

 

 

 

 Mission Association for Senior Housing 

 Mission Community Foundation 

 Mission Community Heritage Commission 

 Mission District Historical Society 

 Mission International Cultural Association 

 Mission Regional Chamber of Commerce 

 Next Generation Civic Engagement Committee 

 Mission Sports Council 

 Senior’s Centre Association 

 Social Development Commission 

 Stave West Working Group 

Mayor and Council 
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Strategic Plan 

This report on the Strategic Plan represents the completion of the three-year term (2011-2014) for Mission 
Council.  The Strategic Plan for the  Council elected in November 2014 will be detailed in the 2015 Annual 
Report.  

  

2011 - 2014 Mission Statement 

Our purpose is to build a safe, healthy and inclusive community that is abundant in economic, cultural and 
recreational opportunities. 

 

2011 - 2014 Vision 

To be the most business friendly municipality in the Lower Mainland of British Columbia. 

 

Strategic Goals 

1. Financial Sustainability 

2. Economic Development  

3. Infrastructure and Facilities Development 

4. Municipal Operations and Partnerships 

The objectives on the following pages were developed as a guiding tool for the 2011 - 2014 Council to 
measure progress towards each of their strategic goals. 

Enjoying the waterfront. Photo credit: Paul Hockridge. 
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1 - Financial Sustainability 

1.0 Evaluate District Services and Service Levels. 

1.0.a Acceptance and communication of final Core Services Review report, and approval of any 
recommendations to be implemented.   Complete 

1.0.b Approved Core Services Review recommendations fully implemented. 13 of 17 action items 
complete 

1.0.c RCMP resource study received and considered by Council. Complete 

1.1 Achieve Sustainable Forestry Operation Focuses on Ongoing Profitability. 

1.1.a Implementation of approved Forestry Core Services Review recommendations.   Complete 

1.2 Create and Implement Efficient and Effective Financial/Business Planning Processes. 

1.2.a Annual budget formally approved by Council before beginning of each fiscal year.   Complete 

1.2.b Strategic, budget and operational plans are more fully integrated.   Complete 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2 - Economic Development 

2.0 Promote and Stimulate Economic Development and Business Activity. 

2.0.a Additional and accelerated funding for Economic Development Office in place.    Complete 

2.0.b Additional contract resource(s) for Economic Development in place.     Complete 

2.0.c Report to Council identifying any impediments to greater commercial and industrial 
development and implementation of approved strategies to mitigate barriers where possible. 
Complete 

2.1 Revitalize Downtown by Creating an Environment for Private/Other Investment. 

2.1.a Council approval of final downtown revitalization plan and common vision to be implemented. 
Complete 

2.1.b Marketing and communication material to execute the downtown plan produced and used. 
Complete 

2.1.c All required bylaws and policy changes have been presented to Council for consideration.        
Marketing materials to be completed in 2014.  

2.2 Provide for Interim Development Opportunities on the Waterfront. 

2.2.a Report to Council on interim waterfront development options and implementation of any 
approved strategies.    Complete 

2.2.b Final Waterfront planning implementation strategy/report forwarded to Council.     Complete 
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3 - Infrastructure and Facilities Development 

3.0 Create and Maintain Asset Management System. 

3.0.a Development of asset management system. Asset Manager Position filled.   Staff implementing 
system.   

3.0.b Implementation of asset management system.    Work underway. 

3.1 Provide for Mission’s Future Water Needs. 

3.1.a Final water demand study report forwarded to Council.    Complete 

3.1.b Investigation of potential water supply sources completed with recommendations to Council. 
Complete 

3.1.c Final Council decision on whether water meters should be installed throughout the community, and 
approval of strategy.    Complete 

3.1.d Inclusion of water source and any potential metering costs in financial plan.   Staff directed to 
conduct additional research and report to Council with data. 

3.2 Finalize Long-Term Community Amenity Strategy. 

3.2.a Council’s final approval of community amenity strategy and amenity list.   On hold pending 
implementation of the Downtown Action Plan. 

3.2.b Adoption of amended community amenity policy and inclusion of approved amenities in financial 
plan.     On hold pending implementation of the Downtown Action Plan. 

 

 
 

4 - Municipal Operations and Partnerships 

4.0 Introduce Performance Management and Reporting System. 

4.0.a Performance management measures established for each department, data collected and presented 
on a quarterly basis.   Complete 

4.0.b Quarterly performance management reports on Council agenda.   Complete 

4.0.c Quarterly RCMP accountability reports received by Council.   Complete 

4.1. Complete Other Priority Operational Projects. 

4.1.a Council approval of revised Cedar Valley Comprehensive Development Plan and formal adoption of 
any applicable policies, bylaws, etc.    Review postponed. 

4.1.b New subdivision control bylaw adopted.    Consultation complete, staff working on report for Council. 

4.1.c Approval of final project management policy and procedures.     Complete 

4.1.d New fee-for-service policy, procedures and agreements in place.    Complete 

4.1.e Regular and timely reporting to the committee and successful hosting of the 2014 BC Winter Games.  
Complete 

4.2 Develop and Implement Partnership Communication. 

4.2.a List of key partnership persons, agencies and organizations forwarded to Council. Complete 

4.2.b Communication strategy to interact with key partners approved and implemented.   Manager of Civic 
Engagement began audit prior to departure. To be addressed in the future. 
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Community Profile 
Mission is located on the north shore of the Fraser River within 

the Fraser Valley Regional District. The population, reported at 

36,425 in the 2011 census, trends young with a media age of 

39.3 compared to the provincial average of 41.9. 

70 kilometres east of Vancouver and 17 kilometres north of the 

United States of America via the Huntingdon/Sumas Border 

crossing, Mission is ideally located as a transportation hub for 

land, air, and water. Mission is surrounded by forests, hills, lakes 

and streams; a paradise for any outdoor enthusiasts. Along with 

superb fishing, two golf courses, 36 parks, dozens of hiking and 

mountain-bikee trails, Mission has one of only two municipal 

forests in British Columbia, commonly referred to as Tree Farm 

License 26 (TFL 26). 

Mission is famous for a number of annual events, including the 

Mission Soap Box Derby and the many events that take place in 

Fraser Valley Heritage Park such as the annual Easter Egg Hunt, 

Old Car Sunday, Canada Day Celebrations, the Twilight Concert 

Series, and the Mission Folk Music Festival. 

Other regular events draw participants from across Mission and 

the region, and include the Mission Farmer’s Market, Mission 

Fest,  the races at the Mission Raceway, Mission Fire/Rescue 

Service Fire Safety Fair and, ending the year off and starting the 

Holidays is the Downtown Candlelight Parade.    

2014 ended with the Municipal elections taking place in 

November and with the newly elected Council inaugural meeting 

taking place on December 1st, 2014. New for this election is that 

Council’s term is extended from three years to four. 

70 kilometers to Vancouver 

17 kilometers 
to the US    
Border 

District of  
Mission 
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Milestones 
2014 was a year of significant milestones for the District of Mission. 

Over an action-packed four-day long weekend in February Mission hosted the 2014 BC Winter Games. 461 

medals were handed out to athletes across the province, with the Fraser Valley squad netting top place with 

110 medals. Hundreds of volunteers took part in this fantastic event, and a $60,000 legacy fund will continue to 

support active living and culture in Mission for years to come. 

District employees launched the City Watch Program to help provide for a safer community.  The same day the 

program was launched, a city worker was credited with witnessing an individual breaking and entering into a 

business, contacting the RCMP resulting in the property being recovered!   

The Fraser Health Authority’s new $29.5 million extended health unit, The Residence, was opened in April. This 

new 200 bed unit replaced an older, smaller facility that is located beside the Mission Memorial Hospital.  

$40,000 worth of grants was received for the development of the Recreational Master Plan of Mission’s 

Interpretive Forest area as well as funding from the provincial government in the amount of $32,500 for the 

design plans for road upgrades. 

Cruising down Stave Lake Street at the Mission Soapbox Derby. Photo credit: Sandee Dupas 
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Proud to Call Mission Home 
District of Mission Council values its property owners, residents, businesses and volunteers.  

Each year volunteers are honoured by many different organizations, as well as the District   

itself. The following are just a few of the many volunteers recognized in 2014. 

2014 Community Service Awards 

Freeman of the City 
Ron Leger 

 

Citizen of the Year Award 
Bob Ingram 

 

Exceptional Accomplishment & 
Leadership Award 

Brian Antonson 

Pam Alexis 

 

Long Term Distinguished         

 Service Award 

Mission Girl Guides  

 

Special Accomplishment Awards 
Siwal Si’wes Advisory Council 

Seniors Centre Task Force  

2014 BC Winter Games Directors       

(including the Ambassador at Large) 

2014 BC Winter Games Directorate Chairs 

 
 

Lifetime Achievement Award 
Mona Freeman 

Mike Freeman 

Marion Buker 

 

Against the Odds Achievement Award 
Laura Laidlaw 

 

Crime Prevention and Safety Award 
Doug Olund 

 

Crime Prevention and Community 
Safety Award 

Jamie Nokes 

 

Community Service Awards 
Sophie Zehner 

Danny Plecas 

Lou Foster 

John & Linda Fisher 

Jane Donatelli 

Marilynne Davis 

Cycling4Diversity Foundation 

 

Community Service Award (Sports) 
Dan Williams 
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2014 Community Heritage Award 
Sponsored by the Mission Community Heritage Commission 

Daphne Sleigh received the Heritage Award for Education and Promotion.  

Adding to the Mission Legacy 

 

Ray Ward, presented with the French Legion d’Honneur award from the Consul  General of France, as 

part of an ambitious effort by France to present the Legion d’Honneur to all surviving veterans of the D-

Day Invasion.  

 

Mission’s Special Olympics Soccer Squad, for winning Gold at the Special Olympics Canada Summer 

Games.  

 

2014 Sports Hall of Fame Inductees 

2014 BC Winter Games Board and  

2014 BC Winter Games Directorate Chairs 

 Certificates of Recognition 
Presented by the Mission Council 

In recognition and appreciation of their outstanding commitment                                  

and participation in the 2014 BC Winter Games: 

 Tamara Skulstad & Kristofer Unipan - gymnastics 

Adam Holtby, Janie Green & Shivani Bahadur - speed skating 

2014 Women of the Year Award 

Pamela Alexis and  

Eden Donatelli Green 
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Message from the  
Chief Administrative Officer 

 

 
2014 was a year of significant accomplishments and significant change for the District of 
Mission.  

There were a great number of community events, most notably the 2014 BC Winter Games, 
which saw Mission welcome athletes, families, and volunteers from across the province to 
our community for four fantastic days of amateur sport. 

A number of major projects, openings and initiatives happened in 2014. 

 The Residence in Mission opened in April, this $29.5 million extended health unit 
replaces the Dr. Stuart Pavilion located beside the Mission Memorial Hospital. 

 BC Hydro began upgrades to the Ruskin Dam, a project valued at $748 million. 

 Telus invested $2 million to expand 4g and LTE wireless coverage. 

 The Sumas Regional Consortium for High Tech opened in Mission and established a 
technical centre of excellence and a venture accelerator focused on the intersection 
of agriculture and high-tech. 

 District staff launched the city Watch Program, another avenue to assist in our 
citizens’ safety. 

The District was also fortunate to honour Ron Leger as Freeman of the city, and to name 
Bob Ingram Citizen of the Year, along with numerous other worthy volunteers at the 
Community Service Awards event. 

I would like to thank staff for their hard work delivering on the goals and objectives of the 
previous Council and administration, and for their continued diligence in supporting our new 
Council in delivering on their commitments to the citizens of Mission. 

 

        
       
       Glen Robertson 
       Interim Chief Administrative Officer 
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Organizational Chart 
Citizens,  

Businesses & Taxpayers 

Mayor &  

Council 

Chief Administrative 
Officer 

Corporate 

Services 

Fire/Rescue 

Services 

Police  

Services 
Forest  

Enterprise 

Parks,  

Recreation  

& Culture 

Engineering 
&  

Public Works 

Development 

Services 
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Corporate Services 
The Corporate Services Department functions include Corporate Administration, Human Resources, 

Information Technology Services, Civic Engagement and Corporate Initiatives, Finance and Purchasing. 

The Department coordinates and provides leadership for all departments to ensure the District is accomplishing 

Council’s directives, the public’s goals, and Council’s Strategic Plan initiatives. 

corporate administration 

Responsibilities 

  Ensures the District remains committed to achieving social, financial and environmental sustainability while 
aligning the organization to Council’s Strategic Plan initiatives 

 Provides administration support for Council members, including preparation and safe-keeping of agendas, 
minutes and bylaws for Council, Committee and Commission meetings 

 Manages and coordinates matters related to land and legal issues 

 Committed to achieving Council’s directives and to remain focused on the goals put forth to ensure we 
continue to be an organization that inspires excellence and leads by example 

 Generates efficiencies and continually improves service delivery to our citizens and businesses by 
providing exceptional service and implementing more effective and consistent engagement of our 
community 

 Processes requests for information under the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act. 

 Monitor the treaty negotiation process to protect local District of Mission interests 
 

Highlights  

 Administered the 2014 general local election, which saw an increase in voter turnout (33.3%) over the last 
election in 2011 (29.9%). 

 In conjunction with the Information Technology Department, launched a new District-wide records 
management system. 

 Proposed a new Discharge of Firearms Regulation Bylaw that was approved by Council.  This bylaw no 
longer permits discharge of a firearm on Red or Bear Mountains and significantly limits the permitted rifle 
or shotgun use area east of Stave Lake. 

 

human resources   

Human Resources staff provide specialized advice and assistance to all District employees.   Human Resources 

provides expertise for all employees in order to remain a competitive employer and fostering a culture that 

attracts and retains high-calibre staff for the District of Mission. 

Responsibilities 

  Administer the District’s Occupational Health and Safety Program 

 Oversee employee and labour relations matters 

 Provide support to employees in regards to compensation and benefits 

 Develop and manage the corporate training program and manage employee development programs 

  

Highlights  

 Conducted 46 internal recruitment processes 

 Managed 31 external recruitment processes, including reviewing 2,582 resumes (not including duplicates) 

 Arranged for flu shot clinics to keep our employees healthy during the flu season 
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Corporate Services 

information technology services  

Information Technology staff provides municipal departments with support and assistance related to the 

computer and telephone systems within the District.  

Responsibilities 

  Coordinate and follow through on short and long-term strategic plans including acquisition of  corporate 
computer equipment, IT services and telecommunications equipment/services 

 Ensure the effective operation of the District's information technology infrastructure 

 Evaluate and recommend the capabilities of hardware and software applications for the municipality and its 
interaction with the citizens of Mission 

 Manage and support numerous computer applications including the District’s financial systems, recreation 
programs, on-line applications and GIS mapping system 

 Administer and operate the District’s computer and telephone systems 

 Provide corporate data recovery and security services 

 Host the District’s website 

 

Highlights  

  Upgraded the District’s virtual storage infrastructure for optimal performance, redundancy and future 
scalability. 

 Finalized the implementation and training of the District’s Laserfiche electronic records management 
system (ERMS) across the enterprise. 

 Implemented new corporate backup and recovery software/measures. 

 Completed the replacement of offsite, redundant server hardware infrastructure in order to enhance the 
District’s business continuity plan and recovery capability. 

 Deployed Livescan digital fingerprinting at the Mission RCMP detachment in order to expedite criminal 
records checks and provide greater electronic systems intelligence integration. 

 

civic engagement and corporate initiatives 

This office is responsible and accountable for overall communications for the District, and for facilitating better 

engagement between citizens, businesses, and visitors as they connect with the municipality. 

Responsibilities 

  Raise citizen and business awareness and understanding of municipal initiatives, programs and operations 

 Develop and promote opportunities for public engagement and feedback 

 Develop, coordinate and implement civic engagement strategies based on the District of Mission’s vision 
and strategic direction 

 Educating the public and finding new ways to work with and involve the community with the many large, 
long-term programs that the District is involved with 

 Making sure residents and businesses understand what we do, why we do it and that we  understand what 
they really want and need 

Highlights 

 Published all election-related material supporting increased voter-turnout. 

 Redeveloped official social media channels to improve communications. 

 Implemented online survey platform to improve citizen input in planning and decision making processes. 
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  Corporate Services 

Finance 

The Finance Department provides visionary stewardship over the District’s financial resources and supports 

other departments in the provision of quality services to the citizens of Mission.  The Department also oversees 

Purchasing and Stores operations. 

As most issues and decisions within the District have financial implications, the Finance Department is 

intricately involved on a daily basis, with assessing the financial impact of various alternate courses of action and 

with supporting the District’s general decision-making and service delivery processes. 

Responsibilities 

 Short and long-term operational and capital financial planning 

 Internal and external financial reporting 

 Property tax rate recommendations 

 Processing and collection of property taxes 

 Utility and other receivables billings 

 Maintenance of property records 

 Payroll and general accounting 

 Administration of the District’s investment portfolio 

 Payment of goods and services including processing of purchasing card (P-Card)  transactions 
 

Highlights 

 Processed almost 18,350 property tax payments/home owner grant applications during the tax season 
(May/June/July) 

 Awarded the GFOA Canadian Award for Financial Reporting for the seventh straight year 

 Revamped the Industrial/Commercial/Institutional and Residential Utility Billing notices to make it easier to 
read and understand and make the look more consistent with other utility billing notices. 

 Created a comprehensive 2015 budget document to provide incoming Council and the public with 2015 
budget information. 

 Implemented financial plan amending bylaws to ensure legislative compliance. 
 

purchasing  

Purchasing leads all competitive bidding processes, advises departments on procurement issues, and 

maintains the District’s inventory of supplies. 

 Responsibilities 

 Procurement of goods and services  and asset disposal 

 Take lead role where products and services cross departmental boundaries 

 Operation of central inventory of supplies (Stores) 

 Administration of purchasing card (P-Card) program 

 Cooperative purchasing initiatives 

 Verifying and maintaining vendor records and documentation 
 

Highlights 

 Implemented use of CCDC contracts for engineering projects. 
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Economic Development 
The District of Mission Economic Development Office, located in the Mission Chamber of Commerce building, 

was created in July of 2003.  The office oversees and coordinates economic development, tourism services, film 

production, workforce development, property management and land development.  Staff are guided by the 

District of Mission Economic Development Select Committee, an advisory body to Council.  The Committee 

consists of balanced community representation from the commercial, industrial, institutional and retail sectors, 

as well as the Mission Downtown Business Association, the Chamber of Commerce and North Fraser 

Community Futures. 

Responsibilities 

 Business Retention and Expansion (BRE) to encourage growth and stability within the retail, commercial 
and industrial sectors, diversifying the District’s tax base and creating new job opportunities. 

 Act as a liaison between various municipal departments and the business and development community 

 To establish Mission as a preferred location for business investment 

 Create community hand-out information such as the Mission Community profile, site selection information 
and incentive packages. 

 Determine real-time labour demand, to ensure an understanding of the current and future  

 Educate the Lower Mainland real-estate and development companies on investment opportunities within 
Mission 

 Support tourism marketing, promotion and attract tourism related infrastructure investment, such as 
accommodation, destination and tourism sites, and food and beverage operators 

 Promote Mission as an ideal film location to the production industry in conjunction with the Engineering 
and Public Works, Parks and Recreation, and Forestry Departments 

 Monitor film production activity 

 Coordinate regional tourism advertising, such as the Scenic 7 Tourism Alliance, which works      
cooperatively to promote attractions along the Lougheed Highway 

  

Highlights 

 The creation of a Technical Centre of Excellence, offering a facility for technical incubation and education 
for start-up and early stage innovations. 

 Creating an ongoing report structure to determine hiring demand analysis by location, industry, occupation, 
job posting source and duration for Mission and the Fraser Valley. 

 The development of a marketing strategy to attract investment through the Downtown Incentive Package. 

 Working with the Stave West Master Plan Team to shape 
Stave West as an outdoor adventure playground. 

 Three new videos were produced to highlight tourism, 
commercial and industrial development potential and the 
Scenic 7. 

 

 

 

 Follow us  @investmission 
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Parks, Recreation & Culture 
 The Parks, Recreation and Culture Department’s goal is to provide safe, welcoming and affordable parks, 
programs, recreational and cultural opportunities in partnership with the community for the enjoyment of 
residents and visitors to Mission. 

The Department achieves this goal through the provision of parks, trails, open space areas as well as safe, clean 
and welcoming recreational facilities and programs. 

Responsibilities 

 Develop, inspect and maintain municipal parks, trails and 
greenbelt areas throughout the community 

 Operate and manage the Mission Leisure Centre pool and fitness 
areas to provide high quality aquatic programming, fitness 
programs for a variety of ages as well as a variety of drop-in and 
program opportunities for fitness and wellness. 

 Operate and manage the Mission Leisure Centre arenas to ensure 
high quality ice for minor and adult hockey associations including 
the Mission Outlaws, as well as dry floor opportunities for lacrosse 
and ball hockey. 

 Provide a variety of drop-in and registered programs for children, 
teens and seniors. 

 Manage and maintain the District’s skateboard park, spray pad and 
youth lounge at the Mission Leisure Centre. 

 Operate the Mission Activity Centre in partnership with the 
Mission Seniors Association. 

   

Highlights 

 The District of Mission hosted the 2014 BC Winter Games that 
included 18 different sports across 12 locations.  The Games were 
led by a Board of 25 dedicated volunteer directors and supported 
by thousands of enthusiastic volunteers. 

 The Mission Leisure Centre hosted hockey, curling and figure 
skating during the Games as well as acting as the event hub. 

 Leisure Centre upgrades in 2014 included:  replacing the skylights 
over the main lobby, installing new automatic doors and 
completion of a number of energy conservation measures. 

 Development of a Cemetery Business Plan. 

 A partnership with the Fraser Valley Disc Golf Club allowed the 
development of a new disc golf course in Centennial Park.  

 The Parks, Recreation & Culture Department participated in the 
development of the Stave West master Plan and the Senior’s Centre Task Force. 

 A partnership with the Mission Minor Sports Organization has resulted in the formation of the first Mission 
Sports Council. 

 The roof of the bandstand at the Fraser River Heritage park was replaced to ensure the shelter continues to 
be available to special events and weddings. 

 The Department initiated or participated in a number of well attended community special events including 
Winter Wonderland and the Festival of Trees, Canada Day, Mission Possible, Youthfest, the Connect Events 
and the Community Health Far. 

 

Tailwhip at the Skate Park. Photo credit: 
Phil Capadouca  
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Parks, Recreation & Culture 

social development  

Social Development in Mission encompasses a Manager, a volunteer based Social Development Commission, 

volunteer working groups and related projects and events.  The mandate of the Social Development Commission 

is to contribute to the realization of the District of Mission’s vision by facilitating the implementation of the Social 

Development Plan.  In 2006, Council prioritized the creation of a Social Development Plan for Mission.  This 

decision was in part, a response to social concerns in our community.  Community forums were held identifying 

community priorities resulting in the first Social Development Plan.  In January 2009, the Social Development 

Program switched gears from working with the community in the creation of a plan to working with the 

community to implement the plan.  A living document, the social development plan has broadened over time to 

incorporate new groups, projects and events evolving with need and community will.  

  

Responsibilities 

  Support Mission citizens in their efforts to get involved in community projects related to social health 

 Partner with community agencies to explore community challenges and collaborate towards innovative 
community-based solutions 

 Work toward recognizing barriers in the community and increase communication where needed 

 Act as an educational and awareness resource on the importance of social health to community 
development and growth 

 Liaison between the community and the municipality in topics related to social development and 
community health 

 Coordinate community projects through facilitating multi-agency involvement including organizing Mission 
Connect Events for disengaged or vulnerable citizens 

 Provide mentorship and leadership opportunities to students and youth interested in gaining experience in 
municipal community development 

 

Highlights 

 Approximately $30,000 worth of grants were received to help support the Mission Possible summer 
program for disconnected youth in our community. 

 Coordinated Connect Events (April & October 2014) drawing 300+peope and 100  volunteers in total 

 $20,000 received from a Plan H grant to hire a Youth-Adult Partnership Facilitator to engage a group of 
youth to coordinate a youth led service provider’s workshop series (Oct 2014) – “Pulling Together 2014” 

 Launched the Stone Soup Homelessness initiative (Fall 2014) utilizing a community based action research 
approach incorporating lived experience of homeless individuals 

 Partner is the new Mission Youth House (My House) for all youth with a focus on disconnected/disengaged 
youth offering a youth health clinic, showers, laundry, food and social service/healthy adult mentors to 
connect youth to needed services 

 Led a Youth Wellness Group for youth disengaged due to mental health challenges 
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Development Services 
The Development Services Department provides services designed to shape future development by ensuring 

orderly and safe growth within the District.  The Department is comprised of four divisions: 

building and business licensing  

The Building Division is responsible for ensuring all construction within the District complies with the BC Building 

Code, the District’s building and zoning bylaws, and other related regulations.  

Responsibilities 

 Issue business licenses, and building and sign permits 

 Monitor compliance with building permits 
 

Highlights 

 Inter-municipal business licenses passed one-year trial period 

 Initiated digitization process of building permit files for improved access. 

 Worked towards incorporating building permit application process into the District’s software system 

 Participated on provincial Building Code and Building Inspector training Task Force 

 

 

 

bylaw enforcement and animal control  

The Bylaw Enforcement Division is responsible for administering and enforcing regulatory bylaws within the 

District in a fair and effective manner.  

Responsibilities 

 Receive and handle bylaw complaints to gain compliance with municipal bylaws 

 Oversee Mission animal control services 

 Identify secondary residential suites for utility billing purposes 

 Enforce parking restrictions in the downtown core and throughout the District as needed 

 Highlights 

  Full implementation of Integrated Services Team which has allowed an improved response to problem 
houses. 

 Better integration with social service organizations and initiatives to assist with homeless situation. 
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Development Services 

long-range and development planning  

As the District of Mission grows and changes, the Planning Division supports and oversees the functions of 

community wide land-use planning and site specific development planning.  The Planning Division is primarily 

responsible for managing growth and development through the administration of applicable land use bylaws and 

policies adopted by Council. 

Responsibilities 

 Review and process land development applications 

 Make professional recommendations to Council on specific development proposals 

 Initiate short and long-range land use plans for key areas including the waterfront and downtown 

 Implement and update planning/development  policies 

 Consider population growth trends and community needs as part of land use planning 

 Administer the municipality’s official community plan and zoning bylaws 

 

Highlights  

 The Industrial General Zone was amended to include barge loading as a permitted use. 

 Official Community Plan review initiated. 

 Adoption of Downtown Tax Exemption and Incentive Program 

 Advanced phasing in Cedar Valley to promote greater development of multi-family homes. 

 Improved information to developers at pre-application stage. 

 

 

 

transit services 

Development Services manages transit planning within the municipality. 

Responsibilities 

 Work in partnership with BC Transit and City of Abbotsford to provide transit services in Abbotsford and 
Mission 

 Plan for transit enhancements and expansions in Mission 

 Work with TransLink to oversee West Coast Express Train and Train Bus services to and from Vancouver  
 

Highlights  

 A $30,000 bus stop/pull-out/shelter project, funded by the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure, 
was completed on the north side of the Lougheed Highway near the Haig Street intersection, to enhance 
transit service to the Mission Hills Mall. 

 Transit Efficiency study completed with operational changes scheduled for 2015. 
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Engineering and Public Works 
 engineering 

The Engineering Division provides service to the community in the areas of infrastructure planning, design, and 

maintenance; Environmental Services; solid waste management; development application review; project 

management, construction and contract administration; soil removal, traffic engineering and Asset Management. 

Service is provided in a manner that conforms with the guidelines and policies established by Council and is 

consistent with the funding levels established in the District’s long-term financial plan. 

Responsibilities 

 Design infrastructure and manage studies and construction projects 

 Plan for municipal infrastructure 

 Maintain municipally  owned buildings and grounds 

 Ensure compliance of Subdivision Control Bylaw through development review process 

 Plan traffic patterns and control 

 Oversee the digital computer based mapping and geographic information system (GIS) 
 

Highlights 

 Introduced a “My Waste” app  to provide an easy reference to all Mission’s municipal waste collection 
services 

 Hired a new Director of Engineering and Public Works in August 

 Department restructure and focus on filling vacancies 

 New roof at Municipal Hall 

 RCMP cell retrofit project 

 10 subdivision projects completed at servicing phase for 85 new lots 

 130 final access inspections completed 

 35 Traffic Management Plans and 9 Extraordinary Traffic Permits issued 
 

asset management  

The Asset Management section is responsible for a District-wide condition assessment of surface and sub-

surface assets to forecast and schedule appropriate rehabilitation and reconstruction activities. 

This section monitors current levels of service, life cycle trends and deterioration models to protect the District’s 

infrastructure investments by planning and developing a short and long-range capital budget. 

The asset management approach includes the analysis of current and projected asset conditions and 

incorporates the economic assessment of trade-offs among alternative  investment options, using all of the 

information to help make cost-effective investment decisions. 

Responsibilities 

 Pavement management 

 Condition assessments on: water distribution, wastewater collection, and storm sewer systems 

 Fleet management 

 Data collection and input from the field, which includes Facilities, Public Works, Parks and the fleet 

 Provide cost-effective solutions for asset replacement costs, life cycle analysis and  funding requirements 

Highlights 

 An RFP was issued on December 19, 2014 for the development of an integrated Corporate Asset 
Management System to be conducted in two phases: 

 Phase One - development of a strategic framework for asset management 

 Phase Two - implement framework, including asset management software deployment 
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Engineering and Public Works 
environmental services 

The Environmental Services division of the Engineering Department administers the District’s waste management 

and diversion system, heads up the District’s invasive plant management program and provides support to 

community stewardship initiatives, as per the District’s Environmental Charter. 

Responsibilities 
 

Solid Waste Management  

 Oversee the curbside collection contract for garbage, recyclables and compost 

 Manage the Mission Landfill, including ensuring environmental compliance, public safety and promoting 
waste diversion 

 Coordinate special events, such as the annual Household Hazardous Waste Day and Compost Giveaway  
 

Environmental Stewardship Outreach 

 Support community stewardship groups in their efforts 

 Collaborate with community litter abatement groups, such as Adopt-A-Block, as well as individuals 

 Initiate an inventory of invasive plant locations and coordinate targeted control initiatives 

 Promote environmental awareness and waste diversion via brochures, the website and the curbside 
collection calendar 

  

Highlights 

    new 10,000 sq. ft. pre-engineered fabric covered compost facility constructed at the Mission Landfill, which 
includes a rain-water collection system with 10,000 gallon storage tanks, and a compost aeration and leachate 
collection system.  

 420 residents participated in the Third Annual Compost Giveaway event at the Landfill, with 227 tonnes of 
compost given away.  

 Initiated treatment of 88 knotweed sites throughout the community 

 5.7 tonnes of household hazardous waste collected during the  Annual Household Hazardous Waste Day 

 3.8 tonnes of curbside garbage collected;   3.0 tonnes of recyclables collected; and 4.1 tonnes of compost 
collected 

 

public works 

The Public Works Division provides a level of service to the community that ensures a reliable and efficient 
network of safe roads and pedestrian ways, a network of effective drainage and diking systems, operations and 
maintenance of the water and sanitary sewer utilities, an effective emergency and operations radio 
communications system, a responsive emergency preparedness plan, environmentally responsible and efficient 
gravel pit operations, and a reliable and cost effective 
equipment fleet. 
 

Responsibilities 

 Oversee the road and drainage maintenance 
programs 

 Ensure reliable water distribution and sanitary 
sewer collection 

 Maintain environmental protection for all 
municipal infrastructure  and construction. 

 

  

 

 

Highlights 

 New asphalt on Dewdney Trunk Road and Richards 
Avenue 

 112,800 square metres of asphalt rehabilitated 

 25 kilometres of water main swabbed (cleaned) 

 5 kilometres of sewer mainline tv inspected 

 25 metres of sidewalk installed 

 District work crews launch City Watch Program for 
a safer Mission 

 Watermain Replacement Program – 1,250 meters of 
new ductile iron watermain with services to 
property line 

 Trenchless repairs to our Storm and Sanitary mains, 
this includes CCTV inspections, mainline relining, 
and segmental point repairs. 
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Mission Fire/Rescue Service 
 

 

 

 

The Mission Fire/Rescue Service operates out of three fire stations located strategically throughout the District, 

each having a full complement of modern, up to date vehicles and equipment.  
 Fire Station No.1 on Seventh Avenue is the headquarters, providing administrative and logistical support for all 
stations with a Fire Chief, two Assistant Fire Chiefs, a Fire Prevention Officer, two part-time Administrative Clerks, 
eight full-time career fire fighters, and 40 paid on-call fire fighters. Fire Stations No. 2 and No. 3 are completely 
staffed by paid on-call fire fighters. 

The goal of the Mission Fire/Rescue Service is to provide the citizens of Mission with realistic and   effective fire 
service.  As well as providing a variety of fire and safety related services to the public, including emergency and 
non-emergency responses to fires, fire alarms, motor vehicle accidents, medical emergencies, etc. the Fire/
Rescue Service also provides community services such as child car seat inspections, Smoke Alarm Campaign 
and Fire Prevention Week activities. 
  
    

Responsibilities 

  Emergency response to fire, motor vehicle accidents, hazardous materials, medical  emergencies, alarms, 
and public assists 

 Offer public education programs, varying   from lectures on fire safety to fire extinguisher  training for 
industry 

 Perform regular fire safety inspections to ensure compliance with the Fire Services  Act and the B.C. Fire 
Code 

 Provide pre-fire plans of residential, industrial and commercial buildings which will allow quicker and 
efficient access into all occupancies within the community during an emergency 

 Emergency Preparedness Programs and operation of the Emergency Operation Centre 
 

 

Highlights 

  Assistant Chief Succession Planning  

 Held a youth Fire Academy of seven high school students who completed a 100 hour training course 

 Development of an Honour Guard – who won a Community Service Award 

 Held a successful Big Brothers and Sisters Camp at Fire Station No 1 in July 

 Engine 54 (our antique engine) received the “Dad’s Choice” Award at the 23rd Old Car Sunday Car Show 
on Father’s Day. 

 Paid on-call Fire Fighter Retirements: 

District Chief Doug Olund - 44 years of service 

District Chief Ben Madsen – 18 years of service 

Captain Dean Heriot – 28 years of service 

Captain Jim Armstrong – 21 years of service 

 

 
 

Mission Statement 

To provide service to the community by protecting life, property and  environment, 
through prevention, public education and emergency response, with well 
maintained equipment and highly trained and dedicated personnel. 
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Mission Detachment provides police services to the citizens of Mission within the areas of General Duty, General 

Investigations, Street Crimes, Community Policing and Traffic Services.  The District of Mission’s contract with 

the RCMP includes supplemental support from integrated units such as Police Dog Services, Air Services, 

Forensic Identification, the Emergency Response Team and the Integrated Homicide Investigation Team. 

Twenty-four District of Mission municipal employees support police operations, under the direction of the 

Manager, RCMP Administration, in the areas of Crime Prevention, Property Control, Records Management, 

Cellblock Operations, Fleet Services, Court Liaison, Transcription, Front Counter Operations and Administrative 

Support. 

Mission Detachment has a complement of 102 volunteers within Victim Services, Crime Prevention and the 

Auxiliary Constable Programs.  These proud volunteers work thousands of hours within their Program areas, all 

in support of the residents of Mission. 

 Responsibilities 

 Provide key services and programs in general duty policing 

 Community response 

 Street crime policing 

 General investigations and traffic enforcement 

 Crime prevention and crime analysis 

 Victim services and administrative support   to police operations 
 

Highlights 

 After 35 years of service, Inspector Richard Konarski retired from the RCMP. We wish 
Richard all the best. 

 Mission RCMP Detachment welcomes Inspector Ted De Jager as the new Officer in 
Charge at the Mission RCMP Detachment.  Welcome Ted! 

 Mission RCMP provided security for more than 1,000 young athletes during the BC Winter 

Games. 

 City Watch was launched in Mission.  City Watch provides District of Mission employees an 

opportunity to report suspicious activity they encounter while conducting their regular 

duties. 

 Victim Services Coordinator Gina Albanese, joined forces with the Emergency Support Services of the District of 

Mission to provide assistance to victims in emergency situations.  Gina currently has a team of 52 volunteers 

trained to deal with all types of emergencies. 

 Overtime initiatives were 

established to increase patrols in 

the downtown and Stave Lake 

areas. 

 
 

Mission Detachment 

Inspector Konarski 

Inspector De Jager 

71



 2014 Annual Report 

Our Progress, Our  Community, Our People 

 23  

Mission Forest Enterprise 

 

 
The Forestry Department has managed the Mission Tree Farm Licence #26 (TFL 26), also known as the Municipal 

Forest, since 1958.   
The Forest is managed on a sustained harvest basis, with an annual allowable cut of about 45,000 cubic metres 

per year, averaged over five years.  Management activities recognize many values in the forest including timber, 

wildlife, water, soils, fish, landscape aesthetics, recreation, education and biodiversity.  Forestry programs include 

harvesting, tree planting, plantation brushing, tree spacing, road construction, forest fire prevention and trail 

maintenance. 

Responsibilities 

 The Forestry Department’s main role is to perform all the associated functions of managing Mission TFL 26 
within the legislated requirements of the Forest and Range Practices Act of BC 

 Minor functions include providing advice or services to other departments regarding tree  issues around the 
municipality 

 

Highlights 

 The provincial government provided $42,500 for the design plans for road upgrades and $40,000 for the 
development of the District’s Recreational Master Plan for the Mission Interpretive Forest. 

 Stave West Master Plan, hosted public open houses in June and November. 

 Hosted a tour of Stave West for Minister Shirley Bond with representation from Kwantlen first Nation. 

 Dedicated a recreation trail in memory and honour of Roy Kittles, who was a local forestry specialist with over 
40 years of experience.  Roy was very passionate about the “Tree Farm” and he contributed his knowledge and 
experience on various silverculture and harvesting projects throughout the Municipal Forest.  Sadly, Roy 
passed away on January 21, 2013. 

 Staff from both Public Works and Forestry developed a flat deck trailer with a removable winch, allowing for 
more efficient operation. 

  

Mission Statement 
Mission’s Municipal Forest is a community forest operating under the highest possible 
standards. The Mission Municipal Forest exists for the people of Mission, by creating a 
sustainable balance of various economic, social, scientific and environmental forest values as 
well as providing memorable forest experiences to Mission residents and its visitors. 

Stave West Master Plan Planning Team members visiting Sayres Lake Campground with Minister Shirley 
Bond, MLA Simon Gibson, and MLA Marc Dalton. 
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Overview 

Strolling the slough in the fall. Photo credit: Alexandra Fontaine. 
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Report from the Manager of Finance 

June 1, 2015 

 
I am pleased to present the District of Mission’s audited 2014 consolidated financial statements. The 
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of management, and have been prepared by 
District staff pursuant to Section 167 of the Community Charter.  Management’s responsibilities also    
include maintaining a system of internal controls for financial statement reliability purposes and to ensure 
the protection of the District’s assets. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards.   

 
The District’s independent external auditors, BDO Canada LLP, have audited the District’s financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. As expressed in their 
audit report, in their opinion the District’s consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the District of Mission as at December 31, 2014, and the 
consolidated results of operations, changes in net financial assets, and cash flows for the year then ended, 
in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

 

The District of Mission Development Corporation’s financial position and operating results for the year are 
included in the consolidated financial statements.  Separate financial statements for the Development 
Corporation are also included in this annual report.  In accordance with the direction given by District 
Council, the Development Corporation ceased its operations during the year, resulting in its accumulated 
surplus being transferred to the District.  

 

Consolidated Financial Position and Results 

At the end of 2014, the District had net financial assets of $43.3 million, based on the difference        
between its financial assets ($72.7 million) and its liabilities ($29.4 million). This compares to net        
financial assets of $29.5 million at the end of 2013. The District also had non-financial assets of $431.4 
million, which for the most part consisted of the amortized historical cost of tangible capital assets. The 
District’s net financial assets and non-financial assets together account for the $474.7 million               
accumulated surplus as at December 31, 2014.  Details of the composition of accumulated surplus, with 
comparable figures for the prior year, are shown below. 

Unrestricted surplus decreased by about $0.5 million, and reserve funds increased by about $7.5 million 
during 2014.  The decrease in unrestricted surplus was primarily related to the use of approximately $1.5 
million of unrestricted surplus funds towards the early retirement of long-term debt, which was partially 
offset by the current year’s general fund operating surplus of approximately $1.2 million.  The increase in 
reserve funds was for the most part attributable to a change in accounting treatment for the approximately 
$6.6 million of Community Works funds on hand, as a result of changes to the stipulations in the renewed 
Community Works  Fund Agreement that was entered into during the year. 

  
2014 Accumulated 

Surplus 

2013 Accumulated 

Surplus 

Increase 

(Decrease) 

Unrestricted surplus $ 7,557,504 $ 8,079,528 $ 1,155,519 

Reserve funds 43,388,316 35,936,611 4,936,859 

Investment in tangible capital assets 423,768,524 412,272,319 3,948,186 

Total accumulated surplus $ 474,714,344 $ 456,288,458 $ 10,040,564 
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The District had consolidated revenues of $73.4 million and consolidated expenses of $55.0 million in 
2014, which resulted in an annual surplus of $18.4 million. A break-down of 2014 consolidated revenues 
and expenses is shown in the charts below. 
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Long-Term Debt 

The District had approximately $6.8 million of outstanding long-term debt at the end of 2014 ($13.8 
million at the end of 2013).  The outstanding long-term debt is related to borrowing for the Fire Hall and 
Leisure Centre facilities construction, and the water and sewer utilities no longer have any long-term 
debt outstanding.  The District has been making steady progress at paying down external debt in recent 
years, by using monies accumulated in reserve funds to take advantage of a number of early debt 
retirement opportunities. 

Internal Debt 

At the end of 2014, the District had approximately $4.5 million of outstanding internal debt ($5.2 million at 
the end of 2013). Internal debt occurs when one of the District’s reserve funds borrows from another of 
the District’s reserve funds. The majority of the District’s outstanding internal debt was incurred to fund 
growth-related projects, which are ultimately to be funded from future development cost charge  (DCC) 
collections.  In other words, general reserves have prepaid certain projects that were needed to support 
growth, as insufficient DCC funds were collected prior to having to construct the projects.  As DCCs are 
collected from future developments, the internal loans are repaid. The District’s internal borrowing 
capacity is dependent upon its reserve balances, and future projects planned to be funded by those 
reserves.  From the District’s perspective, internal borrowing offers certain advantages over long-term 
debt, because there is greater flexibility in the length of the payback period and timing of repayment, and 
the interest cost is kept within the organization; however, a disciplined and structured payback plan 
should be adhered to.    

Financial Indicators 

The District tracks certain financial indicators, which provide some insight into financial sustainability, 
flexibility and vulnerability.  Over time, these indicators are helpful as they can illustrate certain trends 
that are occurring.  

 Sustainability indicators provide a general indication of the District’s financial position. The    
District is experiencing a positive trend in terms of financial sustainability, and the indicators show 
there are sufficient assets available to discharge liabilities. 

 Flexibility indicators provide a general indication of the District’s reliance on debt financing.   
Flexibility has remained fairly stable in recent years, and the indicator shows that a relatively small  
portion of total revenues are committed to debt servicing costs. The increases in 2013 and 2014 are 
both the result of one-time payments for early debt retirement, therefore are considered abnormal 
and not reoccurring; in fact, all things being equal, the early debt retirements undertaken in 2013 and 
2014 will reduce future debt servicing costs. 

 Vulnerability indicators provide a general indication of the District’s reliance on transfers from  
senior levels of government. The District appears more reliant upon government transfers in 2014 
than in recent years; however, this is due primarily to a change in accounting treatment for 
Community Works funds on hand. 

FINANCIAL INDICATORS 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

          

Sustainability indicators:          
Total assets to total liabilities 11.09 11.16 11.43 11.56 17.13 

Financial assets to total liabilities 1.29 1.33 1.49 1.68 2.47 

           

Flexibility indicators:           

Total debt servicing costs to total revenues 0.03 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.11 

           

Vulnerability indicators:           

Total government transfers to total revenues 0.09 0.08 0.03 0.06 0.13 

76



2014 Annual Report 28  

Financial Overview  

Looking Forward  

Looking forward, the District of Mission is dedicated to improving its financial position even further in the 
future by: 

 Diversifying the property tax base and increasing other sources of revenue, in order to reduce 
reliance on residential property taxes; 

 Continuing to build reserve balances, and thus internal financing capacity, by incrementally in-
creasing annual transfers to reserves; 

 Gaining a better understanding of the life-cycle costs of infrastructure through the development 
of a comprehensive asset management program; 

 Minimizing the use of external debt; and,  

 Maximizing the repayment of internal debt, to the extent possible. 

How we deal with continuing challenges around building and paying for growth related infrastructure 
(including regional water and sewer projects), how successful we are at expanding our revenue sources 
in order to become less reliant on property taxes, and how successful we are at diversifying our tax base 
with greater business and industrial components, will in part determine how we progress towards greater 
financial sustainability. The District continues to be accountable for its spending, and aims to preserve 
community infrastructure while balancing the economic conditions of the community.   

In conclusion, the District of Mission maintains a strong financial position, and is well positioned to deliver 
the municipal services residents and businesses have come to expect.  I look forward to working with 
Council to implement their vision in the coming years, and I thank all District staff for their efforts in 
achieving our positive financial results.  The professionalism and commitment to excellence shown by 
staff each day is the foundation for our success.  

 
 

 

 

Kris Boland,  CPA, CGA 
Manager of Finance 
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 Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 
To the Mayor and Council of the District of Mission 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the District of Mission, which 
comprise the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2014, and the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations and Accumulated Surplus, Changes in Net Financial Assets and Cash Flows for the 
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the District of Mission as at December 31, 2014, and the results of its consolidated 
results of operations, changes in net financial assets, and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

 
Chartered Accountants 

Vancouver, British Columbia 
May 4, 2015 
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District of Mission
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

as at December 31, 2014

2014 2013

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) $ 31,661,753 $ 34,701,227

Receivables (Note 3) 6,534,469 7,955,396

Inventories held for resale 271,764 234,754

Investments (Note 4) 34,304,426 29,789,875

72,772,412 72,681,252

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6) 10,005,353 11,538,929

Deposits 2,266,282 1,888,145

Long-term debt (Note 7, Schedule 3) 6,768,137 13,772,222

Deferred revenue 3,974,715 4,073,949

Restricted revenue (Note 8) 5,044,746 10,656,061

Employee future benefits (Note 9) 1,370,820 1,286,952

29,430,053 43,216,258

Net Financial Assets 43,342,359 29,464,994

Non-Financial Assets

Tangible capital assets (Schedule 1) 430,536,661 426,044,541

Inventories of supplies and land 669,533 630,054

Prepaid expenses 165,791 148,869

431,371,985 426,823,464

Accumulated Surplus  (Note 11) $ 474,714,344 $ 456,288,458

Kris Boland CPA, CGA Randy Hawes
Manager of Finance Mayor

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

for the year ended December 31, 2014

Budget 2014 2013

Revenues

Taxation (Note 12) $ 27,980,020 $ 28,069,283 $ 27,578,938

Sales of services and regulatory fees 25,463,839 26,413,396 25,541,436

Government transfers (Note 13) 1,563,190 9,339,813 3,821,395

Amortization of restricted revenue (Note 8) 485,569 1,009,311 2,237,002

Investment income 892,191 1,320,106 855,635

Other revenue 1,667,586 2,068,560 1,819,906

Developer contributions in-kind related to capital 3,543,070 3,719,586 3,184,347

Gain/(loss) on disposal of tangible capital assets 3,965 1,527,274 (995,632)

Total Revenues 61,599,430 73,467,329 64,043,027

Expenses

Administration and finance 4,071,856 4,271,812 4,203,501

General government and fiscal services 959,455 1,250,294 1,117,682

Protective services 14,216,817 13,129,857 13,188,918

Engineering and public works 7,793,324 7,524,683 7,171,049

Transit services 2,722,635 2,746,178 2,465,741

Waste management 4,467,115 4,214,266 4,507,088

Development services 2,194,569 2,011,276 2,082,628

Parks, recreation and cultural services 6,384,406 6,674,385 6,483,489

Library 1,360,637 1,368,089 1,351,476

Cemetery 244,652 256,658 250,312

Water utility 4,013,569 3,850,774 4,241,014

Sewer utility 3,688,810 3,578,191 3,578,302

Forestry enterprise 3,868,201 4,142,343 3,326,097

Development Corporation 24,375 22,637 35,165

Total Expenses 56,010,421 55,041,443 54,002,462

Annual Surplus 5,589,009 18,425,886 10,040,565

Accumulated Surplus, Beginning of Year 456,288,458 456,288,458 446,247,893

Accumulated Surplus, End of Year $ 461,877,467 $ 474,714,344 $ 456,288,458

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Budget 2014 2013

Annual Surplus $ 5,589,009 $ 18,425,886 $ 10,040,565

Acquisition of tangible capital assets, including developer
contributions in-kind (5,271,582) (13,030,685) (10,503,387)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 8,400,152 8,046,287 7,936,834

(Gain)/loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - (1,527,274) 995,632

Net sale proceeds - TCA disposals 3,965 2,019,552 63,680

8,721,544 13,933,766 8,533,324

Change in inventories of supplies and land - (39,479) 15,200

Change in prepaid expenses - (16,922) 17,360

- (56,401) 32,560

Increase in Net Financial Assets 8,721,544 13,877,365 8,565,884

Net Financial Assets, Beginning of Year 29,464,994 29,464,994 20,899,110

Net Financial Assets, End of Year $ 38,186,538 $ 43,342,359 $ 29,464,994

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

2014 2013

Cash Flows from Operating Transactions

Annual surplus $ 18,425,886 $ 10,040,565

Items Not Involving Cash

Amortization of tangible capital assets 8,046,287 7,936,834

Amortization of restricted revenue (1,009,311) (2,237,002)

(Gain) / Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets (1,527,274) 995,632

Developer contributions in-kind related to capital (3,719,586) (3,184,347)

Change in employee future benefits 83,868 (85,102)

Change in Non-Cash Operating Items

Receivables 1,420,927 (1,048,276)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,533,576) 1,447,414

Deposits 378,137 (54,400)

Deferred revenue (99,234) 142,970

Inventories held for resale (37,010) (48,583)

Inventories of supplies and land (39,479) 15,200

Prepaid expenses (16,922) 17,360

Net Change in Cash from Operating Transactions 20,372,713 13,938,265

Cash Flows from Investing Transactions

Change in investments (4,514,551) 3,674,200

Cash Flows from Financing Transactions

Long-term debt principal repaid (7,004,085) (2,440,946)

Restricted revenue collections and interest earnings (4,602,004) 3,677,891

Net Change in Cash from Financing Transactions (11,606,089) 1,236,945

Cash Flows from Capital Transactions

Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets 2,019,552 63,681

Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (9,311,099) (7,319,040)

Net Change in Cash from Capital Transactions (7,291,547) (7,255,359)

Net Change in Cash (3,039,474) 11,594,051

Cash, Beginning of Year 34,701,227 23,107,176

Cash, End of Year $ 31,661,753 $ 34,701,227

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

The notes and schedules to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of the statements.  They
provide detailed information and explain the significant accounting and reporting principles that form the basis for
the statements. The notes and schedules also provide important supplementary information and explanations,
which cannot be conveniently integrated into the consolidated financial statements.

The principal activities of the District of Mission (the District) include the provision of local government services to
residents and businesses. The Community Charter of British Columbia requires local governments to adopt a five
year financial plan, wherein total budgeted expenditures and transfers to other funds for each year must not exceed
the total of the budgeted funding sources and transfers from other funds for each year. Budget information
presented in the consolidated financial statements reflects the budget for the year 2014 of the District of Mission’s
2014-2018 five year financial plan adopted by Council Bylaw #5392-2013.

1. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the District are prepared in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered
Professional Accountants Canada. The consolidated financial statements reflect the combined results
and activities of the District and its wholly owned subsidiary, the District of Mission Development
Corporation. All inter-fund and inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated. The
District of Mission Development Corporation was wound up during 2014, resulting in all assets and
liabilities being transferred to the District of Mission. 

The District has a Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Fund (Trust Fund) that has been established pursuant
to the Cremation, Interment and Funeral Services Act (the Act). This Trust Fund provides funds that will
be used for the eventual closure and upkeep of the cemetery. Interest earnings on the Trust Fund
balance are transferred to general operations and are used for ongoing cemetery maintenance in
accordance with the Act. The Trust Fund is excluded from the District’s consolidated financial
statements, in accordance with PSAB standards (Note 16).

(b) Basis of Accounting

The consolidated financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual
basis of accounting records revenue as it is earned and becomes measurable. Expenses are recognized
as they are incurred and become measurable based upon receipt of goods or services and/or the
creation of a legal obligation to pay. 

(c) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting standards
established by PSAB requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of certain receivables and accrued liabilities as at the date of the financial statements, and that
affect the reported amount of related revenues and expenses during the reporting period. As such,
actual results could differ from the estimates. Areas requiring the greatest degree of estimation include
employee future benefits, assessment of contingent liabilities, landfill closure and post-closure liabilities,
allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, and the estimated useful lives of tangible capital assets. 

(d) Inventories Held for Resale

Inventories held for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.    
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(e) Investments

Investments are recorded at cost. Investments are written down to net realizable value when there has
been, in the opinion of management, a decline in market value that is not temporary. Investments in the
Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) of British Columbia Short-Term Bond Fund are recorded at market
value, which approximates cost. 

(f) Non-Financial Assets

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the provision
of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year (with the exception of prepaid
expenses), and are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. 

(g) Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets, which are a type of non-financial asset, are recorded at cost, which includes all
amounts that are directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment. The costs
of tangible capital assets, less residual value, are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Asset Category Useful Life Range

Buildings and improvements 5 to 50 years

Drainage infrastructure 20 to 100 years

Information technology infrastructure 3 to 80 years

Land not amortized

Land improvements 35 to 50 years

Landfill infrastructure 10 to 50 years

Parks infrastructure 10 to 40 years

Recycling depot (regional) 7 to 20 years

Sewage conveyance infrastructure (local) 25 to 100 years

Sewage treatment plant (regional)  5 to 100 years

Transportation infrastructure 10 to 80 years

Vehicles and equipment 5 to 20 years

Water distribution infrastructure (local) 10 to 100 years

Water supply infrastructure (regional)  4 to 75 years

In the year of acquisition or disposal, amortization is prorated based on the number of days that the
tangible capital asset is in service or use in the year. Assets under construction are not amortized until
they are put into service. Tangible capital assets received from developers through property development
activities are recorded at their fair value at the date of receipt and are recorded as revenue.
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(h) Inventories of Supplies and Land

Inventories of supplies and land are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

(i) Deferred Revenue

Certain contributions, and other amounts are received from third parties pursuant to legislation,
regulation or agreement. These amounts may only be used to conduct certain programs, complete
specific work, or to purchase tangible capital assets, as specified by the transferring party. In addition,
certain user fees and charges are collected, for which the related services have yet to be performed.
These revenues are recognized in the period when the related expenses are incurred, services
performed, or the tangible capital assets are acquired. 

(j) Restricted Revenue

Revenues or receipts, which are restricted by legislation or that contain stipulations that create a liability,
are deferred and reported as restricted revenues. When qualifying expenses are incurred and/or
stipulations are met, restricted revenues are recognized as revenues in the period which this occurs.

(k) Employee Future Benefits

The District and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan (Plan), and the
employees accrue benefits under this Plan based on service.  The District’s contributions to the Plan are
expensed when incurred.

In addition to the Municipal Pension Plan, sick leave and other retirement benefits also accrue to the
District’s employees. The costs of these benefits are actuarially determined based on years of service,
estimated retirement age, and expected future salary and wage levels. The obligations under these
benefit plans are accrued based on the projected benefits earned as the employees render the services
necessary to earn the future benefits.  

(l) Revenue Recognition - Taxation

Taxes are recorded at estimated amounts when they meet the definition of an asset, have been
authorized, and the taxable event occurs. Annual levies for non-optional municipal services and general
administrative services are recorded as taxes for municipal services in the year they are levied. Taxes
receivable are recognized net of an allowance for anticipated uncollectible amounts. Levies imposed by
other taxing authorities are not included as taxes for municipal purposes. 

Through the British Columbia Assessment's appeal process, taxes may be adjusted by way of
supplementary roll adjustments. The effects of these adjustments on taxes may have been included in
initial estimates when recording revenue; to the extent that adjustments exceed the initial estimates, they
are recognized at the time they are awarded. 
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(m) Government Transfers

Government transfers, which include legislative grants, are recognized as revenue in the financial
statements when the transfer is authorized and any eligibility criteria are met, except to the extent that
transfer stipulations give rise to an obligation that meets the definition of a liability. Transfers are
recognized as deferred revenue when transfer stipulations give rise to a liability. Transfer revenue is
recognized in the statement of operations as the stipulation liabilities are settled. 

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2014 2013

Cash $ 4,525,248 $ 5,701,222

Cashable term deposits 27,136,505 29,000,005

$31,661,753 $34,701,227

Cashable term deposits are comprised of BC Credit Union term deposits, which are cashable either
immediately or within 30 days of issue, with interest rates ranging from 1.75% to 1.90%. 

3. Receivables

2014 2013

Accounts receivable $ 2,659,313 $ 3,630,841

District of Mission Development Corporation receivables - 529

Taxes receivable (including residential utilities) 3,875,156 4,324,026

$ 6,534,469 $ 7,955,396

4. Investments

2014 2013

Fixed term deposits $ 34,193,944 $ 14,500,000

MFA Short-Term Bond Fund - 15,173,252

Mortgage receivable from Mission Regional Chamber of Commerce (secured by
promissory note and general security agreement against debtor's property);
interest rate: 5.5%; maturity: July 1, 2026 110,482 116,623

Total $ 34,304,426 $ 29,789,875

Fixed term deposits are comprised of Canadian bank GICs and BC Credit Union term deposits, which mature
in years 2015 through 2019, with interest rates ranging from 2.05% to 2.80%. 
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

5. Municipal Finance Authority Debt Reserve Cash Deposits and Demand Notes

The District issues debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) of British Columbia.  As a
condition of these borrowings, a portion of the debt proceeds are withheld by the MFA in a debt reserve fund as
cash deposits. These debt reserve funds may be used by the MFA if they do not have sufficient funds to meet
the debt payment obligations of the participating municipalities. The District also executes demand notes in
connection with each debt issue whereby the District may be required to loan certain amounts to the MFA.
These demand notes are contingent in nature. The balances of the cash deposits and demand notes, which
are not reported elsewhere in these financial statements, are as follows:

2014 2013

Cash Deposits

General fund $ 161,808 $ 265,403

Sewer utility 3,255 40,164

Water utility 12,718 20,449

$ 177,781 $ 326,016

Demand Notes

General fund $ 320,759 $ 543,964

Sewer utility 6,408 78,125

Water utility 25,037 42,153

$ 352,204 $ 664,242
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

6. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

2014 2013

Accounts payable $ 6,951,503 $ 8,458,801

Wages and benefits payable 1,108,262 1,541,718

Landfill closure and post-closure care costs 1,945,588 1,538,410

$10,005,353 $11,538,929

The District’s landfill site is regulated by the British Columbia Ministry of Environment, and as such the District
is subject to certain operating, closure and post-closure obligations at the site.  

The costs associated with landfill closure and post-closure care are recognized over the operating life of the
landfill site in accordance with PSAB standards. The District has estimated and recognized a liability of
$1,945,588 as at December 31, 2014 ($1,538,410 in 2013), for future estimated closure and post-closure costs
at the landfill site. The estimated total expenses for closure and post-closure care are approximately $17.0
million, with approximately $15.1 million remaining to be recognized. There are currently no assets designated
for settling the landfill closure and post-closure care liability. 

The landfill closure and post-closure care liability is based on the discounted costs associated with the phased
closure of various landfill cells and environmental monitoring for 25 years after the landfill is closed.
Approximately 65% of the landfill's capacity remains, and the landfill is predicted to reach capacity around
2046. The discount rate used to estimate the liability as at December 31, 2014 is 3.33% (4.5% in 2013).

7. Long-Term Debt

The District does not carry any debt for other entities. All existing long-term debt is repayable in Canadian
dollars. Refer to Schedule 3 for additional details on outstanding long-term debt, including interest rates,
maturity dates, and payments due within each of the next five years. Details of the District's interest expenses
are as follows:

2014 2013

Long-term debt interest - forestry enterprise $ 2,930 $ 4,847

Long-term debt interest - general operations 661,364 854,540

Long-term debt interest - sewer utility 65,446 71,243

Long-term debt interest - water utility 26,020 105,785

Total long-term debt interest 755,760 1,036,415

Interest on prepayments 33,537 33,028

Total interest expense $ 789,297 $ 1,069,443
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

8. Restricted Revenue

Cedar Valley
Environmental
Management

Plan

Community
Works Gas

Tax

Development
Cost

Charges
Park Land
Acquisition 2014 2013

Opening balance $ 44,607 $ 6,611,332 $ 1,594,986 $ 2,405,136 $10,656,061 $ 9,215,172

Interest income 977 - 39,865 57,611 98,453 165,527

Fees collected - - 1,476,915 433,960 1,910,875 3,512,364

Transfer balance to accumulated surplus - (6,611,332) - - (6,611,332) -

Subtotal - collections 977 (6,611,332) 1,516,780 491,571 (4,602,004) 3,677,891

Internal loan payments made - - (755,836) - (755,836) (1,371,042)

Internal loan payments received - - - 17,062 17,062 -

Internal loan proceeds - - - - - 13,446

Expenses - - (270,537) - (270,537) (879,406)

Subtotal - amortization of restricted revenue - - (1,026,373) 17,062 (1,009,311) (2,237,002)

Ending balance $ 45,584 $ - $ 2,085,393 $ 2,913,769 $ 5,044,746 $10,656,061

During 2014, the District entered into a renewed Community Works Fund Agreement, which differed in several
ways from the previous agreement. The renewed agreement has significantly relaxed the stipulations around
the use of Community Works Funds, and also provides that any unspent amounts from the previous agreement
will be brought forward to the renewed agreement. The result of these differences, in accordance with PSAB
standards and the District's accounting policy regarding government transfers, is that revenues under the
Community Works Fund Agreement are recognized when they are received. 

Furthermore, unspent amounts from the previous agreement no longer meet the definition of a liability. These
amounts were previously recorded as restricted revenue, and are now included in accumulated surplus (see
Note 11). The impact of this new agreement is a significant increase to revenue in 2014 to recognize the
amounts that were previously deferred. 
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

9. Employee Future Benefit Obligations

The District provides sick leave and retirement benefits to its employees. The accrued obligations related to
these benefits are as follows:

2014 2013

Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 1,286,952 $ 1,372,054

Service cost 109,887 106,700

Interest cost 61,655 60,300

Benefit payments (92,152) (243,681)

Actuarial (gain) / loss 4,478 (8,421)

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year $ 1,370,820 $ 1,286,952

The District estimated the accrued benefit obligations by actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2010. The next
actuarial valuation is planned to occur for the year ending December 31, 2015, with results available in 2016.

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the District’s accrued benefit obligations are as
follows:

2014 2013

Discount rate   4.50 %   4.50 %

Projected future wage and salary increase   3.00 %   3.00 %

Municipal Pension Plan

The District and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (the Plan), a jointly trusteed pension
plan.  The board of trustees, representing the Plan members and employers, is responsible for overseeing the
management of the Plan, including investment of the assets and administration of benefits.  The Plan is a multi-
employer contributory pension plan.  Basic pension benefits provided are based on a formula.  The Plan has
about 182,000 active members and approximately 75,000 retired members. Active members include
approximately 36,000 contributors from local governments.

The most recent actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2012 indicated a $1,370 million funding deficit for basic
pension benefits.  The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2015, with results available in 2016.  

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions
made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the Plan records
accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the Plan in aggregate, with the result that there is no consistent and
reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual employers participating in the Plan. 

The District paid $1,211,149 ($1,141,821 in 2013) for employer contributions while employees contributed
$1,087,505 ($1,005,882 in 2013) to the Plan in fiscal 2014.

10. Contingencies

The District has been named as a defendant in various legal actions.  No reserve or liability has been recorded
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

10. Contingencies (continued)

regarding any of these legal actions or possible claims if the amount of loss, if any, is indeterminable.
Settlement, if any, made with respect to these actions would be accounted for as a charge to expenses in the
period in which any outcomes are known.

11. Accumulated Surplus

2014 2013
Increase /
(decrease)

General operating surplus $ 4,810,430 $ 5,386,204 $ (575,774)

Sewer operating surplus 786,927 770,062 16,865

Water operating surplus 936,199 916,135 20,064

Development Corporation surplus 808,869 820,838 (11,969)

Appropriated surplus:

Carbon tax 151,092 135,036 16,056

General operating carry forwards 10,063 59,797 (49,734)

Recycling operations 53,924 (8,544) 62,468

Total Unrestricted Surplus 7,557,504 8,079,528 (522,024)

Reserve Funds:

Cemetery 94,032 83,146 10,886

Community amenity 1,429,670 1,274,001 155,669

Community works gas tax 6,520,393 - 6,520,393

Debt retirement 10,341 1,629,978 (1,619,637)

Financial stabilization 639,074 540,731 98,343

Forestry 1,418,431 1,466,812 (48,381)

Gaming 517,823 298,143 219,680

General capital 2,180,246 1,960,752 219,494

Information systems 301,113 367,133 (66,020)

Insurance 465,262 365,138 100,124

Land sale 602 54,970 (54,368)

Legal 239,511 206,544 32,967

Major capital 1,713,272 1,231,256 482,016

Policing 288,176 418,718 (130,542)

Refuse 1,401,170 1,526,795 (125,625)

Roads capital 814,182 475,237 338,945

Sewer capital 11,703,121 10,961,183 741,938

Vehicles and equipment 3,311,055 4,664,302 (1,353,247)

Water capital 10,340,842 8,411,772 1,929,070

Total Reserve Funds 43,388,316 35,936,611 7,451,705

Investment in Tangible Capital Assets 423,768,524 412,272,319 11,496,205

Total Accumulated Surplus $ 474,714,344 $ 456,288,458 $ 18,425,886
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

12. Taxation

Budget 2014 2013

Municipal Taxation:

General municipal property taxes $ 27,796,732 $ 27,886,914 $ 27,390,651

Special assessments and area charges 183,288 182,369 188,287

Total municipal taxation 27,980,020 28,069,283 27,578,938

Collections for Other Taxing Authorities:

Province of BC - school taxes 14,873,900 14,946,605 14,846,953

Fraser Valley Regional District 643,197 639,046 640,842

Fraser Valley Regional Hospital District 1,377,768 1,344,039 1,374,270

BC Assessment Authority 377,873 376,300 377,873

Municipal Finance Authority of BC 1,181 1,170 1,181

Downtown Business Association 77,852 79,798 77,852

Total collections for other taxing authorities 17,351,771 17,386,958 17,318,971

Payments to other taxing authorities (17,351,771) (17,386,958) (17,318,971)

Net taxation for municipal purposes $ 27,980,020 $ 28,069,283 $ 27,578,938

13. Government Transfers

2014 2013

Federal $ 8,150,293 $ 1,939,215

Provincial 1,189,520 1,882,180

Total government transfers $ 9,339,813 $ 3,821,395

Federal transfers include the recognition of Community Works Funds previously recorded as restricted
revenue, as set out in Note 8.

14. Letters of Credit and Performance Bonds

In addition to the deposits reflected in the financial statements, the District is holding irrevocable letters of credit
and performance bonds in the amount of approximately $1.7 million as at December 31, 2014 ($2.5 million as
at December 31, 2013), which were received from various parties to ensure completion of various works within
the District.  These amounts are not reflected in the financial statements but are available to satisfy any liability
arising from non-performance by the parties.

15. Segment Reporting

The District provides a wide range of municipal services. These services have been grouped into related
department functions or service areas for segment reporting purposes in Schedule 2, which shows the
associated revenues and expenses for each segment. The various segments and associated departmental
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

15. Segment Reporting (continued)

functions or service areas are as follows:

Administration and Finance

• General Administration: general government administration including Council support, managing legal issues,
conducting elections, records management, and oversight of other departmental areas.

• Finance and Purchasing: financial oversight and management including financial planning and reporting,
investments, property tax collections, procurement of goods and services and operation of central stores.

• Human Resources: recruitment and selection, employee and labour relations, compensation and benefits,
workplace health and safety, organizational learning, training and development.

• Information Technology: planning, maintaining and operating the District’s information systems technology
and infrastructure.

• Grants to Organizations: provides grants to Mission non-profit organizations including arts and culture,
recreation and social services, and community events grants.

General Government and Fiscal Services

• Property taxation, investments, general fund debt servicing, municipal hall shared office services, insurance,
and general cost recovery transactions.

Protective Services

• Police Services: utilizes contracted RCMP members and municipal employees to provide proactive general
and community policing services (including victim services, speed watch programs and school/youth programs)
within the District. Regional integrated police units also provide services to the community related to homicide
investigations, emergency response, traffic re-construction, dog unit assistance, and forensic identification.

• Fire and Emergency Services: fire response, investigation and prevention services, emergency response
services (for motor vehicle accidents and medical incidents), and emergency planning.

• Bylaw and Inspection Services: administering and enforcing the District’s regulatory bylaws including the
building, business licensing, and dog licensing bylaws.

• Restorative Resolutions: assists citizens in overcoming and resolving conflicts, by engaging willing
participants in a process that addresses the root causes of conflict including repairing any harm that has
resulted from conflict.

Engineering and Public Works

• Engineering: oversees and plans the District’s extensive infrastructure network of roads, bridges, drainage
systems, etc., and provides for maintenance of municipal facilities.

• Public Works: maintains and builds infrastructure including roads, pedestrian walkways, drainage systems,
diking, and provides for snow removal and efficient operation of the District’s gravel pit.
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

15. Segment Reporting (continued)

• Environmental Services: provides direction on environmental issues and leads the District’s commitment to
community-wide stewardship of the natural environment.

• Equipment Fleet: operation and maintenance of the District’s fleet of municipal vehicles and equipment.
Vehicle/equipment costs are charged back to the various user departments.

Transit Services

• Oversees the local bus system (in partnership with the City of Abbotsford), and contributing to the West Coast
Express train and train-bus services between Mission and Vancouver.

Waste Management

• Oversees contracted curbside collection of refuse, compost and recyclables, and is responsible for
overseeing contracted operations at the District’s landfill site.

Development Services

• Planning: land use planning and administration of the District’s Official Community Plan (OCP) and zoning
bylaws.

• Economic Development: generating and coordinating economic development, tourism and film activity in the
community.

Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services

• Operation of the District’s recreational facilities including the leisure center and various parks and trails, and
for the development and implementation of arts and cultural programs/events.

• Social Development: developing and implementing an action oriented social development program aimed at
realizing the District of Mission’s mission statement, which is, “…to build a safe and healthy community
abundant in economic, cultural and recreation opportunities.”

Library

• The Library is a member of Fraser Valley Regional Library system, providing access to books, magazines,
DVDs, CD music, materials in other languages, free downloadable e-books and e-audio books. The library
provides information services including programs for all ages, meeting room and study space, wireless
connection, online instant chat, and basic computer instruction.

Cemetery

• Administration and operation of the District’s cemetery and crematorium, including arranging for burials and
memorials.

Water Utility

• Oversees the regional water supply and treatment systems (in partnership with the City of Abbotsford), and 
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

15. Segment Reporting (continued)

plans for and maintains the District’s localized water distribution system.

Sewer Utility

• Oversees the regional sewage treatment plant and related source control activities (in partnership with the
City of Abbotsford), and plans for and maintains the District’s localized sewage conveyance system.

Forestry Enterprise

• Administers and operates the Mission Tree Farm forestry operation which includes harvesting of timber, tree
planting, forestry road construction/maintenance, trail building, log marketing, and other forestry related
activities.

Development Corporation

• The District of Mission Development Corporation has provided loans and mortgages to various organizations
in the past in order to generate economic development activity within the District, and holds a variety of real
estate properties. Development Corporation operations ceased in 2014.

16. Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Fund

The Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Fund is administered in accordance with the Cremation, Interment and
Funeral Services Act. In accordance with PSAB guidelines, the Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Fund is
excluded from the District’s consolidated financial statements. 

Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Fund 2014 2013

Financial Assets

Cemetery trust fund investments $ 806,156 $ 787,510

Equity

Balance, beginning of year 787,510 764,869

Care fund contributions 18,646 22,641

Interest earnings 17,451 13,040

Contribution to cemetery operations (17,451) (13,040)

Balance, end of year $ 806,156 $ 787,510

17. Comparative Figures

Certain comparative figures for 2013 have been reclassified to conform to the 2014 financial statement
presentation.
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District of Mission
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Schedule 1 - Tangible Capital Assets

Included in total additions are capital assets received from developers through property development activities,
which totalled $3,719,586  in 2014 ($3,184,347  in 2013).

The amount of interest capitalized was $- in 2014 ($- in 2013).

Cost,
December 31,

2013 Additions
Cost of

Disposals

Cost,
December 31,

2014

Assets under construction $ 5,135,134 $ (4,161,562) $ (32,818) $ 940,754

Buildings and improvements 43,567,448 2,169,492 - 45,736,940

Drainage infrastructure 90,774,073 906,256 (29,443) 91,650,886

Information technology infrastructure 2,227,467 312,215 (510,810) 2,028,872

Land 95,170,312 2,456,161 (77,235) 97,549,238

Land improvements 2,113,925 - - 2,113,925

Landfill infrastructure 7,163,627 316,384 - 7,480,011

Parks infrastructure 4,311,079 13,325 - 4,324,404

Recycling depot (regional) 538,274 - - 538,274

Sewage conveyance infrastructure (local) 49,210,457 217,114 - 49,427,571

Sewage treatment plant (regional) 17,127,724 3,809,617 (48,779) 20,888,562

Transportation infrastructure 154,722,962 3,125,802 (629,939) 157,218,825

Vehicles and equipment 10,114,698 1,435,043 (59,627) 11,490,114

Water distribution infrastructure (local) 40,636,255 1,946,640 (117,421) 42,465,474

Water supply infrastructure (regional) 24,653,652 484,198 (302,938) 24,834,912

$ 547,467,087 $ 13,030,685 $ (1,809,010) $ 558,688,762
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District of Mission
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Accumulated
Amortization, 
December 31,

2013
Amortization

Expense

Accumulated
Amortization on

Disposals

Accumulated
Amortization, 
December 31,

2014

Net Book
Value, 

December 31,
2014

Net Book
Value, 

December 31,
2013

$ - $ - $ - $ - $ 940,754 $ 5,135,134

(10,868,827) (1,007,084) - (11,875,911) 33,861,029 32,698,621

(20,217,619) (960,176) 26,466 (21,151,329) 70,499,557 70,556,454

(1,436,863) (208,674) 504,687 (1,140,850) 888,022 790,604

- - - - 97,549,238 95,170,312

(754,615) (55,800) - (810,415) 1,303,510 1,359,310

(2,705,460) (211,819) - (2,917,279) 4,562,732 4,458,167

(2,041,459) (177,709) - (2,219,168) 2,105,236 2,269,620

(491,044) (16,724) - (507,768) 30,506 47,230

(11,334,082) (513,689) - (11,847,771) 37,579,800 37,876,375

(6,989,591) (551,902) 48,712 (7,492,781) 13,395,781 10,138,133

(41,708,660) (2,503,827) 305,959 (43,906,528) 113,312,297 113,014,302

(4,769,389) (620,908) 59,626 (5,330,671) 6,159,443 5,345,309

(11,713,192) (535,882) 93,228 (12,155,846) 30,309,628 28,923,063

(6,391,745) (682,093) 278,054 (6,795,784) 18,039,128 18,261,907

$ (121,422,546) $ (8,046,287) $ 1,316,732 $ (128,152,101) $ 430,536,661 $ 426,044,541
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District of Mission
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Schedule 2 - Statement of Operations by Segment

Administration
and finance

General
government
and fiscal
services

Protective
services

Engineering
and public

works
Transit

services
Waste

management
Development

services

Revenues

Taxation $ - $ 28,008,692 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -

Sales of services and regulatory fees 126,718 2,451,091 1,058,288 689,076 681,203 4,305,935 227,723

Government transfers - 8,724,824 384,917 43,692 - - 20,065

Amortization of restricted revenue - 270,662 - 18,159 - - -

Investment income - 823,908 - - - - -

Other revenue 13,601 583,874 975 - - - 2,000

Developer contributions in-kind
related to capital - - - 2,925,102 - - -

Gain/(loss) on disposal of tangible
capital assets - 1,783,264 - (170,509) - - -

Total revenues 140,319 42,646,315 1,444,180 3,505,520 681,203 4,305,935 249,788

Expenses

Amortization - 312,176 150,500 3,943,241 - 230,606 -

Good and services 874,827 (49,053) 9,112,456 529,201 2,736,243 3,795,967 349,514

Grants 399,902 - - 500 - - -

Interest - 694,901 - - - - -

Salaries and benefits 2,997,083 292,270 3,866,901 3,051,741 9,935 187,693 1,661,762

Total expenses 4,271,812 1,250,294 13,129,857 7,524,683 2,746,178 4,214,266 2,011,276

Annual Surplus / (Deficit) $ (4,131,493) $ 41,396,021 $(11,685,677) $ (4,019,163) $ (2,064,975) $ 91,669 $ (1,761,488)
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District of Mission
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Parks,
recreation

and cultural
services Library Cemetery Water utility Sewer utility

Forestry
enterprise

Development
Corporation 2014 2013

$ - $ - $ - $ 14,993 $ 45,598 $ - $ - $ 28,069,283 $ 27,578,938

2,211,692 5,179 200,970 5,992,158 4,261,806 4,201,557 - 26,413,396 25,541,436

80,463 - - 9,602 - 76,250 - 9,339,813 3,821,395

2,552 - - 455,037 262,901 - - 1,009,311 2,237,002

- - - 223,180 262,350 - 10,668 1,320,106 855,635

42,347 1,276,682 17,451 26,268 105,362 - - 2,068,560 1,819,906

- - - 598,866 195,618 - - 3,719,586 3,184,347

(7,156) - - (78,239) (86) - - 1,527,274 (995,632)

2,329,898 1,281,861 218,421 7,241,865 5,133,549 4,277,807 10,668 73,467,329 64,043,027

1,080,172 - 3,346 1,217,975 1,065,591 42,680 - 8,046,287 7,936,834

1,773,372 1,347,505 88,484 1,967,648 1,932,074 3,560,902 5,970 28,025,110 26,725,651

- - - - - - - 400,402 374,595

- - - 26,020 65,446 2,930 - 789,297 1,069,443

3,820,841 20,584 164,828 639,131 515,080 535,831 16,667 17,780,347 17,895,939

6,674,385 1,368,089 256,658 3,850,774 3,578,191 4,142,343 22,637 55,041,443 54,002,462

$ (4,344,487) $ (86,228) $ (38,237) $ 3,391,091 $ 1,555,358 $ 135,464 $ (11,969) $ 18,425,886 $ 10,040,565
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Schedule 3 - Long-Term Debt

Debt Issue #
Year

Issued Purpose
Year of
Maturity

Interest
Rate

Principal
Outstanding 
December 31,

2014

Principal
Outstanding 

December 31,
2013

General Debt

68 1998 Firehall/EOC building 2018 5.550%           $ 483,711 $ 590,594

81 2004 Leisure centre/sports park/water park 2024 4.860%           - 3,665,905

85 2004 Leisure centre/sports park/water park 2024 5.200%           - 1,333,056

95 2005 Leisure centre/sports park/water park 2025 4.170%           1,933,834 2,071,711

99 2006 Leisure centre/sports park/water park 2026 4.430%           4,350,592 4,628,997

Lease 2010 Forestry excavator 2015 2.000%           - 224,187

Subtotal - General 6,768,137 12,514,450

Sewer Utility Debt

Regional Sewer

63 1996 Regional sewer infrastructure 2016 4.000%           - 61,710

71 1999 Regional sewer infrastructure 2019 3.150%           - 531,031

85 2004 Regional sewer infrastructure 2024 4.983%           - 286,341

Subtotal - Sewer Utility - 879,082

Water Utility Debt

Regional Water

85 2004 Regional water infrastructure 2024 4.975%           - 378,690

Subtotal - Water Utility - 378,690

Total Long-Term Debt $ 6,768,137 $ 13,772,222
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Future Payments (Principal & Interest)

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

$ 130,462 $ 130,462 $ 130,462 $ 90,937 $ -

- - - - -

- - - - -

225,845 225,845 225,845 225,845 225,845

490,655 490,655 490,655 490,655 490,655

- - - - -

846,962 846,962 846,962 807,437 716,500

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

$ 846,962 $ 846,962 $ 846,962 $ 807,437 $ 716,500

Financial Overview

2014 Annual Report          52 

101



District of Mission
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Schedule 4 - Internal Debt/Transfers Outstanding

Borrowing Fund Lending Fund Purpose
Year Funds
Advanced

Cedar Valley Drainage DCC General Capital Reserve Fund Detention pond D1 2010

Cedar Valley Drainage DCC Major Capital Reserve Fund Gaudin Creek re-alignment, property
purchase 2011

Cedar Valley Sewer DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Cedar Valley gravity trunk sewer,
forcemain, and pump station 2000-2001

Cedar Valley Sewer Extension DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Cedar Valley local improvement area
sewer extension 2002

Land Sale Reserve Fund General Fund Accumulated Surplus Purchase of 7337 Welton Street 2014

Roads - All Areas DCC Major Capital Reserve Fund Highway 7/Nelson Street intersection
improvements 2011

Regional Sewage Treatment DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Septage receiving station, biosolids
dewatering, #3 trickling filter, biosolids
storage area 2009

Regional Sewage Treatment DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Stage 7 upgrades and digester gas
upgrades 2010

Regional Sewage Treatment DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Headworks upgrade, transformer
installation 2011

Regional Water Supply DCC Water Capital Reserve Fund Norrish Creek intake works, Gladwin
transmission main 2011

Regional Water Supply DCC Water Capital Reserve Fund Gladwin transmission main 2012

Silverdale Bridge DCC Parkland Reserve Fund Silverdale industrial subdivision bridge 2005

Silverdale Industrial Water DCC Water Capital Reserve Fund Silverdale industrial subdivision water
infrastructure 2006

Silverdale Industrial Sewer DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Silverdale industrial subdivision sewer
infrastructure 2006

Totals

Note: DCC - Development Cost Charge
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Opening
Balance,

December 31,
2013

Advances &
Adjustments Payments

Balance Before
Interest

Interest @
2.19%

Interest
Adjustment

Ending
Balance,

December 31,
2014

$ 200,209 $ - $ - $ 200,209 $ 4,385 $ (4,385) $ 200,209

403,490 - - 403,490 8,836 (8,836) 403,490

1,407,172 - (14,788) 1,392,384 30,655 (30,655) 1,392,384

315,224 - (235) 314,989 6,901 (6,901) 314,989

- 1,925,000 (1,914,434) 10,566 116 - 10,682

270,662 - (270,662) - 2,964 (2,964) -

295,954 - - 295,954 6,481 (6,481) 295,954

110,446 - - 110,446 2,419 (2,419) 110,446

198,255 - - 198,255 4,342 (4,342) 198,255

290,697 - (290,697) - 3,183 (3,183) -

491,555 - (162,392) 329,163 8,987 (8,987) 329,163

784,417 - (17,062) 767,355 16,992 (16,992) 767,355

331,048 - - 331,048 7,250 (7,250) 331,048

138,079 - - 138,079 3,024 (3,024) 138,079

$ 5,237,208 $ 1,925,000 $ (2,670,270) $ 4,491,938 $ 106,535 $ (106,419) $ 4,492,054
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 Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 
To the Mayor and Council of the District of Mission 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The District of Mission Development 
Corporation which comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2014, and the 
Statements of Operations and Accumulated Surplus, Changes in Net Financial Assets and Cash Flows for 
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of The District of Mission Development Corporation as at December 31, 2014 and the results of its 
operations, changes in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

 

 

 

Chartered Accountants 
Vancouver, British Columbia 
May 4, 2015 
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DISTRICT OF MISSION DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Final Statement of Financial Position

as at December 31, 2014
2014                        2013                        

Financial Assets
Cash -$                         11,912$                   
Receivables -                          529                          
Investments (Note 2) -                          326,372                   

-                          338,813                   

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities -                          32,670                     

Net Financial Assets -                          306,143                   

Non-Financial Assets
Inventory of property -                          524,695                   

Accumulated Surplus -$                         830,838$                 

_________________
Kris Boland CPA, CGA Randy Hawes
Treasurer Mayor

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DISTRICT OF MISSION DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Final Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

for the year ended December 31, 2014
Budget 2014                   2013                

Revenue
Investment income 19,848$              10,668$              10,170$           

Expenses
Salaries and benefits 20,000                16,668                28,870             
Goods and services 4,375                  5,969                  6,294               
Total Expenses 24,375                22,637                35,164             

Annual Deficit (4,527)$               (11,969)$             (24,994)$          

Accumulated Surplus, Beginning of Year 830,838$            830,838$            855,832$         
Less: Annual deficit (4,527)                 (11,969)               (24,994)            
Less: Surplus transferred to District of Mission -                      (818,869)             -                   
Accumulated Surplus, End of Year 826,311$            -$                        830,838$         

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DISTRICT OF MISSION DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Final Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

for the year ended December 31, 2014
Budget 2014                    2013                 

Annual Deficit (4,527)$                (11,969)$              (24,994)$           
Net financial assets transferred to District of Mission -                           (294,174)              -                        

Decrease in net financial assets (4,527)                  (306,143)              (24,994)             

Net financial assets, beginning of year 306,143               306,143               331,137            
Net financial assets, end of year 301,616$             -$                         306,143$          

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DISTRICT OF MISSION DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Final Statement of Cash Flows

for the year ended December 31, 2014

2014                 2013                 

Operating Transactions
Annual deficit (11,969)$           (24,994)$           

Change in non-cash operating items:
     Receivables 243                   120                   
     Accounts payable (29,670)             28,870              
     Net change in cash from operating (41,396)             3,996                

Investing Transactions
Decrease in investments 215,822            2,782                

Net Change in Cash 174,426            6,778                

Cash, Beginning of Year 11,912              5,134                

Cash Transferred to District of Mission (186,338)           -                       

Cash, End of Year -$                     11,912$            

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission Development Corporation 
Notes to the Final Financial Statements 
 
for the year ended December 31, 2014 
 
General 
The District of Mission Development Corporation (the Corporation) was incorporated on March 9, 1977, under the 
laws of the B.C. Company Act and the B.C. Municipal Act.  The Corporation’s recent business activities involved 
earning interest from loans and mortgages provided to various organizations and investing in a parcel of land 
currently held in inventory. The Corporation ceased operations in 2014, and transferred all assets and liabilities to 
the Corporation’s sole shareholder, the District of Mission. 
 
 

1. Significant accounting policies 
  

(a) Basis of Presentation 
The financial statements of the Corporation are prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered 
Professional Accountants Canada.    
 
(b) Investments 
Investments are recorded at cost.  Investments are written down to net realizable value when there has 
been, in the opinion of management, a decline in market value that is not temporary.  Investments in 
the Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) of British Columbia Short-Term Bond Fund are recorded at 
market value, which approximates cost.  
 
(c) Inventory of Property  
Inventory of property is recorded at cost. The total assessed value of the properties as at July 1, 2014, 
as determined by the BC Assessment Authority, was $4,490,000 (2013 was $4,751,000), which may or 
may not approximate market value. 
 
(d) Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting standards 
established by PSAB requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amount of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. As such, actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 
 

2. Investments 
 2014 2013 
MFA Short-Term Bond Fund $         - 

 
$  209,749 

Mortgage receivable from Mission Regional Chamber of Commerce (secured 
by promissory note and general security agreement against debtor’s property);     
Interest rate: 5.5%; maturity: July 1, 2026            -     116,623 
Total $         - $  326,372 
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District of Mission Development Corporation 
Notes to the Final Financial Statements 
 
for the year ended December 31, 2014 
 

3. Related Party Transactions 
The District of Mission charges the Corporation for administrative salary costs related to carrying out the 
Corporation’s business activities. 
 

4. Fair Market Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
For certain of the Corporation’s financial instruments, including cash, receivables, and accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities, the carrying amounts approximate fair market value due to the immediate or short-
term maturity of these financial instruments. 

The fair market value of investments approximates the carrying value (including accrued interest) of the 
various instruments, based on quoted year-end market bid prices. The fair market value of the mortgage 
investment approximates its carrying value. 
 

5. Income Taxes 
All issued shares of the Corporation are owned by the District of Mission, a local government in the 
Province of British Columbia. Consequently, and pursuant to section 149(1)(d) of the Income Tax Act, the 
Corporation is exempt from income tax. 
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Revenue and Expenses 

Last Five Fiscal Years Comparison 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Revenue

Taxation 27,599,869$       28,712,055$       29,147,989$       27,578,938$       28,069,283$       

Sales of services & regulatory fees 21,678,815         22,611,625         25,321,075         25,541,436         26,413,396         

Government transfers 6,364,879           4,658,856           1,883,802           3,821,395           9,339,813           

Amortization of restricted revenue 3,548,959           2,549,031           1,892,107           2,237,002           1,009,311           

Investment income 586,237              1,089,526           922,008              855,635              1,320,106           

Other revenue 303,032              391,884              408,757              1,819,906           2,068,560           

Developer contributions in-kind related to capital 13,870,183         1,067,810           3,398,186           3,184,347           3,719,586           

Gain/(loss) on disposal of tangible capital assets -                          -                          -                          (995,632)             1,527,274           

Total revenues 73,951,974$       61,080,787$       62,973,924$       64,043,027$       73,467,329$       

Expenses

Analysis by function

Administration and finance 4,194,080$         4,512,807$         4,412,245$         4,203,501$         4,271,812$         

General government and fiscal services 6,964,297           1,344,932           1,996,378           1,117,682           1,250,294           

Protective services 11,709,651         13,821,674         13,137,926         13,188,918         13,129,857         

Engineering and public works 3,439,808           10,016,558         7,692,267           7,171,049           7,524,683           

Transit services 1,879,410           2,042,357           2,282,039           2,465,741           2,746,178           

Waste management 3,479,891           4,780,360           4,572,226           4,507,088           4,214,266           

Development services 1,247,322           1,232,657           1,356,210           2,082,628           2,011,276           

Parks, recreation and cultural services 4,987,836           6,144,306           6,359,668           6,483,489           6,674,385           

Library 1,110,220           1,164,141           1,270,747           1,351,476           1,368,089           

Cemetery 221,028              237,539              237,132              250,312              256,658              

Water utility 3,149,550           3,792,363           4,640,389           4,241,014           3,850,774           

Sewer utility 2,971,590           3,235,662           3,257,345           3,578,302           3,578,191           

Forestry enterprise 2,749,860           2,893,761           4,395,939           3,326,097           4,142,343           

Development corporation 31,921                31,213                37,550                35,165                22,637                

Total expenses by function 48,136,464$       55,250,330$       55,648,061$       54,002,462$       55,041,443$       

Analysis by object

Amortization 7,051,152$         7,382,246$         8,001,235$         7,936,834$         8,046,287$         

Goods and services 23,278,693         28,150,905         27,916,583         26,725,651         28,025,110         

Grants 446,224              453,121              464,892              374,595              400,402              

Interest 1,172,439           1,185,378           1,101,819           1,069,443           789,297              

Salaries and benefits 16,376,750         17,761,236         17,764,937         17,895,939         17,780,347         

(Gain) / Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets (188,794)             317,444              398,595              -                          -                          

Total expenses by object 48,136,464$       55,250,330$       55,648,061$       54,002,462$       55,041,443$       

Annual surplus 25,815,510$       5,830,457$         7,325,863$         10,040,565$       18,425,886$       

Accumulated surplus 432,732,573$     438,563,030$     446,247,893$     456,288,458$     474,714,344$     

Net financial assets 12,509,219$       14,137,934$       20,899,110$       29,464,994$       43,342,359$       

113



65  

 Statistical Information 

2014 Annual Report 

Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 

($5,000,000)

$0

$5,000,000

$10,000,000

$15,000,000

$20,000,000

$25,000,000

$30,000,000

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

Consolidated Revenues by Source 

 

$0

$10,000,000

$20,000,000

$30,000,000

$40,000,000

$50,000,000

$60,000,000

$70,000,000

$80,000,000 $73,951,974 

$61,080,787 $62,973,924 $64,043,027 

$73,467,329 

Total Consolidated Revenues  

114



66  

 Statistical Information 

2014 Annual Report 

Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

5.00%

6.00%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

5.88%

3.09%

0.00%

1.49%

0.00%

General Municipal Property Tax Rate Increases 

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

 $3,000,000

 $3,500,000

 $4,000,000

 $4,500,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

$977,412 $977,304 $977,304 $976,872 

$1,510,684 

$804,209 

$2,653,681 

$2,168,930 

$1,476,915 

$294,411 

$152,505 

$397,825 

$366,562 

$433,960 $1,000 

Cedar Valley
Environmental
Management Plan

Parkland Acquisition

Development Cost
Charges (DCCs)

Community Works Gas
Tax

Notes: Does not include interest earnings
Accounting treatment for Community Works Gas Tax changed in 2014, no longer classified as restricted revenue

Restricted Revenues Collected 

115



67  

 Statistical Information 

2014 Annual Report 

Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 

$0

$2,000,000

$4,000,000

$6,000,000

$8,000,000

$10,000,000

$12,000,000

$14,000,000
2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

Consolidated Expenses by Function 

$0

$10,000,000

$20,000,000

$30,000,000

$40,000,000

$50,000,000

$60,000,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

$48,136,464 

$55,250,330 $55,648,061 
$54,002,462 $55,041,443 

Total Consolidated Expenses  

116



68  

 Statistical Information 

2014 Annual Report 

$0

$5,000,000

$10,000,000

$15,000,000

$20,000,000

$25,000,000

$30,000,000

Amortization Goods and services Grants Interest Salaries and benefits (Gain) / Loss on
disposal of tangible

capital assets

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 

$0

$5,000,000

$10,000,000

$15,000,000

$20,000,000

$25,000,000

$30,000,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

$25,815,510 

$5,830,457 
$7,325,863 

$10,040,565 

$18,425,886 

Consolidated Annual Surplus 

Consolidated Expenses by Object 

117



69  

 Statistical Information 

2014 Annual Report 

Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 

$0

$5,000,000

$10,000,000

$15,000,000

$20,000,000

$25,000,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

General Reserve Funds

General Unappropriated Surplus

General Appropriated Surplus

General Reserve Funds & Accumulated Operating Surplus 

$410,000,000

$420,000,000

$430,000,000

$440,000,000

$450,000,000

$460,000,000

$470,000,000

$480,000,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

$432,732,573 

$438,563,030 

$446,247,893 

$456,288,458 

$474,714,344 

Total Accumulated Surplus 

118



70  

 Statistical Information 

2014 Annual Report 

Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 

$0

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

$3,000,000

$4,000,000

$5,000,000

$6,000,000

$7,000,000

$8,000,000

$9,000,000

$10,000,000

$11,000,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Water Utility Reserve Funds

Water Utility Operating Surplus

$0

$2,000,000

$4,000,000

$6,000,000

$8,000,000

$10,000,000

$12,000,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Sewer Utility Reserve Funds

Sewer Utility Operating Surplus

Water Utility Reserve Funds & Accumulated Operating Surplus 

Sewer Utility Reserve Funds & Accumulated Operating Surplus 

119



71  

 Statistical Information 

2014 Annual Report 

Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 

$0

$5,000,000

$10,000,000

$15,000,000

$20,000,000

$25,000,000

$30,000,000

$35,000,000

$40,000,000

$45,000,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Net Financial Assets 

$0

$200,000

$400,000

$600,000

$800,000

$1,000,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Development Corporation Accumulated Surplus 

120



72  

 Statistical Information 

2014 Annual Report 

Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 

$0

$5,000,000

$10,000,000

$15,000,000

$20,000,000

$25,000,000

$30,000,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

$13,367,153 $11,019,886

$5,990,216
$7,319,040

$9,311,099

$13,870,183

$1,067,810

$3,398,186
$3,184,347

$3,719,586

Assets contributed by developers

Assets funded by the district

$0

$3,000,000

$6,000,000

$9,000,000

$12,000,000

$15,000,000

Debt Developer
Contributions

In-Kind

Government
Grants

Operations &
Surplus

Reserve Funds Restricted
Revenues

Third Party
Funding

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

Funding Sources for Capital Acquisitions 

Total Tangible Capital Asset Acquisitions 

121



73  

 Statistical Information 

2014 Annual Report 

Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 

$0

$5,000,000

$10,000,000

$15,000,000

$20,000,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Long-Term General Debt Outstanding  
(supported by property taxes) 

$0

$50,000,000

$100,000,000

$150,000,000

$200,000,000

$250,000,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

$139,532,537
$162,973,108 $177,595,317

$180,533,546 $199,309,271

$19,424,875

$17,316,930

$16,213,167 $13,772,222

$6,768,138

Borrowing capacity
used

Borrowing capacity
available

Note: Borrowing capacity is estimated based on market interest rates at each year-end

Legislated Borrowing Capacity 

122



74  

 Statistical Information 

2014 Annual Report 

Financial Indicators 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Sustainability indicators:      

Total Assets-to-liabilities 12.11 11.16 11.43 11.56 17.13 

Financial assets-to-liabilities 1.42 1.33 1.48 1.68 2.47 

Flexibility indicators:      

Total debt servicing costs-to-total revenue 0.03 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.11 

Vulnerability indicators:      

Total government transfers-to-total revenues 0.10 0.08 0.03 0.06 0.13 

Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Current taxes levied(1) $44,331,719 $45,049,111 $45,596,276 $46,941,332 47,535,735 

Current taxes collected $41,225,388 $42,019,608 $42,702,539 $43,985,161 44,872,255 

Current taxes outstanding 
at December  31 $3,106,331 $3,029,503 $2,893,737 $2,956,171 2,663,480 

Percentage of current  
taxes collected 93.0% 93.3% 93.6% 93.7% 94.4% 

(1)Includes collections for other authorities and penalties 

Taxation and Assessment 
(Source: BC Assessment Authority & Finance Department)     

 2014 Major Tax Revenue Base  

*Mission Valley Shopping Centre $1,056,657 *Silver Creek Investments Ltd. $83,236 

**BC Hydro $872,864 *Delesalle Holdings $80,425 

*RMM Mission Property Inc. $459,687 *359719 BC Ltd. $76,611 

*Loblaw Properties West Inc. $419,210 *Anayat Holdings Ltd. $73,706 

**Correction Services Canada    $361,896 *BC Custom Car Association $69,978 

*Mission City Holdings Ltd. $237,492 ****Telus and Subsidiaries   $66,614 

*Daro Developments Ltd. $194,398 *Jayberg Enterprises Ltd. $66,613 

*Snowcat Property Holdings Ltd. $175,445 *Madison Development Corp. $63,474 

*Canadian Pacific Railway $168,244 *LLRC Investments Ltd. $61,000 

*Genstar Titleco Ltd. $144,010 *Solterra Development $59,748 

*Mission Western Developments $138,301 *Cressey Development Corp. $59,174 

*Canadian Tire Real Estate Ltd. $135,986 *Mamele’awt Qweesome Housing  $58,858 

****Fortis BC (Terasen Gas) $131,302 ***Shaw Communications $52,004 

*Lonsdale Mews Ltd $127,443 *BC Frozen Foods Ltd $58,205 

*493989 BC Ltd. $100,251 *Atlanta Carpets Inc. $55,213 

*Baltic Properties (Mission) 2014 $88,799 *Mission Ridge Holdings Inc. $55,192 

*2245781 Ontario Inc. $88,032 *Alpenhaus Restaurants Ltd. $51,205 

*JNJJ Enterprises Ltd. $85,966 *Mauricon Developments Ltd $50,607 

  TOTAL $6,127,845 

*Includes municipal, policing and library taxes,  

**Includes grants in lieu,  
***Includes 1% utility taxes, and  

****Includes municipal, policing and library and 1% utility taxes. 

Does not include special levies, utilities, and taxes levied by other taxing authorities. 
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  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014     

Residential $4,356,177,010 $4,521,275,901 $4,518,726,001 $4,569,178,787 $4,448,740,313     

Utilities 4,966,930 5,056,835 5,397,665 5,581,385 5,831,765     

Light Industry 63,278,600 67,367,600 69,435,700 71,332,400 71,258,100     

Business/Other 355,029,705 351,305,405 376,647,505 397,008,005 422,787,005     

Managed Forest 102,000 93,900 86,200 82,500 129,400     

Recreational /Non-Profit 13,100,200 13,134,200 12,496,200 12,205,100 13,377,100     

Farm 2,965,707 3,134,776 3,094,438 3,027,865 3,202,300     

TOTAL $4,795,620,552 $4,961,368,617 $4,985,883,709 $5,058,416,042 $4,965,325,983     

2010 to 2014 Property Assessments   
(Revised Roll) 

Taxation and Assessment 
(Source: BC Assessment Authority & Finance Department)     
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 Name of Organization 
Monetary Value 

of Exempt 
Municipal Taxes 

* Monetary Value 
of Other Exempt 

Taxes 

** Monetary 
Value of all Tax                

Exemptions 
  

All Saints Anglican Church and Manse  $       2,089 $       1,039 $       3,128   

Bethel Pentecostal Assembly  10,295 4,396 14,691   

Cedar Valley Mennonite Church  10,682 4,561 15,243   

Christian Missionary Alliance Church  6,611 2,823 9,434   

Four Square Gospel Church  3,080 1,315 4,395   

Fraser House Society  2,598 1,568 4,166   

Greek Orthodox Church  2,954 1,261 4,215   

Mission Arts Council  7,783 4,305 12,088   

Mission Association for Community Living  11,026 6,655 17,681   

Mission Association for Seniors’ Housing  24,066 14,525 38,591   

Mission Community Services Society  15,481 8,630 24,111   

Mission Daycare Society  7,172 4,328 11,500   

Mission District Historical Society   3,442 1,582 5,024   

Mission Elk’s Lodge #30   3,369 1,439 4,808   

Mission Evangelical Free Church   1,889 807 2,696   

Mission Friendship Centre Society  5,395 2,304 7,699   

Mission Gur Sikh Society   27,311 11,663 38,974   

Mission Horse Club   3,832 1,656 5,488   

Mission Hospice Society 1,466 885 2,351   

Mission Regional Chamber of Commerce  8,211 4,542 12,753   

Mission Zion Christian Fellowship  1,130 482 1,612   

Mt. Calvary Lutheran Church  5,719 2,442 8,161   

New Horizon’s Lawn Bowling Society  3,955 1,726 5,681   

North Valley Baptist Church  9,388 4,009 13,397   

Pleasant View Housing Society 1980  26,038 15,715 41,753   

Royal Canadian Legion Branch #57  5,483 2,341 7,824   

Seventh Day Adventists  1,774 757 2,531   

Silverdale Community Centre  5,429 2,546 7,975   

Silverhill Hall Association  2,325 993 3,318   

St. Clare’s Monastery  10,409 4,445 14,854   

St. Joseph’s Catholic Church  8,202 3,503 11,705   

St. Paul’s Presbyterian Church  12,474 5,327 17,801   

Steelhead Community Association  6,277 3,472 9,749   

Sto:Lo Heritage Trust Society  17,364 9,761 27,125   

The Mel Jr. and Marty Zajac Foundation  58,677 33,618 92,295   

Trustee of Mission Congregation of Jehovah’s 
Witnesses  

3,633 1,551 5,184   

Trustees of the Mission City Congregation of Church 
of God (7th Day) 

1,921 820 2,741   

Union Gospel Mission  1,034 624 1,658   

Universal Hua Tsang Monastery  5,380 2,297 7,677   

Valley Christian School 4,122 1,760 5,882   

West Heights Gospel Chapel  2,304 984 3,288   

Women’s Resource Society of the Fraser Valley  10,616 6,119 16,735   

Totals $   362,406 $   185,576 $   547,982   

* Includes school taxes and Fraser Valley Regional District, Fraser Valley Regional Hospital, BC Assessment, and Municipal Finance Authority levies. 

** Does not include statutory tax exemptions provided to church property via provincial legislation.  

2014 Permissive Tax Exemptions 
(Source: BC Assessment Authority & Finance Department) 
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Development 
(Source: Development Services) 
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Police Protection 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Police Authorized Strength* 52 52 52 52 50 

Police Budgeted Strength* 48 48 47 47 47 

Police Actual Strength* 48 47 47 47 47 

Police to Population Ratio  
(actual strength) 

1/783 1/795 1/800 1/802 1/819 

Crime Rate (per 1,000 population) 103.2 93.5 98.9 91.6 ** 

Criminal Code Offences 3,870 3,493 3,713 3,441 ** 

Violent Offences 716 654 637 578 ** 

*Authorized strength = number of police officer positions approved for funding by municipality. 

Budgeted strength = number of police officer positions funded by municipality. 

Actual strength = number of actual police officer positions utilized.  Does not include integrated teams. 

**Statistics not available for these years. 

Crime Category 
(reported incidents) 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 % Change 

Break & Enter Residential 164 189 228 129 138 7% 

Break & Enter Business 66 95 48 77 61 -21% 

Theft of Vehicle 309 207 145 162 222 37% 

Theft from Vehicle 509 423 625 463 458 -1% 

Assault 331 339 295 280 268 -4% 

Property Damage 585 550 519 528 494 -6% 

Theft 573 479 520 531 572 8% 

Policing  
(Source: RCMP Detachment) 

Comparison of Crime Statistics 2012 to 2013 

Mission RCMP Detachment 
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  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Voters on Voter’s List 22,628 24,281 24,281 24,281 24,798 

Municipal Employees (FTEs) 206.7 204.8 198.0 195.6 196.8 

Number of “Hits” on the District website 155,222 226,251 261,073 281,397 348,135 

Number of Properties (roll numbers) 13,651 13,706 13,755 13,871 14,012 

Number of Development Applications  96 102 90 90 58 

Number of Dog Licenses Issued 5,237 6,008 6,136 5,843 6,110 

Number of Filming Permits Issued 11 4 13 9 8 

Yearly Average Public Transit Ridership N/A 509,966 520,000 531,692 N/A 

Number of Leisure Centre Pool Visits N/A 186,944 198,072 203,233 205,029 

Number of Leisure Centre Fitness Room 

Visits 
N/A 113,404 93,035 93,320 92,675 

Number of Youth Lounge Visits N/A 4,579 2,788 3,576 4,262 

Number of Paid On-Call Fire Fighters 63 66 66 76 78 

Number of Response Calls 1,200 1,220 1,287 1,613 1,433 

Number of Municipal Fire Hydrants 1,017 1,023 1,026 1,026 1,026 

Total Paved Roads (kms) 286 287 292 293 297 

Total Sanitary Sewer Pipes (kms) 150 150 151 152 152 

Total Water Pipes (kms) 188 188 189 189 191 

Compost Diversion (tonnes) 

(curbside food & yard waste & landfill green waste)  
1,800 3,000 3,935 3,774 4,062 

Compost Give-Away (tonnes) 

(once a year “thank you” to residents) 

Compost Give-Away 

started in 2012 
79 210 227 

Curbside Garbage (tonnes) 4,000 3,800 3,741 3,790 3,882 

Curbside, Landfill, Recycling Centre 

 Recyclables (tonnes)  
2,960 1,860 2,675 2,460 2,328 

Number of Seedlings Planted (per year) 60,280 64,420 70,270 89,800 76,460 

Area of Manual Brushing (hectares) 45.3 49.8 43.1 41.1 70 

Miscellaneous 
(Source: Various Departments of the District of Mission and BC Stats)     
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Amortization:  The deduction of capital         
expenses over a specific period of time (usually 
over the asset’s life).  This measures the       
consumption of the value of capital assets. 

Budget:  A financial plan that sets out all planned 
revenues and expenditures for the budget period. 

Capital Funding:  The funding provided for  capital 
projects through operating budget      
contributions, reserves, debt, grants from other 
levels of government, or other sources. 

Debt Limit:  The Provincially legislated limit by 
which a municipality may incur debt (an         
obligation resulting from the borrowing of       
money).  Debt servicing costs (i.e. principal and 
interest) may not exceed 25% of the previous 
year’s revenue. Incurring debt beyond these  limits 
requires prior Provincial Government    approval. 

Development Cost Charges (DCCs):  A fee charged 
to new developments to pay for the cost of capital 
infrastructure required as a result of growth. 

Fiscal Year:  A twelve-month period designated as 
the operating year for accounting and     budgeting 
purposes in an organization. The   District’s fiscal 
year is January to December.  

Full-time Equivalent (FTE) Positions:  
Conversion of full and part-time positions to the 
decimal equivalent of full-time positions based on 
full-time hours.  For example, an employee who 
works twenty-six weeks in a year would be 
equivalent to 0.50 of a full-time position. 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(GAAP):  Uniform minimum standards for     
financial accounting and recording,              
encompassing the conventions, rules and    
procedures that define accepted accounting    
principles. 

Management Letter:  An auxiliary letter that is 
produced by the auditor as part of the annual 
financial statement audit which provides 
recommendations for improving internal controls 
and other business practices. 

 

Municipal Finance Authority (MFA): A provincial             
organization that provides for marketing, 
placement, and administration of all municipal debt     
requirements.  This Authority also operates an   
investment pool on behalf of municipalities. 

Permissive Tax Exemptions:  The authority that 
Council has under the Community Charter to 
exempt certain charitable or philanthropic 
organizations from property taxes.  

Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB):  The body 
of the Canadian Institute of Chartered        
Accountants (CICA) that issues recommendations 
and guidance with respect to matters of            
accounting in the public sector.  Its aim is to     
improve the financial and performance information 
reported by governments and other public sector 
entities for the benefit of decision makers and   
other users of the information. The District of    
Mission adheres to PSABs Public Sector      
Standards for Municipal Financial Reporting. 

Regional Water and Sewer Utilities:  The water  
supply and sewage treatment systems that are 
jointly owned, governed and administered by the 
District of Mission and the City of Abbotsford. 

Structural Deficit:  The practice of underestimating 
expenses or overstating revenues when it is more 
likely that the expenses will be higher or the 
revenues will be lower, thus creating a budget 
shortfall. 

Surplus: (Accumulated) Net economic resources; 
the amount by which all assets, both financial and 
non-financial exceed all liabilities and indicates that 
a government has net resources available to      
provide future services.  (Annual) The difference 
between annual revenues and expenses. If       
positive it is referred to as Annual Surplus, if     
negative, it is an Annual Deficit. 

Tangible Capital Assets: Non-financial assets 
which have physical substance that are held for use 
in the production or supply of goods and    services, 
have economic lives extending beyond one year, 
and are to be used on an ongoing basis. 

Glossary of Terms 
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Brian Antonson, President 
Pam Alexis, Vice-President 
 

Accommodations: 
Danny Plecas,  Director 
Sue Antonson, Dorm Captain 
Mark Gammer, Housekeeping Chair 
Sheila Grant, Accommodation Hospitality Chair 
Bob Ingram, Room Allocation Chair 
Ken Sawers, Site Preparation Chair 
  

Administration: 
Ann Harper,  Director 
Barbara Coates, Warehouse Co-Chair 
Stuart Coates, Warehouse Co-Chair 
Kyndree Eastman, Risk Management Chair 
Chiara & Allessandro Gladden, Food Concessions  
Co-Chairs 
Julia Renkema, Budget Control Chair 
Gordon Ruley, Legal Services Chair 
 

Ceremonies: 
Cal Crawford, Director 
Angel Elias, Marshalling Chair 
Marie Gallant, Volunteer Management Chair 
David Strell, Properties Chair 
Bronwen Sutherland, Entertainment Chair 
 

Communications: 
Jordon West, Director 
Keith Dalgetty, Telephone Systems Chair 
Don Emes, Communication Equipment Chair 
Donna McKay, Switchboard Chair, 
Lance Viney, Electrical Power Chair 
 

Food Services: 
Hans-Peter Bucher, Director 
Linda Dickinson & Debbie Kooy, Volunteer 
Management Food Services Co-Chairs 
Bela Fesus, Participant Meals Chair 
Al LaFontaine, Box Lunches Chair 
Len Strelezki, Public Health Chair 
Andy Warkentin, Equipment-Food Services Chair 
 

Friends of the Games: 
Barbara Bremner, Director 
Grant Mottershead, Director 
Randy Hawes, Recruitment Chair 
Sean Melia, Recognition—CP/FP Chair 
Clare Seeley, Volunteer Management FOG Chair  
 

Medical Services:  
Dr. Peter Robson, Medical Director 
Beverly Dixon, Venue Medical Chair 
Ian Fitzpatrick, Volunteer Management Medical Chair 
David Morris, Whistler Venue Medical Chair 
Erland Pettman, Physiotherapy Chair 
Dr. Keith Wong, Medical Clinic Chair 
Glenda Wonnacott, Medical Inventory Chair 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Promotions: 
Kayla Johannessen, Director 
Andrew Franklin, Public Relations Chair 
Jean Konda-Witte, Photography Chair 
Samson McCahon, Digital Media Chair 
Abigail Shakespeare, Volunteer Management 
Promotions Chair 
Grant Stolk, Souvenir Program Chair 
 

Protocol: 
Elyssa Lockhart, Director 
Remco Bergman & Bill Derksen, Volunteer Management 
Protocol Co-Chairs 
Maria Hedderson, Hosts Chair 
Alexa Lowe, Medals Chair 
Mady Pechler, Guest Registration Chair 
Amanda Srigley, Receptions Chair 
 

Registration & Results: 
Eden Green, Director 
Shelley Abbot, Results Centre Chair 
Ann Cardus, Volunteer Registration Chair 
Nancy Jellett, Volunteer Management Registration & 
Results Chair 
Diane Kamagianis, Participant Accreditation Chair 
 

Security: 
Shaun Wright, Director 
Vic Barron, Volunteer Management Security Chair 
Alyn Beerda, Traffic Control Chair 
Carrie Harding, Mobile Patrol Chair 
Leanne Hazlewood, Communications Liaison Chair 
Sayeh Hejazi, Special Events Chair 
Jamie Nokes, Sport Venues Chair 
 

Special Events: 
Bob & Leslie Reed, Directors 
Calvin Adams, Volunteer Appreciation Event Chair 
Lee Adams, Volunteer Appreciation Event Chair 
Rogine Battel, Volunteer Management Special Events Chair 
Frank Chan, Community Development Chair 
Kathy Reeves, Participant Special Events Chair 
Tamara Simpson, Holding Area Chair 
 

Sport: 
Steve Sharpe, Director 
Cyndie Anderson, Athletes with a Disability Chair 
Chris Calverley, Venue Management Chair 
Carol Hamilton, Volunteer Management Sport Chair 
Tony Miniaci, Competitions Chair 
Jim Toth, Equipment-Sport Chair 
 

Transportation: 
Bryan Fawcett, Director 
Graham Black, Acting Transportation & Shuttle System 
Chair 
Kim Andruk, Bus Guides Chair 
Darren Chezzi & Glen Roberts, Luggage & Lost and Found 
Co-Chairs 
Mark Hermanson, Shuttle System Acting Chair 
Larry Reist, Buses Chair 
Rose Seifert, Volunteer Management Transportation Chair 

2014 BC Winter Games Directors & Chairs 
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Finance Department 

Staff Report to Council 

 Page 1 of 2  

 

File Category: 05 Finance 
 1880-30 

DATE:   June 15, 2015 

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM: Scott Ross, Manager of Accounting Services 

SUBJECT:  2014 Statement of Financial Information 
ATTACHMENT(S): 2014 Statement of Financial Information 

RECOMMENDATION(S): Council consider and resolve: 

1. That the District of Mission 2014 Statement of Financial Information be approved for 
submission to the Ministry of Community, Sport and Cultural Development; and 

2. That the Mayor and Manager of Finance be authorized to sign the Statement of Financial 
Information Approval form. 

PURPOSE:   

The purpose of this report is to have Council consider and resolve to approve the Statement of 
Financial Information (SOFI) for submission to the Ministry of Community, Sport and Cultural 
Development prior to the June 30, 2015 deadline date. 

BACKGROUND: 
The Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) is a yearly requirement under the Financial Information 
Act that requires Council’s approval.  The Mayor and the officer assigned responsibility for financial 
administration under the Local Government Act (i.e. Manager of Finance) are also required to sign the 
Statement of Financial Information Approval form and submit same to the Ministry of Community, 
Sport and Cultural Development.  
The regulations under the Act require the 2014 SOFI report to be submitted to the Ministry of 
Community, Sport and Cultural Development no later than June 30, 2015.  It should be noted that the 
District of Mission Development Corporation’s information is part of the District of Mission SOFI 
report, as the statements and other information produced represent the consolidated results of both 
organizations.   
The SOFI report is comprised of the following documents: 

• 2014 Consolidated Financial Statements 
• Statement of Changes in Financial Position – Capital Fund 
• Schedule of Debts 
• Schedule of Guarantee and Indemnity Agreements 
• Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses 
• Statement of Severance Agreements 
• Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services 
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The Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses contains the information required by legislation.  In 
addition to this information the District also pays the employer’s share of the benefits for items such 
as Canada Pension, Employment Insurance, Health and Dental, WorkSafeBC, and the Municipal 
Pension Plan.   

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
There are no financial implications associated with this report.  

COMMUNICATION: 
The SOFI report is available to the public, upon request, for a fee of $5.00 for a printed copy as per 
the Financial Information Act.  Alternatively the public may view or download the SOFI report for free 
from the District’s website.  The approved 2014 SOFI report will be submitted to the Ministry of 
Community, Sport and Cultural Development no later than the June 30, 2015 deadline. 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:  
As legislated, the Statement of Financial Information report requires approval by Council and for the 
Mayor and the officer assigned responsibility for financial administration under the Local Government 
Act to sign the Statement of Financial Information Approval form.  It is recommended that the 
attached 2014 Statement of Financial Information report be approved by Council in order to meet 
legislative requirements. 

SIGN-OFFS:  
 

 

Scott Ross, Manager of Accounting Services 

 
 
 
 
Reviewed by:  
Kerri Onken, Deputy Treasurer/Collector 

 
 

Comment from Interim Chief Administrative Officer 
Reviewed.  
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                                                                        _______________________________

Kris Boland, CPA, CGA                               Randy Hawes

Manager of Finance MAYOR on behalf of Council

June 15, 2015 June 15, 2015

The undersigned, as authorized by the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 9(2), 

approves all the statements and schedules included in this Statement of Financial Information, 

produced under the Financial Information Act .

DISTRICT OF MISSION

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION APPROVAL
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DISTRICT OF MISSION

MANAGEMENT REPORT

The Financial Statements contained in this Statement of Financial Information under the Financial 

Information Act  have been prepared by management in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles, and the integrity and objectivity of these statements are management's 

responsibility. Management is responsible for all of the statements and schedules, and for ensuring 

that this information is consistent, where appropriate, with the information contained in the financial 

statements. 

Management is also responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal controls to 

provide reasonable assurance that reliable financial information is produced. 

The District of Mission’s external auditors, BDO Canada LLP, conduct an independent examination, 

in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, and express their opinion on the financial 

statements. Their examination does not relate to the other schedules and statements required by 

the Act . Their examination includes a review and evaluation of the District’s system of internal 

controls and appropriate tests and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that the financial 

statements are presented fairly. The external auditors have full and free access to all of the records 

and minutes of the District of Mission.

On behalf of the District of Mission,

                                                     

Kris Boland,  CPA, CGA

Manager of Finance

June 15, 2015
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 Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 
To the Mayor and Council of the District of Mission 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the District of Mission, which 
comprise the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2014, and the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations and Accumulated Surplus, Changes in Net Financial Assets and Cash Flows for the 
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the District of Mission as at December 31, 2014, and the results of its consolidated 
results of operations, changes in net financial assets, and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

 
Chartered Accountants 

Vancouver, British Columbia 
May 4, 2015 
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District of Mission
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

as at December 31, 2014

2014 2013

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) $ 31,661,753 $ 34,701,227

Receivables (Note 3) 6,534,469 7,955,396

Inventories held for resale 271,764 234,754

Investments (Note 4) 34,304,426 29,789,875

72,772,412 72,681,252

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6) 10,005,353 11,538,929

Deposits 2,266,282 1,888,145

Long-term debt (Note 7, Schedule 3) 6,768,137 13,772,222

Deferred revenue 3,974,715 4,073,949

Restricted revenue (Note 8) 5,044,746 10,656,061

Employee future benefits (Note 9) 1,370,820 1,286,952

29,430,053 43,216,258

Net Financial Assets 43,342,359 29,464,994

Non-Financial Assets

Tangible capital assets (Schedule 1) 430,536,661 426,044,541

Inventories of supplies and land 669,533 630,054

Prepaid expenses 165,791 148,869

431,371,985 426,823,464

Accumulated Surplus  (Note 11) $ 474,714,344 $ 456,288,458

Kris Boland CPA, CGA Randy Hawes
Manager of Finance Mayor

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

for the year ended December 31, 2014

Budget 2014 2013

Revenues

Taxation (Note 12) $ 27,980,020 $ 28,069,283 $ 27,578,938

Sales of services and regulatory fees 25,463,839 26,413,396 25,541,436

Government transfers (Note 13) 1,563,190 9,339,813 3,821,395

Amortization of restricted revenue (Note 8) 485,569 1,009,311 2,237,002

Investment income 892,191 1,320,106 855,635

Other revenue 1,667,586 2,068,560 1,819,906

Developer contributions in-kind related to capital 3,543,070 3,719,586 3,184,347

Gain/(loss) on disposal of tangible capital assets 3,965 1,527,274 (995,632)

Total Revenues 61,599,430 73,467,329 64,043,027

Expenses

Administration and finance 4,071,856 4,271,812 4,203,501

General government and fiscal services 959,455 1,250,294 1,117,682

Protective services 14,216,817 13,129,857 13,188,918

Engineering and public works 7,793,324 7,524,683 7,171,049

Transit services 2,722,635 2,746,178 2,465,741

Waste management 4,467,115 4,214,266 4,507,088

Development services 2,194,569 2,011,276 2,082,628

Parks, recreation and cultural services 6,384,406 6,674,385 6,483,489

Library 1,360,637 1,368,089 1,351,476

Cemetery 244,652 256,658 250,312

Water utility 4,013,569 3,850,774 4,241,014

Sewer utility 3,688,810 3,578,191 3,578,302

Forestry enterprise 3,868,201 4,142,343 3,326,097

Development Corporation 24,375 22,637 35,165

Total Expenses 56,010,421 55,041,443 54,002,462

Annual Surplus 5,589,009 18,425,886 10,040,565

Accumulated Surplus, Beginning of Year 456,288,458 456,288,458 446,247,893

Accumulated Surplus, End of Year $ 461,877,467 $ 474,714,344 $ 456,288,458

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Budget 2014 2013

Annual Surplus $ 5,589,009 $ 18,425,886 $ 10,040,565

Acquisition of tangible capital assets, including developer
contributions in-kind (5,271,582) (13,030,685) (10,503,387)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 8,400,152 8,046,287 7,936,834

(Gain)/loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - (1,527,274) 995,632

Net sale proceeds - TCA disposals 3,965 2,019,552 63,680

8,721,544 13,933,766 8,533,324

Change in inventories of supplies and land - (39,479) 15,200

Change in prepaid expenses - (16,922) 17,360

- (56,401) 32,560

Increase in Net Financial Assets 8,721,544 13,877,365 8,565,884

Net Financial Assets, Beginning of Year 29,464,994 29,464,994 20,899,110

Net Financial Assets, End of Year $ 38,186,538 $ 43,342,359 $ 29,464,994

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

2014 2013

Cash Flows from Operating Transactions

Annual surplus $ 18,425,886 $ 10,040,565

Items Not Involving Cash

Amortization of tangible capital assets 8,046,287 7,936,834

Amortization of restricted revenue (1,009,311) (2,237,002)

(Gain) / Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets (1,527,274) 995,632

Developer contributions in-kind related to capital (3,719,586) (3,184,347)

Change in employee future benefits 83,868 (85,102)

Change in Non-Cash Operating Items

Receivables 1,420,927 (1,048,276)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,533,576) 1,447,414

Deposits 378,137 (54,400)

Deferred revenue (99,234) 142,970

Inventories held for resale (37,010) (48,583)

Inventories of supplies and land (39,479) 15,200

Prepaid expenses (16,922) 17,360

Net Change in Cash from Operating Transactions 20,372,713 13,938,265

Cash Flows from Investing Transactions

Change in investments (4,514,551) 3,674,200

Cash Flows from Financing Transactions

Long-term debt principal repaid (7,004,085) (2,440,946)

Restricted revenue collections and interest earnings (4,602,004) 3,677,891

Net Change in Cash from Financing Transactions (11,606,089) 1,236,945

Cash Flows from Capital Transactions

Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets 2,019,552 63,681

Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (9,311,099) (7,319,040)

Net Change in Cash from Capital Transactions (7,291,547) (7,255,359)

Net Change in Cash (3,039,474) 11,594,051

Cash, Beginning of Year 34,701,227 23,107,176

Cash, End of Year $ 31,661,753 $ 34,701,227

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

The notes and schedules to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of the statements.  They
provide detailed information and explain the significant accounting and reporting principles that form the basis for
the statements. The notes and schedules also provide important supplementary information and explanations,
which cannot be conveniently integrated into the consolidated financial statements.

The principal activities of the District of Mission (the District) include the provision of local government services to
residents and businesses. The Community Charter of British Columbia requires local governments to adopt a five
year financial plan, wherein total budgeted expenditures and transfers to other funds for each year must not exceed
the total of the budgeted funding sources and transfers from other funds for each year. Budget information
presented in the consolidated financial statements reflects the budget for the year 2014 of the District of Mission’s
2014-2018 five year financial plan adopted by Council Bylaw #5392-2013.

1. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the District are prepared in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered
Professional Accountants Canada. The consolidated financial statements reflect the combined results
and activities of the District and its wholly owned subsidiary, the District of Mission Development
Corporation. All inter-fund and inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated. The
District of Mission Development Corporation was wound up during 2014, resulting in all assets and
liabilities being transferred to the District of Mission. 

The District has a Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Fund (Trust Fund) that has been established pursuant
to the Cremation, Interment and Funeral Services Act (the Act). This Trust Fund provides funds that will
be used for the eventual closure and upkeep of the cemetery. Interest earnings on the Trust Fund
balance are transferred to general operations and are used for ongoing cemetery maintenance in
accordance with the Act. The Trust Fund is excluded from the District’s consolidated financial
statements, in accordance with PSAB standards (Note 16).

(b) Basis of Accounting

The consolidated financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual
basis of accounting records revenue as it is earned and becomes measurable. Expenses are recognized
as they are incurred and become measurable based upon receipt of goods or services and/or the
creation of a legal obligation to pay. 

(c) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting standards
established by PSAB requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of certain receivables and accrued liabilities as at the date of the financial statements, and that
affect the reported amount of related revenues and expenses during the reporting period. As such,
actual results could differ from the estimates. Areas requiring the greatest degree of estimation include
employee future benefits, assessment of contingent liabilities, landfill closure and post-closure liabilities,
allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, and the estimated useful lives of tangible capital assets. 

(d) Inventories Held for Resale

Inventories held for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.    
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(e) Investments

Investments are recorded at cost. Investments are written down to net realizable value when there has
been, in the opinion of management, a decline in market value that is not temporary. Investments in the
Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) of British Columbia Short-Term Bond Fund are recorded at market
value, which approximates cost. 

(f) Non-Financial Assets

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the provision
of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year (with the exception of prepaid
expenses), and are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. 

(g) Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets, which are a type of non-financial asset, are recorded at cost, which includes all
amounts that are directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment. The costs
of tangible capital assets, less residual value, are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Asset Category Useful Life Range

Buildings and improvements 5 to 50 years

Drainage infrastructure 20 to 100 years

Information technology infrastructure 3 to 80 years

Land not amortized

Land improvements 35 to 50 years

Landfill infrastructure 10 to 50 years

Parks infrastructure 10 to 40 years

Recycling depot (regional) 7 to 20 years

Sewage conveyance infrastructure (local) 25 to 100 years

Sewage treatment plant (regional)  5 to 100 years

Transportation infrastructure 10 to 80 years

Vehicles and equipment 5 to 20 years

Water distribution infrastructure (local) 10 to 100 years

Water supply infrastructure (regional)  4 to 75 years

In the year of acquisition or disposal, amortization is prorated based on the number of days that the
tangible capital asset is in service or use in the year. Assets under construction are not amortized until
they are put into service. Tangible capital assets received from developers through property development
activities are recorded at their fair value at the date of receipt and are recorded as revenue.
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(h) Inventories of Supplies and Land

Inventories of supplies and land are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

(i) Deferred Revenue

Certain contributions, and other amounts are received from third parties pursuant to legislation,
regulation or agreement. These amounts may only be used to conduct certain programs, complete
specific work, or to purchase tangible capital assets, as specified by the transferring party. In addition,
certain user fees and charges are collected, for which the related services have yet to be performed.
These revenues are recognized in the period when the related expenses are incurred, services
performed, or the tangible capital assets are acquired. 

(j) Restricted Revenue

Revenues or receipts, which are restricted by legislation or that contain stipulations that create a liability,
are deferred and reported as restricted revenues. When qualifying expenditures are incurred and/or
stipulations are met, restricted revenues are recognized as revenues in the period which this occurs.

(k) Employee Future Benefits

The District and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan (Plan), and the
employees accrue benefits under this Plan based on service.  The District’s contributions to the Plan are
expensed when incurred.

In addition to the Municipal Pension Plan, sick leave and other retirement benefits also accrue to the
District’s employees. The costs of these benefits are actuarially determined based on years of service,
estimated retirement age, and expected future salary and wage levels. The obligations under these
benefit plans are accrued based on the projected benefits earned as the employees render the services
necessary to earn the future benefits.  

(l) Revenue Recognition - Taxation

Taxes are recorded at estimated amounts when they meet the definition of an asset, have been
authorized, and the taxable event occurs. Annual levies for non-optional municipal services and general
administrative services are recorded as taxes for municipal services in the year they are levied. Taxes
receivable are recognized net of an allowance for anticipated uncollectible amounts. Levies imposed by
other taxing authorities are not included as taxes for municipal purposes. 

Through the British Columbia Assessment's appeal process, taxes may be adjusted by way of
supplementary roll adjustments. The effects of these adjustments on taxes may have been included in
initial estimates when recording revenue; to the extent that adjustments exceed the initial estimates, they
are recognized at the time they are awarded. 
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(m) Government Transfers

Government transfers, which include legislative grants, are recognized as revenue in the financial
statements when the transfer is authorized and any eligibility criteria are met, except to the extent that
transfer stipulations give rise to an obligation that meets the definition of a liability. Transfers are
recognized as deferred revenue when transfer stipulations give rise to a liability. Transfer revenue is
recognized in the statement of operations as the stipulation liabilities are settled. 

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2014 2013

Cash $ 4,525,248 $ 5,701,222

Cashable term deposits 27,136,505 29,000,005

$31,661,753 $34,701,227

Cashable term deposits are comprised of BC Credit Union term deposits, which are cashable either
immediately or within 30 days of issue, with interest rates ranging from 1.75% to 1.90%. 

3. Receivables

2014 2013

Accounts receivable $ 2,659,313 $ 3,630,841

District of Mission Development Corporation receivables - 529

Taxes receivable (including residential utilities) 3,875,156 4,324,026

$ 6,534,469 $ 7,955,396

4. Investments

2014 2013

Fixed term deposits $ 34,193,944 $ 14,500,000

MFA Short-Term Bond Fund - 15,173,252

Mortgage receivable from Mission Regional Chamber of Commerce (secured by
promissory note and general security agreement against debtor's property);
interest rate: 5.5%; maturity: July 1, 2026 110,482 116,623

Total $ 34,304,426 $ 29,789,875

Fixed term deposits are comprised of Canadian bank GICs and BC Credit Union term deposits, which mature
in years 2015 through 2019, with interest rates ranging from 2.05% to 2.80%. 
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

5. Municipal Finance Authority Debt Reserve Cash Deposits and Demand Notes

The District issues debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) of British Columbia.  As a
condition of these borrowings, a portion of the debt proceeds are withheld by the MFA in a debt reserve fund as
cash deposits. These debt reserve funds may be used by the MFA if they do not have sufficient funds to meet
the debt payment obligations of the participating municipalities. The District also executes demand notes in
connection with each debt issue whereby the District may be required to loan certain amounts to the MFA.
These demand notes are contingent in nature. The balances of the cash deposits and demand notes, which
are not reported elsewhere in these financial statements, are as follows:

2014 2013

Cash Deposits

General fund $ 161,808 $ 265,403

Sewer utility 3,255 40,164

Water utility 12,718 20,449

$ 177,781 $ 326,016

Demand Notes

General fund $ 320,759 $ 543,964

Sewer utility 6,408 78,125

Water utility 25,037 42,153

$ 352,204 $ 664,242
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

6. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

2014 2013

Accounts payable $ 6,951,503 $ 8,458,801

Wages and benefits payable 1,108,262 1,541,718

Landfill closure and post-closure care costs 1,945,588 1,538,410

$10,005,353 $11,538,929

The District’s landfill site is regulated by the British Columbia Ministry of Environment, and as such the District
is subject to certain operating, closure and post-closure obligations at the site.  

The costs associated with landfill closure and post-closure care are recognized over the operating life of the
landfill site in accordance with PSAB standards. The District has estimated and recognized a liability of
$1,945,588 as at December 31, 2014 ($1,538,410 in 2013), for future estimated closure and post-closure costs
at the landfill site. The estimated total expenses for closure and post-closure care are approximately $17.0
million, with approximately $15.1 million remaining to be recognized. There are currently no assets designated
for settling the landfill closure and post-closure care liability. 

The landfill closure and post-closure care liability is based on the discounted costs associated with the phased
closure of various landfill cells and environmental monitoring for 25 years after the landfill is closed.
Approximately 65% of the landfill's capacity remains, and the landfill is predicted to reach capacity around
2046. The discount rate used to estimate the liability as at December 31, 2014 is 3.33% (4.5% in 2013).

7. Long-Term Debt

The District does not carry any debt for other entities. All existing long-term debt is repayable in Canadian
dollars. Refer to Schedule 3 for additional details on outstanding long-term debt, including interest rates,
maturity dates, and payments due within each of the next five years. Details of the District's interest expenses
are as follows:

2014 2013

Long-term debt interest - forestry enterprise $ 2,930 $ 4,847

Long-term debt interest - general operations 661,364 854,540

Long-term debt interest - sewer utility 65,446 71,243

Long-term debt interest - water utility 26,020 105,785

Total long-term debt interest 755,760 1,036,415

Interest on prepayments 33,537 33,028

Total interest expense $ 789,297 $ 1,069,443
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

8. Restricted Revenue

Cedar Valley
Environmental
Management

Plan

Community
Works Gas

Tax

Development
Cost

Charges
Park Land
Acquisition 2014 2013

Opening balance $ 44,607 $ 6,611,332 $ 1,594,986 $ 2,405,136 $10,656,061 $ 9,215,172

Interest income 977 - 39,865 57,611 98,453 165,527

Fees collected - - 1,476,915 433,960 1,910,875 3,512,364

Transfer balance to accumulated surplus - (6,611,332) - - (6,611,332) -

Subtotal - collections 977 (6,611,332) 1,516,780 491,571 (4,602,004) 3,677,891

Internal loan payments made - - (755,836) - (755,836) (1,371,042)

Internal loan payments received - - - 17,062 17,062 -

Internal loan proceeds - - - - - 13,446

Expenses - - (270,537) - (270,537) (879,406)

Subtotal - amortization of restricted revenue - - (1,026,373) 17,062 (1,009,311) (2,237,002)

Ending balance $ 45,584 $ - $ 2,085,393 $ 2,913,769 $ 5,044,746 $10,656,061

During 2014, the District entered into a renewed Community Works Fund Agreement, which differed in several
ways from the previous agreement. The renewed agreement has significantly relaxed the stipulations around
the use of Community Works Funds, and also provides that any unspent amounts from the previous agreement
will be brought forward to the renewed agreement. The result of these differences, in accordance with PSAB
standards and the District's accounting policy regarding government transfers, is that revenues under the
Community Works Fund Agreement are recognized when they are received. 

Furthermore, unspent amounts from the previous agreement no longer meet the definition of a liability. These
amounts were previously recorded as restricted revenue, and are now included in accumulated surplus (see
Note 11). The impact of this new agreement is a significant increase to revenue in 2014 to recognize the
amounts that were previously deferred. 
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District of Mission
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

9. Employee Future Benefit Obligations

The District provides sick leave and retirement benefits to its employees. The accrued obligations related to
these benefits are as follows:

2014 2013

Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 1,286,952 $ 1,372,054

Service cost 109,887 106,700

Interest cost 61,655 60,300

Benefit payments (92,152) (243,681)

Actuarial (gain) / loss 4,478 (8,421)

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year $ 1,370,820 $ 1,286,952

The District estimated the accrued benefit obligations by actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2010. The next
actuarial valuation is planned to occur for the year ending December 31, 2015, with results available in 2016.

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the District’s accrued benefit obligations are as
follows:

2014 2013

Discount rate   4.50 %   4.50 %

Projected future wage and salary increase   3.00 %   3.00 %

Municipal Pension Plan

The District and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (the Plan), a jointly trusteed pension
plan.  The board of trustees, representing the Plan members and employers, is responsible for overseeing the
management of the Plan, including investment of the assets and administration of benefits.  The Plan is a multi-
employer contributory pension plan.  Basic pension benefits provided are based on a formula.  The Plan has
about 182,000 active members and approximately 75,000 retired members. Active members include
approximately 36,000 contributors from local governments.

The most recent actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2012 indicated a $1,370 million funding deficit for basic
pension benefits.  The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2015, with results available in 2016.  

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions
made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the Plan records
accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the Plan in aggregate, with the result that there is no consistent and
reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual employers participating in the Plan. 

The District paid $1,211,149 ($1,141,821 in 2013) for employer contributions while employees contributed
$1,087,505 ($1,005,882 in 2013) to the Plan in fiscal 2014.

10. Contingencies

The District has been named as a defendant in various legal actions.  No reserve or liability has been recorded
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District of Mission
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

10. Contingencies (continued)

regarding any of these legal actions or possible claims if the amount of loss, if any, is indeterminable.
Settlement, if any, made with respect to these actions would be accounted for as a charge to expenses in the
period in which any outcomes are known.

11. Accumulated Surplus

2014 2013
Increase /
(decrease)

General operating surplus $ 4,810,430 $ 5,386,204 $ (575,774)

Sewer operating surplus 786,927 770,062 16,865

Water operating surplus 936,199 916,135 20,064

Development Corporation surplus 808,869 820,838 (11,969)

Appropriated surplus:

Carbon tax 151,092 135,036 16,056

General operating carry forwards 10,063 59,797 (49,734)

Recycling operations 53,924 (8,544) 62,468

Total Unrestricted Surplus 7,557,504 8,079,528 (522,024)

Reserve Funds:

Cemetery 94,032 83,146 10,886

Community amenity 1,429,670 1,274,001 155,669

Community works gas tax 6,520,393 - 6,520,393

Debt retirement 10,341 1,629,978 (1,619,637)

Financial stabilization 639,074 540,731 98,343

Forestry 1,418,431 1,466,812 (48,381)

Gaming 517,823 298,143 219,680

General capital 2,180,246 1,960,752 219,494

Information systems 301,113 367,133 (66,020)

Insurance 465,262 365,138 100,124

Land sale 602 54,970 (54,368)

Legal 239,511 206,544 32,967

Major capital 1,713,272 1,231,256 482,016

Policing 288,176 418,718 (130,542)

Refuse 1,401,170 1,526,795 (125,625)

Roads capital 814,182 475,237 338,945

Sewer capital 11,703,121 10,961,183 741,938

Vehicles and equipment 3,311,055 4,664,302 (1,353,247)

Water capital 10,340,842 8,411,772 1,929,070

Total Reserve Funds 43,388,316 35,936,611 7,451,705

Investment in Tangible Capital Assets 423,768,524 412,272,319 11,496,205

Total Accumulated Surplus $ 474,714,344 $ 456,288,458 $ 18,425,886
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12. Taxation

Budget 2014 2013

Municipal Taxation:

General municipal property taxes $ 27,796,732 $ 27,886,914 $ 27,390,651

Special assessments and area charges 183,288 182,369 188,287

Total municipal taxation 27,980,020 28,069,283 27,578,938

Collections for Other Taxing Authorities:

Province of BC - school taxes 14,873,900 14,946,605 14,846,953

Fraser Valley Regional District 643,197 639,046 640,842

Fraser Valley Regional Hospital District 1,377,768 1,344,039 1,374,270

BC Assessment Authority 377,873 376,300 377,873

Municipal Finance Authority of BC 1,181 1,170 1,181

Downtown Business Association 77,852 79,798 77,852

Total collections for other taxing authorities 17,351,771 17,386,958 17,318,971

Payments to other taxing authorities (17,351,771) (17,386,958) (17,318,971)

Net taxation for municipal purposes $ 27,980,020 $ 28,069,283 $ 27,578,938

13. Government Transfers

2014 2013

Federal $ 8,150,293 $ 1,939,215

Provincial 1,189,520 1,882,180

Total government transfers $ 9,339,813 $ 3,821,395

Federal transfers include the recognition of Community Works Funds previously recorded as restricted
revenue, as set out in Note 8.

14. Letters of Credit and Performance Bonds

In addition to the deposits reflected in the financial statements, the District is holding irrevocable letters of credit
and performance bonds in the amount of approximately $1.7 million as at December 31, 2014 ($2.5 million as
at December 31, 2013), which were received from various parties to ensure completion of various works within
the District.  These amounts are not reflected in the financial statements but are available to satisfy any liability
arising from non-performance by the parties.

15. Segment Reporting

The District provides a wide range of municipal services. These services have been grouped into related
department functions or service areas for segment reporting purposes in Schedule 2, which shows the
associated revenues and expenses for each segment. The various segments and associated departmental
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District of Mission
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15. Segment Reporting (continued)

functions or service areas are as follows:

Administration and Finance

• General Administration: general government administration including Council support, managing legal issues,
conducting elections, records management, and oversight of other departmental areas.

• Finance and Purchasing: financial oversight and management including financial planning and reporting,
investments, property tax collections, procurement of goods and services and operation of central stores.

• Human Resources: recruitment and selection, employee and labour relations, compensation and benefits,
workplace health and safety, organizational learning, training and development.

• Information Technology: planning, maintaining and operating the District’s information systems technology
and infrastructure.

• Grants to Organizations: provides grants to Mission non-profit organizations including arts and culture,
recreation and social services, and community events grants.

General Government and Fiscal Services

• Property taxation, investments, general fund debt servicing, municipal hall shared office services, insurance,
and general cost recovery transactions.

Protective Services

• Police Services: utilizes contracted RCMP members and municipal employees to provide proactive general
and community policing services (including victim services, speed watch programs and school/youth programs)
within the District. Regional integrated police units also provide services to the community related to homicide
investigations, emergency response, traffic re-construction, dog unit assistance, and forensic identification.

• Fire and Emergency Services: fire response, investigation and prevention services, emergency response
services (for motor vehicle accidents and medical incidents), and emergency planning.

• Bylaw and Inspection Services: administering and enforcing the District’s regulatory bylaws including the
building, business licensing, and dog licensing bylaws.

• Restorative Resolutions: assists citizens in overcoming and resolving conflicts, by engaging willing
participants in a process that addresses the root causes of conflict including repairing any harm that has
resulted from conflict.

Engineering and Public Works

• Engineering: oversees and plans the District’s extensive infrastructure network of roads, bridges, drainage
systems, etc., and provides for maintenance of municipal facilities.

• Public Works: maintains and builds infrastructure including roads, pedestrian walkways, drainage systems,
diking, and provides for snow removal and efficient operation of the District’s gravel pit.
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15. Segment Reporting (continued)

• Environmental Services: provides direction on environmental issues and leads the District’s commitment to
community-wide stewardship of the natural environment.

• Equipment Fleet: operation and maintenance of the District’s fleet of municipal vehicles and equipment.
Vehicle/equipment costs are charged back to the various user departments.

Transit Services

• Oversees the local bus system (in partnership with the City of Abbotsford), and contributing to the West Coast
Express train and train-bus services between Mission and Vancouver.

Waste Management

• Oversees contracted curbside collection of refuse, compost and recyclables, and is responsible for
overseeing contracted operations at the District’s landfill site.

Development Services

• Planning: land use planning and administration of the District’s Official Community Plan (OCP) and zoning
bylaws.

• Economic Development: generating and coordinating economic development, tourism and film activity in the
community.

Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services

• Operation of the District’s recreational facilities including the leisure center and various parks and trails, and
for the development and implementation of arts and cultural programs/events.

• Social Development: developing and implementing an action oriented social development program aimed at
realizing the District of Mission’s mission statement, which is, “…to build a safe and healthy community
abundant in economic, cultural and recreation opportunities.”

Library

• The Library is a member of Fraser Valley Regional Library system, providing access to books, magazines,
DVDs, CD music, materials in other languages, free downloadable e-books and e-audio books. The library
provides information services including programs for all ages, meeting room and study space, wireless
connection, online instant chat, and basic computer instruction.

Cemetery

• Administration and operation of the District’s cemetery and crematorium, including arranging for burials and
memorials.

Water Utility

• Oversees the regional water supply and treatment systems (in partnership with the City of Abbotsford), and 
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15. Segment Reporting (continued)

plans for and maintains the District’s localized water distribution system.

Sewer Utility

• Oversees the regional sewage treatment plant and related source control activities (in partnership with the
City of Abbotsford), and plans for and maintains the District’s localized sewage conveyance system.

Forestry Enterprise

• Administers and operates the Mission Tree Farm forestry operation which includes harvesting of timber, tree
planting, forestry road construction/maintenance, trail building, log marketing, and other forestry related
activities.

Development Corporation

• The District of Mission Development Corporation has provided loans and mortgages to various organizations
in the past in order to generate economic development activity within the District, and holds a variety of real
estate properties. Development Corporation operations ceased in 2014.

16. Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Fund

The Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Fund is administered in accordance with the Cremation, Interment and
Funeral Services Act. In accordance with PSAB guidelines, the Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Fund is
excluded from the District’s consolidated financial statements. 

Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Fund 2014 2013

Financial Assets

Cemetery trust fund investments $ 806,156 $ 787,510

Equity

Balance, beginning of year 787,510 764,869

Care fund contributions 18,646 22,641

Interest earnings 17,451 13,040

Contribution to cemetery operations (17,451) (13,040)

Balance, end of year $ 806,156 $ 787,510

17. Comparative Figures

Certain comparative figures for 2013 have been reclassified to conform to the 2014 financial statement
presentation.
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District of Mission
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Schedule 1 - Tangible Capital Assets

Included in total additions are capital assets received from developers through property development activities,
which totalled $3,719,586  in 2014 ($3,184,347  in 2013).

The amount of interest capitalized was $- in 2014 ($- in 2013).

Cost,
December 31,

2013 Additions
Cost of

Disposals

Cost,
December 31,

2014

Assets under construction $ 5,135,134 $ (4,161,562) $ (32,818) $ 940,754

Buildings and improvements 43,567,448 2,169,492 - 45,736,940

Drainage infrastructure 90,774,073 906,256 (29,443) 91,650,886

Information technology infrastructure 2,227,467 312,215 (510,810) 2,028,872

Land 95,170,312 2,456,161 (77,235) 97,549,238

Land improvements 2,113,925 - - 2,113,925

Landfill infrastructure 7,163,627 316,384 - 7,480,011

Parks infrastructure 4,311,079 13,325 - 4,324,404

Recycling depot (regional) 538,274 - - 538,274

Sewage conveyance infrastructure (local) 49,210,457 217,114 - 49,427,571

Sewage treatment plant (regional) 17,127,724 3,809,617 (48,779) 20,888,562

Transportation infrastructure 154,722,962 3,125,802 (629,939) 157,218,825

Vehicles and equipment 10,114,698 1,435,043 (59,627) 11,490,114

Water distribution infrastructure (local) 40,636,255 1,946,640 (117,421) 42,465,474

Water supply infrastructure (regional) 24,653,652 484,198 (302,938) 24,834,912

$ 547,467,087 $ 13,030,685 $ (1,809,010) $ 558,688,762
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Accumulated
Amortization, 
December 31,

2013
Amortization

Expense

Accumulated
Amortization on

Disposals

Accumulated
Amortization, 
December 31,

2014

Net Book
Value, 

December 31,
2014

Net Book
Value, 

December 31,
2013

$ - $ - $ - $ - $ 940,754 $ 5,135,134

(10,868,827) (1,007,084) - (11,875,911) 33,861,029 32,698,621

(20,217,619) (960,176) 26,466 (21,151,329) 70,499,557 70,556,454

(1,436,863) (208,674) 504,687 (1,140,850) 888,022 790,604

- - - - 97,549,238 95,170,312

(754,615) (55,800) - (810,415) 1,303,510 1,359,310

(2,705,460) (211,819) - (2,917,279) 4,562,732 4,458,167

(2,041,459) (177,709) - (2,219,168) 2,105,236 2,269,620

(491,044) (16,724) - (507,768) 30,506 47,230

(11,334,082) (513,689) - (11,847,771) 37,579,800 37,876,375

(6,989,591) (551,902) 48,712 (7,492,781) 13,395,781 10,138,133

(41,708,660) (2,503,827) 305,959 (43,906,528) 113,312,297 113,014,302

(4,769,389) (620,908) 59,626 (5,330,671) 6,159,443 5,345,309

(11,713,192) (535,882) 93,228 (12,155,846) 30,309,628 28,923,063

(6,391,745) (682,093) 278,054 (6,795,784) 18,039,128 18,261,907

$ (121,422,546) $ (8,046,287) $ 1,316,732 $ (128,152,101) $ 430,536,661 $ 426,044,541
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Schedule 2 - Statement of Operations by Segment

Administration
and finance

General
government
and fiscal
services

Protective
services

Engineering
and public

works
Transit

services
Waste

management
Development

services

Revenues

Taxation $ - $ 28,008,692 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -

Sales of services and regulatory fees 126,718 2,451,091 1,058,288 689,076 681,203 4,305,935 227,723

Government transfers - 8,724,824 384,917 43,692 - - 20,065

Amortization of restricted revenue - 270,662 - 18,159 - - -

Investment income - 823,908 - - - - -

Other revenue 13,601 583,874 975 - - - 2,000

Developer contributions in-kind
related to capital - - - 2,925,102 - - -

Gain/(loss) on disposal of tangible
capital assets - 1,783,264 - (170,509) - - -

Total revenues 140,319 42,646,315 1,444,180 3,505,520 681,203 4,305,935 249,788

Expenses

Amortization - 312,176 150,500 3,943,241 - 230,606 -

Good and services 874,827 (49,053) 9,112,456 529,201 2,736,243 3,795,967 349,514

Grants 399,902 - - 500 - - -

Interest - 694,901 - - - - -

Salaries and benefits 2,997,083 292,270 3,866,901 3,051,741 9,935 187,693 1,661,762

Total expenses 4,271,812 1,250,294 13,129,857 7,524,683 2,746,178 4,214,266 2,011,276

Annual Surplus / (Deficit) $ (4,131,493) $ 41,396,021 $(11,685,677) $ (4,019,163) $ (2,064,975) $ 91,669 $ (1,761,488)
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Parks,
recreation

and cultural
services Library Cemetery Water utility Sewer utility

Forestry
enterprise

Development
Corporation 2014 2013

$ - $ - $ - $ 14,993 $ 45,598 $ - $ - $ 28,069,283 $ 27,578,938

2,211,692 5,179 200,970 5,992,158 4,261,806 4,201,557 - 26,413,396 25,541,436

80,463 - - 9,602 - 76,250 - 9,339,813 3,821,395

2,552 - - 455,037 262,901 - - 1,009,311 2,237,002

- - - 223,180 262,350 - 10,668 1,320,106 855,635

42,347 1,276,682 17,451 26,268 105,362 - - 2,068,560 1,819,906

- - - 598,866 195,618 - - 3,719,586 3,184,347

(7,156) - - (78,239) (86) - - 1,527,274 (995,632)

2,329,898 1,281,861 218,421 7,241,865 5,133,549 4,277,807 10,668 73,467,329 64,043,027

1,080,172 - 3,346 1,217,975 1,065,591 42,680 - 8,046,287 7,936,834

1,773,372 1,347,505 88,484 1,967,648 1,932,074 3,560,902 5,970 28,025,110 26,725,651

- - - - - - - 400,402 374,595

- - - 26,020 65,446 2,930 - 789,297 1,069,443

3,820,841 20,584 164,828 639,131 515,080 535,831 16,667 17,780,347 17,895,939

6,674,385 1,368,089 256,658 3,850,774 3,578,191 4,142,343 22,637 55,041,443 54,002,462

$ (4,344,487) $ (86,228) $ (38,237) $ 3,391,091 $ 1,555,358 $ 135,464 $ (11,969) $ 18,425,886 $ 10,040,565
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Schedule 3 - Long-Term Debt

Debt Issue #
Year

Issued Purpose
Year of
Maturity

Interest
Rate

Principal
Outstanding 
December 31,

2014

Principal
Outstanding 

December 31,
2013

General Debt

68 1998 Firehall/EOC building 2018 5.550%           $ 483,711 $ 590,594

81 2004 Leisure centre/sports park/water park 2024 4.860%           - 3,665,905

85 2004 Leisure centre/sports park/water park 2024 5.200%           - 1,333,056

95 2005 Leisure centre/sports park/water park 2025 4.170%           1,933,834 2,071,711

99 2006 Leisure centre/sports park/water park 2026 4.430%           4,350,592 4,628,997

Lease 2010 Forestry excavator 2015 2.000%           - 224,187

Subtotal - General 6,768,137 12,514,450

Sewer Utility Debt

Regional Sewer

63 1996 Regional sewer infrastructure 2016 4.000%           - 61,710

71 1999 Regional sewer infrastructure 2019 3.150%           - 531,031

85 2004 Regional sewer infrastructure 2024 4.983%           - 286,341

Subtotal - Sewer Utility - 879,082

Water Utility Debt

Regional Water

85 2004 Regional water infrastructure 2024 4.975%           - 378,690

Subtotal - Water Utility - 378,690

Total Long-Term Debt $ 6,768,137 $ 13,772,222
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Future Payments (Principal & Interest)

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

$ 130,462 $ 130,462 $ 130,462 $ 90,937 $ -

- - - - -

- - - - -

225,845 225,845 225,845 225,845 225,845

490,655 490,655 490,655 490,655 490,655

- - - - -

846,962 846,962 846,962 807,437 716,500

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

$ 846,962 $ 846,962 $ 846,962 $ 807,437 $ 716,500
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Schedule 4 - Internal Debt/Transfers Outstanding

Borrowing Fund Lending Fund Purpose
Year Funds
Advanced

Cedar Valley Drainage DCC General Capital Reserve Fund Detention pond D1 2010

Cedar Valley Drainage DCC Major Capital Reserve Fund Gaudin Creek re-alignment, property
purchase 2011

Cedar Valley Sewer DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Cedar Valley gravity trunk sewer,
forcemain, and pump station 2000-2001

Cedar Valley Sewer Extension DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Cedar Valley local improvement area
sewer extension 2002

Land Sale Reserve Fund General Fund Accumulated Surplus Purchase of 7337 Welton Street 2014

Roads - All Areas DCC Major Capital Reserve Fund Highway 7/Nelson Street intersection
improvements 2011

Regional Sewage Treatment DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Septage receiving station, biosolids
dewatering, #3 trickling filter, biosolids
storage area 2009

Regional Sewage Treatment DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Stage 7 upgrades and digester gas
upgrades 2010

Regional Sewage Treatment DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Headworks upgrade, transformer
installation 2011

Regional Water Supply DCC Water Capital Reserve Fund Norrish Creek intake works, Gladwin
transmission main 2011

Regional Water Supply DCC Water Capital Reserve Fund Gladwin transmission main 2012

Silverdale Bridge DCC Parkland Reserve Fund Silverdale industrial subdivision bridge 2005

Silverdale Industrial Water DCC Water Capital Reserve Fund Silverdale industrial subdivision water
infrastructure 2006

Silverdale Industrial Sewer DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Silverdale industrial subdivision sewer
infrastructure 2006

Totals

Note: DCC - Development Cost Charge
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Opening
Balance,

December 31,
2013

Advances &
Adjustments Payments

Balance Before
Interest

Interest @
2.19%

Interest
Adjustment

Ending
Balance,

December 31,
2014

$ 200,209 $ - $ - $ 200,209 $ 4,385 $ (4,385) $ 200,209

403,490 - - 403,490 8,836 (8,836) 403,490

1,407,172 - (14,788) 1,392,384 30,655 (30,655) 1,392,384

315,224 - (235) 314,989 6,901 (6,901) 314,989

- 1,925,000 (1,914,434) 10,566 116 - 10,682

270,662 - (270,662) - 2,964 (2,964) -

295,954 - - 295,954 6,481 (6,481) 295,954

110,446 - - 110,446 2,419 (2,419) 110,446

198,255 - - 198,255 4,342 (4,342) 198,255

290,697 - (290,697) - 3,183 (3,183) -

491,555 - (162,392) 329,163 8,987 (8,987) 329,163

784,417 - (17,062) 767,355 16,992 (16,992) 767,355

331,048 - - 331,048 7,250 (7,250) 331,048

138,079 - - 138,079 3,024 (3,024) 138,079

$ 5,237,208 $ 1,925,000 $ (2,670,270) $ 4,491,938 $ 106,535 $ (106,419) $ 4,492,054
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District of Mission

Statement of Changes in Financial Position - Capital Fund

for the year ended December 31, 2014

No financial equity is kept within Capital Funds. 
See Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding capital assets.

 

 

Prepared in accordance with Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, Section 3
27
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District of Mission

Schedule of Debts

for the year ended December 31, 2014

Refer to Schedule 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the schedule of debts.

Prepared pursuant to Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, Section 4
28
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District of Mission

Schedule of Guarantee and Indemnity Agreements

for the year ended December 31, 2014

District of Mission does not have Guarantee and Indemnity Agreements.

Prepared pursuant to Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, Section 5
29
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District of Mission

Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses

for the year ended December 31, 2014 (1) REMUNERATION (2) EXPENSES TOTAL

ELECTED OFFICIALS POSITION
Adlem, Walter (Ted) Mayor 65,156.32$                5,005.98$        70,162.30$          
Hawes, Randy Mayor 4,845.02                    -                   4,845.02              
Alexis, Pam Councillor 1,652.67                    285.00             1,937.67              
Hamilton, Carol Councillor 1,652.67                    285.00             1,937.67              
Hensman, J. David Councillor 22,639.50                  1,234.10          23,873.60            
Hinds, James Councillor 1,652.67                    285.00             1,937.67              
Jewell, P.Jeffery Councillor 22,639.50                  2,112.64          24,752.14            
Luck, Anthony Councillor 22,639.50                  2,928.30          25,567.80            
Nicholson, Rhett Councillor 1,652.67                    285.00             1,937.67              
Nundal, Laurence (Larry) Councillor 22,639.50                  -                   22,639.50            
Plecas, Danny Councillor 1,652.67                    -                   1,652.67              
Stevens, Jenny Councillor 24,288.88                  -                   24,288.88            
Tilbury, Nelson Councillor 22,639.50                  3,535.76          26,175.26            

SUBTOTAL - ELECTED OFFICIALS 215,751.07$              15,956.78$      231,707.85$        

EMPLOYEES POSITION
Bekkering, Kathryn Manager of Human Resources 102,200.53$              750.25$           102,950.78$        
Bjorgaard, Ken Chief Administrative Officer 191,255.72                4,861.23          196,116.95          
Blumenauer, Robert Asset Technician 75,148.66                  398.35             75,547.01            
Boland, Kris Manager of Finance 139,055.15                3,373.28          142,428.43          
Bond, Marcy Senior Planner 87,085.83                  1,477.77          88,563.60            
Boychuk, Ivan Fleet Supervisor 86,757.56                  3,773.30          90,530.86            
Bysouth, Kerry Manager of Parks & Facilities 104,028.16                809.28             104,837.44          
Chan, Sterling Engineering Technologist I 82,058.47                  211.00             82,269.47            
Crawford, Stacey Economic Development Officer 107,019.35                10,832.99        117,852.34          
Douglas, Kelly Fire Fighter 111,927.28                336.39             112,263.67          
Dunham, Matt Operations Manager 118,141.15                315.96             118,457.11          
Fletcher, Sharon Director of Long-Range Planning 83,503.13                  541.07             84,044.20            
Fortier, Andy Mechanic IV 79,920.95                  2,528.07          82,449.02            
Ghafoor, Ibrahim Engineering Technologist - Traffic 85,432.89                  1,933.95          87,366.84            
Gill, Hirod Manager of Engineering, Design & Planning 112,892.89                1,165.51          114,058.40          
Goddard, Mark Fire Fighter 114,930.94                -                   114,930.94          
Grant, Rick Assistant Operations Manager 100,758.42                260.26             101,018.68          
Greene, Shaun IT Project Coordinator 91,942.69                  2,888.33          94,831.02            
Griffith, Tara Fire Fighter 97,090.31                  434.39             97,524.70            
Hargreaves, Kristen Manager of Social Development 110,496.07                1,709.74          112,205.81          
Hawksby, Greg Foreman I - Road & Drainage 79,728.36                  254.75             79,983.11            
Horton, Jason Park/Cemetery Foreman 79,938.05                  2,853.82          82,791.87            
Jackman, Jason Manager of Assets, Infrastructure & Projects 81,650.76                  2,476.20          84,126.96            
Johnson, Daniel Facilities 79,946.62                  -                   79,946.62            
Key, Stephanie Deputy Director of Parks, Recreation & Culture 104,626.08                1,571.06          106,197.14          
Kitsch, Kelly Forestry Technologist 81,034.10                  1,367.06          82,401.16            
Knowles, Chris Manager of Information Services 114,667.77                4,992.87          119,660.64          
Kuzonski, Rick Mechanic 77,285.15                  3,231.31          80,516.46            
Laughlin, Brad Forestry Foreman II 80,108.93                  1,690.78          81,799.71            
Lindgren, Lance Water/Sewer Operator 82,305.31                  429.98             82,735.29            

PAGE SUBTOTAL 2,942,937.28$           57,468.95$      3,000,406.23$     
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MacKay, Gina Manager of Long Range Planning & Special Projects 88,363.56                  3,374.76          91,738.32            
MacLeod, Norman G. Fire Captain 126,139.80                968.21             127,108.01          
McColl, Terry Utilities Relief Foreman 75,972.75                  668.98             76,641.73            
McGinn, Leslie "Sean" Acting Project Engineer 130,094.23                -                   130,094.23          
Meier, Jennifer Environmental Coordinator 81,886.76                  1,947.27          83,834.03            
Odenbach, Blaine T Fire Captain 123,555.38                878.06             124,433.44          
O'Neal, Robert Director of Forest Management 130,710.42                1,170.17          131,880.59          
Onken, Kerri Deputy Treasurer/Collector 111,852.69                2,789.22          114,641.91          
Pearson, Jason Water/Sewer Mechanic 75,768.86                  2,910.99          78,679.85            
Rohde, Michael Senior Building Inspector 99,613.74                  1,632.04          101,245.78          
Ross, Scott Manager of Accounting Services 97,381.56                  4,113.34          101,494.90          
Roufosse, Jason Program Coordinator 75,998.54                  419.32             76,417.86            
Russell, Jennifer Deputy Corporate Officer 75,682.23                  3,885.55          79,567.78            
Rychkun, Nicholas Fire Fighter 125,796.00                436.39             126,232.39          
Sawers, Shirley Administrative Clerk / Dispatcher 78,062.80                  1,065.00          79,127.80            
Schmidt, Michael Captain Fire Prevention Officer 82,317.57                  1,873.70          84,191.27            
Shafizadeh, Parissa Planner 76,641.72                  1,552.77          78,194.49            
Sinclair, Maureen Director of Parks, Recreation & Culture 136,467.39                74.76               136,542.15          
Sommer, Dan Manager of Planning 109,026.77                3,118.81          112,145.58          
Taylor, David Fire Fighter 100,018.85                364.64             100,383.49          
Vinnish, Dale Operations Supervisor 101,790.93                182.97             101,973.90          
Wallace, Twyls Mechanic 76,535.21                  1,181.54          77,716.75            
Watkinson, Larry Fire Chief 125,779.19                6,646.81          132,426.00          
Watson, Brent Crew Supervisor - Utilities 76,783.27                  779.70             77,562.97            
Wunderlich, Janice Foreman I 81,107.98                  561.99             81,669.97            
Younie, Mike Director of Development Services 141,731.07                1,187.31          142,918.38          
Ziefflie, Brent Fire Fighter 93,588.86                  336.39             93,925.25            

PAGE SUBTOTAL 2,698,668.13$           44,120.69$      2,742,788.82$     

Subtotal - employees with remuneration and expenses exceeding $75,000 5,641,605.41$           101,589.64$    5,743,195.05$     

9,935,184.32$           27,491.30$      9,962,675.62$     
SUBTOTAL - EMPLOYEES 15,576,789.73$         129,080.94$    15,705,870.67$   

     
GRAND TOTAL - ELECTED OFFICIALS & EMPLOYEES 15,792,540.80$         145,037.72$    15,937,578.52$   

(1)

(2)

Prepared pursuant to the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, Section 6
31

Consolidated total - employees whose remuneration is $75,000 or less

Includes any form of salary, wage, gratuities and taxable benefits, including applicable vehicle allowances paid to the employee or on 
behalf of the employee.

Includes travel expenses, memberships, tuition, relocation, vehicle reimbursements, and registration fees paid directly to an employee 
or to a third party on behalf of an employee.

The variance between the remuneration schedule and the salaries and benefits reported in the consolidated financial statements of the 
District are attributable to a number of factors, including that the remuneration schedule is based on actual payments made during the year, 
while the financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis. 
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District of Mission

Statement of Severance Agreements

for the year ended December 31, 2014

There were no severance agreements made between the District of Mission and its
non-unionized employees during the fiscal year 2014.  

 

Prepared pursuant to the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, Section 6
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District of Mission

Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services
Excludes transfers to other taxing authorities and organizations

for the year ended December 31, 2014

AGGREGATE 
AMOUNT PAID TO 

SUPPLIER

AGGREGATE PAYMENTS EXCEEDING $25,000
0995227 BC LTD 47,989.57$          
410374 B.C. LTD. 88,469.74            
ABBOTSFORD COMMUNITY SERVICES 226,536.63          
ALBANESE, GINA-MARIE 55,276.12            
ANDERSON, BRIAN 48,963.35            
BC HYDRO - MASTER BILLING 712,669.61          
BC TRANSIT 1,548,274.96       
BIG BOARD MARKETING INC. 38,791.39            
BLACK PRESS GROUP LTD 60,609.82            
BUILDWORKS CONSTRUCTION INC. 236,509.72          
CAMBIE ROOFING AND DRAINAGE LTD. 48,053.25            
CAMPBELL SCIENTIFIC CANADA CORP 30,763.49            
CAPITAL FORD (1985) LTD. 49,954.24            
CEL-COM SYSTEMS LTD. 53,899.67            
CENTRAL VALLEY TREE SERVICE LTD 97,542.45            
CHEVRON CANADA LTD 789,603.93          
CITY OF ABBOTSFORD 3,673,001.75       
CITY OF ABBOTSFORD FIRE RESCUE SERVICE 29,663.50            
CLEARTECH INDUSTRIES INC. 27,831.09            
CMAC CONCRETE 72,827.94            
COBRA ELECTRIC LTD 55,427.94            
CONESTOGA-ROVERS & ASSOCIATES LTD 34,527.53            
CORAL ENGINEERING LIMITED 697,223.36          
CORIX WATER PRODUCTS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 276,497.23          
CRA CONTRACTORS LTD. 48,708.67            
DACON EQUIPMENT LTD. 248,606.25          
DAVIES SAND & GRAVEL LTD. 283,697.56          
DOUGNESS HOLDING LTD. c/o BILL CAMERON 57,891.85            
DTM SYSTEMS CORPORATION 135,871.72          
DUBAS MANAGEMENT & CONSTRUCTION INC. 78,303.75            
E LEES & ASSOCIATES CONSULTING LTD. 41,553.23            
ECHOLOGICS ENGINEERING 191,623.00          
EMCO CORPORATION 105,329.28          
ENVISION INSURANCE SERVICES LTD 170,047.27          
ESC AUTOMATION INC 81,952.65            
FINNING (CANADA) - CREDIT DEPARTMENT 26,605.54            
FIRST CLASS WASTE SERVICES INC 26,010.60            
FORTISBC - NATURAL GAS 105,324.62          
FRASER VALLEY ACE HARDWARE 39,202.79            
FRASER VALLEY AGGREGATES (2014) LTD. 43,726.30            
FRASER VALLEY FIRE PROTECTION LTD 27,225.18            

Page Subtotal 10,712,588.54$   

Prepared pursuant to the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, Section 7
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District of Mission

Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services (continued)
Excludes transfers to other taxing authorities and organizations

for the year ended December 31, 2014

AGGREGATE 
AMOUNT PAID TO 

SUPPLIER

AGGREGATE PAYMENTS EXCEEDING $25,000
FRASER VALLEY REFRIGERATION LTD. 41,004.83$           
FRASER VALLEY REGIONAL DISTRICT 2,626,612.51        
FRASER VALLEY REGIONAL LIBRARY 1,276,682.00        
GARY MOSER CONSULTING INC. 41,362.02             
GBF TECHNICAL FOREST SERVICES LTD. 40,342.68             
GILL, GURCHARAN & GILL, BALKINDER 41,000.00             
GLENCO ELECTRIC LTD. 317,277.17           
GRANDVIEW BLACKTOP LTD 455,532.16           
GROUPHEALTH GLOBAL - TRUST 1,075,085.88        
H & C LOGGING LTD. 1,268,071.20        
IMPERIAL PAVING LIMITED 1,944,478.12        
ISL ENGINEERING AND LAND SERVICES 44,721.10             
L I T AQUATICS LTD. 41,456.00             
LONG VIEW SYSTEMS 34,885.57             
LORDCO PARTS LTD. 85,642.77             
MAINROAD MAINTENANCE PRODUCTS 77,212.80             
MAKO HOLDINGS 105,445.11           
METRO MOTORS LTD 48,934.31             
MIL-KAI INVESTMENTS LTD 26,940.38             
MILLS PRINTING & STATIONERY CO. LTD. 38,159.73             
MINISTER OF FINANCE 393,506.28           
MINISTER OF FINANCE & CORP. RELATIONS 33,685.46             
MISSION 2014 BC WINTER GAMES SOCIETY 93,572.83             
MISSION ANIMAL CONTROL SERVICE 306,002.79           
MISSION CONTRACTORS LTD. 370,282.34           
MISSION HERITAGE ASSOCIATION 155,252.23           
MISSION ISSHINRYU KARATE 29,598.94             
MISSION REGIONAL CHAMBER OF COMMERCE 83,716.00             
MISSION SKATING CLUB 42,356.69             
MUNICIPAL FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BC 4,885,667.94        
MUNICIPAL INSURANCE ASSOCIATION OF B.C. 327,517.99           
MUNICIPAL PENSION PLAN 1,261,703.88        
NETWORK PAPER AND PACKAGING LTD 36,377.16             
NEW WEST GYPSUM RECYCLING (B.C.) INC. 38,043.18             
NEWALTA CORPORATION 25,492.79             
NORTHVIEW ENTERPRISES LTD. 341,625.46           
ONSITE ENGINEERING LTD. 44,435.56             

Page Subtotal 18,099,683.86$    

Prepared pursuant to the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, Section 7
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District of Mission

Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services (continued)
Excludes transfers to other taxing authorities and organizations

for the year ended December 31, 2014

AGGREGATE 
AMOUNT PAID TO 

SUPPLIER

AGGREGATE PAYMENTS EXCEEDING $25,000
PAYMENTECH 31,657.27$           
PENNEY, TINA 96,307.71             
PEOPLE FIRST SOLUTIONS 39,548.25             
PHIL'S JANITOR SERVICE 76,609.19             
POWER FLAGGING & TRAFFIC CONTROL INC. 38,227.89             
PRT - COASTAL BC 51,823.68             
R CASTLE AND SONS LTD 94,555.13             
RAINFOREST SILVICULTURE SERVICES LTD. 40,786.66             
RDM LAWYERS LLP 1,912,397.47        
RECEIVER GENERAL FOR CANADA 790,593.70           
RECEIVER GENERAL FOR CANADA - RCMP COMM. 7,615,221.50        
REMPLE DISPOSAL LTD. 1,712,973.46        
RICOH CANADA INC. 144,798.88           
ROB BARRS & ASSOCIATES 33,946.56             
ROCKY MOUNTAIN PHOENIX 146,008.29           
ROGERS WIRELESS 49,941.65             
S S G  HOLDINGS LTD. 597,336.88           
SAFETEK EMERGENCY VEHICLES LTD. 51,045.19             
SCHOOL DISTRICT #75 - MISSION 121,402.45           
SCOTT RESOURCE SERVICES INC. 31,399.75             
SFE GLOBAL LTD. 55,859.27             
SHARP & DIAMOND LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE 38,723.38             
SHELL ENERGY NORTH AMERICA (CANADA)INC. 105,741.26           
SOUTH COAST BC TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 907,597.94           
STEWART MCDANNOLD STUART 54,019.78             
SUCCESS PROPERTIES LTD. 65,700.00             
SUTTON ROAD MARKING LTD. 40,881.17             
TELUS COMMUNICATIONS (B.C.) INC. 104,890.62           
TELUS SERVICES INC. 47,105.55             
TEMPLE CONSULTING GROUP LTD. - TCG 30,177.72             
TOOR, GARY 28,400.00             
TRAFFIC KING ENTERPRISES LTD. 51,945.94             
TRANSWOOD TIMBER LTD 43,517.33             
UNITED DEFENSE SECURITY LTD. 48,626.84             
VALLEY WEST BUILDERS 64,219.96             
VANTAGE CONTRACTING LTD. 40,488.34             
VIATCHESLAV, ZVEREV 40,170.96             

Page Subtotal 15,444,647.62$    

Prepared pursuant to the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, Section 7
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District of Mission

Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services (continued)
Excludes transfers to other taxing authorities and organizations

for the year ended December 31, 2014

AGGREGATE 
AMOUNT PAID TO 

SUPPLIER

AGGREGATE PAYMENTS EXCEEDING $25,000
W J MURPHY CONTRACTING 2013 LTD. 93,622.08$             
W J WINDEBANK LTD. 54,115.87               
WESTERN EXPLOSIVES LTD. 172,642.83             
WILLIS CANADA VANCOUVER 115,836.00             
WOLSELEY WATERWORKS GROUP-BC REGION 189,649.34             
WOMEN'S RESOURCE SOCIETY 35,997.50               
WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD OF B.C. 364,421.38             

Page Subtotal 1,026,285.00$        

Grand Total - Aggregate Payments exceeding $25,000 45,283,205.02$      

CONSOLIDATED TOTAL PAID TO SUPPLIERS WHO RECEIVED AGGREGATE
PAYMENTS OF $25,000 OR LESS

-Paid by District of Mission 4,149,413.23$        
-Paid by District of Mission Development Corporation 237,861.86             
 Subtotal 4,387,275.09$        

CONSOLIDATED TOTAL PAID TO SUPPLIERS FOR GRANTS & CONTRIBUTIONS 419,044.22$           

TOTAL PAYMENTS MADE FOR THE PROVISION OF GOODS AND SERVICES 50,089,524.33$      

Prepared pursuant to the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, Section 7

36

The District prepares the Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services based on actual disbursements through the 
accounts payable system, which is on a cash basis. Therefore, this figure will differ significantly from the expenses 
reported on an accrual basis in the consolidated financial statements. There are also a number of disbursements 
that are not considered expenses, including payments for the acquisition of tangible capital assets.
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Finance Department 

Staff Report to Council 

 Page 1 of 1  

File Category: LGMA Finance 
File Folder: 1855-20 

DATE:    June 15, 2015 

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM: Kris Boland, Manager of Finance 
SUBJECT:  2014 Traffic Fine Revenue Reporting 
ATTACHMENTS: Appendix A – 2014 Strategic Community Investment Funds Plan and Progress Report 
 

This report is provided to satisfy the reporting requirements of the Strategic Community Investment Funds 
Agreement.  This report is provided for information purposes only.  No staff recommendation accompanies 
this report and Council action is not required.  

PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this report is to satisfy the reporting requirements of the Strategic Community Investment 
Funds Agreement.  

DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:  
The Strategic Community Investment Funds Agreement with the Province of British Columbia required the 
District to develop a plan that sets out the intended uses and performance targets for traffic fine revenue 
sharing grants received from 2012 through 2014, and to report publicly on the plan by June 30th each year.  

The District’s plan encompasses using the entire amount of traffic fine revenue to enhance and support 
police operations, and thus these funds are entirely directed to the RCMP operating budget. This treatment 
is consistent with how the District has used traffic fine revenue grants over the past number of years. The 
attached Appendix A reflects on the use of funds in 2014. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
There are no financial implications directly associated with this report. The $349,292 of traffic fine revenue 
sharing grants received during 2014 were directed to the 2014 RCMP operating budget, to offset the cost of 
local police enforcement.  

COMMUNICATION: 
No further communication action is required beyond reporting on this public agenda. 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:  
In accordance with the requirements of the Strategic Community Investment Funds Agreement, this report is 
provided to the public regarding the use of traffic fine revenue sharing grants in 2014. 

 
 
Kris Boland, Manager of Finance 

 
 
Reviewed by:  
Rogine Battel, Manager, RCMP Administration 

 

Comment from the Interim Chief Administrative Officer: 
Reviewed 
g:\finance\rcmp\traffic fine revenue sharing grant\traffic fine reporting for 2014.docx 
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APPENDIX A 
Strategic Community Investment Funds Plan and Progress Report 

 
(1) SCI Funds received or anticipated:  Payments under the small community, regional 

district and traffic fine revenue sharing portions of the Strategic Community Investment 
Funds (SCI Funds) will be set out separately in the local government’s SCI Funds Agreement. 

 
Strategic 

Community 
Investment 

Funds 

Use Date Amount 

SC Grants local government services March 2014 N/A 
June 2014 N/A 

RD Grants local government services March 2014 N/A 
June 2014 N/A 

TFRS Grants Defray the cost of local police 
enforcement 

March 2014 N/A 
June 2014 $349,292 

 
(2) SCI Funds intended use, performance targets and progress made: 
 

Small Community or Regional District Portion of the SCI Funds 

Intended Use Performance 
Targets 

Progress made in reporting period  
(by June 30, 2015) 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
Traffic Fine Revenue Sharing Portion of the SCI Funds 

Intended Use Performance 
Targets 

Progress made in reporting period  
(by June 30, 2015) 

Use funding to support police 
operations. 
 

100% of Funds 
are used to 
support police 
operations over 
the term of the 
SCI Agreement. 

• 100% of the TFRS SCI Funds were directed to 
the police operating budget. 

 

 
 
(3) Report Date:  2015-05-25 

Reports must be made by June 30th in each year of the SCIF Agreement. 
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Finance Department 

Staff Report to Council 

 Page 1 of 2  

File Category: LGMA Finance  
File Folder: 0360-06 

DATE:   June 15, 2015 

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM: Scott Ross, Manager of Accounting Services 

SUBJECT:  Abbotsford Mission Recycling Depot 2015 Financial Update 
ATTACHMENTS: Appendix A: Joint Shared Services Committee Report from City of 

Abbotsford 
 

This report will bring Council and the public up-to-date on the Abbotsford Mission Recycling Depot 
2015 First Quarter Costs and 2015 Year End Forecast Projection. This report is provided for 
information purposes only.  No staff recommendation accompanies this report and Council action is 
not required. 

PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with an update to the Abbotsford Mission Recycling 
Depot (AMRD) 2015 First Quarter Costs and a 2015 Year End Forecast Projection. 

BACKGROUND: 
As part of the Joint Shared Services Committee (JSSC) mandate, it oversees the District of Mission 
and City of Abbotsford’s recycling operations.  A report from the City of Abbotsford’s staff advising the 
committee about the expected net increase to the AMRD operations was on the May 7, 2015 JSSC 
agenda (Appendix A: “Joint Shared Services Committee Report”).  This report discusses what 
measures AMRD, the City of Abbotsford, and the District of Mission staff are investigating in order to 
help reverse some of these unfavorable conditions which have lowered revenues and increased 
operational costs. 

DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:  

As detailed in Appendix A, staff have advised the committee that the following conditions were 
observed during the first quarter of 2015: 

1. Low commodity values lowering revenues; 

2. Increased operating costs due to additional sorting required to achieve market quality 
requirements; 

3. Higher garbage disposal costs resulting from increased sorting to remove contamination; and 

4. Processing and disposal of backlogged material, including recycling collected in 2014 but not 
processed due to the lack of availability of facility in early 2014. 
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 STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL Page 2 of 2  

The first three conditions may continue for the remainder of the year, with the fourth condition 
eliminated by mid-year.  Assuming the first three conditions continue until the end of the year, District 
of Mission’s portion of the net cost for the AMRD service is projected to be 66% over budget.  This 
impact is projected to yield a net cost of $255,800 versus the original 2015 budget of $154,552, which 
would be the equivalent of an approximate 7% increase in the recycling/composting utility flat-rate fee 
charged to the District of Mission residents. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
District of Mission’s portion of the AMRD operations for the 2015 first quarter yielded a net cost of 
$65,519 compared to a budgeted net cost of $38,638.  This results in an unfavorable budget variance 
of $26,881.   

Assuming commodity values decrease resulting in lower revenues and operational costs continue to 
increase, staff are forecasting an additional $101,248 net increase to Mission’s existing budget of 
$154,552 for 2015. 

COMMUNICATION: 
No communication action is required. 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:  
District of Mission’s portion of the AMRD operations for the 2015 first quarter yielded a net cost of 
$65,519 compared to a budgeted net cost of $38,638.  This results in an unfavorable budget variance 
of $26,881.   

The increased net cost is due to the following conditions: 

1. Low commodity values lowering revenues; 

2. Increased operating costs due to additional sorting required to achieve market quality 
requirements; 

3. Higher garbage disposal costs resulting from increased sorting to remove contamination; and 

4. Processing and disposal of backlogged material, including recycling collected in 2014 but not 
processed due to the lack of availability of facility in early 2014. 

The first three conditions may continue for the remainder of the year, with the fourth condition 
eliminated by mid-year.  Assuming the first three conditions continue until the end of the year, District 
of Mission’s portion of the net cost for the AMRD service is projected to be 66% over budget.  This 
impact is projected to yield a net cost of $255,800 versus the original 2015 budget of $154,552, which 
would be the equivalent of an approximate 7% increase in the recycling/composting utility flat-rate fee 
charged to the District of Mission residents. 

SIGN-OFFS:  
 

 
Scott Ross, Manager of Accounting Services 

Reviewed by:  
Tracy Kyle, Director of Engineering and Public 
Works 

Comments from the Chief Administrative Officer: 
g:\finance\cow\2015\0615 jun 15\june 15th - abbotsford mission recycling depot 2015 financial update.docx 
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Corporate Administration 

Staff Report to Council 

STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL Page 1 of 2  

 

DATE:   June 15, 2015 

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM: Michael Boronowski Manager, Civic Engagement & Corporate Initiatives 

SUBJECT:  Council Goals and Objectives 
ATTACHMENT(S): Appendix A, Council Goals and Objectives, June 1, 2015  

 

This report provides the Council Goals and Objectives Document dated June 1, 2015 for the public 
and is provided for information purposes only. No staff recommendation accompanies this report and 
Council action is not required 

PURPOSE: 
This report provides the Council Goals and Objectives dated June 1, 2015, as released to the public. 

BACKGROUND: 
The Council goals and objectives as presented in Appendix A were developed over the course of 
several strategic planning sessions with Council and through review and a planning meeting with 
senior staff. 

DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:  
Pillars 

The document presents goals and objectives across the following pillars: 

• Lifestyle 
• Financial Objectives 
• Forestry 
• Public Safety 
• Infrastructure 
• Social Issues 
• sustainability 
• Economic Development 

Living Document 

It is important to note that Council has frequently reinforced that this document, while presenting their goals and 
objectives as of June 1, 2015, will be a living document that will evolve as goals and objectives are reached and 
as new priorities and issues arise. It does provide clear guidance for staff on Council priorities, and allows for 
some flexibility to respond to emerging issues and opportunities. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
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There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

COMMUNICATION: 
The document as provided in Appendix A has been published to mission.ca and distributed to the 
media. No additional communication action is required. 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:  
This report provides the Council Goals and Objectives dated June 1, 2015, as released to the public. 
No recommendation accompanies this report and no further action is required. 

SIGN-OFFS:  

 

Michael Boronowski, Manager, Civic 
Engagement & Corporate Initiatives 

 

 
Comment from Chief Administrative Officer 
Reviewed. 
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June 1, 2015 2 

Lifestyle 

Goal 

Increased and enhanced recreation and lifestyle opportunities. 

 

Objective Lead Timeline 

 
Implement Stave West Master Plan Implementation Team – forming 

during first 60 days. 
4 years - 
ongoing 

New skate park Parks, Recreation & Culture 1 – 2 years 

Artificial turf field and running track Parks, Recreation & Culture 1 – 2 years 

Work with MPSD to develop community centres in 
schools 

Council, Parks, Recreation & Culture 18 months – 2 
years 

Master plan for parks & trails - including dykes and 
reinvigorated Experience the Fraser 

Parks, Recreation & Culture, 
Planning, Forestry, Economic 
Development 

Begin with OCP 
– 12 – 18 
months 

Rationalize (equitable & fair process) fee for service, 
grants applications and tax exemptions 

Corporate Admin 3 months (fall 
2015 
completion) 

Acquire post office and consult on use Economic Development, Planning 1 year (2016 
completion) 

Encourage public art that is relevant to the 
community 

Parks, Recreation & Culture, Civic 
Engagement, Council 

To be 
determined  

Establish a program to celebrate and recognize 
intellectual and artistic merit 

Council, Cultural Resources 
Commission 

3 years 

Expand space and programming for youth Youth Engagement Committee, 
Parks, Recreation & Council 

4 years 
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Financial Objectives 

Goal 

Financial sustainability through diversified & optimized revenue, clearly communicated. 

Objective Lead Timeline 

 
Establish West Coast Express and transit to Maple 
Ridge as regional service 

CAO, Council  1 year 

Increase non-residential tax revenue Economic Development, Economic 
Development Committee, Council 

 To be 
determined 

Establish a fair and consistent utility billing program 
related to secondary suites  

Planning Immediate - 
ongoing 

Generate revenue through enforcement related to soil 
deposit 

Planning To be 
determined 

Keep tax increases in-line with the Vancouver 
Consumer Price Index (all-items, annual) 

Council Ongoing 

Review business license fees and connect to the 
costs they generate within the community 

Planning, Finance  Short-term – 1 
year 
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June 1, 2015 4 

Forestry 

Goal 

Optimize return on investment. 

Objective Lead Timeline 

 
Optimize return on investment in the tree farm 
license / forest enterprise 

Council, Forestry September 2015 
- ongoing 

 
  

187



June 1, 2015 5 

Public Safety 

Goal 

Ensure a safe environment for all citizens. 

Objective Lead Timeline 

 
Address safety concerns related to grow-ops Planning, RCMP, Fire/Rescue 1 Year - ongoing 

Work with RCMP and bylaws to address frequent 
offenders and aggressive individuals  

RCMP, Planning Immediate - 
ongoing 

Hire more officers - continue to deliver on priority of 
enhanced safety 

Council Ongoing 

Establish a coordinated approach to communications 
on community safety 

RCMP, Civic Engagement Ongoing 

Get improved ambulance response times Council, CAO, Fire Chief, FVRD Immediate  
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June 1, 2015 6 

Infrastructure 

Goal 

Ensure ongoing maintenance and optimize use. 

Objective Lead Timeline 
Create a strategy for waterfront development Planning, Economic Development, 

Engineering 
1 year 

Establish drainage-reserve account to support 
ongoing inspection 

Finance, Engineering 2 years 

Understand slope-stability risk and exposure Engineering 2 years for initial 
review 
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June 1, 2015 7 

Social Issues 

Goal 

Support excellent quality of life for citizens. 

 

 

Objective Lead Timeline 
Maintain and improve level of health services  Social Development, CAO, Council Ongoing 

Ensure no charge for parking at the hospital Council, CAO 1 – 2 years 

Establish a good neighbour bylaw Planning Immediate 

Investigate improved access to activities for disabled 
individuals or special needs adults 

Social Development, Parks, 
Recreation & Culture 

6 months 

Investigate opportunities for housing rentals for those 
who are at need / vulnerable 

Planning, Social Development 6 months 

explore integrating age-in-place best practices into 
building standards and promote seniors (55+) 
housing in Mission 

Planning Short-term 

Explore options and strategies with the goal of 
reducing homelessness in Mission 

Social Development Immediate – 
ongoing 

190



June 1, 2015 8 

Sustainability 
Integrate sustainability into planning and operations. 

Objective Lead Timeline 

 
Integrate sustainability concepts and best practices 
across planning and operations 

CAO & Department Heads Ongoing 
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June 1, 2015 9 

Economic Development 

Goal 

Increase investment and economic development. 

Objective Lead Timeline 
Expand available industrial zoned land base Council, Economic Development Immediate 

Develop a Service-focused strategy to enhance 
reputation to attract business investment and 
retention 

Economic Development, Economic 
Development Committee, Civic 
Engagement 

Initiate in 3 
months 

Explore expanding film industry in Mission Council, Industry experts 1 year 

Develop a strategy to promote lifestyle as part of 
business and tourism attraction / development 

Economic Development, Economic 
Development Committee, Civic 
Engagement, Parks, Recreation & 
Culture 

To be 
determined - 
Ongoing 

Develop tourism forum with industry experts and 
operators 

Economic Development, Economic 
Development Committee, Civic 
Engagement 

To be 
determined 

develop greenfield site inventory  Economic Development, Economic 
Development Committee, Planning 

To be 
determined 

Develop a business retention and expansion strategy 
including tour and interface with council 

Economic Development, Economic 
Development Committee, Council 

Council 
schedule by July 
2015 

Identify properties and strategy to support multi-unit 
housing for seniors to attract developers 

Economic Development, Planning 3-months – 
report on status 

Explore micro-housing Planning To be 
determined 

Encourage expanded educational opportunities for 
skills training leading to employment 

Economic Development, Council To be 
determined 

Continue to develop relationship with UFV Economic Development, CAO, 
Council 

Ongoing 
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File Category: 06-Finance 
File Folder: 1700-02 

DATE:   June 15, 2015 

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM: Kerri Onken, Deputy Treasurer/Collector 

SUBJECT:  Proposed 2016 Budget Schedule 
ATTACHMENT(S): Appendix “A” – Proposed 2016 Budget Schedule 

RECOMMENDATION(S): Council consider and resolve:  

That the proposed 2016 budget schedule be approved, as attached as Appendix “A” to the report 
dated June 15, 2015 from the Deputy Treasurer/Collector, in order to adopt the District’s 2016-2020 
Financial Plan/Budget by the end of 2015. 

PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this report is to seek Council’s approval for the proposed 2016 Budget Schedule. 

BACKGROUND: 
Planning and scheduling of staff’s time to review and update the budget, as well as scheduling 
meetings for Council to discuss the budget and to allow for public consultation, is required for the 
annual 2016 operating and capital budget to be ready for Council’s approval in mid-December 2015.   

DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:  

The proposed 2016 budget schedule starts in September 2015 with the operating budget discussions.  
The attached Appendix A shows a summary of the meetings and dates on page one, then a detailed 
list with expected outcomes and comments on page two and three, with a monthly summary on page 
four.  Department Heads and/or Managers will be scheduled to attend the budget discussion 
meetings with Council, to be available to clarify or provide additional information where required.   

Staff have listed the proposed Council Meeting schedule for consideration and discussion below.  
These meetings will be Free Standing Committee of the Whole – Corporate Services Budget (CSB) 
and will be held on Wednesday afternoons except where otherwise noted. 

• September 9: provisional operating budget discussions (first meeting) 

• September 16: capital budget discussions 

• September 30: provisional operating budget discussions (second meeting) 

• October 14: municipal utilities budget discussions  
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• October 21: provisional operating budget discussions (third meeting)  

• November 2:  Public Community Budget Consultation meeting (Regular Council meeting, 
starting at 7 pm) 

• November 18: final 2016 budget discussions  

• December 21: first three readings of the 2016-2020 Financial Plan bylaw, Regular Council.  

• December 23 (special meeting) (or January 4, 2016 Regular Council): final adoption of the 
2016-2020 Financial Plan bylaw   

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

COMMUNICATION: 
In advance of the initial budget meeting, the Manager of Civic Engagement and Finance will 
collaborate to develop and conduct multiple mini-surveys to gauge public opinion on key topics for 
Council.  These will consist of single-question surveys delivered electronically each Monday, with two-
question compendium surveys delivered through the city page providing an opportunity for public who 
prefer paper-based input to engage.  A report summarizing the results will be brought to the first 
budget meeting. 

The Community Budget Consultation document will be available prior to the community budget 
consultation meeting in order to inform stakeholders about the proposed budget in advance of the 
public consultation process.   

The Freestanding Committee of the Whole – Corporate Services Budget meetings would be held on 
Wednesdays in the Council Chambers, are open to the public and will be webcast for those interested 
parties to view.  These budget meetings will be advertised on the City Page, as well as on the 
District’s website. 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:  
Staff are seeking Council’s approval for the proposed 2016 budget schedule in order to review and 
update the 2016 budget so that the 2016-2020 Financial Plan bylaw can be adopted by the end of 
2015.   

SIGN-OFFS:  

 

 
Kerri Onken, Deputy Treasurer/Collector 

 
Reviewed by:  
Scott Ross, Manager of Accounting Services 

Comment from the Interim Chief Administrative Officer:  

Reviewed 
G:\FINANCE\BUDGET\Budget 2016\Memo 2016 budget schedule 150615.docx 
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Proposed 2016 BUDGET SCHEDULE 

G:\FINANCE\COW\2015\0615 Jun 15\Memo 2016 budget schedule 150615.docx 3 

 

 
 
 
Council Meetings 

Operating #1    September 9, 2015 
Capital     September 16, 2015 
Operating #2    September 30, 2015 
Utilities     October 14, 2015 
Operating #3    October 21, 2015 
Public Consultation   November 2, 2015 
Budget Final    November 18, 2015 
Financial Plan Bylaw   December 21, 2015 – first 3 readings 
Financial Plan Bylaw   December 23, 2015 – special meeting to adopt 
   (Bylaw could be adopted January 4, 2016 to avoid a special meeting) 

 
Department Meetings 

Operating Preliminary   June 24, 2015 - special department meeting 
Capital Preliminary   June 24, 2015 – for both Capital and Operating  
Budget open from    June 25 to August 3, 2015 – almost 6 weeks 
Operating Spending Packages  August  20, 2015 - Prioritize packages 
Capital Unfunded List   August 20, 2015 - Prioritize unfunded list 

 
2015 Budget Review 

Summer budget review   Due July 17, 2015 from departments, Report to Council August 17, 2015  
Fall budget Review   Due Oct 16, 2015 from departments, Report to Council November 16, 2015 
Year-end budget review   Due January 21, 2016 from departments, Report to Council February 2016 
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EVENT/TASK DATES EXPECTED OUTCOMES COMMENTS 

Preliminary operating budget discussions followed by 
preliminary capital budget discussion. 

Special Dept. Head Meeting  
Wednesday, June 24, 2015 

8:30 – 11:30 

Department Heads to discuss operational 
status and capital priorities and projects 
towards Council’s goals and objectives. 

Council’s objective to keep tax increase 
to Vancouver CPI and to adopt the 
financial plan by December 31, 2015. 

2016 budget is open for departments to begin work. 
June 25 – August 3, 2015 

Departments to work on their 2016 
operating budgets. 

Operating budget in MAIS will be 
locked August 4.   

Summer Budget Review (Q2). Due from Departments: 
 July 17, 2015 

REPORT -Regular Council 
Meeting  

August 17, 2015 

Departments prepare first budget review 
and service levels on 2015 budget. 

Information sent to departments 
June 25, 2015 

Final review of operating budget and unfunded capital 
budget by departments and CAO. 

Special Dept. Head Meeting  
Thursday, August 20, 2015 

8:30 – 12:00 

Department head meeting to discuss 
operating budget and potential spending 
packages and to prioritize the capital 
unfunded list. 

In preparation of operating budgets 
being presented to Council on Sept 9th 
and Capital budget being presented 
Sept 16th. 

Council discussion of provisional budget (1st meeting). Committee of the Whole 
Council Meeting (CSB)  

Wednesday, September 9, 2015 
1:00 – 5:00 pm 

Introduction of the budget to meet 
Council’s goals. Spending packages 
discussed.  Report on the list of 
unknowns. 

Departments should be present to 
answer questions on spending 
packages. 

Council discussion of capital budget   Committee of the Whole 
Council Meeting (CSB)  

Wednesday, September 16, 2015 

1:00 – 5:00 pm 

Introduction and discussion of capital 
budget and the unfunded capital 
project by Council. 

Departments should be  preent to 
answer questions on unfunded 
capital projects. 

Council discussion of provisional budget (2nd meeting). Committee of the Whole 
Council Meeting (CSB)  

Wednesday, September 30, 2015 

1:00 – 5:00 pm 

Follow-up and refine the operating 
budget to meet Council’s goals. Report 
on the list of unknowns. 

Length of meeting to be determined. 

Fall Budget Review (Q3). Due from Departments: 
October 16, 2015 

REPORT -Regular Council 
Meeting  

November 16, 2015 

Departments prepare second budget 
review and service levels on 2015 
budget. 

Information sent to departments 
September 28, 2015 
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EVENT/TASK DATES EXPECTED OUTCOMES COMMENTS 

Council discussion of Utility Funds budget   Committee of the Whole 
Council Meeting (CSB)  

Wednesday, October 14, 2015 

1:00 – 5:00 pm 

Introduction of Utility Fund operating 
budgets and suggested rate increases. 

 

Council discussion of provisional budget (3rd meeting). Committee of the Whole 
Council Meeting (CSB)  

Wednesday, October 21, 2015 

1:00 – 5:00 pm 

Follow-up and refine the operating and 
capital budget to meet Council’s goals. 
Report on the list of unknowns. 

Last meeting before Public 
Consultation.  Proposed utility and tax 
rates will be discussed.  

Community Budget Consultation. 
Regular Council  

Monday, November 2, 2015 

To inform the public about the 
District’s provisional operating and 
capital budgets and to receive 
feedback.  

Regular Council meeting, first item at 
the evening session. 

Council discussion of provisional budget (4th meeting). Committee of the Whole 
Council Meeting (CSB)  

Wednesday, November 18, 2015 

1:00 – 5:00 pm 

Discussion of input from public 
consultation. Refine the budget to meet 
Council’s goals.  Updates on Utilities, 
Transit, Library etc. 

Length of meeting to be determined. 

First three readings of 2016 – 2020 Financial Plan 
Bylaw.  

Regular Council Meeting  
December 21, 2015 

First three readings given to Financial 
Plan Bylaw. 

 

Adoption of 2016 – 2020 Financial Plan Bylaw. Special Council Meeting  
December 23, 2015 

Financial Plan Bylaw adopted.  

Year-End Budget Review (Q4).  Due from Departments: 
January 21, 2016. 

REPORT - Regular Council 
Meeting  

February 15, 2016 

Departments prepare preliminary year-
end report on 2015 budget. 

Information sent to departments 
January 4, 2016. 
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June 
2015 

July August September October November December January 
2016 

Summer Budget Review Fall Budget Review Year-end Budget Review 

Budget document 
released end of October 

Public consultation 
Receive feedback  

First 3 Readings 
Adoption of Bylaw 

Departments 
Budgeting 

Budget  
Review 

Public 
Documents 

Meeting with 
Council 

Workshop with staff on 
2016 Operating  and 

Capital Budget 

Departments  update 
2016 Operating and 

Capital Budget 

Departments and CAO 
review Operating  and 

Capital Budget 

Presentation of Operating 
and Capital Budget 

Presentation of Utility Fund 
Budgets and prepare for 

Public Consultation 
Finalize Budget after Public 

Consultation 
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P.O.  Box  20 ,    8645  S tave  Lake St reet ,    M iss ion ,  B.C.   V2V 4L9 
Phone (604) 820-3717  Fax (604) 826-1363  &  (604) 820-3715  Web Site:  www.mission.ca   E-mail: tax@mission.ca 

 
 
 

F I N A N C E  D E P A R T M E N T  
 

 

FILE: 05 FINANCE 
1715-20-55 
 
 
 
June 16, 2015 

 
 
Mr. Clayton Pecknold 
Assistant Deputy Minister and Director of Police Services 
Ministry of Justice 
P.O. Box 9285 Stn Prov Govt 
Victoria, B.C.   V8W 9J7 
 
 
 
Dear Mr. Pecknold: 

Re: Letter of Approval in Principle – 2016/2017 Budget Estimates for Mission 

This letter of approval in principle is issued to conform to the Federal Treasury Board requirements to 
enable the Federal Government to set aside sufficient financial resources to cover their share of the 
Municipal RCMP contract costs. 

The District of Mission anticipates that it will fund a total of 51 members at the Mission detachment for the 
2016/2017 fiscal year, an increase of one member over the 2015/2016 budget of 50 members. The 
District plans to add one new member per year until the 2018/2019 contract year for a total of 53 RCMP 
members. 

The budget estimate that is approved in principle, which is conditional on the resolution of Green Timbers 
and the severance pay, is $9,059,125 at 100% (our municipality is responsible at the 90% level which 
equates to $8,153,213).  This does not include the cost of the integrated teams.  The budget estimate 
approved in principle for the integrated teams at the 90% level is $1,224,081; therefore the total budget 
estimate approved in principle at the 90% level is $9,377,493.  

Council for the District of Mission have concerns related to the 2016/2017 budget forecast as provided in 
the Municipal Contract Policing Resources Request letter of May 12, 2015 from Robert Jorssen.  As 
outlined above, this letter provides “approval in principle”, issued for planning purposes and is conditional 
on the resolution to the following issues: 

• Green Timbers estimate should not be incorporated into the budget estimates until approval for 
that expenditure has been provided for.  Only those services approved by councils should be 
itemized in the forecast.  The District is withholding payments related to Green Timbers from the 
quarterly payments until this issue is resolved. 
 

• Severance pay to officers was a Federal initiative that could create a burden to our taxpayers. 
This was done without consultation and without a cost to each community making budgeting 
extremely difficult.  The District reserves the right to withhold severance payments from the 
quarterly payment until this matter is resolved.  

 

Council will make its final budget decisions in late 2015 and will advise you at that time of the approved 
spending cap for the RCMP contract for 2016/2017. 
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P.O.  Box  20 ,    8645  S tave  Lake St reet ,    M iss ion ,  B.C.   V2V 4L9 
Phone (604) 820-3717  Fax (604) 826-1363  &  (604) 820-3715  Web Site:  www.mission.ca   E-mail: tax@mission.ca 

Council also wishes to clarify that no substantive reallocation of funding should occur within the RCMP 
contract budget without prior written consent of the District. 

If you have any questions, please give me a call at 604-820-3721 

Yours truly, 

 
 
 
 
Kris Boland 
MANAGER OF FINANCE 
 
cc:  Mr. Max Xiao, Regional Director, Financial Management & Accounting Operations 
 Mission RCMP Detachment Inspector Ted DeJager 
 The Honorable Suzanne Anton, QC, Minister of Justice and Attorney General 
 A/Commr. Dan Malo, District Commander, Lower Mainland District 
 

G:\FINANCE\RCMP\2016-2017 Contract\RCMP 2016-17 Approval in principle letter.docx 
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May 12, 2015 

 
 

  
 Your File     Votre 

référence District of Mission  

  

 Our File       Notre 

référence   

  

 

Dear Mr. Bjorgaard: 

 

Re: Municipal Contract Policing Multi-Year Plan – (2016/17) 

 

In keeping with the Municipal Police Service Agreement of 2012, we are communicating 

with our Municipal Partners to establish projections of our human and financial resource 

needs in 2016/17. 

 

We are asking that you meet with your Detachment Commander to discuss the police 

service needs of the community and the related human and financial resource 

requirements. 

 

For this 5 year plan cycle, we have included the items listed in the attached schedule 

prepared by the Local Government Contract Management Committee (see Appendix A).  

It should be noted that this document will be updated as changes become known and is 

current as of May 7, 2015. 

    

Many of these initiatives have been discussed at different meetings/forums such as the 

Government Finance Officers Association of BC’s (GFOABC) annual budget meetings, 

Lower Mainland CAO/PPC meetings, and local presentations before Mayor and Council.  

The next GFOABC meeting is on May 28, 2015 in Penticton, BC. We hope to see you or 

your representative there.   If you have questions, or would like a custom presentation on 

your 5 year municipal plan, please contact Brad Lanthier, Senior Financial Manager, at 

778-290-2705.  

 

Attached for your information are: 

 

a. Our five year budget for your RCMP Municipal Policing costs. This is a 

detailed listing of actual costs for fiscal year 2013/14, pre-final costs for 

2014/15, a revised estimate for the current year (2015/16) and budget 

estimates for 2017 – 2021 inclusive (see schedules 1, 2 and 3 for 2016/17).  
  
b. Five year budget for Division Administration Costs (schedule 4);  

 
Royal 
Canadian 
Mounted 
Police 

 

 

 
Gendarmerie 
royale 
du  
Canada 

 
 

 
Security Classification/Designation 
Classification/désignation sécuritaire 

 
Unclassified 
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c.   Sample Response Letter (schedule 5) 

  

A number of items remain under discussion between the Provincial and Federal 

Governments, including: 

 

Division Administration costs associated to Green Timbers:  While this item is currently 

still under discussion, the provisional amount of $900 per member has been included in 

the Division Administration estimate.  

 

Severance Liquidation:  As of April 1, 2012, severance no longer accumulates for 

members who resign or retire, but will continue to accrue for lay-off, death, and 

disability. For budgeting purposes, an estimated amount of $1,023 per full time 

equivalent (FTE) has been included. The payment amount and schedule for severance 

liquidation is currently being discussed between the Provincial and Federal 

Governments. 

  

In addition, the RCMP’s most recent salary agreement expired on December 31, 2014.  

An estimated pay increase of 2.5% per year has been included in the five year budget for 

RCMP members. An estimated pay increase of 0.5% per year has been included for 

federal public servants.  These increases are reflected from 2016/17 onwards.  This 

information is based on the best estimates currently available. The included pay raise 

amounts are not based on final negotiations and do not necessarily represent amounts 

requested or proposed. Once new agreements are reached, retroactive payments may be 

made in the 2015/16 fiscal year.  A provision for this has not been included, but this does 

not preclude a municipality from setting aside contingencies for this possibility. (A 

sample scenario is attached in Appendix B.)  

 

We recognize that your calendar year Budget Cycles are not synchronized with the 

Government of Canada’s fiscal year, however, we are requesting that you provide 

information earlier than the Municipal Budget Cycle normally requires. This is to ensure 

that the Federal Treasury Board can secure their share of the Municipal Contract costs 

within the federal budget cycle time lines.    

 

Please submit a “Letter of Approval in Principle” by June 12, 2015. The letter should 

address all increases for fiscal year 2016/17, including: 

  
 - Proposed establishment increase in regular and/or civilian 

members; 

- Estimated Municipal Policing Budget at 100% costs; 

- If applicable, estimates for Integrated Units, RTIC and 

Accommodation at 100% costs; and 

- If applicable, approval in principle and basis of payments for any 

equipment costing $150,000 or more per item. 

     

We would like to emphasize that this “Letter of Approval in Principle” is for planning 

purposes only to address the Federal Government’s Annual Reference Level Update 

(ARLU) process. It is not a final commitment on your part for the additional personnel or 
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for the increased financial budget indicated. A copy of a sample response is provided for 

your reference (schedule 5).   

 

 

First Reply Letter:  

Approval in Principle Letter for 2016/17    Due: June 12, 2015 

 

A) Please address the letter to: 

Mr. Clayton Pecknold  

Assistant Deputy Minister and Director of Police Services 

 Ministry of Justice  

 P.O. Box 9285 Stn Prov Govt. 

 Victoria, BC V8W 9J7 

 

B) Please forward a copy to the RCMP addressed to: 

 Mr. Max Xiao 

Regional Director of Finance, RCMP “E” Division  

 Mailstop #908, 14200 Green Timbers Way 

 Surrey, BC Canada V3T 6P3 

 

Second Reply Letter:  

Final Confirmation Letter for 2016/17    Due: May 2, 2016 

 

By May 2, 2016, please forward a second letter to confirm the 2016/17 budget to: 

  

 A) Assistant Deputy Minister and Director of Police Services 

 

 B) Regional Director of Finance, RCMP “E” Division  
 

 

Third Reply Letter: Annex A Letter    Due on: Establishment Change 

 

When you decide to change human resources (establishment changes) to your 

detachment strength, please be advised that a third letter is required that outlines your 

request.   

 

A) Please address the letter to: 

The Honourable Suzanne Anton, Q.C.  

Minister of Justice and Attorney General 

 Ministry of Justice 

 P.O. Box 9044 Stn Prov Gov’t. 

            Victoria, BC V8W 9J7 

 

B) Please forward a copy of the letter to: 

 

 a) Regional Director of Finance, RCMP “E” Division 

 

 b) «District_Officer» 
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If you have any questions regarding your municipal budget or your contractual 

obligations, please contact «Team_contact». 

 

 

Yours truly,   

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Robert H. Jorssen 

Executive Director,  

Corporate Management & Comptrollership Branch 

Royal Canadian Mounted Police, Pacific Region 

Mailstop # 906, 14200 Green Timbers Way 

Surrey, BC Canada V3T 6P3 

 

Cc:   «Mayor», «District»  

         «District_Officer» 

         «cc_Detachment» 

      Max Xiao, Regional Director of Finance, RCMP “E” Division 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

         

     

RCMP E Division   

Finance Section, Mailstop #908 

14200 Green Timbers Way 

Surrey, BC Canada V3T 6P3 
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SCHEDULE 1

MISSION 15/16 16/17 $ %

2016/17 to 2020/21 Fiscal Estimates Budget Estimates Change Change

Contract Strength 50 50 - Notes

Average Actual / Funded Strength 50 51 2.0%

COST ELEMENT GROUP (CEG)

01 - PERSONNEL

REGULAR PAY 4,338,345 4,554,719 216,375 5.0%
Increase in 1 FTE and estimated pay increase of 

2.5% per year

OVERTIME - MEMBERS 425,000 433,500 8,500 2.0%

PAYROLL ALLOWANCES * 182,600 188,655 6,055 3.3%

OTHER PAYROLL ITEMS 20,015 20,467 452 2.3%

01 - PERSONNEL: TOTAL 4,965,960 5,197,341 231,381 4.7%

02 - TRANSPORT & TELECOM 46,489 48,669 2,180 4.7%

03 - INFORMATION 0 0 0 -

04 - PROFESSIONAL & SPEC SVCS 332,553 341,530 8,977 2.7%

05 - RENTALS 2,258 2,325 68 3.0%

06 - PURCHASE, REPAIR AND MAINT 84,460 86,994 2,534 3.0%

07 - UTIL, MATERIAL AND SUPP 232,797 239,781 6,984 3.0%

09 - MACHINERY & EQUIPMENT 262,485 267,487 5,002 1.9%

12 - OTHER SUBSIDIES & PMTS 11,092 11,125 33 0.3%

TOTAL DIRECT COST 5,938,094 6,195,252 257,157 4.3%

COST OF RM PENSIONS

COST OF DIVISIONAL ADMINISTRATION 1,011,726 1,061,860 50,134 5.0% Increase in pensionable earnings

COST OF OTHER INDIRECT COSTS 1,175,000 1,259,700 84,700         7.2% Increase in Div Admin from $23,500 to $24,700

Cost of Other Indirect Charges 506,638 542,313 35,675 7.0%
Increase in EI and CPP rates, as well as training 

and recruiting from $4,012 to $4,373.

TOTAL INDIRECT COST 2,693,364 2,863,874 170,509 6.3%

TOTAL COSTS (Direct + Indirect ) 8,631,459 9,059,125 427,666 5.0%

FEDERAL COST 10 % 863,146 905,913 42,767 5.0%

MUNICIPAL COST 90% 7,768,313 8,153,213 384,900 5.0%

ESTIMATED COST PER RM (90%) 155,366 159,867 4,501 2.9%

SPECIALIZED POLICE OPERATIONS 90% 1,253,887 1,224,281 -29,606 (2.4%)

TOTAL MUNICIPAL POLICING COSTS 90% 9,022,200 9,377,493 355,293 3.9%

* Allowances and Benefits includes:  Service Pay, Senior Constable, Occupational Clothing,  and Shift Differential
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RCMP Municipal Policing Cost - Five Year Forecast Schedule 1

MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION

2016/17 to 2020/21 Fiscal Estimates 12/13 Final 14/15  Pre-Final 15/16 Budget 16/17  Estimates 17/18  Estimates18/19  Estimates19/20  Estimates20/21  Estimates

CONTRACT STRENGTH 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50

ACTUAL / FUNDED STRENGTH 41.05 44.43 50 51 52 53 53 53

COST ELEMENT GROUP (CEG)

STD OBJ. 01 - PERSONNEL 2013 2,015 2,016 2017 2018 2019 2019 2019

CEG 20 - TEMP. CIVILIAN EMPLOYEES & CASUALS 1,050 29,521

CEG 21 -  GUARDS & MATRONS

CEG 22 - INTELLIGENCE MONITORS 6,040

CEG 30 - PAY - MEMBERS:

       CE 500110 - REGULAR PAY 3,329,477 3,721,263 4,338,345 4,554,719 4,757,084 4,966,720 5,090,888 5,218,160

       CE 500114 - SERVICE PAY 65,336 82,803 79,000 81,500 84,000 86,500 89,000 91,500

       CE 500121 - PLAINCLOTHES 17,010

       CE 500122 - KIT UPKEEP 3,955

       CE 500163 - MARKET ADJUSTMENT 

       CE 500164 - SENIOR CST ALLOWANCE 19,074 40,767 39,600 41,580 43,659 45,842 48,134 50,541

       CE 501198 - BILINGUAL BONUS - Current

       CE 502103 - OPERATIONAL CLOTHING ALLOWANCE 8,538 9,000 9,200 9,400 9,600 9,600 9,600

MISC. CE's incl. under CEG 30 983 2,021 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000

CEG 30 - PAY - MEMBERS - TOTAL 3,435,835 3,855,393 4,467,945 4,688,999 4,896,143 5,110,661 5,239,622 5,371,800

CEG 31 - OVERTIME - MEMBERS 312,910 468,765 425,000 433,500 446,505 459,900 473,697 487,908

CEG 32 - PAY - MEMBERS (POLICY CENTRE) Credit Item 421,545 113,546

CEG 33 - RCMP PAY - OTHER

        CE 500112 - RETROACTIVE PAY 6,789

        CE 500117 - SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL 46,040 64,538 55,000 56,375 57,784 59,229 60,710 62,227

        CE 500119 - PERFORMANCE AWARD

        CE 501127 - RETRO PAY - PRIOR YEAR -2,017

    MISC. CE's incl. under CEG 33 16,736 18,073 18,015 18,467 18,928 19,401 19,886 20,384

    CEG 33 - PAY - MEMBERS - OTHER - TOTAL: 67,548 82,611 73,015 74,842 76,713 78,630 80,596 82,611

    CEG 40 - ALLOWANCES - INTRA MEMBERS 7,888 13,685

    CEG 41 - ALLOWANCES - INTER MEMBERS

    CEG 45 - PERSONNEL - OPERATIONAL CONTINGENCY

TOTAL STD OBJ. 01 - PERSONNEL 4,252,816 4,563,521 4,965,960 5,197,341 5,419,360 5,649,192 5,793,915 5,942,320

STD OBJ. 02 – TRANSPORTATION & TELECOM

    CEG 50 - TRAVEL 14,278 18,804 21,855 22,510 23,185 23,881 24,597 25,335

    CEG 51 - TRAVEL ADVANCES

    CEG 52 - TRAINING TRAVEL (DCCEG) 8,410 15,425 15,500 16,750 17,300 17,900 18,500 19,100

    CEG 53 - TRAINING TRAVEL (POST) 7,072 12,450 1,790 1,843 1,899 1,956 2,014 2,075

    CEG 54 - IPA & FSD TRAVEL

    CEG 55 - CENTRALIZED TRAINING TRAVEL

    CEG's 60-66 - TRANSFER COSTS (Credit Item) 94,280 105,820

    CEG 70 - FREIGHT, POSTAGE, ETC. 2,642 7,832 7,345 7,565 7,792 8,026 8,267 8,515

    CEG 100 - TELEPHONE SERVICES (DCCEG)

    CEG 101 - TELEPHONE SERVICES (POST) 290

    CEG 140 - COMPUTER COMM SERVICES

TOTAL STD OBJ. 02 – TRANSPORT & TELECOM 126,972 160,331 46,489 48,669 50,176 51,763 53,379 55,025

STD OBJ. 03 - INFORMATION

    CEG 120 - ADVERTISING 212

    CEG 130 - PUBLICATIONS SERVICES 308

TOTAL STANDARD OBJ. 03 - INFORMATION 308 212

STD OBJ. 04 - PROFESSIONAL & SPEC. SVCS

    CEG 160 - LEGAL SERVICES (Credit Item) 53,069 34,318

    CEG 170 - CONTRACTED SERVICES (DCCEG)

    CEG 171 - CONTRACTED SERVICES (Post)

    CEG 190 - TRAINING & SEMINARS (DCCEG) 58,479 109,978 115,000 119,500 123,700 128,000 132,500 137,100

    CEG 191 - TRAINING & SEMINARS (POST) 3,534 5,257 3,448 3,551 3,658 3,768 3,881 3,997

    CEG 192 - OFFICIAL LANGUAGE TRAINING

    CEG 200 - HEALTH SERVICES MEMBERS (Credit Item) 257,334

    CEG 201 - HEALTH SERVICES - OTHERS (Credit Item) 1,887

    CEG 202 - HEALTH SERVICES - PENSIONERS (Credit Item) 19,759

    CEG 210 - PROTECTION SERVICES

    CEG 213 - CORPS OF COMMISSIONAIRES

    CEG 218 - CONTAMINATED SITES

    CEG 219 - PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 65,250 181,029 60,000 61,800 63,654 65,564 67,531 69,556

    CEG 220 - OTHER SERVICES  5,406 2,146 9,105 9,378 9,660 9,949 10,248 10,555

    CEG 221 - OTHER SERVICES IM/IT 26,397 14,835 20,000 20,600 21,218 21,855 22,510 23,185

    CEG 223 - RADIO COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS 54,096 70,226 85,000 86,700 88,434 90,203 92,007 93,847

    CEG 228 - CADC SPENDING OF PROCEEDS

    CEG 229 - CADC ALLOCATED (Credit Item) -450 -1,593

    CEG 230 - DIV FUND TRANSFER

    CEG 231 - DCM FUND TRANSFER

    CEG 232 - O&M OPERATIONAL CONTINGENCY 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

    CEG 233 - CORPORATE CONTINGENCY

TOTAL STANDARD OBJ. 04 - PROFESSIONAL & SPEC SVCS 544,760 416,196 332,553 341,530 350,323 359,338 368,676 378,241

STD OBJ. 05 - RENTALS

    CEG 240 - RENTAL-LAND,BLDG & WORKS (DCCEG)

    CEG 241 - RENTAL-LAND,BLDG & WORKS (POST) 713 734 756 779 802 826

    CEG 250 - RENTAL COMNS EQUIP (DCCEG)

    CEG 251 - RENTAL COMNS. EQUIP (POST)

    CEG 258 - RENTAL MOTORIZED VEHICLES 693

    CEG 260 - RENTAL OF CONVEYANCE 

    CEG 261 - LEASING OF AIRCRAFT

    CEG 265 - LEASED VEHICLES

    CEG 280 - RENTAL COMPUTER EQUIP 268

    CEG 290 - RENTAL - OTHERS 1,581 1,478 1,545 1,591 1,639 1,688 1,739 1,791

TOTAL STANDARD OBJ. 05 - RENTALS 1,581 2,438 2,258 2,325 2,395 2,467 2,541 2,617
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RCMP Municipal Policing Cost - Five Year Forecast Schedule 1

MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION

2016/17 to 2020/21 Fiscal Estimates 12/13 Final 14/15  Pre-Final 15/16 Budget 16/17  Estimates 17/18  Estimates18/19  Estimates19/20  Estimates20/21  Estimates

CONTRACT STRENGTH 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50

ACTUAL / FUNDED STRENGTH 41.05 44.43 50 51 52 53 53 53

COST ELEMENT GROUP (CEG)

STD OBJ. 06 - PURCHASE, REPAIR AND MAINT

    CEG 310 - REPAIR OF BUILDINGS & WORKS

    CEG 311 - REPAIR OF BUILDINGS & WORKS 

    CEG 350 - REPAIR SHIPS & BOATS

    CEG 360 - REPAIR OF AIRCRAFT

    CEG 370 - REPAIR OF VEHICLES 83,828 88,523 84,460 86,994 89,604 92,292 95,060 97,912

    CEG 380 - REPAIR OF OFFICE & LAB EQUIP 143

    CEG 390 - REPAIR OF MISC. EQUIP 266

    CEG 392 - REPAIR OF AFIS EQUIP

    CEG 393 - REPAIR OF EDP EQUIPMENT 278

TOTAL STANDARD OBJ. 06 - PURCHASE, REPAIR AND MAINT 83,971 89,066 84,460 86,994 89,604 92,292 95,060 97,912

STD OBJ. 07 - UTIL, MATERIAL AND SUPPLIES

    CEG 400 - UTILITIES

    CEG 430 - FUEL 147,455 120,333 150,000 154,500 159,135 163,909 168,826 173,891

    CEG 470 - PHOTOGRAPHIC GOODS 1,061

    CEG 500 - STATIONERY 25,509 25,256 35,000 36,050 37,132 38,245 39,393 40,575

    CEG 510 - CLOTHING & KIT  14,857 27,841 17,797 18,331 18,881 19,448 20,031 20,632

    CEG 530 - LAB SUPPLIES

    CEG 540 - POST BUDGET EXPENDITURES 22,090 18,088 30,000 30,900 31,827 32,782 33,765 34,778

    CEG 541 - ACQUISITION CREDIT CARDS

    CEG 550 - HOUSE FURNISHINGS

    CEG 630 - MESS PURCHASES

    CEG 640 - MESS CREDITS

TOTAL STD OBJ. 07 - UTIL, MATERIAL AND SUPP 210,971 191,518 232,797 239,781 246,975 254,384 262,015 269,876

STD OBJ. 09 - MACHINERY & EQUIP ACQ<$10,000

    CEG 440 - TRANSPORT SUPPLIES 13,156 23,628 12,360 12,731 13,113 13,506 13,911 14,329

    CEG 441 - VEHICLE CHANGEOVERS 35,854 10,579 31,050 32,137 33,262 23,000 23,690 23,690

    CEG 450 - COMNS PARTS & CONSUMABLES 7,075 4,434 5,538 5,704 5,875 6,051 6,233 6,420

    CEG 480 - FIREARMS & AMMUNITION 1,709 17,267 8,954 9,223 9,499 9,784 10,078 10,380

    CEG 770 - COMMS. SYSTEMS (CAPITAL) 24,877 25,392 26,000 26,780 27,583 28,411 29,263 30,141

    CEG 771 - COMMS. EQUIPMENT 810 817 694 715 736 758 781 805

    CEG 810 - LABORATORY EQUIP.

    CEG 811 - SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT - NON SALARY

    CEG 812 - SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT - SALARY

    CEG 820 - PHOTOGRAPHIC EQUIP 539

    CEG 821 - AFIS EQUIP

    CEG 822 - IDENT EQUIP.

    CEG 830 - FURNITURE & FIXTURES 535

    CEG 840 - COMPUTER EQUIPMENT (CAPITAL)

    CEG 841 - COMPUTER EQUIP. 41,034 38,293 40,000 41,400 45,000 45,000 45,000 45,000

    CEG 842 - COMPUTER S/WARE - INFORMATICS 65 2,488

    CEG 845 - SPECIALIZED EQUIPMENT

    CEG 850 - AUDIO VISUAL AIDS

    CEG 860 - INVESTIGATIONAL EQUIP. 47 22,703 2,602 2,602 2,602 2,602 2,602 2,602

    CEG 870 - SHIPS AND BOATS (CAPITAL)

    CEG 871 - MISC. BOATS

    CEG 880 - AIRCRAFT (CAPITAL)

    CEG 890 - VEHICLES (CAPITAL) 81,568 80,479 105,000 105,000 105,000 70,000 70,000 70,000

    CEG 891 - MISC. VEHICLES

    CEG 900 - OTHER EQUIP. 16 10,300 10,609 10,927 11,255 11,593 11,941

    CEG 910 - OFFICE MACHINES 3,565 4,784 18,894 19,461 20,045 20,646 21,266 21,904

    CEG 920 - SECURITY EQUIP. 175,244 44 1,093 1,126 1,159 1,194 1,230 1,267

TOTAL STD OBJ. 09 - MACHINERY & EQUIPMENT 385,020 231,983 262,485 267,487 274,802 232,209 235,647 238,478

STD OBJ. 12 - OTHER SUBSIDIES & PAYMENTS

    CEG 570 - PRISONER EXPENSES

    CEG 580 - SECRET EXPENSES 7,517 8,501 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

    CEG 581 - SPECIAL "I" EXPENDITURES

    CEG 590 - MISC EXPEND 556 670 1,092 1,125 1,159 1,193 1,229 1,266

    CEG 591 - DISCOUNT FOR EARLY PAYMENT

    CEG 592 - PAYMENT IN LIEU OF TAXES 

    CEG 600 - FOREIGN SERVICE

    CEG 620 - CLAIMS and COMP.SETTLEMENTS (Credit Item) 11,947 3,481

    CEG 650 - WRITE-OFF

TOTAL STD OBJ. 12 - OTHER SUBSIDIES & PMTS 20,020 12,652 11,092 11,125 11,159 11,193 11,229 11,266

LESS - YEAR TO DATE CREDITS

  SO 01 - CEG 32 - Medical Leave / Suspension > 30 days 421,545 113,546

  SO 01 - CEG 40 & 41 -Transfer Allowances 7,888 13,685

  SO 02 - CEG's 60-66 Transfer Cost 94,280 105,820

 100% SHARED SERVICES CANADA - (Various CEGs)

  SO 04 - CEG 160 - Legal Services 53,069 34,318

  SO 04 - CEG's 200, 201 & 202 - Health Services 278,979

  SO12 - CEG 592 Payment in Lieu of Taxes 

  SO12 - CEG 620 - Compensation Claims/Ex-Gratia 11,947 3,481

    ICBC Repairs to Police Vehicles Credit 2,914

  SO 04 - CEG 192 - Official Language Training

TOTAL CREDITS 867,709 273,765
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RCMP Municipal Policing Cost - Five Year Forecast Schedule 1

MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION

2016/17 to 2020/21 Fiscal Estimates 12/13 Final 14/15  Pre-Final 15/16 Budget 16/17  Estimates 17/18  Estimates18/19  Estimates19/20  Estimates20/21  Estimates

CONTRACT STRENGTH 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50

ACTUAL / FUNDED STRENGTH 41.05 44.43 50 51 52 53 53 53

COST ELEMENT GROUP (CEG)

TOTAL DIRECT COSTS 4,758,711 5,394,152 5,938,094 6,195,252 6,444,794 6,652,837 6,822,462 6,995,735

INDIRECT COSTS (Summary)

1) RM Pensions 532,627 777,810 1,011,726 1,061,860 1,108,837 1,157,487 1,186,761 1,216,766
2) RM CPP 95,198 108,361 124,620 130,394 136,275 142,368 145,927 149,575

3) Employer's Contr. to E.I. for R/M's 41,628 49,691 54,603 59,931 62,633 65,434 67,070 68,747

4) Division Administration (per cap x avg.# RM's) 1,001,538 1,016,569 1,175,000 1,259,700 1,315,600 1,372,700 1,404,500 1,436,300

5) Recruitment & Training 143,675 155,493 200,600 223,023 245,856 250,584 250,584 250,584

6) National Programs 56,758 111,462 126,816 128,965 131,628 134,298 134,438 134,581
7) Police Dog Service Training

8) Amortization of Equipment > $150,000 @ 10%

9)TCE & IM for Pension, EI & Div Admin 1,351

TOTAL INDIRECT COST 1,872,776 2,219,385 2,693,364 2,863,874 3,000,829 3,122,871 3,189,280 3,256,552

TOTAL COSTS (Direct + Indirect ) @ 100% 6,631,487 7,613,538 8,631,459 9,059,125 9,445,623 9,775,708 10,011,742 10,252,287

FEDERAL COST 10 % 663,149 761,354 863,146 905,913 944,562 977,571 1,001,174 1,025,229

MUNICIPAL COST 90% 5,968,338 6,852,184 7,768,313 8,153,213 8,501,061 8,798,137 9,010,568 9,227,058

SPECIALIZED POLICE OPERATIONS 90% 921,564 979,542 1,253,887 1,224,281 1,226,311 1,253,250 1,281,854 1,311,142

TOTAL MUNICIPAL POLICING COSTS 90% 6,889,902 7,831,726 9,022,200 9,377,493 9,727,372 10,051,387 10,292,422 10,538,200

7,768,313                 

1,253,886

SPECIALIZED POLICE OPERATIONS

  INTEGRATED TEAMS -0.10 0.04 0.04 0 0.04 0.03 0.02 0.02

     IHIT ** 297,627 325,219 458,543 444,357 450,605 460,519 470,676 481,071

     LMD ERT 139,102 147,420 156,643 147,216 134,040 137,017 140,062 143,184

     LMD FIS 243,784 257,381 292,832 287,231 294,797 302,043 309,472 317,068

     LMD PDS 178,656 172,248 218,198 217,812 221,380 226,474 231,705 237,071

     LMD ICARS 59,015 58,849 79,878 68,465 71,052 71,570 73,093 74,654

     LMD III 3,380 3,628 3,683 3,744 3,832 3,914 3,998 4,082

TOTAL INTEGRATED TEAMS - 90% 921,564 964,746 1,209,778 1,168,825 1,175,706 1,201,538 1,229,006 1,257,129

     ** IHIT credit (not included above) is based on Province's (106,508)           (103,549)           (104,953)           (107,172)           (109,446)           (111,772)           

         assumption that IHIT is billed under the Provincial bus. line.  This issue is currently in dispute with Public Safety Canada.

   REAL TIME INTELLIGENCE CENTRE (RTIC) 14,796 44,109 49,527 50,606 51,713 52,848 54,013

TOTAL SPECIALIZED POLICE OPERATIONS 921,564 979,542 1,253,887 1,218,352 1,226,311 1,253,250 1,281,854 1,311,142

INDIRECT COSTS  - (REGULAR & CIVILIAN MEMBERS) 

1) Pensions (Total Pensionable Earnings) 3,418,659 3,844,834         4,456,945         4,677,799         4,884,743         5,099,061         5,228,022         5,360,200         

       Pension Rate 15.58% 20.23% 22.70% 22.70% 22.70% 22.70% 22.70% 22.70%

      Total Cost of RM/CM Pension…. 532,627 777,810            1,011,726         1,061,860         1,108,837         1,157,487         1,186,761         1,216,766         

2) CPP (Pensionable Earnings) based on a Per Capita Cost of…. 2,319.08 2,439                2,492                2,557                2,621                2,686                2,753                2,822                

      Total Cost  (Per Capita x FTE Utilization) 95,198 108,361            124,620            130,394            136,275            142,368            145,927            149,575            

3) Employer's Contr. to E.I. based on a Per Capita Cost of.... 1,014.08 1,118                1,092                1,175                1,204                1,235                1,265                1,297                

      Total Cost  (Per Capita x FTE Utilization) 41,628 49,691              54,603              59,931              62,633              65,434              67,070              68,747              

4) Division Administration based on a Per Capita Cost of.... 24,398 22,882              23,500              24,700              25,300              25,900              26,500              27,100              

      Total Cost  (Per Capita x FTE Utilization) 1,001,538 1,016,569         1,175,000         1,259,700         1,315,600         1,372,700         1,404,500         1,436,300         

5) Cost of Recruit. & Trng (see Nat'l Prog.effect. 15/16)

       Per Capita Cost of Recruitment.... 3,500 3,500                2,944                3,192                3,449                3,449                3,449                3,449                

       Per Capita Cost of Training.... 1,068                1,181                1,279                1,279                1,279                1,279                

      Total Cost  (Per Capita x FTE Utilization) 143,675 155,493            200,600            223,023            245,856            250,584            250,584            250,584            

6) Cost of National Programs (See Addendum 'A') 1,383 2,509                2,536                2,529                2,531                2,534                2,537                2,539                

      Total Cost  (Per Capita x FTE Utilization) 56,758 111,462            126,816            128,965            131,628            134,298            134,438            134,581            

TOTAL INDIRECT COSTS 1,872,776 2,219,385         2,693,364         2,863,874         3,000,829         3,122,871         3,189,280         3,256,552         
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RCMP Municipal Policing Cost - Five Year Forecast Schedule 1

MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION MISSION

2016/17 to 2020/21 Fiscal Estimates 12/13 Final 14/15  Pre-Final 15/16 Budget 16/17  Estimates 17/18  Estimates18/19  Estimates19/20  Estimates20/21  Estimates

CONTRACT STRENGTH 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50

ACTUAL / FUNDED STRENGTH 41.05 44.43 50 51 52 53 53 53

COST ELEMENT GROUP (CEG)

ADDENDUM 'A'

OTHER INDIRECT COSTS:

              Public Complaints Committee (PCC) 383 479                   508                   494                   494                   494                   494                   494                   

              Legal Advisory Services 159 167                   166                   172                   174                   177                   179                   182                   

              Enhanced Reporting & Accountability 119 120                   118                   120                   120                   120                   120                   120                   

              Estimated Annual Severance 1,023                1,023                1,023                1,023                1,023                1,023                1,023                

CONSOLIDATED SERVICES:

             Shared Services Canada (SSC) 721 721                   721                   721                   721                   721                   721                   721                   

              Accounting Operations

              Pay & Compensation

Total Costs 1,383 2,509                2,536                2,529                2,531                2,534                2,537                2,539                

Calendar Year 2012 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

FISCAL YEAR TO CALENDAR YEAR CONVERSION TABLE:

Fiscal Year Total Current 6,889,902         7,831,726         9,022,200         9,377,493         9,727,372         10,051,387       10,292,422       10,538,200       

Fiscal per Qtr Current 1,722,476         1,957,931         2,255,550         2,344,373         2,431,843         2,512,847         2,573,106         2,634,550         

Fiscal Year Total  Prior Year 7,670,225         7,504,361         7,831,726         9,022,200         9,377,493         9,727,372         10,051,387       10,292,422       

Fiscal per Qtr Prior Year 1,917,556         1,876,090         1,957,931         2,255,550         2,344,373         2,431,843         2,512,847         2,573,106         

Calendar

Jan - Mar 1,917,556         1,876,090         1,957,931         2,255,550         2,344,373         2,431,843         2,512,847         2,573,106         

Apr - June 1,722,476         1,957,931         2,255,550         2,344,373         2,431,843         2,512,847         2,573,106         2,634,550         

July - Sept 1,722,476         1,957,931         2,255,550         2,344,373         2,431,843         2,512,847         2,573,106         2,634,550         

Oct - Dec 1,722,476         1,957,931         2,255,550         2,344,373         2,431,843         2,512,847         2,573,106         2,634,550         

City Calendar Year Total 7,084,983 7,749,885 8,724,581 9,288,670         9,639,903 9,970,384 10,232,164 10,476,756

City Budget Cap per Approval Letter

Colour Legend

Red = Post Budget CEG controlled by OIC

Black = Division Controlled CEG (DCCEG)

Blue lettering = Standard Object (SO)

Blue background = CEG credited to Direct Costs
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Appendix A        

Item

Estimated 

Annual 

Incremental 

Cost/Savings 

per FTE OR per 

Item @100%

Notes/Status Included in 5-year Plan?

Severance Liquidation $0

Status: Ongoing negotiations between Province and Canada. Federal initiative - termination of RCMP members' 

entitlement to accumulate Severance Pay for voluntary resignations and retirements as of March 31, 2012. MYP shows 

$1,000/FTE per year, however, the latest figure for billing was $1,023/FTE (slightly less than historical per year cost), 

with the assumption that total cost can be amortized over 20 years. In other words, Severance savings are not 

significant in the 1st 20 yrs but will yield approx. $1K savings per member after Severance payout is concluded from 

Year 21 onward.

Yes.

Green Timbers - Div. 

Admin.
$600

Status: Ongoing negotiations between Province and Canada - Div. Admin. impact to all RCMP municipalities. Based on 

the latest RCMP estimate, incremental cost is $900/FTE less $300/FTE prior to move = $600/FTE.
Yes.

Green Timbers - LMD 

Integrated Teams' 

Occupancy (only 

applicable to LMD 

Integrated Teams' 

participating agencies)

$9,400

Status: Ongoing negotiation between Province and Canada - impact on LMD Integrated Teams for occupying space in 

Green Timbers. Based on the latest RCMP estimate, incremental cost = $15,000/FTE less $5,600/FTE prior to move = 

$9,400/FTE.

Yes.

Cadet 

Training/Recruiting
$512

Status: Under Directed Review by external consultant. Current cost is $3,500/FTE for 3 years from 2012/13 to 2014/15. 

2015/16 rate of $2,944/FTE for Cadet Training and $1,068/FTE (April 2015 revised to $1,024) for recruiting per 2014/15 

Municipal 5 Year Plan. Estimated incremental cost = $4,012/FTE ($2,944 plus $1,068) less $3,500/FTE = $512/FTE 

was included in the 5-year plan. 

Yes.  Next 5-year plan will 

have updated rates.

Police Dogs Service 

Training (only 

applicable to 

Municipalities with 

dogs)

$27,624

Status: Under review by CMC's National Programs Standing Committee. 2015/16 rate is $27,624/team per 2014/15 

Municipal 5 Year Plan. A more recent National Programs MYP says the cost will be $32K/team - upon examination by 

the Standing Committee, the per team cost is now projected at $28,601 for 2015/16.

Yes.  Next 5-year plan will 

have updated rates.

RCMP Members' Pay 

Increase

Compensation package expired Dec. 31, 2014; MYP placeholder of 2.5%  per year pay raise. RCMP "E" Division will 

provide cost impact estimate when the new rates are settled.

Yes.  Estimate of 2.5% per 

year included.

RCMP PSEs' Pay 

Increase (impact mainly 

through Div. Admin.)

Majority of PSEs are PSAC (Public Service Alliance of Canada) union members; collective agreement expired June 20, 

2014. Impact to majority of RCMP municipalities on Div. Admin. Additional impact to munis that have PSEs. RCMP "E" 

Division will provide cost impact estimate when the new contract is settled. 

Yes.  Estimate of 0.5% per 

year included.

Pension Rate Increase
Pension Panel recommendation: Increase from 20.23% effective April 1, 2014 to 22.7% effective April 1, 2015 - cost 

impact estimate has been included in each individual municipality's MYP.
Yes.

Shared Services 

Canada
 

Includes telephones, pagers, computer comm., comm. equip. rentals - should equal what munis have been paying all 

along. Some costs are shifted from Div. Admin. to SSC ("E" Div. staff transferred to SSC). In the long run, it should 

generate savings through efficiencies, but effect is unknown at this time.

Yes.  $721 per FTE.  Next 5-

year plan will have updated 

rates.

List of Potential RCMP Policing Costs to RCMP "E" Division Municipalities

As at May 7, 2015
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Appendix A        

Item

Estimated 

Annual 

Incremental 

Cost/Savings 

per FTE OR per 

Item @100%

Notes/Status Included in 5-year Plan?

Other Consolidated 

Services - internal 

within RCMP (already 

in place)

Accounting Ops and Members' Compensation Service centralized in 2012/13 in RCMP NHQ (Ottawa); have been 

charged within Div. Admin. based on 2011/12 Actuals. Acct'g Ops' new rate of $339.77 per FTE projected by RCMP 

NHQ for 2014/15, reduced to $334.60 and $326.51, and, Members' Compensation Service $392.60 per FTE for 

2014/15, reduced to $376.44 and $344.32 respectively, for the following 2 years. PTs have yet to agree to start paying 

actual vs. the 2011/12 rate. Impact should be zero or very minimal as contract partners have been paying for this 

service through Div. Admin. Employee Assistance Services (eff. April 1, 2013 all RCMP members & PSEs are 

supported by Health Canada; RCMP in-house program discontinued) is projected at $42.80/FTE for 2014/15 and 

2015/16 and, reduced to $42.38 for 2016/17, and, NCO Promotions (centralized in Surrey in 2012/13) $103.29/FTE for 

2014/15, $114.65 for 2015/16 and $113.59 for 2016/17. PTs are looking for Div. Admin. offsets; it is not clear what the 

incremental costs are for these 2 programs. 

Yes.  Next 5-year plan will 

have updated rates.

Other Consolidated 

Services - internal 

within RCMP (pending 

action)

 

Disability Management Program (DMP) - modernized approach that will build on best practices including early 

intervention, case management and return-to-work planning. RCMP NHQ provided a projected per FTE cost of $91.17 

for 2015/16 and $208.12 for 2016/17 to be included in the Div. Admin. rate, upon implementation. Awaiting details re: 

crosswalk of positions from the existing Return to Work Coordinators (RTWC) program (i.e. if any of the existing RTWC 

positions may be rolled over to DMP) and, RCMP is still exploring possibility of centralization in a few different locations 

cross jurisdictions which means the per FTE cost can be jurisdictional vs national. Subject to further 

discussions/approval by CMC; tentative implementation April 1, 2016. Meanwhile, RCMP NHQ indicated that this cost is 

a new cost with the assumption that no existing FTEs will be assigned to this Program, therefore, total cost = 

incremental cost. On the other hand, this Program is also included under Health Modernization Savings possibly 

because of the potential savings on OT, as members returning to work sooner.

No.

Other Consolidated 

Services - external 

(already in place)

PSEs' Compensation Service centralized in Miramichi, NB in Sept. 2013; have been charged within Div. Admin. based 

on 2011/12 Actuals. New rate of $610.48/FTE for 2014/15, $568.29 and $492.70 respectively, for the following 2 years. 

Same as other Consolidated Services, PTs are looking for Div. Admin. offsets and it is not clear at this time what the 

incremental cost is for this service.

Yes.  Next 5-year plan will 

have updated rates.

PRTC New Firing 

Range O&M Costs

Better training facilities for RCMP Members and, improved noise level for residents in vicinity. CBSA will also be using 

facility and sharing costs. Municipalities are not responsible for capital costs, O&M costs are expected to rise but most 

likely insignificant.

Insignificant and would be 

included in the training 

budget.

Soft Body Armour 

(SBA)

Status: Implementation of a new external SBA carrier. The 1st order arrived in June 2014 and was distributed to 

Members who were trained in patrol carbine. The larger order being finalized and will likely arrive by spring 2015. 

Pending cost estimate from RCMP NHQ.

No.  Cost estimates are not 

available.

Bluetooth in Police 

Cars
$600 Status: Installation of Bluetooth (hands free) devices  to comply with applicable provincial legislation. No.

In car Video System 

(ICVS)
$4,300+

Status: Continued research, and pending Privacy Impact Assessment. Possible added costs associated with mgmt. and 

retention of info.; $4,300 is estimated cost of ICVS per police vehicle, exclusive of "back office solution" cost for data 

storage.

No.

Body Worn Video 

(BWV)

Status: Exploratory stage. Per CMC Tracking Matrix - eff. Sept 2014, 1 troop at Depot was equipped with BWV to wear 

during scenarios and some Police Defensive Tactics classes. Cost projections not yet available; ongoing work to identify 

possible storage solution, if BWV is implemented. Privacy Impact Assessment may be completed in 2015.  

No.

Potential Costs in the more distant future (most cost impacts are unknown at this time):
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Item

Estimated 

Annual 

Incremental 

Cost/Savings 

per FTE OR per 

Item @100%

Notes/Status Included in 5-year Plan?

Relocation 

Procurement 

Status: Exploratory stage. Per CMC Tracking Matrix - replacing the current 3rd party service provider with RCMP in-

house service, and, Members' relocation benefits are also part of this review. Cost impact/savings mainly through 

Consolidated Services - Accounting Ops (in-house service), and on members' transfers/relocations within "E" Division.

No.

Travel Directive

Status: Ongoing monitoring of cost impact. CMC Tracking Matrix shows estimated $600K per year with no cost 

breakdown by Division. This issue arose as a result of numerous grievances to pay retroactively to 2011-12-05, for 

private non-commercial accommodation allowance ($50/night) to members on travel status in isolated locations who 

reside in Crown-owned dwelling akin to a private place of residence.

No.

eMCM - Major Case 

Mgmt. Software Update

Status: Planning stage - pending business case on most viable/cost effective solution. This system replaces the current 

E&R (Evidence and Reporting) System; new system may require additional staff for data input.
No.

Savings from 

Efficiencies Reviews

Under review by RCMP and CMC PT reps. Other savings shown in RCMP's presentation decks that are not already 

included in other areas in this Table: Operational Clothing Allowance (OCA; formerly Plain Clothes and Keep Upkeep) 

eff. Apr 1, 2013, Civilianization, IM/IT Mgmt., AFD Streamlining, Fleet Mgmt., Re-engineering of Procurement, Disability 

Mgmt. Program (potential earlier return to work; reduction of OT etc.), Travel, OT, maternal/parental leave backfill. 

Some estimated cost savings are shown with no breakdowns by jurisdiction/business line.

Yes.  Ongoing savings 

reflected.

Health Modernization 

Savings

($1,755) for FY 

2013/14

Basic healthcare of RCMP Regular Members now delivered by MSP. RCMP Cost Savings Measures Implementation 

Update presentation deck also shows savings in Supplemental Health Care. MYP shows $1,500/FTE savings in 

2013/14 and, $500/FTE in 2014/15. RCMP "E" Div.'s latest analysis shows actual savings of 2013/14 was $1,755/FTE.

Yes.

No.  Not yet determined.

Savings:

No.  Treatment not yet finalized.  

Next 5-year plan will include 

salaries of deemed PSEs.

Other Potential Costs/Savings: 
 
Conversion of Civilian Members: Bill C-42 is set to move RCMP Civilian Members (CMs) to Public Service Employees (PSEs). Some Indirect Costs such as Div. Admin. are currently 
allocated on a formula basis including regular and civilian members in the calculation. In addition, municipalities that have CMs will be paying for the converted CMs (deemed PSEs) 
@100%. PT's are currently working with PSC to find an acceptable (cost neutral) way of allocating these costs.  
 
In addition, the Economic Action Plan 2014 Act, No. 2  received Royal Assent  in Dec. 2014. This included proposed changes to the public service pension plan in order to 
accommodate civilian members who will be deemed as public service employees. Division 31 of this Act allows the transfers of pensionable service from the RCMP Superannuation 
Act to the Public Service Superannuation Act - deemed date  has yet to be determined. Currently RCMP is showing a small potential savings of $325K (@100%) in total for "E" Div. 
municipalities due to the lower employer's pension contribution rate for PSEs. However, net savings cannot be ascertained until the Pension Panel examines the impact of the pension 
transfer and re-assesses the employer's pension contribution rate for RCMP Regular Members.  
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SCHEDULE 2 

2015-05-14  Page 1 of 3 

NOTES & ASSUMPTIONS for 2015/16 

Municipal Contracts 

 

Our terminology for the grouping of General Accounts: 

- Cost Element Group (CEG)        

- Cost Element (CE)    

 

NOTES ON DIRECT COSTS 

 

CEG 20 & 22 – Temporary Civilian Employees & Casuals and Intelligence Monitors 

Temporary Civilian Employees (TCE’s) and Intelligence Monitors (IM’s) categories of 

employees are being eliminated effective June 2014.  Some of these positions may become 

Public Service Employees (PSE).  Any amounts for 2015/16 onwards represent estimates for 

casual or term PSE employees. 

 

CEG 30 - RCMP Members Pay 

CE 110 - Regular Pay 

1.50% estimated salary increase for each future year 

 

CEG 221 – Other Services IMIT 

The forecast includes a more accurate method for allocating Central Transcription Unit 

(CTU) costs.  CTU was formed in 2006 to provide 24/7 Helpdesk and Transcription 

services.  

 

CEG 223 – Radio Communications Systems 

Information Management & Technology Branch is now working on the new service delivery 

model to meet the increasing service demand from the Municipal business line for portable 

police radio repair and maintenance.  It has been proposed that 6 positions be created (3 in 

fiscal 2014/15 and an additional 3 starting fiscal 2015/16).  Based on the work orders, these 

positions will be cost recoverable from municipalities.   

 

DIRECT COST DEDUCTIONS 

 

These are deducted from the Total Direct Cost for each municipality.   

 

Non-billable costs: 

 - CEGs 40 & 41 - Transfer Allowances. 

 - CEGs 60-66 – Relocation Costs. 

 - CEG 160 - Legal Services. 

 - CEG 620 - Claims and Compensation Settlements. 
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Included in Shared Services Canada (SSC) costs in the Indirect Costs: 

-  CEG 100 CE 0226 / 0228 / 0230 – Telephone Services. 

-  CEG 101 – Telephone Services. 

-  CEG 140 – Computer Communication Services. 

-  CEG221 CE 2451 – Other Services IMIT. 

-  CEG 251 – Rental of Communication Equipment. 

 

Included in the Division Administration Costs in the Indirect Costs: 

 - CEG 32 – Pay Members (Severance, Maternity and Parental allow.). 

 - CEGs 200-202 - Health Services. 

 

INDIRECT COSTS 

 

With the exception of Member Pension, all costs listed below are charged on a per FTE basis for 

members.   

  - Member Pension – 22.70% of pensionable cost element items 

  - Member Canada Pension Plan - $2,492.39 

  - Employment Insurance - $1,092.05 

 - Division Administration - $23,500 – (Please refer to attached schedule 4) - Includes the    

  following changes: 

     - Green Timbers estimate @ $900 per FTE. 

     - Employee Assistance Services (EAS) – The Member/Employee Assistance          

                Program (M/EAP) program for the Member population ceased operations in 

                              2012/13 and the RCMP has completed its transition to Health Canada EAS         

                Program.  Beginning in 2014/15, a per capita rate based on the MOU with 

                    Health Canada is included in the Divisional Admin rate calculation based on the 

      total Member and PSE utilization in each division. 

                 -  NCO Promotion Unit - In FY 2012/13, a centralized promotion office was           

      created to administer all NCO promotions across the Force, replacing the current 

      regional service delivery model.  Starting in 2014/15 a per capita rate estimate     

      multiplied by the total Members utilization in each Division is included in the     

      Divisional Admin rate calculation. 

 - A separate calculation is listed for EI and CPP with respect to Reservists (if used). 

 - Temporary Civilian Employees (TCE’s) and Intelligence Monitors (IM’s) are being          

  phased out and some positions may become Public Service Employees (PSE). 

 

 - Other Indirect Costs: 

   -  Public Complaints Commission (PCC) - $508 

   -  Legal Advisory Services - $166 

   -  Enhanced Reporting & Accountability - $118 

   -  Estimated Annual Severance – Based on annual liability - $1,023 

 

- Shared Services Canada (SSC) - $721 – SSC provides telecommunication and email        

   services, networks, data centres, and servers to the RCMP. 
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Training & Recruiting:  Forecasted as a national program starting 2015/16 at $2,944 per FTE for 

the Cadet Training Program and $1,068 per FTE for recruiting. 

 

Police Dog Service Training:  Forecasted as a national program starting 2015/16 based on 

established PDS teams in each contract jurisdiction.  For 2015/16, the cost is $27,624 per 

PDS team.  For Lower Mainland District municipalities, this cost will be included in the 

Integrated Teams budget. 

 

COSTS BILLABLE AT 100% 

 

The following are some of the items that are billable at 100% per the policing contract: 

- Accommodation costs (including occupancy charge) for municipal units in federally 

owned buildings. 

- PS Support staff costs (including backfills, overtime, severance, pension, CPP, etc.). 

- Furniture and fixtures. 

- House Furnishings 

- Prisoner costs (including mattresses and blankets for cells). 

- Kit and Clothing for auxiliaries. 
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SCHEDULE 3

The table below contains 2014-15 data from Salary Forecasting Tool (SFT) extracted April 2015.

It calculates the average salaries incurred by rank for the specific detachment for the fiscal year.

Data

Rank & Step FTE Average Salary 

1a.RM 43.43 84,109

CST 32.86 80,195 * Adjusted Below

1 0.54 50,674

2 1.47 65,840

3 1.78 71,435

4 0.61 77,032

5 28.47 82,108

CPL 6.23 89,387

1 0.99 86,621

2 5.24 89,910

SGT 2.14 96,100

1 1.43 95,153

2 0.71 97,999

S/SGT 1.00 106,070

1 0.26 103,937

2 0.74 106,822

INSP 1.20 124,167

1 0.26 117,380

3 0.94 126,051

1b.CM 1.00 82,171

ADM 1.00 82,171

3 1.00 82,171

Grand Total 44.43 84,065

* CST Salary Rate Adjustment: % of Max Salary

(a) Estimated Top CST rate Jan 2015 (1.5%): 100.00% 84,160                      

(b) Avg CST Salary 2014-15: 95.29% 80,195                      

CST Salary for Forecast * 97.64% 82,178                       = (a + b) / 2

Mission - 2014-15 Average Salary Data

* This calculation grosses up the average CST salary due to anticipated lower cadet intake by reducing the variance from 

AVG CST to TOP COST by 50%

Average Salaries from this table are then grossed up by the annual wage increase percentages to 

estimate future year average salaries by rank, shown in the following table.
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Annual Raise 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Effective Increment for Fiscal Year2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

(April to March: applying 9 months @ current year raise + 3 months following year raise)

Avg Salary FTE Avg Salary Cost FTE Avg Salary Cost FTE Avg Salary Cost FTE Avg Sal Cost FTE Avg Sal Cost

Regular Members 50.00   4,468,389$     51.00   4,668,595$     52.00   4,876,018$     52.00   4,997,919$     52.00   5,122,867$     

Spl CST -          -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 

CST * 84,232     39.00   86,338     3,367,176       40.00   88,496     3,539,852       41.00   90,709     3,719,057       41.00   92,976     3,812,033       41.00   95,301     3,907,334       

CPL 91,622     7.00     93,913     657,389          7.00     96,261     673,824          7.00     98,667     690,669          7.00     101,134   707,936          7.00     103,662   725,635          

SGT 98,502     2.00     100,965   201,930          2.00     103,489   206,978          2.00     106,076   212,153          2.00     108,728   217,457          2.00     111,447   222,893          

SGT MAJ -          -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 

S/SGT 108,722   1.00     111,440   111,440          1.00     114,226   114,226          1.00     117,082   117,082          1.00     120,009   120,009          1.00     123,009   123,009          

S/SGT MAJ 109,825   -       112,570   -                 -       115,385   -                 -       118,269   -                 -       121,226   -                 -       124,257   -                 

INSP 127,271   1.00     130,453   130,453          1.00     133,714   133,714          1.00     137,057   137,057          1.00     140,484   140,484          1.00     143,996   143,996          

SUPT -          -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 

C/SUPT -          -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 

Civilian Members 1.00     86,331$          1.00     88,489$          1.00     90,701$          1.00     92,969$          1.00     95,293$          

ADM 84,225     1.00     86,331     86,331            1.00     88,489     88,489            1.00     90,701     90,701            1.00     92,969     92,969            1.00     95,293     95,293            

CMP -          -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 

GTE -          -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 

LIN -          -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 

Grand Total 51.00   4,554,719$     52.00   4,757,084$     53.00   4,966,720$     53.00   5,090,888$     53.00   5,218,160$     

% Variance 4.48% 4.44% 4.41% 2.50% 2.50%

Average $/FTE 89,308$          91,482$          93,712$          96,054$          98,456$          

Mission - 5 Year Salary Forecast

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
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SCHEDULE 3A

MISSION

Incremental estimated costs associated with FTE increase from 15/16 to 16/17

Cost Per 

FTE

SALARY & ALLOWANCE PAY

Average Cst Salary 86,338

Allowances 2,500

TOTAL SALARY & ALLOWANCE 88,838$                

OPERATING COST 35,500                  

TOTAL COSTS (before Indirect Costs) 124,338$              

INDIRECT COSTS

1) Pensions (Total Pensionable Earnings) 86,338                  

      Pension Rate 22.70%

    Total Cost of RM/CM Pension… 19,599$                

2) CPP (Pensionable Items) based on a Per Capita Cost of… 2,557                    

3) Employer's Contributions to EI based on a Per Capita Cost of... 1,175                    

4) Division Administration based on a Per Capita Cost of... 24,700                  

5) Total Per Capita Cost of Recruitment & Training… 4,373                    

6) Cost of National Programs, Other Indirects & Consolidated Services… 2,529                    

INDIRECT COSTS 54,932                  

GRAND TOTAL (at 100%) 179,270$           

MUNICIPAL COST TOTAL (at 90%) 161,343$           

** The above costs has been incorporated in the 16/17 5yr plan

2016/17
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Schedule 4

E Div - Divisional Administration 1 of 2 

Actuals Pre Final Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget
2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Administration & Overhead Costs 51,436,367$        49,168,830$        53,171,368$         53,385,406$         54,006,927$         54,511,832$         54,904,223$         55,175,214$                
Special Leave Costs 62,958,325$        69,642,786$        72,566,419$         74,381,945$         76,249,270$         78,170,083$         80,146,137$         82,179,240$                
Health Services Costs 19,801,472$        21,162,771$        22,220,909$         23,331,955$         24,498,553$         25,723,480$         27,009,654$         28,360,137$                
Total Costs 134,196,164$      139,974,387$      147,958,696$       151,099,306$       154,754,749$       158,405,395$       162,060,014$       165,714,591$              
Administration & Overhead Costs Per Capita Rate 8,246$                  8,001$                  8,653$                   8,688$                   8,789$                   8,871$                   8,935$                   8,979$                          
Special Leave Costs Per Capita Rate 10,093$                11,333$                11,809$                 12,105$                 12,408$                 12,721$                 13,043$                 13,373$                        
Health Services Costs Per Capita Rate 3,174$                  3,444$                  3,616$                   3,797$                   3,987$                   4,186$                   4,395$                   4,615$                          
Total Per Capita Rate 21,514$                22,779$                24,078$                24,589$                25,184$                25,778$                26,373$                26,967$                        

 Per Capita Rate YoY % Increase -12% 6% 6% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2%

Division Component
Administrative:
     Pay 29,176,794           26,514,363           29,380,272           30,279,982           30,711,226           31,023,105           31,219,716           31,292,162                  
     O&M 7,014,773             5,239,119             6,221,269             6,343,911             6,468,908             6,596,304             6,726,141             6,858,463                     
  Total Pay and O&M 36,191,567          31,753,482          35,601,541           36,623,893           37,180,134           37,619,409           37,945,857           38,150,625                  
     Vehicles&Other Capital 79,781                  270,091                270,310                 270,310                 270,310                 270,310                 270,310                 270,310                        
     Accounting Operations - Note 1 1,753,286             2,510,550             2,472,349             2,412,572             2,412,572             2,412,572             2,412,572             2,412,572                     
     RM Compensation - Note 1 2,730,242             2,447,137             2,346,409             2,146,200             2,146,200             2,146,200             2,146,200             2,146,200                     
     PSE Compensation - Note 1 677,242                630,438                 546,582                 546,582                 546,582                 546,582                 546,582                        
     Shared Services Canada - Note 2 1,053,276             1,053,276             1,053,276             1,053,276             1,053,276             1,053,276             1,053,276             1,053,276                     

  Employee Assistance Services - Note 3 316,248                316,248                 313,144                 313,144                 313,144                 313,144                 313,144                        
  NCO Promotion Unit - Note 3 643,823                704,522                 698,008                 698,008                 698,008                 698,008                 698,008                        
  Mat/Pat 8,754,035             7,890,492             8,285,016             8,699,267             9,134,230             9,590,942             10,070,489           10,574,013                  
  Pay in Lieu of Leave upon retirement 3,236,203             3,223,680             3,285,496             3,348,150             3,411,598             3,475,789             3,540,656             3,606,124                     

      Leave with/without Pay, Suspended from Duty 42,693,589           47,298,738           48,244,713           49,209,607           50,193,799           51,197,675           52,221,629           53,266,061                  
      Health Services Costs 19,801,472           21,162,771           22,220,909           23,331,955           24,498,553           25,723,480           27,009,654           28,360,137                  
      Members Pensions (including Mat/Meds) 9,521,622             12,838,584           14,606,873           15,006,247           15,416,944           15,839,291           16,273,620           16,720,284                  
      Public Servants Pensions 2,659,071             2,423,925             2,464,784             2,507,760             2,551,532             2,596,114             2,641,521             2,687,771                     
      Members EI Contribution 628,085                691,749                709,042                 726,767                 744,937                 763,559                 782,651                 802,220                        
      Public Servants EI Contribution 319,849                309,352                317,086                 325,013                 333,138                 341,467                 350,003                 358,754                        
Total Administrative Costs 129,422,077        135,511,140        143,529,013         147,218,752         150,904,958         154,587,819         158,276,174         161,966,082                
Less:
     Legal Fees & Claims and Compensation Settlements (132,106)               (380,702)               (350,000)               (350,000)               (350,000)               (350,000)               (350,000)               (350,000)                       
     Inter Divisional Transfers (344,046)               (288,835)               (350,000)               (350,000)               (350,000)               (350,000)               (350,000)               (350,000)                       
     Refund of Prior Year (15,110)                 
Total Non-Billable Items & Credits (491,262)              (669,537)              (700,000)               (700,000)               (700,000)               (700,000)               (700,000)               (700,000)                      

E-Division HQ Accommodation - Note 4 5,265,349             5,265,349             5,265,349             5,265,349             5,265,349             5,265,349             5,265,349             5,265,349                     
Total Divisional Component Costs 134,196,164        140,106,951        148,094,361         151,784,100         155,470,307         159,153,167         162,841,523         166,531,431                

Divisional Component FTEs (RM / CM) - Note 5 6,238                    6,145                    6,145                     6,145                     6,145                     6,145                     6,145                     6,145                            
Divisional Component of Per Capita Div Admin Rate 21,514                  22,800                  24,100                   24,700                   25,300                   25,900                   26,500                   27,100                          

Estimated Annual Severance Liability 6,323,766            6,323,766            6,323,766             6,323,766             6,323,766             6,323,766             6,323,766             6,323,766                    
Estimated Annual Severance Per Capita Rate - Note 6 1,023                    1,023                    1,023                     1,023                     1,023                     1,023                     1,023                     1,024                            

RCMP - E Div - Divisional Administration 
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E Div - Divisional Administration 2 of 2 

Variables (Growth) 15/16 16/17 18/19 19/20 20/21

Personnel 1.02                       1.02                       1.02                       1.02                       1.02                       
O&M 1.02                       1.02                       1.02                       1.02                       1.02                       
Mat/Pat 1.05                       1.05                       1.05                       1.05                       1.05                       
Leave with/without Pay, Suspended from Duty 1.02                       1.02                       1.02                       1.02                       1.02                       
Health Services Costs 1.05                       1.05                       1.05                       1.05                       1.05                       
Pay in Lieu of Leave 1.02                       1.02                       1.02                       1.02                       1.02                       

Note 1: Accounting Operations & Compensation was centralized in 2012/13.  A per capita rate is used starting in 14/15.

Note 2: Shared Services Canada for Internal Services- the current estimate is based on 11/12 actuals and is included as a lumpsum amount for 14-15 onwards.

Note 3: Employee Assistance Services and NCO Promotion Unit are included as a per capita rate starting in 14/15 in Divisional Admin calculations.

Note 4: Forecast for 14/15 onwards includes E-Division Headquarters Building which is still under discussion.  $5.25M = $15K x 350.5 (Internal Services Establishment)

Note 5: Divisional FTEs = Total Members (RM / CM) less Members on Leave (RM / CM) less Div Admin Members (RM / CM).  

Note 6: Severance - For budgeting purposes, we are continuing to identify an annual estimate of the severance liability. 

Note 7: Leave costs are increasing above projections.   RCMP/CMC is working with the Province toward creating a disability management unit focused on reducing
 long term leave.
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Schedule 5 
 

 

City of XXXXXX 

XXXXX Ave 

XXXXXX, BC 

 

 

June 12, 2015 

 

Mr. Clayton Pecknold  

Assistant Deputy Minister and Director of Police Services 

Ministry of Justice 

P.O. Box 9285 Stn Prov Govt, 

Victoria, British Columbia 

V8W 9J7 

 

Dear Sir: 

 

Re: Municipal Contract Policing Resource Request – 2016 /17 

 

This Letter of Approval in Principle is issued to conform to the Federal Treasury Board 

requirements to enable the Federal Government to set aside sufficient financial resources 

to cover their share of the Municipal RCMP contract costs. 

 

The City of XXXXXX anticipates that we will require the addition of ### (#) members to 

our detachment strength of ## to bring the total detachment strength to ## for the 2016/17 

fiscal year.  The budget estimate that is approved in principle is $XX.X million at 100% 

(that our municipality is responsible for the 90%).  It includes $XXX of capital 

equipment costing (>$150K). 

 

As outlined above, this letter provides an “approval in principle” and is issued for 

planning purposes only.  It should not be taken as approval to add the anticipated ## of 

members to the detachment.  City Council will be meeting on XXX, 2015 to confirm the 

2016/17 budget and the number of additional human resources.  We will inform you of 

that decision once it is made. 

 

If you have any questions, please give me a call at 604-XXX-XXXX. 

            

Sincerely, 

       

John Doe 

Treasurer/Deputy Administrator 

 

cc:  XXXXXXX RCMP Detachment 

      Max Xiao, Regional Director, Financial Management & Accounting Operations 

Municipality Over 15,000 
Sample Response 
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Engineering & Public Works 

Staff Report to Council 

STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL Page 1 of 8  

DATE:    June 15, 2015 

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM: Jennifer Meier, Environmental Coordinator 

SUBJECT:  Invasive Plant Management 
ATTACHMENT(S): Appendix A – Provincial Noxious Weed List 

Appendix B – Figures 
 Appendix C – Knotweed Flyer 

The control of invasive plants is a provincial requirement that applies to all property owners, 
including local governments. Hogweed poses a public safety hazard and potential liability for the 
District. Knotweed poses a potential threat to infrastructure, watercourses and buildings. In 2015, 
$20,000 will be allocated from the Environmental Charter budget to address Hogweed and 
Knotweed on public property. In the longer term, an invasive plant or species strategy should be 
developed, in order to devise a consistent approach and funding for addressing infestations on 
public, as well as private property. 

PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this report is to inform Council about the District’s effort to control invasive plants in 
the District of Mission. 

BACKGROUND: 
Invasive plants (or noxious weeds) are plants that are not native to an area, and that are lacking 
natural enemies, such as insect predators and plant pathogens, that would limit their proliferation. 
Their aggressive growth can make these alien plants difficult to control and destructive to local 
ecosystems. Additionally, the provincial Weed Control Act includes a list of designated noxious weeds 
in BC (Appendix A) and obligates all land owners and occupiers to control designated noxious weeds 
on their properties. 

While there are a number of noxious weeds in the Mission area, the two of main concern from a 
public health and infrastructure perspective are Giant Hogweed (Appendix B, Figures 1 & 2) and 
Knotweed (Appendix B, Figures 3 to 6). Hogweed presents a human health hazard and potential 
liability, as its sap can cause third degree burns and blindness. Hogweed can be controlled 
mechanically or chemically. Knotweed, in its four forms (Himalayan, Giant, Japanese and Bohemian), 
poses a threat to infrastructure, buildings and watercourses, as its extensive root system can facilitate 
erosion and penetrate concrete. Knotweed is easy to spread and difficult to contain, as mowing it or 
excavating part of the root system only exacerbates growth. With research on introducing an insect 
predator still underway, the application of herbicides is currently the only viable option for controlling 
knotweed.  

The Fraser Valley Regional District (FVRD) provides the opportunity to member municipalities to join 
its sub-regional Service Area for noxious weed control, which is in part funded by provincial grants. 
Chilliwack, Abbotsford and Electoral Areas C, D, E & G have joined, and are co-funding the FVRD’s 
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noxious weed control efforts via the FVRD’s property tax requisition on a pro-rated, per-capita basis. 
However, to date, most of the FVRD’s weed control initiatives have involved only mechanical control 
of Giant Hogweed, Wild Chervil and Tansy Ragwort, not chemical control of knotweed. As such, the 
existing FVRD program is not of value to the District. If it became a viable alternative in the future, the 
cost would be comparable to the cost currently incurred by directly contracting control services.  

In 2014, the District hired the Fraser Valley Invasive Plant Council (FVIPC) to treat 88 identified public 
knotweed sites with glyphosate (Roundup™). The FVIPC project involved setting up signage in 
sensitive locations, such as near daycares, parks and health care facilities at least 24 hours before 
treatment. All identified sites were then entered into the provincial Invasive Alien Plant Program 
(IAPP) database.  

DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:  
Hogweed infestations are somewhat limited and localized at this point, and efforts are still focused on 
eradicating this plant. There are about 20 known hogweed sites on public property throughout the 
District, but hogweed has also been found on private property. To date, hogweed infestations have 
been mainly addressed by a dedicated community volunteer. Hogweed, which can produce 50,000 
seeds on one seed head, is best controlled early in the season, when there’s less plant material to 
deal with, and there are no seed heads present yet. 

Knotweed is already widespread throughout the community, so control efforts are limited to containing 
it to sites where it does not pose an immediate threat to infrastructure, buildings and watercourses. 
Due to knotweed’s ability to sprout from small (<2.5 cm) stem sections, routine roadside maintenance 
activities have likely contributed to its spread, including onto private property. In light of this, and while 
the provincial Weed Control Act places the onus to control noxious weeds on the property owner, the 
District needs to develop a practical and fair approach to addressing infestations on private property, 
which should form part of an all-encompassing Invasive Plant Strategy.  

In order to do its part in controlling noxious weeds on public property, the District hired the FVIPC to 
treat 88 known knotweed sites in 2014. This year, Spectrum Resource Group Inc. won the 
competitive bid process to build on last year’s successes in controlling hogweed and knotweed on 
public property. The project will commence in June and be complete by November. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
The added cost of controlling knotweed and hogweed in the District of Mission is currently estimated 
to be approximately $20,000 per year. In 2014 and 2015, funds were allocated from the 
Environmental Charter budget. However, since the Environmental Charter budget is not intended to 
fund ongoing initiatives, in subsequent years, invasive plant control should be funded from the 
operating budget which would either require a spending package or adding to the FVRD’s property 
tax requisition. Staff will prepare a spending package application for the 2016 budget. It is therefore 
suggested that a spending package application be added for the 2016 operating budget. 

Currently, the FVRD’s program is still evolving and does not include chemical control of knotweed. 
Even if it did, based on the FVRD’s pro-rated, per-capita tax requisition system and Abbotsford’s 
contribution of approximately $80,000 in 2014, the District’s contribution to the FVRD’s Service Area 
would be approximately $20,000, providing no financial advantage to the District at the present time; 
however staff will continue to monitor the situation.  

COMMUNICATION: 
Areas that will receive pesticide treatment will be marked and signed by the contracted applicator, as 
per provincial and federal requirements. Flyers (Appendix C) will be distributed to property owners 
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who are found to have knotweed infestations on their properties.  

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:  
The control of noxious weeds is a provincial requirement that applies to all property owners, including 
local governments. Hogweed poses a public safety hazard and potential liability for the District. 
Knotweed poses a potential threat to infrastructure, watercourses and buildings. Regular roadside 
maintenance activities have furthered the spread of knotweed, and a consistent strategy involving 
both public and private property is required to keep this highly invasive plant in check. The 2015 
Environmental Charter budget allocates $20,000 to address hogweed and knotweed on public 
property. In the longer term, an invasive plant or species strategy should be developed, in order to 
devise a consistent approach and funding for addressing infestations on public, as well as private 
property.    

SIGN-OFFS:   

 

 

Jennifer Meier, Environmental Coordinator Reviewed by: 
Tracy Kyle, Director of Engineering & Public 
Works 

Comment from Chief Administrative Officer 
Reviewed. 
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Appendix A 

Provincial Noxious Weed List 

Common Name 
Annual Sow Thistle  
Bohemian Knotweed  
Bur Chervil  
Canada Thistle  
Common Crupina  
Common Reed  
Common Toadflax  
Dalmatian Toadflax  
Dense-flowered Cordgrass  
Diffuse Knapweed  
Dodder  
English Cordgrass  
Flowering Rush  
Garlic Mustard  
Giant Hogweed  
Giant Knotweed  
Giant Mannagrass/Reed Sweetgrass  
Gorse  
Himalayan Knotweed  
Hound's-tongue  
Japanese Knotweed  
Jointed Goatgrass  
Leafy Spurge  
Milk Thistle  
North Africa Grass  
Perennial Sow Thistle  
Purple Loosestrife  
Purple Nutsedge  
Rush Skeletonweed  
Saltmeadow Cordgrass  
Scentless Chamomile  
Smooth Cordgrass  
Spotted Knapweed  
Tansy Ragwort  
Velvetleaf  
Wild Oats  
Yellow Flag Iris  
Yellow Nutsedge  
Yellow Starthistle

Scientific Name 
(Sonchus oleraceus)  
(Fallopia x bohemica)  
(Anthriscus caucalis)  
(Cirsium arvense)  
(Crupina vulgaris)  
(Phragmites australis subspecies australis)  
(Linaria vulgaris)  
(Linaria dalmatica)  
(Spartina densiflora)  
(Centaurea diffusa)  
(Cuscuta spp.)  
(Spartina anglica)  
(Butomus umbellatus)  
(Alliaria petiolata)  
(Heracleum mantegazzianum)  
(Fallopia sachalinensis)  
(Glyceria maxima)  
(Ulex europaeus)  
(Polygonum polystachyum)  
(Cynoglossum officinale)  
(Fallopia japonica)  
(Aegilops cylindrica)  
(Euphorbia esula)  
(Silybum marianum)  
(Ventenata dubia)  
(Sonchus arvensis)  
(Lythrum salicaria)  
(Cyperus rotundus)  
(Chondrilla juncea)  
(Spartina patens)  
(Matricaria maritima)  
(Spartina alterniflora)  
(Centaurea maculosa)  
(Senecio jacobaea)  
(Abutilon theophrasti)  
(Avena fatua)  
(Iris pseudacorus)  
(Cyperus esculentus)  
(Centaurea solstitialis) 
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Appendix B 

Figures 

 
Figure 1 - Giant Hogweed 
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Figure 2 - Giant Hogweed 
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Figure 3 - Japanese Knotweed 

 

Figure 4 - Himalayan Knotweed 
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Figure 5 - Bohemian Knotweed 

 

Figure 6 - Giant Knotweed 
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Dear Resident, 
 
Spectrum Resource Group Inc., on behalf of the District of Mission, is undertaking control efforts on 
four types of invasive knotweed (Japanese, Giant, Himalayan and Bohemian). All knotweed species 
have been designated “noxious” under the provincial Weed Control Act, which obligates land owners 
and occupiers to control these plants. The District is fulfilling this obligation by addressing knotweed 
infestations on road right-of-ways and other public lands.  
 

 
  Japanese knotweed     Giant knotweed       Himalayan knotweed    Bohemian knotweed 

 
Originally from Asia’s lava fields, knotweed thrives beyond control in the Lower Mainland’s fertile 
soils. Knotweed is non-toxic, but it can have devastating effects on infrastructure and the 
environment. It can grow through concrete, asphalt and building foundations. Its deep root system 
does not hold soil, so knotweed can pose a serious erosion hazard near waterways. Knotweed can 
sprout from small (less than 2-cm/1-inch) stem segments and can multiply rapidly, crowding out 
native plants and destroying wildlife habitat. Standard control methods, such as digging up the roots 
or repeatedly cutting or mulching these plants only further their spread.  
 
During the course of our work, we noticed knotweed on your property. For the reasons listed above, 
we strongly encourage you to take steps to eradicate this invasive, noxious weed from your property. 
Please do not mulch, compost or dig up this plant. For advice on control options, please contact the 
Fraser Valley Invasive Plant Council (FVIPC)1 at 604-615-9333 or fvipc@shaw.ca or visit 
www.fraservalleyweeds.com for additional information.  
 
For more information on the District’s control efforts, please call the Environmental Coordinator at 
604-820-3795 or e-mail engineering@mission.ca.  
 
Your cooperation is appreciated. 

                                                 
1
 The Fraser Valley Invasive Plant Council is a non-profit society made up of volunteer members representing local and 

provincial government, non-government organizations (NGOs), First Nations, naturalist clubs, industry, and the interested 

public. Members are committed to reducing the negative impacts caused by invasive plants. The FVIPC works within the 

Fraser Valley Regional District geographical boundary which includes the municipalities of Abbotsford, Mission, 

Chilliwack, Agassiz, Harrison Hot Springs, and Hope, and Electoral Areas A, B, C, D, E, F, and G. The FVIPC is one of a 

network of 17 regional invasive species councils throughout the province and works closely with these other councils and 

the Invasive Species Council of BC. 
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STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL Page 1 of 8  

DATE:    June 15, 2015 

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM: Hirod Gill, Manager of Engineering Design and Planning 

SUBJECT:  Transportation Master Plan Update 
ATTACHMENTS: Appendix A: Phase 1 - Outcomes 

Appendix B: Phase 2 - Project Progress to Date 

This report provides an update on the District’s Transportation Master Plan, including work 
completed to date and tasks planned for the next few months. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The District of Mission started the Transportation Master Plan (TMP) in the fall of 2014 to identify a 
more efficient and sustainable transportation system to support the projected population and 
employment growth in the District. The TMP will be integrated with the District’s Official Community 
Plan (OCP) that is to be updated in 2015.  

This report provides an update to Council on the progress made to date and outlines the next steps in 
the project. The TMP consists of 4 phases and is planned to be completed by the fall of 2015 with a 
follow-up report to Council.  

Phase 2 of this project is currently underway, where the existing transportation condition is being 
analyzed. As a part of Phase 2, a public open house and website questionnaire were held to capture 
perceived issues with the existing transportation systems and aspirations for future transportation in 
Mission. The received inputs from residents are being analyzed and will be reflected in Phase 3 of the 
project.  

BACKGROUND: 
The District of Mission adopted an OCP in 2008. A TMP is required as part of the implementation of 
the OCP. In the fall of 2014, the District retained the consulting firm Parsons Inc. to assist with 
preparing a TMP for Mission. A staff report to Council on October 6, 2014 outlined the project 
objectives and methodologies. 

DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS: 
The TMP consists of five components: a pedestrian plan, a bicycling plan, a transit strategy, a goods 
movement plan, and a road network plan.   

The project is currently underway and is planned to be completed by the fall of 2015 and followed up 
with a report to Council.  A high level schedule is shown in the following figure: 
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Appendix A 
Phase 1 – Outcomes 

Draft TMP Vision Statement (adapted from OCP) 
Mission has an integrated multi-modal transportation system that provides a range of linked 
transportation options and services, including vehicular transport and public transit, as well as safe 
and efficient means for pedestrians and cyclists to move throughout the community and beyond to 
neighbouring communities. 

Draft TMP Objectives (adapted from OCP) 
The TMP needs to support and be integrated with the OCP, and assist with achieving the following 
transportation-related objectives: 

1. Provide a safe, balanced and integrated transportation system giving consideration to all 
modes of transportation – pedestrian, public transit, private vehicle, bicycles and other 
alternative modes; 

2. Provide an efficient, safe and pleasant road network to meet the existing and future needs of 
the community; 

3. Support a public transit system that provides a convenient alternative to the automobile, and 
promotes transit-supportive land-use development; 

4. Encourage walking within the community and provide for a safe, convenient and pleasant 
environment for pedestrians; 

5. Support cycling as an important travel mode and work towards a comprehensive, District-wide 
system of trails and facilities for cyclists; and 

6. Maintain and improve the multi-use and equestrian trails in the municipality. 

Draft TMP Goals 
Based on the draft vision and objectives for transportation in Mission, specific goals for each of the 
component plans of the TMP were proposed by the Project Steering Committee as follows: 

Pedestrian Plan Goals 
 Make the walking experience safe, and comfortable 
 Provide for a pleasant environment for pedestrians 
 Improve pedestrian safety and accessibility 

Bicycling Plan Goals 
 Expand and enhance the cycling network 
 Enhance and improve cycling crossings 
 Enhance public trip end facilities and update guidelines for private trip end facilities 

Transit Strategy Goals 
 Promote transit-supportive land use development 

o Densities 
o Transit friendly road patterns 

 Enhance and provide transit service supportive infrastructure 
o Accessible transit stops 
o Bus stop amenities 
o Transit priority measures 
o Customer information 
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Goods Movement Plan Goals 
 Provide truck routes that meet truck traffic needs to flow efficiently and expeditiously with 

minimal disruption and maximum safety for the public 

Road Network Plan Goals 
 Provide an efficient, safe and pleasant road network to meet the existing and future needs of 

the community 
 Enhance network connectivity 
 Enhance intersection safety 
 Provide a road network for all modes, “Complete Streets” 
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Appendix B 
Phase 2 - Project Progress to Date 

The Fraser Valley Regional District conducted a trip survey in 2011. For Mission, the survey revealed 
that about 70 percent of daily trips are local trips internal to Mission, as shown in the following pie 
chart. 

 

The following figure breaks down further the nature of the trips made within each destination showed 
in the above pie chart.  

For example, of these trips within Mission, about 10 percent are journeys to work, 30 percent are for 
shopping, 20 percent are for social / recreational purposes, 18 percent are to and from schools, and 
about 22 percent are escort trips (taking someone else to their destination), as shown in the figure 
below. Trip purposes to other destinations are also shown in the following figure. 
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7%

Daily Trips by Destination from Mission
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*- Source: Fraser Valley Regional District 

Generally, about 87 percent of all daily trips in Mission are made by automobile, seven percent by 
walking, three percent by transit, and three percent by other modes, as shown in the figure below. 
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DISTRICT OF MISSION
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING

Pursuant to the provisions of Sections 890 and 892 of the Local Government Act, a Public Hearing 
will take place in the Council Chambers of the Municipal Hall, 8645 Stave Lake Street, Mission, BC 
at 7:00 p.m. on Monday, June 15, 2015 to consider the following proposed bylaw:

1. DISTRICT OF MISSION ZONING AMENDING BYLAW 5510-2015-5050(175) (P2015-022 R15-
010) – McPherson

The purpose of the proposed amendment is to amend the text of the Zoning Bylaw by adding a 
new Comprehensive Development Zone and rezoning the property located at 8474 Grassick 
Street, and a portion of the property located at 33973 McPhee Place, to enable the subsequent 
subdivision of the subject property into six (6) lots of a minimum 452 square metre (4,865.2 
square foot) lot size.

This bylaw proposes to amend District of Mission Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009 by adding a new 
Comprehensive Development 37 (CD37) zone and amending the zoning of the property legally 
described as Parcel Identifier: 029-470-731 Lot 44 Section 27 Township 17 New Westminster 
District Plan EPP45270, and a portion of the property legally described as Parcel Identifier: 029-
470-315 Lot 34 Section 27 Township 17 New Westminster District Plan EPP45267, from the
Urban Residential 465 (R465) Zone to Comprehensive Development 37 (CD37) Zone.

The location of the subject property is 8474 Grassick Street and 33973 McPhee Place and is 
shown on the following maps:

    

Copies of the proposed bylaw and report relevant to this bylaw may be inspected at the Municipal 
Hall, 8645 Stave Lake Street, Mission, BC, Monday to Friday, excluding statutory holidays, from 8:00 
a.m. to 4:30 p.m., from June 5, 2015 to June 15, 2015. The information is also available on our 
website at www.mission.ca by searching “Public Meeting Information”.  For further information 
regarding this bylaw, please contact the Development Services Department at (604) 820-3748.

At the Public Hearing, persons who believe that their interest in property is affected by this proposed 
bylaw will have the opportunity to be heard.

Should you have any comments or concerns you wish to convey to Council and you cannot attend 
the meeting, please submit in writing to the Acting Corporate Officer by 4:30 p.m. on Friday, June 
12, 2015.

You may forward your submission by:

Mailing or delivering to the Acting Corporate Officer’s Office, P.O. Box 20, 8645 Stave Lake 
Street, Mission, BC, V2V 4L9

Faxing: 604-826-1363 (Attn: Acting Corporate Officer)

E-mail: info@mission.ca with PUBLIC HEARING COMMENTS as the subject line

Please note: Submissions that are subject of a public hearing, public meeting or other public
processes will be included, in their entirety, in the public information package and will form part of 
the public record. Council shall not receive further information or submissions after the conclusion of 
the Public Hearing.

Following the Public Hearing portion of the meeting, council may consider advancing bylaws forward 
for additional readings. 

Tina Penney
Acting Corporate Officer

Dated at Mission, BC
this 3rd day of June, 2015

\\Maverick\Data\COMDEV\PUBLIC HEARINGS & PUBLIC INPUT MEETINGS\NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING\2015\June 15 2015.docx
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D E V E L O P M E N T  S E R V I C E S  D E P A R T M E N T  

 
 
FILE: 3310-15 
P2015-022 R15-010 

 
June 3, 2015 
 
Dear Owner/Occupant:  

Re: Rezoning Application R15-010, Development Permit Application DP15-005 and 
Development Variance Permit Application DV15-004 (McPherson) – 8474 Grassick 
Street & 33973 McPhee Place 

Rezoning, development permit and development variance permit applications have been 
received from Mr. KC McPherson for a proposed new residential development in your 
neighbourhood.  

As a property owner or neighboring resident to the properties located at 8474 Grassick Street 
and 33973 McPhee Place, you are invited to attend a Public Hearing on June 15, 2015 at 7:00 
p.m. and make known any comments that you may have.  

The Public Hearing will be held in the Council Chambers of the Municipal Hall, 8645 Stave Lake 
Street, Mission, BC.  

The following is an excerpt from the Public Hearing Notice: 

DISTRICT OF MISSION ZONING AMENDING BYLAW 5510-2015-5050(175) (P2015-022 
R15-010) – McPherson 

The purpose of the proposed amendment is to amend the text of the Zoning Bylaw by 
adding a new Comprehensive Development zone and rezoning the property located at 8474 
Grassick Street, and a portion of the property located at 33973 McPhee Place, to enable the 
subsequent subdivision of the subject property into six (6) lots of a minimum 452 square 
metre (4,865.2 square foot) lot size. 

This bylaw proposes to amend District of Mission Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009 by adding a new 
Comprehensive Development 37 (CD37) zone and amending the zoning of the property 
legally described as Parcel Identifier: 029-470-731 Lot 44 Section 27 Township 17 New 
Westminster District Plan EPP45270, and a portion of the property legally described as 
Parcel Identifier: 029-470-315 Lot 34 Section 27 Township 17 New Westminster District Plan 
EPP45267, from the Urban Residential 465 (R465) Zone to Comprehensive 
Development 37 (CD37) Zone. 

The location of the subject property is 8474 Grassick Street and 33973 McPhee Place and is 
shown on the following maps: 
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The purpose of the development permit is to provide conformity to the Official Community Plan 
guidelines respecting building form, landscaping, signage and parking. 

The purpose of the development variance permit is to reduce the proposed road width from 18 
metres (59 feet) to 15 metres (49.2 feet). 

This letter is to serve as notice to all adjacent property owners and occupiers of land that the 
District of Mission Council will consider these applications at the June 15, 2015 Regular Council 
meeting. The Council meeting will be held at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers of the 
Municipal Hall, 8645 Stave Lake Street, Mission, BC.  

An opportunity will be given for any interested parties to comment on the rezoning, development 
permit and the development variance permit applications at the Regular Council meeting. 

If you have any questions, please contact Donna-Lee Lakes, Planner, at 604-820-3790 or email 
dlakes@mission.ca. 

Yours truly, 

 

For, 
Dan Sommer 
MANAGER OF PLANNING 
 
\\MAVERICK\DATA\COMDEV\PUBLIC HEARINGS & PUBLIC INPUT MEETINGS\PUBLIC HEARING NOTIFICATION LETTERS\PH NOTIFICATION LTR TO OWNER 
OCCUPANT - R15-010.DOCX 
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Development Services 
Staff Report to Council 

STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL Page 1 of 16  

File Category:  LGMA 3360 3060 3090 

P2015-022 R15-010 DP15-005 DV15-004 

DATE:   June 1, 2015 

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM: Donna-Lee Lakes, Planner  

SUBJECT: Rezoning, Development Permit, Development Variance Permit and Street 
Naming for a 6-lot urban residential development at 8474 Grassick Street 
and 33973 McPhee Place 

ATTACHMENT(S):  Appendix 1 – Information for Corporate Officer 

Appendix 2 – Location Map 

Appendix 3 – Zoning Amending Bylaw Reference Plan 

Appendix 4 – Proposed Comprehensive Development (CD37) Zone 

Appendix 5 – Draft Plan of Subdivision & Forward Plan 

Appendix 6 – Example House Designs 

Appendix 7 – Engineering Department Rezoning Comments 

CIVIC ADDRESS: 8474 Grassick Street and 33973 McPhee Place 

APPLICANT: 410374 BC Ltd. (KC McPherson & Gary Toor, property owners) 

OCP: This application is in conformance with the current Urban Residential OCP 
designation. 

DATE APPLICATION 
COMPLETE: 

 
May 8, 2015 

LOCATION:  
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OVERVIEW AND STAFF COMMENTS 

This report details the rezoning, development permit, development variance permit and street 
naming applications related to the development of the properties located at 8474 Grassick Street 
and 33973 McPhee Place and identifies the necessary bylaw amendments and variances.  

Staff support the applications moving forward and as such have listed the Zoning Amending Bylaw 
and the Street Naming Bylaw under the “Bylaws for Consideration” and the accompanying 
Development Variance Permit under “New/Other Business” sections of the agenda. 

Subject to Council’s approval, a Public Hearing will be scheduled for June 15, 2015. 

SUMMARY 

Development applications have been received for the properties located at 8474 Grassick Street and 
33973 McPhee Place (Appendix 2). The applications include the proposal to rezone the property 
located at 8474 Grassick Street and the westernmost portion of the property located at 33973 
McPhee Place from Urban Residential 465 (R465) Zone to Comprehensive Development 37 (CD37) 
Zone (Appendix 3).  The rezoning of the properties to the proposed CD37 Zone would facilitate a six 
(6) lot residential subdivision development.  The applications also include the extension of a new 
street (McPhee Place), proposed building form and character designs as well as a development 
variance for a proposed road. 

Specifically, the rezoning application seeks to amend the District of Mission Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009 
by adding Section 1237 and a new Comprehensive Development Zone (CD37) to the Zoning Bylaw 
and then subsequently rezoning the property located at 8474 Grassick Street and three (3) metres of 
the westernmost portion of the property located at 33973 McPhee Place as shown on Appendix 3 
from R465 Zone to CD37 Zone. As the CD37 Zone is based largely on the Residential Compact 465 
Zone (RC465), which is supported for infill development in the Urban Residential designated areas of 
Mission, the rezoning of the lands is considered consistent with the properties’ Official Community 
Plan (OCP) designation of Urban Residential (the CD37 Zone is detailed in Appendix 4). 

BACKGROUND  

The property located at 8474 Grassick Street and the property directly south (8448 Stave Lake Street, 
which is not part of this application) are the last remaining parcels within a newly created residential 
neighbourhood that have further subdivision potential.  Many of the lots in this new neighbourhood 
have recently been issued building permits and a number of homes are currently under construction.    

The larger of the subject properties in this development application (8474 Grassick Street) is 
approximately 0.345 hectares (0.85 acre) in size and was left as a larger remainder lot that created 
two (2) urban residential lots along Stave Lake Street. The smaller property that is also included in 
this development application (33973 McPhee Place) was created as part of an adjacent 35 lot 
subdivision.  While this smaller lot has no further subdivision potential, a portion of its land is needed 
to facilitate the subdivision of the larger abutting property.  As Appendix 3 shows, the subdivision and 
consolidation of a 3 metre wide swath of land from Lot 34 to proposed Lot F will allow the entire site to 
be subdivided to create 6 new residential lots and thereby advancing the completion this new 
neighbourhood.  Adding the 74.7 square metres (804 square feet) of 33973 McPhee Place (Lot 34) 
ensures that proposed Lot F meets the minimum lot area, width and depth requirements as 
prescribed in the CD37 Zone and provides for an overall lot layout that is generally consistent with the 
surrounding residential neighbourhood.  
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PLANNING ANALYSIS 

Zoning and OCP Bylaws Compliance  

The subject properties are currently designated Urban Residential in the OCP and are zoned R465 
Zone.  The current zone allows for a combination of lot areas that are either 558 square metres (6,006 
square feet) or 465 square metres (5,005 square feet) lots with a maximum of 40% of the total lots in 
any one development allowed as the smaller 465 square metre sized lots. Development of the 
properties under the current zone would yield 5 residential lots that are generally wider than those that 
currently exist in the surrounding neighbourhood and would require variances to each of the lots’ 
depths.  

As such, the applicant seeks to rezone the property located at 8474 Grassick Street and the three (3) 
metres of the westernmost portion of the property located at 33973 McPhee Place from R465 Zone to 
a new comprehensive development zone, i.e., CD37 Zone (Appendix 4).  The proposed CD37 Zone 
is based on the existing RC465 Zone which is supported for infill development in the Urban 
Residential designated areas of Mission.  

However, the CD37 Zone would allow all the lots in this development to have proposed lot areas of 
approximately 452 square metres (4,865 square feet) which is needed to accommodate a 6-lot 
subdivision but would meet all the dimension requirements of the RC465 and thus require no 
variances.  Specifically, the rationale for the CD bylaw is to accommodate slightly smaller lot areas 
than those required in the RC465 Zone, i.e., an average area of 12.5 square metres (134.5 square 
feet) smaller than the 465 square metre (5,005 square feet). In exchange for the reduction in 
minimum lot area, design restraints to ensure the new homes constructed fit appropriately within the 
smaller lots will be implemented as part of the corresponding Development Permit.   

It should be noted that while the lot areas proposed in this development are on average 452 square 
metres (4,865 square feet), the minimum area proposed with the CD37 Zone is set to 445 square 
metres (4,790 square feet). The intent here is to take into account the future development potential of 
the property directly south and thereby allow Council consideration of the CD37 Zone for this property 
should the property owner(s) apply to rezone for subdivision purposes.  

It should be noted that the forward plan of subdivision for the property to the south is contingent upon 
a portion of lands being consolidated from an adjacent residential lot (i.e., Lot 33).  Staff have been 
advised that an agreement has been reached between the property owners that would allow the 
subdivision to proceed as shown in Appendix 5.   Failure to acquire these lands may result in a 
reduced lot yield for this future development as the minimum lot area of the CD37 Zone would not be 
achieved for all the proposed lots.            

Overall, staff support the 6 lot development proposed given the property’s OCP designation of Urban 
Residential and that apart from a smaller minimum lot area and lot coverage, the CD37 Zone will 
stipulate the same lot dimensions and setback requirements including all other applicable provisions 
of the RC465 Zone, which is supported for infill development in the Urban Residential designated 
areas of Mission.     

Neighbourhood Character 

The subject properties are situated within the Urban Infill Area of Mission which consists primarily of 
urban residential zoned properties. The neighbouring properties have lot areas ranging from 465 
square metres (5,005 square feet) to 558 square metres (6,006 square feet) and are also designated 
Urban Residential in the OCP. The proposed development is generally consistent with the 
neighbourhood density and would facilitate the completion of this new residential neighbourhood in 
Mission.  
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Access and Servicing 

The extension of McPhee Place to Grassick Street to the west is required to facilitate this 
development. A forward plan of subdivision (Appendix 5) illustrates how the development site located 
directly south of the subject properties would also benefit from the extension of the road and services. 

Environmental Protection 

There are no watercourses or environmentally sensitive areas on the subject properties. The 
properties are relatively flat and therefore no geotechnical issues are expected to arise. 

Tree Retention 

In accordance with Council Policy LAN. 32 – Tree Retention and Replanting, the applicant will be 
required to plant a total of 12 trees; 2 trees for each of the six (6) lots created. This condition will be 
met as part of the subdivision approval process.  
 
Parks and Trails  

As no parkland has been identified within this site, the Parks, Recreation and Culture Department is 
recommending cash-in-lieu for parkland for this development proposal. This proposal is located 
adjacent to a protected green space and is within walking distance to the Cherry Ridge Trail which 
connects to College Heights Trail and the Heritage Park trail system. 

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT  

Developments proposing compact residential housing require approval of an “Intensive Residential 
Development Permit”. The OCP establishes guidelines for the form and character of homes on 
compact lots.  The guidelines encourage a higher standard of building design, housing alternative, 
site compatibility and site aesthetics all of which would promote the important quality of a vibrant 
residential neighbourhood.  

As part of the development permit approval process, the applicant is required to register a restrictive 
covenant to ensure that the proposed residential buildings meet the Intensive Residential 
Development Permit Guidelines as outlined in the OCP. The applicant has provided examples of the 
homes that will be promoted in this development and as part of a building scheme (Appendix 6). As 
the approval of Intensive Residential Development Permits are delegated to the Director of 
Development Services (or designate), no formal approval from Council is required.  

DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT  

The applicant proposes to vary District of Mission Subdivision Control Bylaw 1500-1985 by varying 
“SCHEDULE A”: Required Highway Widths: for an Urban Local Residential Highway by reducing the 
road width from 18 metres (59 feet) to 15 metres (49.2 feet). 

Staff support the variance to reduce the road dedication as it would maintain the same dedication and 
travel width as was approved through a similar variance approved for the development of the adjacent 
properties. The narrowing of the road would allow these last two parcels to develop and complete the 
neighbourhood. The variance is not to accommodate additional lot yield. Through the coordination 
among the contractor, consulting engineer and District staff, all underground utilities can be installed 
within the proposed corridor although the ability to plant boulevard trees will be restricted. 
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COMMUNITY AMENITY CONTRIBUTION (LAN.40 – Financial Contribution for Community 
Amenities)  

Following the guidance of Council Policy LAN.40, the applicant has volunteered to contribute $2,815 
towards each new lot created with this development.  The contribution is to offset the unique financial 
burden that residential development incurs on the District to fund new facilities and/or amenities. It is 
noted that the applicant is only contributing towards 3 of the 5 new lots created for a total of $8,445 as 
contributions for two of the lots had previously been made as part of the previous rezoning 
application. 

COMMUNICATION 

The developer has posted one (1) development notification sign on the site summarizing the 
proposed development. Provided a public hearing date is determined by Council, the sign will be 
modified to advertise the public hearing details (i.e., date, time and place). In addition, a notice will be 
mailed to the owners and to the occupiers of all properties within a distance of 152 metres (500 ft.) of 
the development site notifying them of the public hearing details.  

Policy LAN.50 - Pre-Public hearing Information Packages 

A pre-public hearing information package will be prepared to include copies of all applicable 
documents and will be made available online or at municipal hall for public viewing. 

Bylaw 3612-2003 Land Use Application Procedures and Fees 

A notice of Public Hearing will be prepared in accordance with Bylaw 3612-2003 and the Local 
Government Act. 

A notice of Development Variance Permit shall be mailed or otherwise delivered in accordance with 
Bylaw 3612-2003 and the Local Government Act.  

REFERRALS  

The Engineering Department has no objection to the project subject to the completion of engineering 
servicing requirements as outlined in Appendix 7. 

REQUIREMENT(S) PRIOR TO FINAL READING 

The Final Reading of the zone amending bylaw will be held until the following have been satisfied: 

1. Receipt of the volunteered community amenity contribution in the amount of $8,445 which is based 
on $2,815 per new lot created and a credit for previous a contribution. 

2. Registration or undertaking that a section 219 restrictive covenant is registered against the title of 
all the new lots created to ensure that the form and character of the proposed development is 
consistent with the existing neighbourhood and meets the Intensive Residential Development 
Permit Area Guidelines. 

3. Satisfaction of any other requirements resulting from Council’s consideration of the Bylaw including 
Public Hearing proceedings. 

INFORMATIONAL NOTES 

1. Approval of Development Variance Permit DV15-004 will be considered as part of the same 
Council agenda as the Zoning Amending Bylaw is considered for adoption.  
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2. Adoption of the associated Street Naming Bylaw (extension) will be considered as part of the 
same Council agenda as the Zoning Amending Bylaw is considered for adoption 

3. In accordance with Section 941 of the Local Government Act and Council Policy LAN. 26, parkland 
dedication of five per cent (5%) is applied as cash in lieu to subdivision file S15-008. 

SIGN-OFFS:  

 

 

Donna-Lee Lakes, Planner 

 
 
Reviewed by: 
Dan Sommer, Manager of Planning 

 
Comment from Chief Administrative Officer 
Reviewed. 
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Appendix 1 
 

Information for Corporate Officer 

Civic Address: 
 

8474 Grassick Street 
 

PID: 029-470-731  
 

Legal: Lot 44 Section 27 Township 17 New Westminster District Plan 
EPP45270 
 

 

Civic Address: 
 

33973 McPhee Place  
 

PID: 029-470-315  
 

Legal: Lot 34 Section 27 Township 17 New Westminster District Plan 
EPP45267 
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Appendix 2 
 

Location Map 
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Appendix 3 
 

Zoning Amending Bylaw Reference Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Shaded Area indicates area to be rezoned from Urban Residential 465 (R465) Zone to 
Comprehensive Development 37 (CD37) Zone 
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Appendix 4 

Proposed Comprehensive Development 37 (CD37) Zone 

 

Section 1237         CD37 Zone 
 
A. Zone Intent 
 

1. The intent of this zone is to provide for one compact Single Family Dwelling in the Urban 
Residential area and as infill development within the Urban Infill Area, and compatible 
accessory uses in an urban neighbourhood form that allows higher densities.   
 

B. Permitted Uses 
 

1. The following Principal Uses and no other shall be permitted in the CD37 zone: 
 

a. Residential limited to: 
 

i. One Single Family Dwelling. 
 

2. The following Accessory Uses and no other shall be permitted in the CD37 zone: 
 

a. Agriculture limited to: 
 

i. Hobby Greenhouse.  
 

b. Residential limited to: 
 

One of: 
 

i. Boarding Use, or  
ii. Residential Care 

 
And, 

 
iii. Detached Garage,  
iv. Home Occupation. 
 

c. Storage limited to: 
 

i. Enclosed Storage. 
 
 

C. Lot Area 
 

1. Except where such a Lot existed at the date of adoption of this Bylaw or Lots created under 
Section 104, Part D, each Lot shall have a minimum area, width, and depth as shown on the 
following table: 
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Zone: Area Width Depth 

CD37 445 sq m 
(4,790 sq ft) 

16.0 m 
(52.5 ft) 

25.0 m 
(82.0 ft) 

 
2. Notwithstanding Section 601, Part C.1, where a Lot contains an Undevelopable Area, that 

area shall not be included in the calculation of minimum Lot Area. 
 
3. Notwithstanding Section 601, Part C.1 and C.3, where a Lot contains natural slopes greater 

than or equal to 33%, that sloped area shall not be included in the calculation of minimum Lot 
Area, or used as part of the measurement for minimum Lot Depth or Lot Width. 

 
D. Setbacks 
 

1. All Buildings and Structures shall be sited in accordance with the following minimum Setbacks: 
 

CD37: Front Rear Interior Side Exterior Side 

Principal Building 6.0 m 
(19.7 ft) 

7.5 m 
(24.6 ft) 

1.5 m  
(4.9 ft)  

3.0 m 
(9.8 ft) 

Accessory 
Building/Structure 

7.5 m 
(24.6 ft) 

1.2 m 
(3.9 ft) 

1.2 m 
(3.9 ft) 

3.0 m 
(9.8 ft) 

 
2. The Front Yard Setback of the Principal Building may be reduced to a minimum of 4.0 m (13.2 

ft) provided the Front Yard Setback of a garage is a minimum of 6.0 m (19.7 ft). 
 
3. The minimum Setback for any attached garage shall be 6.0 m (19.7 ft) and 7.5 m when the lot 

is fronted by a sidewalk. 
 

4. The minimum separation required between the Principal Building and all Accessory Buildings 
exceeding 3.0m in Height, including a Detached Garage regardless of Building Height, is 5.0 
m (16.4 ft). 

 
5. Notwithstanding Section 601 Part D.1, all Buildings shall be sited a minimum of 6.0 m (19.6 ft) 

from all Undevelopable Areas as defined in this Bylaw.   
 

6. Notwithstanding Section 601 Part D.1, the Buildable Area of any Lot shall be a minimum 140 
sq m (1,507 sq ft). 

 
E. Lot Coverage  
 

1. Buildings shall together cover not more than the Lot Area as noted in the following table: 
 

Zone: Lot Coverage 

CD37 35% 

 
F. Floor Space 
 

1. The floor space should not exceed the following ratios or the maximum floor area, whichever is 
less, as listed in the following table (Garage space, detached or attached, is not used in 
calculating total floor area): 
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Zone: 

Floor Space 
Ratio 

Maximum Floor 
Space 

CD37 0.70 335 sq m 
(3,606 sq ft) 

 
2. The maximum Floor Space of the second storey of the Principal Building shall not exceed 80% 

of the Floor Space of the first storey including attached garage and/or a covered, unenclosed, 
uninhabitable front porch or veranda.  The reduced Floor Space of the second storey shall be 
accomplished by an offset at the second storey level from either the front or side walls at the 
first storey level or a combination thereof. 

 
G. Impervious Surfaces 
 

1. Impervious Surfaces shall together cover not more than the Lot Area as noted: 
 

Zone: Lot Area 

CD37 50% 

 
H. Number of Residential Buildings 
 

1. Buildings for a Residential Use shall be limited to one per Lot. 
 
I. Height of Buildings  
 

1. The intent of the Height of the Principal Building shall permit a two storey Building with a 
Basement not exceeding 9.5 m (31.1 ft). 

 
2. The Height of an Accessory Building shall not exceed one storey to a maximum of 6.0 m (19.7 

ft). 
 
J. Off Street Parking 
 

1. Off Street Parking shall be in accordance with the provisions of Section 109. 
 

2. Off Street Parking shall not occupy more than 30% of the Front Yard. 
 

3. Access width to the lot for Off Street Parking from the Front Lot Line shall be limited to a 
maximum of 5.0 m (16.4 ft). 

 
K. Hobby Greenhouse Use 
 

1. Shall be limited to a maximum of one Building not exceeding a total area of 20 sq m (215.3 sq 
ft). 

256



STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL Page 13 of 16  

Appendix 5 
 

Draft Plan of Subdivision & Forward Plan  
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Appendix 6 

Examples of Potential House Plans 
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Appendix 6 continued 
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Appendix 7 
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District of Mission 

CRC Meeting Minutes 

Cultural Resources Commission   

Date: Tuesday April 21, 2015 Time: 4:30 – 5:30 pm   Place: Board Room, Mission Leisure Centre  
 
1. Call to order: present, regrets, absent 
 Bronwen Sutherland, Chair  Michelle L. Gauthier  Val Billesberger, absent 
 Stephanie Key, Parks, Recreation & Culture  Diana Marshall  Carolyne Carney, regrets 
 Pam Alexis,  Council Liaison  Jo Priestley  Deborah Handley 
 Christina Lauzé   Kathleen MacKillop 
 Also in attendance: Rhett Nicholson, Council Alternate   
Minutes: Cate Pedersen 
 
2. Approval of Agenda. 
Motion by Stephanie to add  new item to Other Business: 7.2 2008 Cultural Resources Management Plan Review 
Agenda approved (Diana/Christina)  

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting – March 17, 2015   
Minutes approved (Kathleen/Diana) 

ACTION ACTION BY TIMEFRAME 
4. Business Arising   

4.1 Operations:  
• Website: Cate and Stephanie are continuing to make changes to the new website. It was 

mentioned that the site looks dark on some screens—different themes will be tried. Blog will 
be added once some submissions are received from members (250-500 word posts with 
images of event coverage, reviews of performances, stories about local arts and culture etc.) 

• Social Media: Facebook posts reach more people when original images and content are 
used and local events are posted about. CRC members are encouraged to take pictures and 
write short descriptions, then email to Bronwen and Stephanie to review before sending to 
Cate for posting.  

 
 

Cate and Stephanie 
 

 
All CRC members 

 
 

Ongoing 
 
 
 

Ongoing 
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Cultural Resources Commission  

5. New Business 
5.1 Review of the Mission Winter Games Arts Legacy Fund (MWGALF): Stephanie distributed an 
overview of the project and funding—$2000 is available to a non-profit arts or culture organization to 
support a permanent or semi-permanent public art installation to commemorate the 2014 BC Games. 
Applications are being accepted by the CRC via the website until Dec 31st, 2015. Applications to be 
vetted by the CRC MWGALF committee. Bronwen will compose a press release to announce grant and 
send it out to relevant organizations. Call for submissions will be shared via social media and a 
possible article. 

• Stephanie will send Cate the application form to upload to CRC website 
 

6. Working Groups 
6.1 Public Art Inventory/Guide: Diana and Michelle presented a revised art inventory and rewritten 
Public Art Application with questions and suggestions for the CRC members to review and comment 
on at the May meeting. The documents will be emailed to all members. 

• Stephanie will send updated Public Art Application to Cate to upload to website. 
6.2 Neighbourhood Initiative: May 5th Forum will be held at the Mission Leisure Centre at 7 pm. 
Christina will facilitate forum. Bronwen will provide the food and “giant post-its”. Once ideas are 
gathered the CRC can decide how best to promote the date (Saturday Sept. 26th). 

• Stephanie will send a list of community groups and information about application process and 
insurance for community events to Christina prior to the forum on May 5th.  

• Event Page can be created on FB for participants to announce their neighbourhood initiative. 
• The initiatives can also be shared on the District of Mission’s website. 
• CRC will request reviews of the events around town to track success. 
• Proposal for the Neighbourhood Initiative will be presented to council at the first meeting in 

June. 
  

7. Other Business 
7.1 PRC Open House:  

• Stephanie requested representatives from the CRC attend the open house on Sunday June 7th 
from 11am-3pm.  

• A committee was formed (Kathleen, Jo, Christina) to plan an interactive display or activity to 
engage and educate the public about upcoming events (Culture Days, Public Art, 
Neighbourhood Initiative). 

• Space will be available on the stage. Possible activities include: group art project, slideshow, 
large map of public art.  

• Committee will meet on May 5th before or after the Neighbourhood Initiative Forum. 
7.2 2008 Cultural Resources Management Plan:  

 
 
 
 
 

Bronwen 
 
 

Stephanie 
 
 

All Members 
 
 
 

Stephanie 
 
 
 

Stephanie 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Kathleen, Jo, 
Christina 

 

 
 
 
 
 

ASAP 
 
 

ASAP 
 
 

By May 19th meeting 
 
 
 

ASAP 
 
 
 

ASAP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning: May 5th  
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Cultural Resources Commission  

Stephanie addressed the required actions and goals for 2011-2015 outlined in the plan and 
distributed copies to all CRC members. CRC members were asked to review the status of each goal and 
bring additions/questions to Stephanie before May 10th. Either email (skey@mission.ca) your 
responses or drop off a copy of the edited plan to the Mission Leisure Centre. 

 
8. Correspondence 
 
9. Round Table:  

• Diana and Michelle had some questions as new members. Stephanie and Bronwen will 
review them and email responses to all members. 

• Diana requested information about busking policy for District of Mission. CRC may 
examine policy and recommend changes to council. 

• Pam suggested approaching council about public event policies: perhaps a template 
application to ease facilitation of events could be drawn up for consideration (CRC 
members encouraged to continue discussion on this subject).  

 

 
 

All Members 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Stephanie/Bronwen 

 
 

Before May 10th 

10.  Meeting adjourned 5:50pm. Next meeting: Tuesday May 19, 2015  at 4:30 pm at the Mission Leisure Centre.  
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The Minutes of the Mission Traffic and Transit Committee meeting held in the 
Conference Room at the Mission Municipal Hall (8645 Stave Lake Street), on May 20, 2015 
from 1:00 p.m. to 3:00 p.m. 
 
Members Present: Councillor Danny Plecas, Chair 
 Councillor Pam Alexis, ViceChair  
 Tracy Kyle, Director of Engineering and Public Works 

Bob Ingram, Mission Seniors Centre Association 
 Les King, King and Company, Mission School District #75 
 Glen Froese, CHP Architects, Mission School District #75 

Tina Penney, Acting Manager of Corporate Administration 
 Ken Collier – Member at large, resident District of Mission 
 Mike Younie, Director of Development Services 
 Matthew Boyd, BC Transit 
 Johann VanSchaik, BC Transit 
 Jodi Marshall, School District #75 

Sanjay Gulati, Mission Community Services Society 
  
Others Present: Debbie Sanderson, Administrative Assistant Planning 

 
1) ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

Moved by Bob Ingram, and seconded Pam Alexis 

RECOMMENDED: That the agenda of the Mission Traffic and Transit Committee 
meeting held on May 20, 2015 be approved as circulated. 

CARRIED 

2) MINUTES 

As this is the first meeting of the Mission Traffic and Transit Committee there are no 
previous minutes. 

3) NEW BUSINESS 

(a) Introductions 

The group introduced themselves and the various organizations that are 
represented at the table. 

(b) Review of Mission Traffic and Transit Committee Terms of Reference  

Mike Younie reviewed the structure for the Mission Traffic and Transit 
Committee.  There is a broader group called the Joint Shared Services 
Committee (JSSC) for the Mission and Abbotsford joint water, sewer, recycling 
and transit that meets bimonthly in Abbotsford. Several Councillors from both 
communities are represented on that committee.  It is through the JSSC 
committee that financial issues for both communities are addressed.  The 
Mission Traffic and Transit Committee is an advisory committee to the District of 
Mission Council where traffic safety and transit issues specific to Mission will be 
discussed.  When appropriate, issues that are more complex will be forwarded 
by Council to the JSSC for further discussion.   
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The Terms of Reference for the Mission Traffic and Transit Committee have 
been approved by Council.  Mike stated that the committee will receive and 
discuss requests from the public and refer them to Council for actions.  

Pam Alexis identified that there is also a Transit Users Subcommittee that is 
made up of transit users that meet every two months.  They may bring 
suggestions, requests or ideas to this committee for review as well.   

The Terms of Reference for the Mission Traffic and Transit Committee includes: 

1. Voting Members –  

 The Chairperson – Danny Plecas 

 The Vice-Chairperson – Pam Alexis 

 Mission Community Services - Sanjay Gulati 

 Mission Public Schools - Jodi Marshall 

 Mission Association for Community Living 

 Mission Youth Committee 

 Mission Association for Seniors Housing - Bob Ingram 

 Mission Seniors Activity Centre 

 United Way Fraser Valley 

 Members at Large (2) - Ken Collier and one position for traffic safety is 
vacant 
 
2. Non-voting Members 

 The Director of Engineering and Public Works – Tracy Kyle 

 The Director of Development Services – Mike Younie 

 An Administrative staff person – Debbie Sanderson/Sandra Johannsen 

 The Manager of Social Development – Kirsten Hargreaves 

 BC Transit Staff (as required) – Johann VanSchaik and Matthew Boyd 

 Bus contracting company staff (as required) –  

 RCMP member (as required) 
 
3. Subcommittees 

 The MTTC may establish subcommittees as required either on an ongoing 
basis or for a single initiative; 

 The Chairperson of MTTC shall appoint subcommittee members; and  

 Apart from the membership, all other aspects of the Protocol for Council 
Committees shall apply. 

 
i. Meeting Schedule 

Councillor Plecas recommended that the committee meets again in the 
fall rather than over the summer. The next meeting will be held on 
Thursday, October 1, 2015 at 1:30 p.m. (first Thursday of each month at 
1:30 p.m. in the conference room at City Hall) 

Transit will confirm if they will attend as it will depend on the agenda if 
they are required. 

ii. Appointment of second Member at Large 

The committee is looking for another Member at Large.  Please forward 
any names of people that may be interested to Mike Younie. 
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iii. Relationship to Council and Joint Shared Services Committee 

This is an advisory committee that reports to Council with 
recommendations.  Minutes of the meetings will be sent out in draft 
format, as soon as possible. This would allow for recommendations to be 
sent to Council sooner than the next meeting.  This committee as a 
Committee of Council is an open meeting.  This allows for any member of 
the public to come and observe. Members of the public can come to this 
committee as a delegation. Meeting minutes and agendas will be posted 
on the website.   

iv. Process for proposed agenda items 

If any member of the committee has something they would like to have 
put on the agenda please forward requests to Debbie Sanderson at 
dsanderson@mission.ca. There will be a section on the agenda for 
correspondence and the correspondence will be attached to the agenda 
for review before the meeting.   

Tina Penney left the meeting – 1:15 p.m. 

(c) Overview of Transit Services in Mission – BC Transit Staff 

Matthew Boyd from BC Transit gave a presentation to the committee explaining 
how BC Transit works and where Mission fits into BC Transit.  

Mission has a unique situation in that it is part of the Central Fraser Valley 
system. It is really two systems with Abbotsford and Mission that are a single 
component that share the service and funding.  It has pros and cons.  There are 
two local partners with one operating agreement.  Transit costs are assigned to 
where the services are delivered.  Transit is aware of what services are delivered 
in each community. 

In 2013 the Transit Future Plan was completed. Based on the next 25 years of 
need, there is an implementation process that has been identified through the 
Service Improvement Summary.  There are some quick win solutions and some 
medium to long range improvements. 

The Implementation Strategy is 2 phases:  

Phase 1-cost neutral changes to address on-time performance issues (quick 
wins) 

Phase 2-involve comprehensive revisions that require significant resources   

(d) Transit Changes – April 2015 – BC Transit staff 

Phase 1 changes were made to: 

 Address on-time performance issues 

 Improve ease-of-use of service, reduce number of routing variations 

 Reduce route duplication 

 Increase directness of service 

 Improve integration with West Coast Express 
 

(e) Transit Changes – September 2015 – BC Transit staff 

 Phase 1 changes that will begin in September will include: 
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 Reduced number of trips to Matsqui Village 

 Hatzic downtown rerouting for improved coverage 

 Introduce 2 new bus stops on Highway 11 near Matsqui Village 
 

Phase 2 changes will include: 

 Improve and simplify the downtown bus exchange 

 Expansion projects (funding is frozen for 2015 – if funding becomes 
available in the future these are some items to consider) 

 Fleet (right-size opportunities) 

 Abbotsford downtown bus exchange 

 Transit garage capacity (located in south Abbotsford) – would need to 
expand for growth 

BC Transit suggests the following recommendations: 

 Recommend to council to approve the final Phase One recommendations for 
Mission for implementation in September 2015. 

 Support BC Transit and the City of Abbotsford in developing appropriate 
transit exchange alternatives that will assist in the optimization of resources. 

 Support BC Transit initiatives to start work on the identification of functional 
requirements and strategies for transit garage improvements. 

Mike Younie inquired about the possibility of making some small changes to the 
schedule to complement the BC Transit buses with the school district buses.  BC 
Transit advised that the changes need to be identified before the beginning to middle 
of June.  

Fraser Valley Express (FVX) implementation was started April 6.  Overseen by 
FVRD – connects Chilliwack, Langley and Abbotsford and does not connect to 
Mission.  Separate cash fare is required as the FVX is not part of the CFV Transit 
System.   

Johann VanSchaik gave a presentation on the Financial Outlook of the CFV Transit 
System. 

Challenges we have between Abbotsford-Mission is to take a small system and grow 
it to a big system. Over the past 5-6 years, provincial funding has been available but 
Mission has not taken advantage of any of the funding. In 2013 Abbotsford improved 
their service substantially by improved weekend service, holiday service, etc. There 
is an appetite now in Mission.  The Committee expressed a desire to be proactive 
and ready when provincial money is available.   

The provincial government provides the Three Year Budgeting Process and every 
year it gets updated although there will be no new provincial funding over the next 3 
years 

In the next 2 to 3 years, 40% of the fleet needs to be replaced.  

Moved by Bob Ingram, and seconded Ken Collier 

RECOMMENDED: That we as a committee would like to see improvements in the 
transit funding and a review of the three year budget mechanism. 

CARRIED 
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(f) Transit issues from Subcommittee – P. Alexis/M. Younie 

Mike Younie stated that it was very beneficial to attend the subcommittee 
meeting and have real issues identified. Some of the items that were suggested 
were: 

 weekend and holiday service to Hatzic (budget impacts) 

 drivers may need some further training 

 Route changes and suggestions. 
 Mike takes notes and passes them on to BC Transit following the meeting.  He 

will also summarize the notes bring them back to this committee. 

 Pam was contacted regarding a bus stop in a rural area that is unsafe.  This is 
the responsibility of the municipal government. Councillor Plecas suggested that 
we should let Public Works know and they will possibly install a street light. 
Public Works has been notified. 

 Ken Collier identified one suggestion from the Transit Subcommittee that a spare 
bus be kept in the Mission area rather than have to wait for one from Abbotsford 
when there is a breakdown.  If there is a storage problem with buses in the 
Abbotsford area maybe storage of some buses in Mission would be a good idea. 

 Mike Younie suggested sharing bus storage with the School District in the truck 
parking facility, the school district or public works. 

 Johann VanSchaik agreed that BC Transit would look into it this.  Councillor 
Plecas stated that there will be a report back from BC Transit at the October 
meeting.  

(g) Mission High School Bus Changes – Mission Public School staff  

Les King gave a report on behalf of the School District identifying the 
reconfiguration of the three high schools.  All secondary grades 10, 11, and 12 
will be located at  Mission Secondary starting in September 2016. 

There are 4 issues that have been identified: 

1. Buses - the current bus loop would not be able to accommodate an 
increase in buses. 

2. Student Pick-up and Drop-off – conflict between parent vehicles and 
buses would create safety concerns. 

3. Staff Parking – relocating the staff parking would allow for a student 
courtyard.  Significant cost to construct 47 new parking stalls to 
accommodate staff on the west side of the school. 

4. Student Parking – could be accommodated in the west end of the 
Leisure Centre parking area. 

Les King stated that the plan at the School District level is complete and given 
general support by the School Board.  The Board would like to see the 7th 
Avenue bus exchange approved by the District of Mission. 

Councillor Plecas advised that the District of Mission staff have to give their 
approval and support as well.  Tracy Kyle stated that there may have to be 
changes to the intersection on 7th Avenue and Grand Street signalization and the 
bike routes that are identified in the Parks and Trails Master Plan will need to be 
addressed.  
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Moved by Bob Ingram, and seconded Councillor Plecas 

RECOMMENDED: That the Mission Secondary Parking and Bus Plan be 
referred to the District of Mission staff for comments and consideration and 
brought back to the committee to make a recommendation to Council. 

CARRIED 

Les King will contact Tracy Kyle in the week of May 25th for discussion regarding 
the parking and busing issues at Mission Secondary School and the District of 
Mission position. 

Glen Froese stated that August 28th is the deadline for implementation of the 
parking and bus plan.  The School District would like to have the District of 
Mission support. 

School District consultants, Les King and Ken Froese left the meeting at 2:45 
p.m. 

(h) Regional Transit Integrated – BC Transit and District of Mission staff 

Mike Younie stated that there are discussions regarding how to integrate the 
lower mainland system.  As the Evergreen Line to Coquitlam is nearing 
completion there are many requests for bus service between Mission and Maple 
Ridge.  The JSSC has been approached and are looking at various solutions. 

(i) Traffic Safety Issues – T. Kyle 

 Signal light at Cherry Avenue and Stave Lake Street 

Tracy Kyle updated the committee with a report to Council regarding signalization 
being stalled at the corner of Cherry Avenue and Stave Lake Street.  The design 
will be done this summer and will be constructed in 2017.  Another signal at 
Cade Barr Street and Best Avenue has been budgeted for this year, although 
traffic counts show that it isn’t warranted at this time. The northwest corner of this 
intersection has visibility issues.  The bushes need to be cut back.  West end of 
7th Avenue and Grand Street northeast and southeast 

(j) Transportation Master Plan 

The Open House was held in early May. The Transportation Master Plan will roll 
into the Official Community Plan.  There is a survey being done currently.  There 
is a link on the District of Mission’s website.  The survey will be completed on 
May 29th, 2015. 

There will be some primarily information for the October meeting.  This could be 
an agenda item. 

(k) Next Meeting 

October 1, 2015 at 1:30 p.m. in the Conference Room at the Municipal Hall. 

2) ADJOURNMENT 

Moved by Danny, and  

RECOMMENDED:  That the meeting be adjourned. 

CARRIED 

The meeting adjourned at 3:00 p.m.  
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DISTRICT OF MISSION 
 

BYLAW 5220-2011-5050(42) 
 

A Bylaw to amend "District of Mission 
Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009" 

 
WHEREAS, under the provisions of 903 of the Local Government Act, a Council may, by bylaw, 
divide the municipality into zones and regulate the use of land, buildings and structures within 
such zones; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the District of Mission has adopted "District of Mission Zoning 
Bylaw 5050-2009" and amended same from time to time; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the District of Mission deems it advisable and in the public 
interest to amend the Zoning Bylaw; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the District of Mission, in open meeting assembled, ENACTS 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as "District of Mission Zoning Amending Bylaw 

5220-2011-5050(42)”. 

2. "District of Mission Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009" as amended, is hereby further amended 
by: 

 (a) rezoning the property located at 29585 Hudson Avenue and legally described as: 

Parcel Identifier: 003-915-654, Lot 2, Section 22, Township 15, New Westminster 
District, Plan 66683 

from Rural 16 Zone (RU16) to Rural Residential 7 Zone (RR7); and  

 (b) by amending the zoning maps accordingly. 

 

READ A FIRST TIME this 4th day of July, 2011 
 
READ A SECOND TIME this 4th day of July, 2011 
 
PUBLIC HEARING held this 25th day of July, 2011 
 
READ A THIRD TIME this 3rd day of October, 2011 

ADOPTED this  
 
 
 
                                                                                                  
RANDY HAWES, MAYOR   TINA PENNEY, 
      ACTING CORPORATE OFFICER 
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M DISTRICT OF

ON THE FRASER , 1°,
Planning Department

Memorandum

FILE: PRO.DEV.ZON
R11-004

To: 	 Chief Administrative Officer

From: 	 Planner

Date: 	 July 4, 2011

Subject: 	 Rezoning Application R11-004

Recommendation

That, in accordance with Rezoning Application R11-004 (Tony Mikes), the Corporate Officer
prepare a bylaw to amend District of Mission Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009 by rezoning the
property located at 29585 Hudson Avenue and legally described as:

Parcel Identifier: 003-915-654 Lot 2, Section 22, Township 15, New Westminster District
Plan 66683

from Rural 16 (RU16) to Rural Residential 7 (RR7);

that the bylaw be considered for 1 st and 2nd readings at the Regular Council meeting on July
4,2011; and

that following such readings, the bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing on July 27, 2011.

Summary of Proposal

An application has been received from Tony Mikes to rezone the property located at 29585
Hudson Avenue (Map 1) from Rural 16 (RU 16) to Rural Residential 7 (RR7) to facilitate a two
(2) lot subdivision. The draft site plan is attached as (Plan 1).

Site Description and Neighbourhood Context

The subject property is 2.013 hectares (4.97 acres) in area and slopes from the northern
reaches of the property in a south-east direction towards Hudson Avenue. An existing residence
is located on the northern portion of the property that is accessed by a long gravel driveway
which is paved with asphalt closer to the residence. A large detached accessory building
(machine shop) is located on the southern portion of the property (Plan 1).

The overall residential neighbourhood character west of Carr Street in Stave Falls is comprised
of larger properties which are heavily treed with single family residences. The majority of
surrounding properties are considered rural with a small number of properties further developed
to Rural Residential densities within the last five to ten years.

Zoning

The subject property is zoned Rural 16 (RU16) which permits a minimum lot size of 1.6 hectares
(3.95 acres). This application proposes to rezone the property to Rural Residential 7 (RR7)
which permits a minimum lot size of 0.7 hectares (1.72 acres). The intent of the RR7 zone is to
provide for one unit residential dwellings outside the urban development area.

Official Community Plan (OCP) Designation

The proposed zone (Rural Residential 7) is permitted within the Rural Residential OCP
designation. The proposed Rural Residential development does not require an OCP
amendment and is in keeping with the future densities envisioned within the OCP.

PAGE 1 OF 7
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The District of Mission Municipal Forest boundary is situated north of the property and the
Municipal Forest designation continues north of the subject property. The proposed
development will not impede any forestry activity on the property to the north (Map 2).

Development Abstract

The area of proposed Lot 1 is 1.05 hectares (2.59 acres) (not including the area of the
panhandle portion of the lot) while proposed Lot 2 is 0.96 hectares (2.37 acres). Both these lots
are 'oversized' within the proposed RR7 zoning; however, neither lot have further subdivision
potential under the Rural Residential OCP designation.

The existing residence is sited on the northern portion of the property and will remain within
proposed Lot 1 (Plan 1) which is a panhandle lot. As determined through the subdivision
process, it still remains to be determined if the panhandle driveway must be built or if the
existing driveway can be utilized for access to Lot 1. If the existing driveway is used, a cross
access agreement would be required to allow both property owners unfettered access on the
driveway.

The residential development of proposed Lot 2 does not impact the existing environmentally
sensitive area on the southern portion of the property. The area of proposed Lot 2 creates
ample space to accommodate a building envelope and all other requirements such as access,
septic disposal area and a well site. Given that there is a large existing workshop (an accessory
building) that is located proposed Lot 2, a legal agreement must be provided as part of the
subdivision process to ensure that a residence is constructed in a timely manner in order to not
render the accessory use (the workshop) non-conforming to the Zoning Bylaw.

Community Amenity Contribution

It is recognized that residential development imposes a unique financial burden on the
community by creating a need or demand for new/upgraded public facilities or amenities. In
order to address this unique financial burden, rezoning applicants are requested to make a
contribution to the District's Community Amenity Reserve Fund for new/upgraded public
facilities or amenities. The applicant has agreed to contribute $2,680.00 as part of this rezoning
application.

Tree Retention and Replanting

The southern portion of the subject property was cleared years earlier to provide for a large
detached accessory building. The northern portion of the property was also cleared to provide
for the existing house on the property (Plan 1). No other trees are slated to be removed in
relation to development activities; therefore, in accordance with the District of Mission Tree
Retention Policy, the applicant is required to plant a total of four (4) trees.

Environmental Protection

Given that a professional survey located a number of ditches and two small ponds on the
southern option of the property, the applicant has provided an environmental report that outlines
protection measures for the watercourses. All watercourses will be protected in accordance with
Section 108 of the Zoning Bylaw. Specifically, the roadside ditch and two small ponds will be
protected by fencing and covenants on title. These environmental protection measures will be
ensured through the subdivision process.

FILE: PRO.DEV.ZON 	 PAGE 2 OF 7
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Parkland

Rolley Lake Park and recreational opportunities along the western shore of Stave Lake are
within the general vicinity of Stave Falls. Moreover, as only one (1) additional lot will be created
by subdivision, there is no parkland dedication requirement.

Internal Comments

Engineering Department

The application was forwarded the District of Mission Engineering Department. The Engineering
Department has reviewed the proposal has stated that "from an engineering point of view the
rezoning application may proceed to final adoption" (Appendix I).

External Referrals

Utility Agencies (B.C. Hydro, Fortis BC, Telus)

The development proposal has been sent to all utility agencies as part of the subdivision
process.

Public Hearing Information Package

In accordance with Council Policy LAN.50 — PRE-PUBLIC HEARING INFORMATION
PACKAGES, a package will be produced containing material related to the development
application.

Requirements Prior to Adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw

• Receipt of the Community Amenity contribution in the amount of $2,680.00;

• Any other items that Council may require resulting from the Public Hearing or Council
consideration of the application.

Recommendation Summary

Staff recommend that Council provide 1s t and 2nd reading to the bylaw amendment to rezone the
subject property from Rural 16 (RU16) to Rural Residential 7 (RR7) and forward the rezoning
proposal to Public Hearing on July 27, 2011.

Erik Wilhelm
PLANNER

G:\COMDEV\ERIK\Working Development Planning Staff Reports \Hudson Avenue_R11-004.clocx
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Appendix I

FILE: R11-004

CIVIC ADDRESS: 29585 Hudson Avenue

DOMESTIC WATER REQUIREMENTS:

No municipal water available. Developer to provide potable water for each parcel and a
hydrogeology report to confirm that the well/s meet the requirements of the Subdivision
Control Bylaw.

SANITARY SEWER REQUIREMENTS:

No municipal sanitary sewer available.

STORM SEWER REQUIREMENTS:

No storm sewer works required.

ROAD WORK REQUIREMENTS:

Hudson Avenue provides paved access to the site, no further upgrading required.

RECOMMENDATION

From an engineering point of view the rezoning application may proceed to final adoption.
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EXCERPT FROM: 
Regular Council Meeting 
July 25, 2011 

 
PH11/052 
JULY 25/11 

District of Mission Zoning Amending Bylaw 5220-2011-5050(42) (R11-004 – 
Mikes) – a bylaw to rezone property at 29585 Hudson Avenue from Rural 16 
Zone (RU16) to Rural Residential Zone (RR7) 
 
Erik Wilhelm, Planner, provided information regarding District of Mission Zoning 
Amending Bylaw 5220-2011-5050(42) (R11-004 - Mikes), which proposes to 
amend District of Mission Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009 by amending the zoning of 
the following legally described property: 

Parcel Identifier: 003-915-654, Lot 2, Section 22, Township 15, New Westminster 
District Plan 66683 

from the Rural 16 (RU16) zone to the Rural Residential 7 (RR7) zone.  

The planner stated that the location of the subject property is 29585 Hudson 
Avenue, as shown on the following map: 

 

Mr. Wilhelm explained that the purpose of the proposed amendment is to 
accommodate the subsequent subdivision of the subject property into two (2) lots 
of a minimum 0.7 hectare (1.73 acre) lot size. 

The Planner stated that the following requirements would need to be met prior to 
adoption of the bylaw: 

 Receipt of a Community Amenity Contribution in the amount of $2,680; 
and 

 Any other items that Council may require as a result of the Public Hearing 
or consideration of the application. 

The Deputy Director of Corporate Administration stated that no written 
correspondence was received regarding this application. 

Councillor Plecas asked if the existing driveway would be used for both lots 
rather than adding a panhandle driveway for the second lot, and if there would be 
any upgrades done to the existing driveway. 

The Planner replied that the existing driveway would be used for both lots under 
an access agreement tied to the land that would remain in effect even if the 
property owner changes.  He said this was done to maintain the tree cover on the 
western side of the property and that a requirement of the subdivision would be 
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July 25, 2011 

 

an engineering report to determine that the driveway is able to support 
emergency vehicles 

Tony Mikes said that the owner would like to protect the trees, but, at the same 
time, does not object to constructing a new driveway for the second lot, if that is 
the wish of Council. 

Hearing no further questions or comments the acting mayor declared the public 
hearing on District of Mission Zoning Amending Bylaw 5220-2011-5050(42) 
(R11-004 – Mikes)  closed. 
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DISTRICT OF MISSION 

 
BYLAW 5410-2014-5050(128) 

 
A Bylaw to amend "District of Mission 

Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009" 
 

WHEREAS, under the provisions of 903 of the Local Government Act, a Council may, by bylaw, 
divide the municipality into zones and regulate the use of land, buildings and structures within 
such zones; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the District of Mission has adopted "District of Mission Zoning 
Bylaw 5050-2009" and amended same from time to time; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the District of Mission deems it advisable and in the public 
interest to amend the Zoning Bylaw; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the District of Mission, in open meeting assembled, ENACTS 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as "District of Mission Zoning Amending Bylaw 

5410-2014-5050(128)”. 

2. "District of Mission Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009" as amended, is hereby further amended 
by:  

a) rezoning portions of the property located at 32448 Dewdney Trunk Road and 
legally described as: 

Parcel Identifier: 013-384-252 
North Half Legal Subdivision 11 Section 20 Township 18, Except Part Lying 
North of the Highway Shown Plan 13712, New Westminster District 

 
from Rural 36 Zone (RU36) and the Commercial Highway One Zone (CH1) to the 
Rural 16 Secondary Dwelling Zone (RU16s) and the Commercial Highway One 
Zone (CH1), as shown on Schedule 1 attached to and forming part of this Bylaw; 
and 

b) amending the zoning maps accordingly. 

 

READ A FIRST TIME this 20th day of January, 2014 

READ A SECOND TIME this 20th day of January, 2014 

PUBLIC HEARING held this 3rd day of February, 2014 

READ A THIRD TIME this 3rd day of February, 2014 

ADOPTED this  
 
 
 
    
RANDY HAWES, MAYOR  TINA PENNEY 
  ACTING CORPORATE OFFICER 
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Development Services 
Staff Report to Council 

STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL Page 1 of 11  

 

FILE: PRO.DEV.ZON 
R13-020 

 

 

DATE:    January 20, 2014 

TO:   MAYOR AND COUNCIL 

FROM:   Gina MacKay, Planner 

SUBJECT: Rezoning to provide one (1) additional lot and adjust the zoning boundaries. 

 
CIVIC ADDRESS: 
 

 
32448 Dewdney Trunk Road 

 
APPLICANT: 
 

OTG Development Concepts 

OCP: 
 

This application is in conformance with policies in the OCP.  

DATE APPLICATION 
COMPLETE:  
 

 
January 7, 2014 

ATTACHMENTS: Appendix 1 – Information for Corporate Officer 
Appendix 2 – Official Community Plan Map 
Appendix 3 – Zoning Map 
Appendix 4 – Topographic Map 
Appendix 5 – Stream and Wetland Map 
Appendix 6 – Zoning Amendment Map 

LOCATION MAP 
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COUNCIL POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
Council consider and resolve: 
 
1. That a bylaw be prepared to amend District of Mission Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009 by 

rezoning the property located at 32448 Dewdney Trunk Road from the Rural 36 (RU36) 
Zone and the Commercial Highway One (CH1) Zone to the Rural 16 Secondary Dwelling 
(RU16s) Zone and the Commercial Highway One (CH1) Zone as shown in Appendix 6 of 
the Planner’s report dated January 20, 2014. 

2. That the bylaw be considered for 1st and 2nd reading at the Regular Council Meeting on 
January 20, 2014.  

3. That following these readings, the bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing on February 3, 
2014.   

 

REQUIREMENTS PRIOR TO FINAL READING: 

 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Development Services Department is in receipt of an application to rezone the property located 
32448 Dewdney Trunk Road. The zoning amendment will facilitate the future subdivision of the rural 
portion of the property into two parcels, one of which will continue to permit commercial uses as it has 
in the past and the other residential, as it does currently.  The recommendation above supports the 
development proposal as it is does not contradict policies within the Official Community Plan (OCP).  
Furthermore, the proposed subdivision will result in having the existing single family home and 
accessory buildings on the residential lot and leave the commercial lot vacant.  A review of the map 
provided in Appendix 5 demonstrates that under the current zoning the single family home is on the 
residentially zoned portion and an accessory building is on the commercially zoned portion of the 
property.   
 
SITE CHARACTERISTICS 

The subject property is located on Dewdney Trunk Road in the area commonly referred to as the 
Steelhead neighbourhood.  The subject property is generally level and is currently developed with a 
single family home, shop and pump house for the well.  Johnson Creek enters at the mid-point on the 
north side of the property and flows southwest forming a wetland for a large portion of the site.  There 
is an additional seasonal wetland and ephemeral watercourses on the property; as such the applicant 
has had a Qualified Environmental Professional prepare a Riparian Area Regulations report.  Note 

Council consider and resolve: 
 
4. That the Final Reading of the amending bylaw be held until the following has been 

satisfied: 

a. The community amenity contribution in the amount of $2,815.00 in respect of the 
new lot has been received. 
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that a small portion (approximately 1,900 m²) of the property is hooked across Dewdney Trunk Road; 
the future use of this portion of the property is discussed later in this report.  

SITE HISTORY 

The subject property was previously the site of a restaurant which was destroyed by fire in the early 
1980’s and has not been in operation since.   

ZONING BYLAW COMPLIANCE (Bylaw 5050-2009) 

The subject property is currently split zoned with rural zoning on the western portion and commercial 
zoning on the eastern portion.  The existing commercially zoned portion reflects the uses which were 
present when the first zoning bylaw was introduced. The intent of this application is to make a minor 
adjustment to the zoning boundaries and allow a future subdivision into two parcels.  No net increase 
in the size of the commercially zoned portion will be realized.  The small triangular shaped piece of 
property which is hooked across Dewdney Trunk Road will remain within a rural zone so that it may 
be sold (in the future) to one of the neighbouring property owners as is; this portion of the subject 
property has no development potential.   

PLANNING ANALYSIS 

General – OCP 

The subject property and the surrounding area is designated Rural, Municipal Forest or Industrial in 
the OCP. The proposed rural residential density is in keeping with the future densities envisioned for 
this area. The proposed secondary dwelling zone also respects the following OCP policies: 

Secondary Dwelling in Rural Areas 

Policy 2.3.3 Consider site specific rezoning to provide for a secondary dwelling unit on properties 
that are designated Rural or Rural Residential. 

Housing Choice for Different Lifestyles and Income Levels 

Policy 2.5.1 Encourage the development of a variety of housing types, tenure, accessibility and 
cost to provide for a diversity of lifestyle and income levels. 

Affordable Housing through Innovative Housing Forms 

Policy 2.5.3 Facilitate the development of affordable, rental and special needs housing through 
supporting multi-family housing developments, small house/small lot housing, secondary suites, 
duplexes in appropriate locations, mixed market/non-market housing projects, coach houses, granny 
flats and other innovative housing forms. 

Commercial – OCP 

The commercially zoned portion of the subject property is not in conformance with the OCP.  
Furthermore, the OCP does not identify this site for long term commercial use; as such, the OCP will 
not be amended to the commercial designation.  As noted earlier, the actual area of the commercially 
zoned portion of the property remains unchanged; therefore, an amendment to the OCP is not 
required to facilitate the proposed zoning amendment as it merely constitutes a lot line adjustment.  

Neighbourhood Character 

The subject property is located in a rural residential area within the Steelhead residential 
neighbourhood.  The overall residential neighbourhood character is comprised of larger rural 
properties with single-family homes, some with associated accessory agricultural uses (i.e. hobby 
farms).     
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Environmental Protection 

A watercourse assessment was required in order to determine the setback requirements prior to 
identifying the subdivision potential.   

Scott Resource Services Inc. was retained to prepare and submit an environmental assessment 
report as required under the Riparian Areas Regulation (RAR).  Significant findings are as follows:  

 There are two vegetation types in the riparian assessment area: a landscaped area and a 
naturally vegetated area; 

 There are four (4) watercourses on the property: Johnson Creek (fish bearing) and three 
unnamed watercourses all of which are fish bearing or potentially fish bearing; as such, a 
streamside protection and enhancement area (SPEA) has been determined for each of these 
watercourses;  

 In addition, there is a wetland within a naturally vegetated area in the southeast corner of the 
subject property.   

Any issues related to stream and wetland protection will be addressed during the subdivision process.  
See map in Appendix 5 for stream and wetland locations. 

Parks, Trails and Recreation  

The subject property is located in a rural area of the District.  Recreation sites in this area include the 
Stave Lake Dam, Hayward Lake Recreation Site, Hiking trails in the municipal forest and the 
Steelhead Community Hall. 

COMMUNITY AMENITY CONTRIBUTION  

In accordance with Council Policy LAN. 40, the applicant has volunteered to contribute $2,815.00 per 
new lot to offset the unique financial burden that residential development incurs on the District to fund 
new facilities and/or amenities.  

COMMUNICATION  

The developer has posted a development notification sign on the site summarizing the proposed 
development. Provided a public hearing date is determined by Council, the sign will be modified to 
advertise the public hearing details (i.e. time and place). In addition, a notice will be mailed to the 
owners and to the occupiers of all properties within a distance of 152 metres (500 ft.) of the 
development site notifying them of the public hearing details.  

Policy LAN. 50 - Pre-Public Hearing Information Packages 

A pre-public hearing information package will be prepared to include copies of all applicable 
documents and is available online or at municipal hall for public viewing. 

Bylaw 3612-2003 Land Use Application Procedures and Fees 

A notice of Public Hearing will be prepared in accordance with Bylaw 3612-2003 and the Local 
Government Act. 

A notice of Development Permit or Development Variance Permit shall be mailed or otherwise 
delivered in accordance with Bylaw 3612-2003 and the Local Government Act. 
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REFERRALS 

Engineering 

The Engineering Department has no objection to the development proposal. 

Mission Fire/Rescue Service 

The subject property is not located within the urban municipal water works supply system area for fire 
protection.  As such, the Mission Fire/Rescue Service has identified safety concerns with regards to 
fire department access, water supply and/or response time to attend for emergencies.  Concerns 
expressed by Fire/Rescue Service will be addressed at time of subdivision and building permit stage.  

SIGN-OFFS:  

 

Gina MacKay, Planner 

 
 
Reviewed by:  
Mike Younie, Director of Development Services 

 
 
 
Comment from Chief Administrative Officer 
Reviewed.  
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Appendix 1 
Information for Corporate Officer 

 
 

Civic Address: 
 

32448 Dewdney Trunk Road 
 

PID: 013-384-252 
 

Legal: North Half Legal Subdivision 11 Section 20 Township 18, Except Part 
Lying North of the Highway Shown Plan 13712, New Westminster 
District 
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Appendix 2 
 

OCP Map 
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Appendix 3 
 

Zoning Map 
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Appendix 4 
 

Topography  
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Appendix 5 
 

Stream and Wetland Map 
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Appendix 6 

Zoning Amendment Map 
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EXCERPT FROM: 
Regular Council Meeting 
February 3, 2014 

 
RC14/072 
FEB. 03/14 

Zoning Amending Bylaw 5410-2014-5050(128) 
(R13-020 – OTG Development Concepts) – a bylaw to rezone property at 32448 
Dewdney Trunk Road from Rural 36 Zone (RU36) and Commercial Highway One 
Zone (CH1) to Rural 16 Secondary Dwelling Zone (RU16s) and Commercial 
Highway One Zone (CH1) 
The purpose of the proposed zoning bylaw amendment is to rezone the property 
located at 32448 Dewdney Trunk Road and legally described as: 

Parcel Identifier: 013-384-252 
North Half Legal Subdivision 11 Section 20 Township 18 Except 
Part Lying North of the Highway Shown Plan 13712, New 
Westminster District 

from the Rural 36 (RU36) Zone and the Commercial Highway One (CH1) Zone to 
the Rural 16 Secondary Dwelling (RU16s) Zone and the Commercial Highway 
One (CH1) Zone to create two (2) lots of a minimum 1.6 hectare (4 acre) lot size; 
one lot will continue to permit commercial uses and the other lot will permit a 
residential use with a secondary dwelling unit. 
 
Gina MacKay, Planner, showed a PowerPoint presentation that provided the 
following information: 
 

1. purpose and outline of the proposal;  
2. subject property map and site photos; 
3. surrounding area designation; 
4. environmentally sensitive and riparian areas; 
5. development requirements; and 
6. land use question. 

 
The Acting Manager of Corporate Administration stated that no correspondence 
pertaining to the subject application had been received. 
 
Randy Courrier, Mission, asked for clarification as to which portions of the 
property would be residential and which portions would be commercial.  
 
Hearing no further questions or comments, the Mayor declared the Public 
Hearing for District of Mission Zoning Amending Bylaw 5410-2014-5050(128) 
(R13-020 – OTG Development Concepts), closed. 
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DISTRICT OF MISSION 
 

BYLAW 5505-2015-5050(173) 
 

A Bylaw to amend "District of Mission 
Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009" 

 
WHEREAS, under the provisions of 903 of the Local Government Act, a Council may, by bylaw, 
divide the municipality into zones and regulate the use of land, buildings and structures within 
such zones; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the District of Mission has adopted "District of Mission Zoning 
Bylaw 5050-2009" and amended same from time to time; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the District of Mission deems it advisable and in the public 
interest to amend the Zoning Bylaw; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the District of Mission, in open meeting assembled, ENACTS 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as "District of Mission Zoning Amending Bylaw 

5505-2015-5050(173).” 

2. "District of Mission Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009" as amended, is hereby further amended 
by:  

a) rezoning the property located at 12638 Cathy Crescent and legally described as: 

Parcel Identifier:  026-614-651 
Strata Lot A Section 23 Township 15 New Westminster District Strata 
Plan BCS1718 
 
from the Rural Residential 7 (RR7) Zone to the Rural Residential Secondary 
Dwelling (RR7s) Zone; and 

 
b) amending the zoning maps accordingly. 

 

READ A FIRST TIME this 19th day of May, 2015 

READ A SECOND TIME this 19th day of May, 2015 

ADVERTISED this 22nd and 29th days of May, 2015   

PUBLIC HEARING held this 1st day of June, 2015 

READ A THIRD TIME this 1st day of June, 2015 

ADOPTED this  
 
 
 
    
RANDY HAWES, MAYOR  TINA PENNEY 
  ACTING CORPORATE OFFICER 
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DISTRICT OF MISSION 
 

BYLAW 5509-2015-5346(2) 
 

A Bylaw to amend "District of Mission 
Taxi Regulation Bylaw 5346-2013" 

 
 

WHEREAS, The Council of the District of Mission did, on the 6th day of August, 2013 enact a 
bylaw cited as “District of Mission Taxi Regulation Bylaw 5346-2013”; 
 
AND WHEREAS, the Council of the District of Mission deems it advisable to amend “District of 
Mission Taxi Regulation Bylaw 5346-2013”; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the District of Mission, in open meeting assembled, 
ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as "District of Mission Taxi Regulation 

Amending Bylaw 5509-2015-5346(2)”. 

2. "District of Mission Taxi Regulation Bylaw 5346-2013", as amended, is hereby further 
amended by: 

a) Deleting section 6.2(g) in its entirety, which requires applicants for a Chauffeur 
Permit to successfully complete the “TaxiHost Pro” course offered by the 
Justice Institute of B.C. 

 

 

READ A FIRST TIME this 19th day of May, 2015 

READ A SECOND TIME this 19th day of May, 2015 

READ A THIRD TIME this 19th day of May, 2015 

ADOPTED this XX day of XX 2015 
 
 

 
                                                                                                   
RANDY HAWES, MAYOR TINA PENNEY 

ACTING CORPORATE OFFICER 
 

295



 
DISTRICT OF MISSION 

 
BYLAW 5510-2015-5050(175) 

 
A Bylaw to amend "District of Mission 

Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009" 
 

WHEREAS, under the provisions of 903 of the Local Government Act, a Council may, by bylaw, 
divide the municipality into zones and regulate the use of land, buildings and structures within 
such zones; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the District of Mission has adopted "District of Mission Zoning 
Bylaw 5050-2009" and amended same from time to time; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the District of Mission deems it advisable and in the public 
interest to amend the Zoning Bylaw; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the District of Mission, in open meeting assembled, ENACTS 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as "District of Mission Zoning Amending Bylaw 

5510-2015-5050(175)”. 

2. "District of Mission Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009" as amended, is hereby further amended 
by: 

 (a) inserting the Comprehensive Development 37 Zone (CD 37) attached as Schedule 
“A” and forming part of this Bylaw;  

 (b) rezoning the property located at 8474 Grassick Street and the 3 metres of the 
westernmost portion of the property located at 33973 McPhee Place and legally 
described as: 

Parcel Identifier: 029-470-731 
Lot 44 Section 27 Township 17 New Westminster District Plan 
EPP45270 

Parcel Identifier: 029-470-315 
Lot 34 Section 27 Township 17 New Westminster District Plan 
EPP45267 

from the Urban Residential 465 Zone (R465) to the Comprehensive Development 
37 Zone (CD37); and  

 (c) by amending the zoning maps accordingly. 

 

READ A FIRST TIME this 1st day of June, 2015 

READ A SECOND TIME this 1st day of June, 2015 

ADVERTISED this 5th and 12th days of June, 2015 

PUBLIC HEARING held this >> day of >>, 2015 

READ A THIRD TIME this >> day of >>, 2015 
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ADOPTED this this >> day of >>, 2015 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                  
RANDY HAWES, MAYOR TINA PENNEY 

ACTING CORPORATE OFFICER 
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Schedule “A”  

Proposed Comprehensive Development 37 (CD37) Zone 

 

Section 1237         CD37 
Zone 
 
A. Zone Intent 
 

1. The intent of this zone is to provide for one compact Single Family Dwelling in the Urban 
Residential area and as infill development within the Urban Infill Area, and compatible 
accessory uses in an urban neighbourhood form that allows higher densities.   
 

B. Permitted Uses 
 

1. The following Principal Uses and no other shall be permitted in the CD37 zone: 
 

a. Residential limited to: 
 

i. One Single Family Dwelling. 
 

2. The following Accessory Uses and no other shall be permitted in the CD37 zone: 
 

a. Agriculture limited to: 
 

i. Hobby Greenhouse.  
 

b. Residential limited to: 
 

One of: 
 

i. Boarding Use, or  
ii. Residential Care 

 
And, 

 
iii. Detached Garage,  
iv. Home Occupation. 
 

c. Storage limited to: 
 

i. Enclosed Storage. 
 
 

C. Lot Area 
 

1. Except where such a Lot existed at the date of adoption of this Bylaw or Lots created 
under Section 104, Part D, each Lot shall have a minimum area, width, and depth as 
shown on the following table: 

 

Zone: Area Width Depth 

CD37 445 sq m 
(4,790 sq ft) 

16.0 m 
(52.5 ft) 

25.0 m 
(82.0 ft) 
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2. Notwithstanding Section 601, Part C.1, where a Lot contains an Undevelopable Area, 
that area shall not be included in the calculation of minimum Lot Area. 

 
3. Notwithstanding Section 601, Part C.1 and C.3, where a Lot contains natural slopes 

greater than or equal to 33%, that sloped area shall not be included in the calculation of 
minimum Lot Area, or used as part of the measurement for minimum Lot Depth or Lot 
Width. 

 
D. Setbacks 
 

1. All Buildings and Structures shall be sited in accordance with the following minimum 
Setbacks: 

 

CD37: Front Rear Interior Side Exterior Side 

Principal Building 6.0 m 
(19.7 ft) 

7.5 m 
(24.6 ft) 

1.5 m  
(4.9 ft)  

3.0 m 
(9.8 ft) 

Accessory Build-
ing/Structure 

7.5 m 
(24.6 ft) 

1.2 m 
(3.9 ft) 

1.2 m 
(3.9 ft) 

3.0 m 
(9.8 ft) 

 
2. The Front Yard Setback of the Principal Building may be reduced to a minimum of 4.0 m 

(13.2 ft) provided the Front Yard Setback of a garage is a minimum of 6.0 m (19.7 ft). 
 
3. The minimum Setback for any attached garage shall be 6.0 m (19.7 ft) and 7.5 m when 

the lot is fronted by a sidewalk. 
 

4. The minimum separation required between the Principal Building and all Accessory 
Buildings exceeding 3.0m in Height, including a Detached Garage regardless of Building 
Height, is 5.0 m (16.4 ft). 

 
5. Notwithstanding Section 601 Part D.1, all Buildings shall be sited a minimum of 6.0 m 

(19.6 ft) from all Undevelopable Areas as defined in this Bylaw.   
 

6. Notwithstanding Section 601 Part D.1, the Buildable Area of any Lot shall be a minimum 
140 sq m (1,507 sq ft). 

 
E. Lot Coverage  
 

1. Buildings shall together cover not more than the Lot Area as noted in the following table: 
 

Zone: Lot Coverage 

CD37 35% 

 
F. Floor Space 
 

1. The floor space should not exceed the following ratios or the maximum floor area, 
whichever is less, as listed in the following table (Garage space, detached or attached, is 
not used in calculating total floor area): 

 

 
Zone: 

Floor Space 
Ratio 

Maximum Floor 
Space 

CD37 0.70 335 sq m 
(3,606 sq ft) 
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2. The maximum Floor Space of the second storey of the Principal Building shall not ex-

ceed 80% of the Floor Space of the first storey including attached garage and/or a cov-
ered, unenclosed, uninhabitable front porch or veranda.  The reduced Floor Space of the 
second storey shall be accomplished by an offset at the second storey level from either 
the front or side walls at the first storey level or a combination thereof. 

 
G. Impervious Surfaces 
 

1. Impervious Surfaces shall together cover not more than the Lot Area as noted: 
 

Zone: Lot Area 

CD37 50% 

 
H. Number of Residential Buildings 
 

1. Buildings for a Residential Use shall be limited to one per Lot. 
 
I. Height of Buildings  
 

1. The intent of the Height of the Principal Building shall permit a two storey Building with a 
Basement not exceeding 9.5 m (31.1 ft). 

 
2. The Height of an Accessory Building shall not exceed one storey to a maximum of 6.0 m 

(19.7 ft). 
 
J. Off Street Parking 
 

1. Off Street Parking shall be in accordance with the provisions of Section 109. 
 

2. Off Street Parking shall not occupy more than 30% of the Front Yard. 
 

3. Access width to the lot for Off Street Parking from the Front Lot Line shall be limited to a 
maximum of 5.0 m (16.4 ft). 

 
K. Hobby Greenhouse Use 
 

1. Shall be limited to a maximum of one Building not exceeding a total area of 20 sq m 
(215.3 sq ft). 
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DISTRICT OF MISSION 
 

BYLAW 5511-2015 
 

A Bylaw to name a street within the District of Mission 
 

WHEREAS the Council of the District of Mission, pursuant to the provisions of Section 39 of the 
Community Charter, may assign the name of any highway; 

AND WHEREAS the Council of the District of Mission deems it advisable to name certain 
streets within the Municipality; 

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the District of Mission, in open meeting assembled, ENACTS 
AS FOLLOWS: 

1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as "District of Mission Street Naming (McPhee 
Place Extension) Bylaw 5511-2015”. 

2. The extension of road running west of McPhee Place over a portion of: 

Parcel Identifier: 029-470-731 
Lot 44 Section 27 Township 17 New Westminster District Plan EPP45270 

 as shown on Schedule “A” attached to and forming part of this Bylaw, shall be named 

“McPhee Place”. 

 

 
READ A FIRST TIME this 1st day of June, 2015 
 
READ A SECOND TIME this 1st day of June, 2015 
 
READ A THIRD TIME this >> day of >>, 2015 
 
ADOPTED this >> day of >>, 2015 

 

 

 
                                                                                                  
RANDY HAWES, MAYOR   TINA PENNEY 
      ACTING CORPORATE OFFICER 
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DISTRICT OF MISSION 

 
BYLAW 5512-2015-3612(15) 

 
A Bylaw to amend "District of Mission Land Use 

Application Procedures and Fees Bylaw 3612-2003" 

WHEREAS the Council of the District of Mission did, on the 5th day of August, 2003, enact a bylaw 
cited as "District of Mission Land Use Application Procedures and Fees Bylaw 3612-2003”; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the District of Mission deems it advisable to amend the said Bylaw; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the District of Mission, in open meeting assembled, ENACTS 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as "District of Mission Land Use Application 

Procedures and Fees Amending Bylaw 5512-2015-3612(15)". 
 
2. "District of Mission Land Use Application Procedures and Fees Bylaw 3612-2003", as 

amended, is hereby further amended by:  

a) deleting the first instance of Engineering Administration Fee in Schedule A and 
replacing it with: 

 

Engineering Administration Fee 
 
5% of the total cost of the works, but not less than the 
minimum fee charged + GST (When the whole of the 
installation of the service connection is carried out by 
the Municipality to connect to an existing Municipal 
sanitary sewer, storm sewer or watermain and the 
service connection fee is paid, the preparation of the 
service record card or cards and the Engineering 
Administration Fee shall be considered to be included 
in the service connection fee) 

 
 

5% of total cost of works 
or $2,506.25 minimum 
(whichever is greater) 
 
No fee is applicable when: 

 no engineering review is 
required; and 

 no engineering related 
works are required  

 

READ A FIRST TIME this XX day of  XX, 2015 

READ A SECOND TIME this XX day of  XX, 2015 

READ A THIRD TIME this XX day of  XX, 2015 

ADOPTED this XX day of  XX, 2015 

 

 
 
    
RANDY HAWES, MAYOR  TINA PENNEY 
  ACTING CORPORATE OFFICER 
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DISTRICT OF MISSION 
DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT DV15-006 

 
Issued pursuant to Section 922 of the Local Government Act 

 
Issued to:  

Krista Struthers & James Johnson Jordan Struthers & Lenka Struthers 
33731 Richards Avenue 33731 Richards Avenue 
Mission, BC V2V 7E3 Mission, BC V2V 7E3 

 
 as the registered owners (hereinafter referred to as the Permittee) and shall only 

apply to ALL AND SINGULAR that certain parcel or tract of land and premises 
situate, lying and being in the Municipality of Mission, in the Province of British 
Columbia, and more particularly known and described as: 

 
 Parcel Identifier: 000-443-409 Lot H South West Quarter Section 3 Township 18 

New Westminster District Plan 1762 
 
1. The said lands are zoned Rural 16 (RU16) Zone pursuant to “District of Mission Zoning 

Bylaw 5050-2009” as amended. 

2. “District of Mission Subdivision Control Bylaw 1500-1985” as amended is hereby varied in 
respect of the said lands as follows: 

  Section 21. Works on Adjacent Highways: 

a. As a condition of subdivision approval, the owner of any lands being subdivided 
shall be required to provide on a highway adjacent to the land being subdivided: 
vehicular and pedestrian access systems 

by waiving the requirement of constructing a road (extension of Barr Street) on the 
unconstructed portion or road dedication. 

3. This Permit does not constitute a subdivision approval or a building permit. 

AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION NO. [Click here to type resolution number]  passed by the 
Council on the [Click here to type day of the month]  day of June, 2015. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF this Development Variance Permit is hereby issued by the 

Municipality signed by the Mayor and Deputy Chief Administrative Officer the 

[Click here to type year]  day of June, 2015. 

 
 
 ___________________________  
Randy Hawes, 
MAYOR 
 
 
 
 ___________________________  
Tina Penney, 
Acting Corporate Officer 

 
Development Variance Permit DV15-006 

G:\COMDEV\DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE WORKING FILES\DV's for signing\SIG15-006 (Struthers on Richards).docx 

 

304



 
 

Minutes of the SPECIAL MEETING of the DISTRICT OF MISSION COUNCIL held in 
the Conference Room of the Municipal Hall, 8645 Stave Lake Street, Mission, British 
Columbia, on Tuesday, May 12, 2015 commencing at 8:35 a.m. 
 
Council Members Present: Mayor Randy Hawes 
     Councillor Pam Alexis 
     Councillor Carol Hamilton (joined meeting at 9:08 a.m.) 
     Councillor Jim Hinds 
     Councillor Danny Plecas (joined meeting at 8:47 a.m.) 
     Councillor Jenny Stevens 
 
Council Members Absent: Councillor Rhett Nicholson 
 
Staff Members Present:  Glen Robertson, Interim Chief Administrative Officer  
       (joined meeting at 8:59 a.m.) 
     Michael Boronowski, Manager of Civic Engagement &  

      Corporate Initiatives  
     Kirsten Hargreaves, Manager of Social Development 
     Tina Penney, Acting Manager of Corporate Administration 
     Christine Brough, Executive Assistant 
 
Guests Present:   Stan Kuperis, Director, Clinical Programs, Mental Health  
        & Substance Use Program, Abbotsford, Mission,  
        Chilliwack, Hope & Agassiz, Child, Youth, Young  
        Adults & Rehabilitation & Recovery 
     Becky Doherty, Housing Manager, Mental Health and  
        Substance Use Program, Fraser Health Authority 
     Inspector Ted De Jager, Officer in Charge Mission RCMP  
        Detachment 
     Corporal Kara Dosangh, Mission RCMP Detachment 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

The meeting was called to order. 

2. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

SC15/054 
MAY 12/15 

Moved by Councillor Alexis, seconded by Councillor Stevens, and 

RESOLVED:  That the May 12, 2015 Special Council Agenda be adopted. 

CARRIED 

3. NEW BUSINESS 

SC15/0055 
MAY 12/15 

Fraser Health Authority (FHA) Discussion 

Mental Health and Addictions Issues – Provision of Services at the New Pleasant View 
Housing Society Facility 

Mayor Hawes expressed Council’s concern regarding the reported level of care that 
will be provided to those who are being transferred from other residential facilities 
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within the community to the new Pleasant View Housing Society facility.  In particular, 
Mayor Hawes and Council identified the following potential issues: 

 Breakfast will not be provided for many of the clients and the amount of money 
allocated to clients for this purpose is insufficient. (There is reportedly an 
option for these individuals to purchase breakfast from the facility for $2 per 
day but this only includes bread.)  Another related concern is the fact that the 
clients, many of whom have been in care for a prolonged period of time, will be 
required to manage these funds independently. 

 Clients will be required to pay for a variety of goods and services out of their 
monthly stipend, many of which are currently being provided at little or no cost 
(e.g. television, telephone, etc.) 

 There is an insufficient level of programing at the new facility. 

 Some of the clients in question have anger management issues and benefit 
from continuity of care which will be disrupted with the change. 

Discussion ensued, with Director Kuperis and Ms. Doherty providing the following 
summarized comments: 

 The transition of clients into the Pleasant View facility is being managed by 
professionals in the clinical mental health and substance abuse fields.  All of 
the clients who are transitioning into the new facility have case managers who 
are aware of their situations which, in turn, provides continuity of care. 

 There are different levels of care being provided and services are being 
matched to the needs of the clients.  Each client has a recovery and transition 
plan.   

 The Pleasant View Housing Society is in charge of the staff hiring process but 
the Society is required to abide by the licensing requirements and FHA is 
confident that those selected have the qualifications and experience required.  

 The money allocated for breakfast is intended to promote skill building to 
optimize functionality.  Clients will be supported in their efforts, not abandoned, 
to manage the funds provided. 

Director Kuperis stated that he is confident that the hiring process is in compliance 
with the arrangement between FHA and the service provider but that he will 
investigate and provide details regarding training requirements and staffing levels at 
the facility.  In addition, he confirmed that he will investigate and report back on the 
following outstanding questions: 

 What is actually being supplied for breakfast for those who opt to pay the $2 
per day and what supports are in place to assist clients in managing the funds 
provided for this purpose? 

 What is the level of support in terms of case workers and staff per patient?   

 What will be available in terms of programming for clients? 

 What was the selection process and the rationale for selecting the facilities 
operator?   

 

 

306



Special Council Meeting 
May 12, 2015 Page 3 of 3 

 

 

 

At the request of Council, the RCMP Inspector confirmed that he will monitor the 
situation to determine if there is a measurable negative impact on the community 
related to the transition of clients from the residential homes to the new facility.   

4. ADJOURNMENT 

SC15056 
MAY 12/15 

Moved by Councillor Alexis, seconded by Councillor Plecas, and 

RESOLVED:  That the meeting be adjourned.     
CARRIED 

The meeting was adjourned at 9:44 a.m. 

 

 

 

_________________________        ___________________________________ 
RANDY HAWES      TINA PENNEY    
MAYOR  ACTING CORPORATE OFFICER 
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Minutes of the SPECIAL MEETING of the DISTRICT OF MISSION COUNCIL held in 
the Council Chambers of the Municipal Hall, 8645 Stave Lake Street, Mission, British 
Columbia, on May 22, 2015 commencing at 9:35 a.m. 
 
Council Members Present: Mayor Randy Hawes 
     Councillor Pam Alexis 
     Councillor Carol Hamilton 
     Councillor Jim Hinds 
     Councillor Rhett Nicholson 
     Councillor Danny Plecas 
     Councillor Jenny Stevens 
 
Staff Members Absent:  Tina Penney, Acting Manager of Corporate Administration 
 
Staff Members Present:  Glen Robertson, Interim Chief Administrative Officer 
     Michelle Bishop, Bylaw Officer 
     Constable Taylor Emmerson, Mission RCMP 
     Kirsten Hargreaves, Manager of Social Development 
     Jenny Hill, Administrative Clerk 
     Constable James Mason, Mission RCMP 
     Jennifer Russell, Deputy Corporate Officer 
     Mike Younie, Director of Development Services 
     Kerri Onken, Deputy Treasurer/Collector 
     Larry Watkinson, Fire Chief 
     Inspector Ted De Jager, OIC, Mission RCMP 
 
Members of the Public:  ± 10 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

The meeting was called to order. 

2. ADOPTION OF AGENDA  

SC15/057 
MAY 22/15 

Moved by Councillor Stevens, seconded by Councillor Hamilton, and 
RESOLVED:  That the May 22, 2015 Special Council Agenda be adopted. 
 
CARRIED 

3. NEW BUSINESS 

SC15/058 
MAY 22/15 

Stone Soup Initiatives and Homelessness Discussion 
Paul Horn and Kirsten Hargreaves presented a quick summation of their report, ‘Stone 
Soup Report Out – Phase 1’ which was presented at the May 11, 2015 Special 
Council Meeting to address the problem of homelessness in the District of Mission.  
Mr. Horn and Ms. Hargreaves requested that Council review the 35 suggestions from 
the ‘Stone Soup’ report and identify the 5 initiatives they would like focused on.  Once 
a consensus is reached they will provide further detailed information to Council.  Mr. 
Horn stressed that whichever suggestions are not chosen by Council will not be 
abandoned but rather other agencies will be approached to see if they would like to 
support the implementation of any of the remaining suggestions.  
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Several speakers representing a number of different organizations were heard from in 
regard to the issue of homelessness in Mission: 
 
Carrie Prentice – Hope Central Program Coordinator advised her program organizes 
and provides meals to people who are homeless, on a fixed income, and anyone else 
in need of this aid in the community.  Ms. Prentice said they are willing to work with the 
‘Stone Soup’ project and stressed that organizations need to work together to address 
the problems associated with homelessness.  Ms. Prentice advised she is willing to act 
in the capacity of a central coordination for an integrated meals program. 
 
Greg Glaim – Harvest Discovery Home  

• Suggested bringing back the red/gold card program as he felt it had been 
working well. 

• Was in favour of setting up a station in the library where homeless people 
would be able to provide input to service providers. 

• Would like to see a Wellness Centre set up as a central location where all 
homeless people in the community would be referred to and could receive a 
needs assessment and obtain help to become self-sufficient. 

• Noted that there are currently 3 tent cities in the community and suggested a 
program where coffee would be available to them in the morning. 

• Advised that he is on the board for the Abbotsford and Mission Homelessness 
Task Forces and believes we currently have the best system due to our follow 
through and requirement to have police information checks done for all the first 
stage housing residents.  He sees a need for improvement in teamwork and 
proactively addressing issues before they become problems. 

 
Terry Wilkinson – Outreach Worker voiced her enthusiasm for this work and noted that 
personal relationships are what ties it all together.    Ms. Wilkinson advised that Hope 
Central is ‘ground zero’ for the homeless problem in Mission.  She stressed that the 
Mission homeless population is intelligent and articulate and invited members of the 
community to come down and speak with them directly to obtain a better 
understanding of their situation and to gain their trust. 
 
Mike Younie - District of Mission Director of Development Services noted that his staff 
would be in favour of working closer with organizations in the community to address 
this problem. 
 
Heidi Smith – Engaged Community Gal expressed her appreciation for the work being 
done on this issue and stressed that the focus of this project should be on finding 
accommodations for the homeless population.  She advised that this is especially 
important for those who are hard to house.  Ms. Smith noted that as it is very difficult 
for homeless people to navigate the resource system a single ‘go to’ person/agency 
would be very helpful. 
 
Sanjay Gulati – Mission Community Services Society Executive Director advised that 
the programs are working but there are still gaps in services and the goal is to be able 
to house more people.  Mr. Gulati noted that the Homeless Outreach Program and the 
Homeless Prevention Program both receive rent subsidies from BC Housing and that 
these programs are full in terms of serving people.  Mr. Gulati noted that getting 
outreach workers to the ‘hot spots’ seems to be effective and all outreach programs 
are now adopting this strategy. 
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Michelle Bishop – District of Mission Bylaw Officer voiced her concern that the Mission 
Bylaw Officers are tasked with addressing the homeless camp problem but are not 
provided with alternatives for these people or any resource agencies to direct them to.  
Ms. Bishop said that contacts, housing, and resources are needed.  She also noted 
that it would be beneficial to provide lockers for homeless people’s possessions to 
prevent their items from being stolen, destroyed by inclement weather, and/or 
accumulating in visible areas of the community. 
 
Inspector Ted De Jager – Mission RCMP 

• Briefly spoke about the Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design 
Program (CPTED).  He advised that although it is a fairly involved process it 
can be done as we currently have 2 trained officers at the detachment.  He 
stated he believes it’s a good idea in terms of assessing housing and specific 
areas. 

• He advised the Abbotsford and Mission Assertive Community Treatment Team 
(ACT Team) is up and running.  He acknowledged that we are now able to 
share a great deal of information as per the Memorandum of Understanding.  
The Mission RCMP Detachment has designated a Mental Health Liaison 
Officer who will be working in the downtown area with case managers and 
clients.  He noted there will also be a greater visible police presence in the 
downtown area. 

 
Ernestine O’Rourke – Fraser Health Society (Mission Youth House) advised that the 
Fraser Health Society has cards available to hand out which list the social services 
available and their contact information. 
 
Barry McLeod – Youth Unlimited Youth Worker commented that he recently met with 
the Social Development and Social Innovation office who were looking for information 
to provide to their staff on what resources are available.  They were unaware of the 
outreach committee meeting so there appears to be a disconnect in communication 
between organizations.  Mr. McLeod advised that other agencies need to be kept in 
the loop and we all need to keep working together.  
 
During the meeting the following points were discussed and noted: 

• Stone Soup is a valuable project but we must ensure that tax dollars are used 
as effectively as possible; 

• there is a need for a spectrum of services, (action and influence items) in order 
to cast the widest net with the smallest holes; 

• all groups need to work together to ensure there is no duplication of effort and 
that the load is spread evenly among them; 

• currently there is a gap in services; volunteers could be utilized and perhaps 
the downtown business community could assist in collecting money for this 
project; 

• connecting and educating the public to understand the causes and effects of 
homelessness and how to become involved to help with this project is vital; 

• the most effective ways to reach the homeless community; (i.e. websites, 
bulletin boards, people acting as liaisons for the homeless community and 
service providers, etc.); 

• to focus on prevention, especially for youth; there is a concern that Riverside 
Centre could close and this could result in more youth living on the streets; 
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• the red/gold card program seemed effective and perhaps should be brought 
back now that the Union Gospel Mission has now closed down and there is an 
increased need for these services, (possibly integrated with option #10); 

• the need to provide the homeless population, and those at risk of being 
homeless, with information on the resources available, (i.e. rental subsidies, 
youth grants, etc.); 

• the District providing incentives to property owners and other programs to 
make it easier to provide accommodations for the homeless; 

• implementing plans to integrate the current homeless population into the 
community rather than sequestering them, (i.e. no low income housing 
initiatives) to prevent stigmatization, areas of crime, etc.; and 

• balancing initiatives which are a ‘hand up’ versus a ‘hand out’.   
 
Council identified the following priority items for further investigation:   

1. (#8) Maintenance bylaws and enforcement – minimize unsightly premises 
2. (#14) Downtown Ambassadors 
3. (#17) Referral Line 
4. (#18) Expedited process for low-cost suites 
5. (#19) Landlord development, training and support 
6. (#24) Lobbying for enhanced recovery and detox services, especially for youth 
7. (#26) DOM Coordinator/Navigator 
8. (#27) Market housing incentives 
9. (#30) Multi-Disciplinary Service Centre:  “One Stop Shop” 
 

Council also expressed an interest in the following suggestions: 

1. (#2) Consumer/Former Consumer Outreach Support 
2. (#3) Public Information Sessions 
3. (#4) Website/Social Media Clearing House 
4. (#10) Service Infocards 
5. (#12) Research effective practices elsewhere 
6. (#33) Social Enterprise employment opportunities 
 

 

4. AJOURNMENT 

SC15/059 
MAY 22/15 

Moved by Councillor Stevens seconded by Councillor Plecas, and  
RESOLVED:  That the meeting be adjourned. 

  CARRIED 

The meeting was adjourned at 11:56 a.m. 

 

 

_________________________        _____________________________________ 
RANDY HAWES  TINA PENNEY  
MAYOR  ACTING CORPORATE OFFICER 
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Minutes of the SPECIAL JOINT MEETING of the COUNCILS OF THE DISTRICT OF 
MISSION and the CITY OF MAPLE RIDGE held in the Conference Room of the 
Municipal Hall, 8645 Stave Lake Street, Mission, British Columbia, on Monday, May 25, 
2015 commencing at 5:35 p.m. 
 
District of Mission Council Members Present: 
 
     Mayor Randy Hawes 
     Councillor Pam Alexis 
     Councillor Jim Hinds 
     Councillor Rhett Nicholson 
     Councillor Danny Plecas 
     Councillor Jenny Stevens 
 
District of Mission Council Members Absent: 
      
     Councillor Carol Hamilton 
 
City of Maple Ridge Council Members Present: 
      
     Mayor Nicole Read 
     Councillor Corisa Bell 
     Councillor Kiersten Duncan 
     Councillor Gordy Robson 
     Councillor Tyler Shymkiw 
     Councillor Craig Speirs 
 
City of Maple Ridge Council Members Absent: 
      
     Councillor Bob Masse 
 
District of Mission Staff Members Present: 
 
     Glen Robertson, Interim Chief Administrative Officer 
     Michael Boronowski, Manager of Civic Engagement and  
       Corporate Initiatives (joined meeting at 6:49 p.m.) 
     Tina Penney, Acting Manager of Corporate Administration 
     Mike Younie, Director of Development Services 
     Christine Brough, Executive Assistant 
 
City of Maple Ridge Staff Members Present: 
      
     Jim Rule, Chief Administrative Officer  
     Kelly Swift, General Manager Community Development,  
       Parks and Recreation 
     Frank Quinn, General Manager, Public Works and  
       Development 
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1. CALL TO ORDER / WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION 

The meeting was called to order at 5:35 p.m.  Mayor Randy Hawes and Mayor Nicole 
Read welcomed everyone to the meeting and introductions were made.  Mayor Hawes 
and Mayor Read were both in agreement that the District of Mission and the City of 
Maple Ridge Councils should meet regularly to discuss matters of mutual interest. 

2. TRANSPORTATION 

SC15/060 
MAY 25/15 

Lougheed Highway Improvements  

The District of Mission and the City of Maple Ridge Councils recognized that there are 
limited funds available from the Province for road improvements.  Discussion ensued 
on traffic flow and safety concerns related to the Lougheed Highway, the impact of 
future development on both municipal and provincial infrastructure, the role of tourism 
as an economic driver, and the need to coordinate efforts to lobby the Provincial 
Government for funding for priority projects.   

A number of projects were discussed and it was recognized that the following are of 
paramount importance:   

 safety concerns in the area around and including the Haney Bypass, Kanaka 
Creek and the Lougheed Highway; and 

 the need for Lougheed Highway widening to accommodate current demands 
and future growth. 

It was agreed that the two municipalities should work together to lobby the Provincial 
Government to address these and other issues of mutual concern.   
 

SC15/061 
MAY 25/15 

West Coast Express Service / CP Rail 

Discussion ensued regarding West Coast Express costs and service levels, and the 
status of the negotiations between Translink and CP Rail. 
 

SC15/062 
MAY 25/15 

Bus Service Between Mission and Maple Ridge 

Both Councils expressed concern about the lack of intercity connectivity and it was 
agreed that Translink representatives should be invited to the next Joint Council 
meeting in Maple Ridge to participate in discussions on this matter.     

3. HOMELESSNESS 

SC15/063 
MAY 25/15 

Overview of Strategies – Maple Ridge and Mission 

Mayor Read provided an overview of the challenges faced by Maple Ridge with regard 
to homelessness and the various steps that the municipality is currently taking to 
address these issues.    

Mayor Hawes provided an overview of the Stone Soup program and its various 
initiatives and District of Mission staff were directed to forward copies of the following 
documents to Maple Ridge staff for their information: 

 Stone Soup Initiatives – Phase One Report Out (May 11, 2015); and 
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 the Fraser Valley Regional District’s 2014 Homelessness Survey. 

General discussion ensued on homelessness, mental illness, substance abuse and 
addiction, needle exchange, and the lack of adequate funding to address the various 
social problems that exist within our communities.  Further discussion also ensued on 
the services provided by the Fraser Health Authority and the challenges associated 
with their service delivery model.   

Mayor Hawes informed the Maple Ridge Council that the District of Mission is putting 
together an addictions forum and that further details will be made available in the near 
future through the office of the Manager of Civic Engagement and Corporate 
Initiatives. 

In response to questions from Maple Ridge Council, Mayor Hawes confirmed that 
there is currently no paid parking at Mission Memorial Hospital.   

4. MAPLE RIDGE APPROACH TO MEDICAL MARIHUANA PRODUCTION 
FACILITIES 

SC15/064 
MAY 25/15 

Medical Marihuana Production Facilities - Approaches 

Discussion ensued regarding the different approaches taken by the two municipalities 
with regard to medical marihuana production facilities and Mayor Read identified some 
of the challenges that Maple Ridge has encountered as they work through the process 
with the Agricultural Land Commission, and both the Federal and Provincial 
Governments.     

5. ADJOURNMENT 

SC15/065 
MAY 25/15 

Moved by Councillor Plecas, seconded by Councillor Hinds, and 

RESOLVED:  That the meeting be adjourned.     
CARRIED 

The meeting was adjourned at 7:15 p.m. 

 

 

 

_________________________        _____________________________________ 
RANDY HAWES     TINA PENNEY  
MAYOR  ACTING CORPORATE OFFICER 
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MINUTES of the REGULAR MEETING of the COUNCIL of the DISTRICT OF MISSION 

held in the Council Chambers of the Municipal Hall, 8645 Stave Lake Street, Mission, 

British Columbia, on June 1, 2015 commenced at 1:00 p.m. for COMMITTEE OF THE 

WHOLE, and was immediately followed by a CLOSED MEETING of Council, and 

reconvened at 7:00 p.m. for REGULAR COUNCIL proceedings. 

Council Members Present: Mayor Randy Hawes  

Councillor Pam Alexis 

Councillor Carol Hamilton 

Councillor Jim Hinds                     

Councillor Rhett Nicholson 

Councillor Danny Plecas 

Council Members Absent: Councillor Jenny Stevens 

Staff Members Present: *Michael Boronowski, Manager of Civic Engagement and 

  Corporate Initiatives 

*Stacey Crawford, Economic Development Officer 

*Michele Fernie, Engineering Technologist II – Asset 

Management 

*Ibrahim Ghafoor, Engineering Technologist 

Haylee Gould, Administrative Assistant 

Jennifer Hill, Administrative Clerk 

*Tracy Kyle, Director of Engineering and Public Works 

*Gina MacKay, Manager of Long Range Planning and 

Special Projects 

*Jennifer Meier, Environmental Coordinator 

*Bob O’Neal, Director of Forest Management 

Kerri Onken, Deputy Treasurer/Collector 

Tina Penney, Acting Manager of Corporate Administration 

Scott Ross, Manager of Accounting Services 

*Maureen Sinclair, Director of Parks, Recreation and Culture 

*Dan Sommer, Manager of Planning 

Larry Watkinson, Fire Chief 
 *Present for a portion of the meeting 

Members of the Public: ± 2 

Members of the Press: Kevin Mills, Mission City Record 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Hawes called the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m. 

2. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

RC15/292 

JUN. 01/15  
Moved by Councillor Plecas,  seconded by Councillor Hinds, and 

RESOLVED:  That the agenda for the regular Council meeting of June 1, 2015 be 

adopted. 

CARRIED 
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3. RESOLUTION TO RESOLVE INTO COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

RC15/293 

JUN. 01/15 
Moved by Councillor Alexis,  seconded by Councillor Plecas, and 

RESOLVED:  That Council now resolve itself into Committee of the Whole. 

CARRIED 

4. DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

Councillor Alexis assumed the Chair. 

RC15/294 

JUN. 01/15  
(a) Rezoning, Development Permit, Development Variance Permit and Street 

Naming for a 6-lot urban residential development at 8474 Grassick Street and 

33973 McPhee Place 

Council reviewed a report from the Planner dated June 1, 2015 which provided 

information regarding the rezoning, development variance permit and street naming 

applications for the properties located at 8474 Grassick Street and 33973 McPhee Place. 

RC15/295 

JUN. 01/15  
(b) Development Variance Permit to Allow the Upper Floor of a Proposed Home 

located at 32656 Unger Court to Exceed the Maximum Floor Space Permitted in 

the Zoning Bylaw 

A report from the Planner dated June 1, 2015 that detailed the development variance 

permit application to allow the upper floor of a proposed home located at 32656 Unger 

Court to exceed the maximum floor space permitted was provided for Council’s 

information. 

5. CORPORATE SERVICES 

Councillor Hamilton assumed the Chair. 

RC15/296 

JUN. 01/15  
(a) Audio for Council Chambers 

Council reviewed a report from the Manager of Civic Engagement and Corporate 

Initiatives dated June 1, 2015 which provided an overview of audio considerations for the 

Council chambers and special on-location meetings. 

Moved by Councillor Plecas, and 

RECOMMENDED: 

1. That the audio system in Council chambers be repurposed for use on-location and be 

replaced at a cost of $17,353, to be funded from the general capital reserve; and 

2. That the District’s 2015 financial plan be amended accordingly. 

CARRIED 
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RC15/297 

JUN. 01/15  
(b) Municipally-Funded Community Organizations – “Minutes Folder” 

The Acting Manager of Corporate Administration provided a report dated June 1, 2015  to 

obtain clarity on Council’s direction to establish a “Minutes Folder” containing the minutes 

of all municipally-funded organizations. 

Council directed staff to amend the application process for the Fee for Service Grants and 

Community Enhancement Grants to include a requirement for applicants to provide 

minutes from their organization’s Annual General Meeting as well as a copy of their 

Managers Report at the time of application. 

It was noted that a report with recommendations for revamping the grant application 

process will be brought forward to a future Regular meeting of Council. 

6. PARKS, RECREATION AND CULTURE 

Councillor Nicholson assumed the Chair. 

RC15/298 

JUN. 01/15  
(a) Canada 150 Community Infrastructure Program 

The Canada 150 Community Infrastructure Program Applicant Guide and Instructions for 

Western Canada was provided for Council’s information. 

Council discussed the imminent application deadline and the strict parameters that 

potential projects would require to qualify for consideration in the program.   

Moved by Councillor Plecas, and 

RECOMMENDED:  That staff bring forward a report to the June 15, 2015 Regular meeting 

of Council outlining potential infrastructure initiatives that would meet the criteria as 

identified in the Canada 150 Community Infrastructure Program Guidelines. 

CARRIED 

7. ENGINEERING AND PUBLIC WORKS 

Councillor Plecas assumed the Chair. 

RC15/299 

JUN. 01/15  
(a) 2014 Climate Action Revenue Incentive Program (CARIP) and Reporting of 

Climate Action Goals – Final Report 

A report from the Environmental Coordinator regarding the refund for carbon tax payments 

made in 2014 was provided for Council’s information. 

RC15/300 

JUN. 01/15  
(b) Water Meter Pilot Study - Direct Award Purchase 

Council reviewed a report from the Manager of Engineering Design and Planning dated 

June 1, 2015 regarding a direct award purchase to Corix Water Products LP for the 

purchase of 500 water meter radio heads. 

Council directed staff to review the agreement between the District and Corix Water 

Products LP to look for potential avenues, including extending the agreement, to ensure 

secured prices for future purchases.  
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Moved by Councillor Hamilton, and 

RECOMMENDED:  That staff be authorized to purchase 500 water meter radio heads 

through a direct award to Corix Water Products LP in the amount of $86,172 (2.5% 

Administration fees and applicable taxes included). 

CARRIED 

RC15/301 

JUN. 01/15  
(c) Corporate Asset Management System 

Moved by Councillor Alexis, and 

RECOMMENDED:  

1. That the approved $10,000 Asset Management Planning Program grant be applied to 

the Asset Management Plan project #46114 to increase the budget from $150,000 to 

$160,000; and 

2. That the District’s 2015 financial plan be amended accordingly. 

CARRIED 

RC15/302 

JUN. 01/15  
(d) Downtown Improvements – Follow-up on Discussions with the Ministry of 

Transportation and Infrastructure 

Council reviewed a report from the Director of Engineering and Public Works dated 

June 1, 2015 which provided follow-up information from discussions between the District 

and the Province for improvements to the downtown area. 

Council discussed the Public Realm Master Plan and the Downtown Revitalization Plan in 

regard to potential streetscape improvement projects that could be cost shared with the 

Province of British Columbia.   

Councillor Nicholson left the meeting at 2:36 p.m. 

RC15/303 

JUN. 01/15  
Moved by Councillor Hamilton, and 

RECOMMENDED:  That staff provide a report with estimated costs to replace the existing 

sidewalks and lighting on First Avenue for the purposes of considering a cost sharing 

agreement with the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure. 

CARRIED 

RC15/304 

JUN. 01/15  
Moved by Councillor Alexis, and 

RECOMMENDED:  That the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure be asked to 

initiate a study on the costs associated with improvements to facilitate truck re-routing and 

the construction of a by-pass route. 

CARRIED 
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RC15/305 

JUN. 01/15  
(e) Parallel Parking Line Pilot on 1st Avenue 

Moved by Councillor Hamilton, and 

RECOMMENDED:  That a 4 month pilot project be initiated to evaluate the effectiveness 

of parallel parking lines in Downtown Mission for the north and south sides of First Avenue 

between Welton Street and James Street. 

CARRIED 

8. FORESTRY 

Councillor Hamilton assumed the Chair. 

RC15/306 

JUN. 01/15  
(a) Forestry Operations 2015 Quarter 1 (Q1) Report 

Council reviewed a report from the Director of Forestry and the Manager of Accounting 

dated June 1, 2015 which provided a summary of the first quarter financial results for the 

forestry operation as well as additional information on forestry reserves, strategies, plans 

and activities. 

Due to the potential high forest fire hazard this year, the Director of Forestry, Fire Chief, 

RCMP Inspector, and Bill Brooks from Stave West are meeting with the Chilliwack Forest 

District Manager on Thursday June 4, 2015 to discuss public use issues in Stave West, 

fire preparedness plans and preventative actions. The forestry operations will also be 

reviewed during the summer months and potential shutdowns will be considered during 

periods of high to extreme forest fire hazard. 

RC15/307 

JUN. 01/15  
(b) Grant for Steelhead Community Association 

A report from the Director of Forestry dated June 1, 2015 which provided information 

about a grant funding request from the Steelhead Community Association to complete the 

renovations to the Steelhead Community Hall was provided for Council’s consideration. 

Council noted that the completed hall will serve as an emergency centre in the event of a 

major disaster.  A report with cost estimates and background information for adding an 

outdoor tap to the Steelhead Community Hall for residents to have access to unmetered 

water will be brought to a future meeting of Council. 

Moved by Councillor Plecas, and 

RECOMMENDED:  

1. That up to $24,783.95 from the Forestry Reserve Fund and $5,216.05 from the 

existing Steelhead Community deposit for a total of $30,000, to be used as a grant to 

complete the renovations to the Steelhead Community Hall; and 

2. That the District’s 2015 financial plan be amended accordingly. 

CARRIED 
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9. FIRE/RESCUE SERVICES 

Councillor Hinds assumed the Chair. 

RC15/308 

JUN. 01/15  
(a) 2015 Emergency Capital Budget Amendments 

Moved by Councillor Alexis, and 

RECOMMENDED:  That $10,000 of new capital funds be approved to purchase internal 

radio communications for Fire Station 1, with funding from the General Capital Reserve 

Fund. 

CARRIED 

RC15/309 

JUN. 01/15  
Moved by Mayor Hawes, and 

1. That the capital budget for fire hose replacement of $5,000, funded from the General 

Capital Reserve Fund, be reallocated to purchase new fire fighter protective clothing 

for the unforeseen recruitment;  

2. That an additional budget be approved to supplement the current Capital account for 

firefighter protective clothing in the amount of $34,200 to help offset the cost of 

outfitting new recruits with protective equipment, with funding from the General 

Capital Reserve Fund; and  

3. That the District’s 2015 financial plan be amended accordingly.  

CARRIED 

10. RESOLUTION TO RISE FROM COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

Mayor Hawes resumed the Chair. 

RC15/310 

JUN. 01/15  
Moved by Councillor Plecas, seconded by Councillor Alexis, and 

RECOMMENDED:  That Council consider and resolve to rise from Committee of the 

Whole. 

CARRIED 

A report from Committee of the Whole will be brought forward when the meeting 

reconvenes at 7:00 p.m. 

11. RESOLUTION TO EXCLUDE PUBLIC, RECESS THE PUBLIC MEETING UNTIL 

7:00 P.M. AND IMMEDIATELY CONVENE INTO CLOSED SESSION 

RC15/311 

JUN. 01/15  
Moved by Councillor Alexis, seconded by Councillor Hamilton, and 

RESOLVED: 

1. That pursuant to Section 90 of the Community Charter, the public be excluded from 

this portion of the meeting as the subject matter being considered relates to the 

following:  
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 Section 90(1)(a) of the Community Charter – personal information about an 

identifiable individual who holds or is being considered for a position as an officer, 

employee or agent of the municipality or another position appointed by the 

municipality; 

 Section 90(1)(c) of the Community Charter – labour relations or other employee 

relations; 

 Section 90(1)(g) of the Community Charter – litigation or potential litigation 

affecting the municipality; 

 Section 90(1)(k) of the Community Charter – negotiations and related discussions 

respecting the proposed provision of a municipal service that are at their 

preliminary stages and that, in the view of the council, could reasonably be 

expected to harm the interests of the municipality if they were held in public; 

2. That the public portion of the meeting be recessed until 7:00 p.m.; and 

3. That Council immediately resolve into the closed portion of their meeting. 

CARRIED 

The meeting recessed at 3:12 p.m. 

12. RECONVENE 

RC15/312 

JUN. 01/15  
Mayor Hawes reconvened the meeting at 7:00 p.m. 

Council Members Present: Mayor Randy Hawes  

Councillor Pam Alexis 

Councillor Carol Hamilton 

Councillor Jim Hinds                     

Councillor Rhett Nicholson 

Councillor Danny Plecas 

Council Members Absent: Councillor Jenny Stevens 

Staff Members Present: Michael Boronowski, Manager of Civic Engagement and 

Corporate Initiatives 

Haylee Gould, Administrative Assistant 

Jennifer Hill, Administrative Clerk 

*Stephanie Key, Deputy Director of Parks, Recreation and 

Culture 

Tina Penney, Acting Manager of Corporate Administration 

Maureen Sinclair, Director of Parks, Recreation and Culture 

Dan Sommer, Manager of Planning 

Mike Younie, Director of Development Services 
 *Present for a portion of the meeting 

Members of the Public: ± 20 

Members of the Press: Kevin Mills, Mission City Record 
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13. RESOLUTION TO ADOPT RECOMMENDATIONS OF COMMITTEE OF THE 

WHOLE REPORT 

RC15/313 

JUN. 01/15  
Moved by Councillor Alexis, seconded by Councillor Hamilton, and 

RESOLVED:  That the following recommendations from the June 1, 2015 Committee of 

the Whole meeting be adopted: 

Committee of the Whole recommendations: 

1. Audio for Council Chambers 

RECOMMENDED: 

That the audio system in Council chambers be repurposed for use on-location and be 

replaced at a cost of $17,353, to be funded from the general capital reserve; and  

That the District’s 2015 financial plan be amended accordingly.  

2. Canada 150 Community Infrastructure Program 

RECOMMENDED: 

That staff bring forward a report to the June 15, 2015 Regular meeting of Council 

outlining potential infrastructure initiatives that would meet the criteria as identified in 

the Canada 150 Community Infrastructure Program Guidelines. 

3. Water Meter Pilot Study 

RECOMMENDED: 

That staff be authorized to purchase 500 water meter radio heads through a direct 

award to Corix Water Products LP in the amount of $86,172 (2.5% Administration 

fees and applicable taxes included). 

4. Corporate Asset Management System 

RECOMMENDED: 

1. That the approved $10,000 Asset Management Planning Program grant be 

applied to the Asset Management Plan project #46114 to increase the budget 

from $150,000 to $160,000; and 

2. That the District’s 2015 financial plan be amended accordingly. 

5. Downtown Improvements – Follow-up on Discussions with the Ministry of 

Transportation and Infrastructure 

RECOMMENDED: 

That staff provide a report with estimated costs to replace the existing sidewalks and 

lighting on First Avenue for the purposes of considering a cost sharing agreement with 

the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure. 
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RECOMMENDED: 

That the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure be asked to initiate a study on 

the costs associated with improvements to facilitate truck re-routing and the 

construction of a by-pass route. 

6. Parallel Parking Line Pilot on 1st Avenue 

RECOMMENDED: 

That a 4 month pilot project be initiated to evaluate the effectiveness of parallel 

parking lines in Downtown Mission for the north and south sides of First Avenue 

between Welton Street and James Street. 

7. Grant for Steelhead Community Association 

RECOMMENDED: 

1. That up to $24,783.95 from the Forestry Reserve Fund and $5,216.05 from the 

existing Steelhead Community deposit for a total of $30,000, to be used as a 

grant to complete the renovations to the Steelhead Community Hall; and 

2. That the District’s 2015 financial plan be amended accordingly. 

8. 2015 Emergency Capital Budget Amendments 

RECOMMENDED: 

That $10,000 of new capital funds be approved to purchase internal radio 

communications for fire station 1, with funding from the General Capital Reserve 

Fund; 

RECOMMENDED: 

1. That the capital budget for fire hose replacement of $5,000, funded from the 

General Capital Reserve Fund, be reallocated to purchase new fire fighter 

protective clothing for the unforeseen recruitment; 

2. That an additional budget be approved to supplement the current Capital account 

for firefighter protective clothing in the amount of $34,200 to help offset the cost 

of outfitting new recruits with protective equipment, with funding from the General 

Capital Reserve Fund; and 

3. That the District’s 2015 financial plan be amended accordingly. 

CARRIED 

14. DELEGATIONS 

There were no delegations. 
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15. PRESENTATIONS 

RC15/314 

JUN. 01/15  
(a) Induction to the Mission Sports Hall of Fame 

Mayor Hawes inducted Stuart Coates into the Mission Hall of Fame in the ‘Builder’ 

category for his active role in the sport of soccer over 45 years.  Mr. Coates has held 

numerous positions including President of the Mission Soccer Club, Coach, Official, 

Manager and Soccer BC Representative.  He has also been active in the Special 

Olympics for over 25 years as a Coordinator, Instructor and Coach in numerous Special 

Olympics sports.   

Mayor Hawes thanked Mr. Coates on behalf of Council for his years of dedication to 

improving sport in the District of Mission. 

RC15/315 

JUN. 01/15  
(b) Sister City Relationship with Oyama, Japan 

Brian Wilks, Chairperson of the Mission International Cultural Association (MICA) 

appeared before Council to discuss the Sister City relationship between the District of 

Mission and Oyama, Japan.  Mr. Wilks made five requests of Council: 

1. acknowledgement that the District wants to continue the Sister City relationship, 

2. expression of support for the Mission Public School District to continue student visits to 

and from Oyama, 

3. a District representative to liaise with MICA to coordinate future visits or requests, 

4. the use of District facilities for MICA/District meetings, and 

5. awareness of upcoming funding requests (cultural exchange years only). 

Council expressed support for the Sister City relationship with Oyama, Japan, and noted 

that a formal commitment on the requests from MICA would be forthcoming. 

16. PROCLAMATIONS 

There were no proclamations. 

17. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

RC15/316 

JUN. 01/15  
Zoning Amending Bylaw 5505-2015-5050(173) 

R15-008 (Swash) – a bylaw to rezone property at 12638 Cathy Crescent from Rural 

Residential 7 Zone (RR7) to Rural Residential Secondary Dwelling Zone (RR7s) 

The purpose of the proposed Zoning bylaw amendment is to rezone the property at 12638 

Cathy Crescent from the Rural Residential 7 (RR7) Zone to the Rural Residential 

Secondary Dwelling (RR7s) Zone to allow for a secondary dwelling use in the form of a 

secondary suite.  The subject property is legally described as: 

Parcel Identifier: 026-614-651 

Strata Lot A Section 23 Township 15 New Westminster District Strata Plan 

BCS1718 

The Mayor opened the public hearing at 7:24 p.m. 
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Dan Sommer, Manager of Planning, showed a PowerPoint presentation that provided the 

following information: 

1. Purpose and outline of the proposal. 

2. Architectural rendering of proposed suite. 

3. Subject property map, aerial and site photos. 

The Acting Manager of Corporate Administration stated that no written submissions 

pertaining to the subject application had been received. 

The Mayor opened the floor to the public for questions and comments. 

Aubrey Moore expressed support for the proposal. 

Hearing no further questions or comments, the Mayor declared the Public Hearing for the 

District of Mission Zoning Amending Bylaw 5505-2015-5050(173) R15-008 (Swash) 

closed at 7:27 p.m. 

RC15/317 

JUN. 01/15  
Zoning Amending Bylaw 5508-2015-5050(174) 

R15-007 (Grierson) – a bylaw to rezone property at 12352 Roach Street from Rural 36 

Zone (RU36) to Rural 36 Secondary Dwelling Zone (RU36s) 

The purpose of the proposed Zoning bylaw amendment is to rezone the property at 12352 

Roach Street from the Rural 36 (RU36) Zone to the Rural 36 Secondary Dwelling (RU36s) 

Zone to allow for a secondary dwelling use in the form of a coach house.  The subject 

property is legally described as: 

Parcel Identifier: 001-795-601 

Lot 2 Except: Part lying west of Highway on Plan 37894; Section 21 Township 18 

New Westminster District Plan 37894 

The Mayor opened the public hearing at 7:28 p.m. 

Dan Sommer, Manager of Planning, showed a PowerPoint presentation that provided the 

following information: 

1. Purpose and outline of the proposal. 

2. Subject property map and aerial photos. 

The Acting Manager of Corporate Administration stated that no written submissions 

pertaining to the subject application had been received. 

The Mayor opened the floor to the public for questions and comments. 

Hearing no further questions or comments, the Mayor declared the Public Hearing for the 

District of Mission Zoning Amending Bylaw 5508-2015-5050(174) R15-007 (Grierson) 

closed at 7:30 p.m. 

18. ADOPTION OF INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

RC15/318 

JUN. 01/15  
(a) Parks, Recreation and Culture Open House 

The Parks, Recreation and Culture Department will be hosting an Open House for the 

public at the Leisure Centre on Sunday, June 7, 2015 from 11:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m.   
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19. COUNCIL COMMITTEE REPORTS AND MINUTES 

There were no Council Committee Reports or Minutes. 

20. CORRESPONDENCE 

There was no correspondence. 

21. BYLAWS FOR CONSIDERATION 

RC15/319 

JUN. 01/15  
Moved by Councillor Plecas, seconded by Councillor Alexis, and 

RESOLVED:  That the following Bylaws be approved as listed: 

(a) Zoning Amending Bylaw 5505-2015-5050(173), a bylaw to rezone property at 12638 

Cathy Crescent from Rural Residential 7 Zone (RR7) to Rural Residential 

Secondary Dwelling Zone (RR7s), be read a third time. 

(b) Zoning Amending Bylaw 5508-2015-5050(174), a bylaw to rezone property at 12352 

Roach Street from Rural 36 Zone (RU36) to Rural 36 Secondary Dwelling Zone 

(RU36s), be read a third time. 

(c) Zoning Amending Bylaw 5510-2015-5050(175), a bylaw to insert a new 

Comprehensive Development Zone (CD37) and to rezone property at 8474 Grassick 

Street and 33973 McPhee Place from Urban Residential 465 Zone (R465) to 

Comprehensive Development 37 Zone (CD37), be read a first and second time. 

(d) Street Naming Bylaw 5511-2015 (McPhee Place Extension), a bylaw to name an 

extension of road in a subdivision, be read a first and second time. 

CARRIED 

22. DEVELOPMENT PERMITS FOR CONSIDERATION 

RC15/320 

JUN. 01/15  
Moved by Councillor Alexis, seconded by Councillor Hamilton, and 

RESOLVED:  That Development Variance Permit Application  DV15-004 (8474 Grassick 

Street) to vary “SCHEDULE A” Required Highway Widths: for an Urban Local Residential 

Highway of the District of Mission Zoning Bylaw 5050-2009 by reducing the road width 

from 18 metres (59 feet) to 15 metres (49.2 feet) be approved. 

CARRIED 

RC15/321 

JUN. 01/15  
Moved by Councillor Hinds, seconded by Councillor Nicholson, and 

RESOLVED:  That Development Variance Permit Application  DV15-005 (32656 Unger 

Court) to vary Section 502, Part F, Subsection 2 of the District of Mission Zoning Bylaw 

5050-2009 to allow the floor space of the second floor of the proposed dwelling to 

increase the current 80% floor space allowable of the first storey to a maximum of 93% be 

approved. 

CARRIED 
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23. COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES FOR APPROVAL 

RC15/322 

JUN. 01/15  
Moved by Councillor Alexis, seconded by Councillor Plecas, and 

RESOLVED:  That the following minutes be adopted: 

(a) Joint Shared Services Committee Meeting – March 26, 2015 

(b) Regular Council Meeting – May 19, 2015 

(c) Special Council Meeting (for the purpose of going into a closed meeting) – 

May 25, 2015 

(d) Special Council Meeting (for the purpose of going into a closed meeting) – 

May 25, 2015 

CARRIED 

24. RESOLUTIONS RELEASED FROM CLOSED 

A report from the Executive Assistant dated June 1, 2015 released the following 

resolution from Closed Council: 

Mission Community Heritage Commission 

That Mr. Eric Poxleitner and Ms. Michelle Rhodes are appointed to the Mission 

Community Heritage Commission for a two (2) year term commencing May 19, 

2015 and ending May 19, 2017. 

 

Mayor Hawes noted that the Council Goals and Objectives will be released to the public 

by June 5, 2015. 

25. NEW/OTHER BUSINESS 

There was no new/other business. 

26. NOTICES OF MOTION 

There were no notices of motion. 

27. QUESTION PERIOD 

There were no questions from the public. 

28. ADJOURNMENT 

Moved by Councillor Plecas, seconded by Councillor Nicholson, and 

RESOLVED:  That the meeting be adjourned.  

CARRIED 
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The meeting was adjourned at 7:35 p.m. 

 

 

 

    

RANDY HAWES, MAYOR TINA PENNEY 

ACTING CORPORATE OFFICER 
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Corporate Services 
Staff Report to Council 

 Page 1 of 1  

 

File Category: LGMA Administration 
File Folder: 0550-20 

 

DATE:    June 15, 2015 

TO:   Mayor and Council 

FROM: Christine Brough, Executive Assistant   

SUBJECT:  Resolution Released from Closed Council  

This report is provided for information purposes only.   

No staff recommendation accompanies this report and Council action is not required. 

COMMUNICATION: 

At the June 1, 2015 Closed Council meeting, the following information was released from Closed 
Council:  

Clarke Theatre Funding Assistance  

1. That, subject to a mutually acceptable written agreement between the 
District of Mission and Mission School District 75, the District of Mission 
shall undertake an additional annual contribution of up to $75,000 for one 
year, from July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2016, to Mission School District 75 to 
offset costs of the Clarke Theatre operation; and 

2. That a comprehensive review be undertaken and a mutually acceptable 
written agreement be reached prior to any future additional funding 
commitments by the District of Mission. 

 

 

 

SIGN-OFFS:  

 

Christine Brough, Executive Assistant 

 

Comment from Chief Administrative Officer 
Reviewed. 
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	The regulations under the Act require the 2014 SOFI report to be submitted to the Ministry of Community, Sport and Cultural Development no later than June 30, 2015.  It should be noted that the District of Mission Development Corporation’s information...
	The SOFI report is comprised of the following documents:
	The Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses contains the information required by legislation.  In addition to this information the District also pays the employer’s share of the benefits for items such as Canada Pension, Employment Insurance, Health and...
	FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:
	There are no financial implications associated with this report.
	COMMUNICATION:
	The SOFI report is available to the public, upon request, for a fee of $5.00 for a printed copy as per the Financial Information Act.  Alternatively the public may view or download the SOFI report for free from the District’s website.  The approved 20...
	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:
	As legislated, the Statement of Financial Information report requires approval by Council and for the Mayor and the officer assigned responsibility for financial administration under the Local Government Act to sign the Statement of Financial Informat...
	SIGN-OFFS:
	Comment from Interim Chief Administrative Officer
	Reviewed.
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	The regulations under the Act require the 2014 SOFI report to be submitted to the Ministry of Community, Sport and Cultural Development no later than June 30, 2015.  It should be noted that the District of Mission Development Corporation’s information...
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	05 c - CS - 2014 Traffic Fine Revenue Report
	Traffic fine reporting for 2014.pdf
	PURPOSE:
	The purpose of this report is to satisfy the reporting requirements of the Strategic Community Investment Funds Agreement.
	DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:
	The Strategic Community Investment Funds Agreement with the Province of British Columbia required the District to develop a plan that sets out the intended uses and performance targets for traffic fine revenue sharing grants received from 2012 through...
	The District’s plan encompasses using the entire amount of traffic fine revenue to enhance and support police operations, and thus these funds are entirely directed to the RCMP operating budget. This treatment is consistent with how the District has u...
	FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:
	There are no financial implications directly associated with this report. The $349,292 of traffic fine revenue sharing grants received during 2014 were directed to the 2014 RCMP operating budget, to offset the cost of local police enforcement.
	COMMUNICATION:
	No further communication action is required beyond reporting on this public agenda.
	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:
	In accordance with the requirements of the Strategic Community Investment Funds Agreement, this report is provided to the public regarding the use of traffic fine revenue sharing grants in 2014.
	Comment from the Interim Chief Administrative Officer:
	Reviewed
	g:\finance\rcmp\traffic fine revenue sharing grant\traffic fine reporting for 2014.docx
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	PURPOSE:
	The purpose of this report is to satisfy the reporting requirements of the Strategic Community Investment Funds Agreement.
	DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:
	The Strategic Community Investment Funds Agreement with the Province of British Columbia required the District to develop a plan that sets out the intended uses and performance targets for traffic fine revenue sharing grants received from 2012 through...
	The District’s plan encompasses using the entire amount of traffic fine revenue to enhance and support police operations, and thus these funds are entirely directed to the RCMP operating budget. This treatment is consistent with how the District has u...
	FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:
	There are no financial implications directly associated with this report. The $349,292 of traffic fine revenue sharing grants received during 2014 were directed to the 2014 RCMP operating budget, to offset the cost of local police enforcement.
	COMMUNICATION:
	No further communication action is required beyond reporting on this public agenda.
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	05 d - CS - Mission Abbotsford Recycling Depot 2015 Financial Update
	FINANCE REPORT PAGE 1
	PURPOSE:
	The purpose of this report is to provide Council with an update to the Abbotsford Mission Recycling Depot (AMRD) 2015 First Quarter Costs and a 2015 Year End Forecast Projection.
	BACKGROUND:
	As part of the Joint Shared Services Committee (JSSC) mandate, it oversees the District of Mission and City of Abbotsford’s recycling operations.  A report from the City of Abbotsford’s staff advising the committee about the expected net increase to t...
	DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:
	As detailed in Appendix A, staff have advised the committee that the following conditions were observed during the first quarter of 2015:
	1. Low commodity values lowering revenues;
	2. Increased operating costs due to additional sorting required to achieve market quality requirements;
	3. Higher garbage disposal costs resulting from increased sorting to remove contamination; and
	4. Processing and disposal of backlogged material, including recycling collected in 2014 but not processed due to the lack of availability of facility in early 2014.
	The first three conditions may continue for the remainder of the year, with the fourth condition eliminated by mid-year.  Assuming the first three conditions continue until the end of the year, District of Mission’s portion of the net cost for the AMR...
	FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:
	District of Mission’s portion of the AMRD operations for the 2015 first quarter yielded a net cost of $65,519 compared to a budgeted net cost of $38,638.  This results in an unfavorable budget variance of $26,881.
	Assuming commodity values decrease resulting in lower revenues and operational costs continue to increase, staff are forecasting an additional $101,248 net increase to Mission’s existing budget of $154,552 for 2015.
	COMMUNICATION:
	No communication action is required.
	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:
	District of Mission’s portion of the AMRD operations for the 2015 first quarter yielded a net cost of $65,519 compared to a budgeted net cost of $38,638.  This results in an unfavorable budget variance of $26,881.
	The increased net cost is due to the following conditions:
	1. Low commodity values lowering revenues;
	2. Increased operating costs due to additional sorting required to achieve market quality requirements;
	3. Higher garbage disposal costs resulting from increased sorting to remove contamination; and
	4. Processing and disposal of backlogged material, including recycling collected in 2014 but not processed due to the lack of availability of facility in early 2014.
	The first three conditions may continue for the remainder of the year, with the fourth condition eliminated by mid-year.  Assuming the first three conditions continue until the end of the year, District of Mission’s portion of the net cost for the AMR...
	SIGN-OFFS:
	UComments from the Chief Administrative Officer:
	g:\finance\cow\2015\0615 jun 15\june 15th - abbotsford mission recycling depot 2015 financial update.docx
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	05 e - CS - Council Goals and Objectives
	MICHAEL REPORT
	PURPOSE:
	This report provides the Council Goals and Objectives dated June 1, 2015, as released to the public.
	BACKGROUND:
	The Council goals and objectives as presented in Appendix A were developed over the course of several strategic planning sessions with Council and through review and a planning meeting with senior staff.
	DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:
	Pillars
	The document presents goals and objectives across the following pillars:
	FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:
	There are no financial implications associated with this report.
	COMMUNICATION:
	The document as provided in Appendix A has been published to mission.ca and distributed to the media. No additional communication action is required.
	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:
	This report provides the Council Goals and Objectives dated June 1, 2015, as released to the public. No recommendation accompanies this report and no further action is required.
	SIGN-OFFS:
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	05 f - CS - 2016 Budget Schedule
	PURPOSE:
	The purpose of this report is to seek Council’s approval for the proposed 2016 Budget Schedule.
	BACKGROUND:
	Planning and scheduling of staff’s time to review and update the budget, as well as scheduling meetings for Council to discuss the budget and to allow for public consultation, is required for the annual 2016 operating and capital budget to be ready fo...
	DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:
	The proposed 2016 budget schedule starts in September 2015 with the operating budget discussions.  The attached Appendix A shows a summary of the meetings and dates on page one, then a detailed list with expected outcomes and comments on page two and ...
	Staff have listed the proposed Council Meeting schedule for consideration and discussion below.  These meetings will be Free Standing Committee of the Whole – Corporate Services Budget (CSB) and will be held on Wednesday afternoons except where otherw...
	 September 9: provisional operating budget discussions (first meeting)
	 September 16: capital budget discussions
	 September 30: provisional operating budget discussions (second meeting)
	 October 14: municipal utilities budget discussions
	 October 21: provisional operating budget discussions (third meeting)
	 November 2:  Public Community Budget Consultation meeting (Regular Council meeting, starting at 7 pm)
	 November 18: final 2016 budget discussions
	 December 21: first three readings of the 2016-2020 Financial Plan bylaw, Regular Council.
	 December 23 (special meeting) (or January 4, 2016 Regular Council): final adoption of the 2016-2020 Financial Plan bylaw
	FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:
	There are no financial implications associated with this report.
	COMMUNICATION:
	In advance of the initial budget meeting, the Manager of Civic Engagement and Finance will collaborate to develop and conduct multiple mini-surveys to gauge public opinion on key topics for Council.  These will consist of single-question surveys deliv...
	The Community Budget Consultation document will be available prior to the community budget consultation meeting in order to inform stakeholders about the proposed budget in advance of the public consultation process.
	The Freestanding Committee of the Whole – Corporate Services Budget meetings would be held on Wednesdays in the Council Chambers, are open to the public and will be webcast for those interested parties to view.  These budget meetings will be advertise...
	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:
	Staff are seeking Council’s approval for the proposed 2016 budget schedule in order to review and update the 2016 budget so that the 2016-2020 Financial Plan bylaw can be adopted by the end of 2015.
	SIGN-OFFS:
	G:\FINANCE\BUDGET\Budget 2016\Memo 2016 budget schedule 150615.docx
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	06 a - ENG - Invasive Plant Management
	Invasive Plant Management
	PURPOSE:
	The purpose of this report is to inform Council about the District’s effort to control invasive plants in the District of Mission.
	BACKGROUND:
	DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:
	FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:
	COMMUNICATION:
	Areas that will receive pesticide treatment will be marked and signed by the contracted applicator, as per provincial and federal requirements. Flyers (Appendix C) will be distributed to property owners who are found to have knotweed infestations on t...
	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION:
	The control of noxious weeds is a provincial requirement that applies to all property owners, including local governments. Hogweed poses a public safety hazard and potential liability for the District. Knotweed poses a potential threat to infrastructu...
	SIGN-OFFS:
	Appendix A
	Provincial Noxious Weed List
	UCommon Name
	Annual Sow Thistle
	Bohemian Knotweed
	Bur Chervil
	Canada Thistle
	Common Crupina
	Common Reed
	Common Toadflax
	Dalmatian Toadflax
	Dense-flowered Cordgrass
	Diffuse Knapweed
	Dodder
	English Cordgrass
	Flowering Rush
	Garlic Mustard
	Giant Hogweed
	Giant Knotweed
	Giant Mannagrass/Reed Sweetgrass
	Gorse
	Himalayan Knotweed
	Hound's-tongue
	Japanese Knotweed
	Jointed Goatgrass
	Leafy Spurge
	Milk Thistle
	North Africa Grass
	Perennial Sow Thistle
	Purple Loosestrife
	Purple Nutsedge
	Rush Skeletonweed
	Saltmeadow Cordgrass
	Scentless Chamomile
	Smooth Cordgrass
	Spotted Knapweed
	Tansy Ragwort
	Velvetleaf
	Wild Oats
	Yellow Flag Iris
	Yellow Nutsedge
	Yellow Starthistle UScientific Name
	(Sonchus oleraceus)
	(Fallopia x bohemica)
	(Anthriscus caucalis)
	(Cirsium arvense)
	(Crupina vulgaris)
	(Phragmites australis subspecies australis)
	(Linaria vulgaris)
	(Linaria dalmatica)
	(Spartina densiflora)
	(Centaurea diffusa)
	(Cuscuta spp.)
	(Spartina anglica)
	(Butomus umbellatus)
	(Alliaria petiolata)
	(Heracleum mantegazzianum)
	(Fallopia sachalinensis)
	(Glyceria maxima)
	(Ulex europaeus)
	(Polygonum polystachyum)
	(Cynoglossum officinale)
	(Fallopia japonica)
	(Aegilops cylindrica)
	(Euphorbia esula)
	(Silybum marianum)
	(Ventenata dubia)
	(Sonchus arvensis)
	(Lythrum salicaria)
	(Cyperus rotundus)
	(Chondrilla juncea)
	(Spartina patens)
	(Matricaria maritima)
	(Spartina alterniflora)
	(Centaurea maculosa)
	(Senecio jacobaea)
	(Abutilon theophrasti)
	(Avena fatua)
	(Iris pseudacorus)
	(Cyperus esculentus)
	(Centaurea solstitialis)
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